MECHANISMS OF ISOTHERMAL AND NON-ISOTHERMAL FLOW OF FLUIDS IN PIPES.

by

Eugene Chen Koo

S.B., Massachusetts Institute of Technology, 1929

Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the

Requirements for the Degree of

4

DOCTOR OF SCIENCE

from the

Massachusetts Institute of Technology

1932

Cambridge, Massachusetts May 13, 1932

Professor A.L. Merrill Secretary of the Faculty Massachusetts Institute of Technology Cambridge, Massachusetts

Dear Sir:

I submit herewith a thesis entitled "Mechanisms of Isothermal and Non-Isothermal Flow of Fluids in Pipes", in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Science in Chemical Engineering.

Respectfully yours,

Eugene Chen Koo

186840

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

The author wishes to express his sincere appreciation of the critical criticisms and helpful suggestions of Professor W.H. McAdams, under whose direction this investigation was performed, and Mr. T.B. Drew, under whose supervision the experimental part was carried out. It is a pleasure to acknowledge the financial aid received from the Chemical Engineering Department and the Chinese Educational Mission at Washington. He wishes to thank Mr. H.C. Sung for his assistance with a part of the experimental work.

APPENDIX K

Table of Nomenclature

 ΔP = Differential Pressure and Pressure Drop.

Q = Quantity of heat transferred in B.t.u.

Q' = Rate of flow of Fluid in ft.³/sec.

r = variable radius or distance from axis of Pipe.

R = Inside pipe radius.

r/R= Fraction of radius of Pipe.

S = Specific gravity of fluid at temperature in question.

t = Variable temperature at distance r from pipe axis in ° C.

 $t_a = Axial temperature in ° C.$

t = Average downstream exit temperature in ° C.

tf = Average film temperature or effective film temperature in ° C.

t_i = Average upstream inlet temperature in ° C.

t_m = Mixing cup temperature in ° C. (obtained through graphical integration).

 $t_w =$ Inside wall temperature of pipe in ° C. (Calculated).

to.w. Outside wall temperature of pipe in ° C.(Measured).

t ave. Average cross-sectional temperature in $^{\circ}$ C. (obtained through graphical integration.)

U = Average velocity in feet per second.

v or V = Variable velocity at distance r from pipe axis.

 V_{av} = Average velocity in feet per second.

V = Maximum or axial velocity max.

 $V_{ave.}/V_{max.} = Ratio of average to maximum velocity, or velocity ratio.$

X = Calming Section Length in feet.

- Z = viscosity, centipoises, taken at arithmetic mean of average cross-sectional temperature between two sections.
- Z = viscosity, Centipoises.

 μ (Mu)=Absolute viscosity of fluids.

 $\rho(\text{Rho})$ = Fluid density as lbs. per ft.³

 $\mathcal{N}(Nu) = Kinematic Viscosity of fluid = \mu/\rho$

 λ (Lamba)=4f

O (Theta)=Time in any convenient unit.

 $Re = \frac{D V_{av} \rho}{\mu} = Reynolds number in Consistent$ $\mu \qquad Units (Dimensionless)$ $Re = \frac{D V_{max} \rho}{\mu}$ $Re = \frac{C \mu}{\mu}$ $Pr, = \frac{C \mu}{\mu} = Prandlt's number in consistent units$ $k \qquad (Dimensionless)$ Pe' = Peclet Number = (Re)(Pr)

ABSTRACT

The primary object of this investigation has been to determine experimentally the velocity and temperature distributions over a pipe cross-section obtained when water is heated or cooled as it is pumped vertical through a copper pipe. From the experiments, the mechanism of non-isothermal flow of fluids is explained and compared with the isothermal case. To make this comparison possible, a critical survey of literature on friction factor problem and velocity distribution measurements was necessary.

By collecting, calculating, and plotting the available experimental data of reliable nature on the friction factor it is determined that the "General Index Law Equation"

 $f = d + \beta \text{ Re.}^{\circ}$ should be used to express the relation between Fanning friction factor, f, and Reynolds number, Re. The following table shows the constants in this formula for the classes of pipes considered:

-	Kind of Pipe	e	β	c	Range of Re.	Eq.
1.	Drawn Brass, etc.	0.00140	0.1252	-0.32	3000-3,000,000	(2)
2.	Commercial Iron, etc	.0.00307	0.1886	-0.38	3000-2,500,000	(3)

....(1)

The first class of pipe includes all clean "technically smooth" pipes, i.e., those of copper, brass, lead, and glass. The data for this class is fitted by the formula within ± 5% over the entire range of Re. The inside diameters of the pipes used in obtaining the data ranged from 0.107 inches to 4.97 inches. The fluids involved are air, water, steam, and oils. No trend with varying diameter is found. The new equation agrees well with that of Lees over the range of the data represented by Lee's equation.

The second class of pipe comprises ordinary clean commercial iron and steel pipe. The data is fitted within \pm 10% over the entire range of Reynolds number. The pipe sizes ranged from 0.42 inches to 12 inches and now consistent trend with change of diameter is found. Air, steam, water, and brine have been used in the tests, thus this equation is recommended to use almost for any fluid. This equation checks very well with that proposed by Wilson, McAdams, and Seltzer in 1922, but it is in disagreement with proposed that of McAdams and Sherwood for air and steam, in 1926.

The mechanism of the isothermal flow of fluids in pipes may be explained briefly as follows by considering the above proposed equations. At low Reynolds number in the turbulent flow region, the laminar film at the boundary controls or counts mostly for the friction which, of course, decreases proportionally as velocity increases since an increase of velocity will reduce the film thickness, while at very high Reynolds number, the pipe wall roughness controls or counts mostly for the friction; thus an increase of velocity will only reduce the friction slightly. It is obvious from Eq. (2) and (3) that as Reynolds number approaches infinity, the friction factor is equivalent to a constant which might be considered is purely due to internal pipe wall roughness, thus this factor for iron and steel pipes is found to be more than twice as big as that found for copper and brass. This consideration predicts that for non-isothermal case the film temperature, instead of the average temperature should be used in calculating the Reynolds number to obtain the friction factor value.

 F_{r} om a study of the isothermal velocity distribution problem in literature, it is recommended the following equation be used

$$\frac{\underline{V}}{\overline{V}_{\text{max.}}} = (1 - \frac{\underline{r}}{R})^{a} = (\frac{\underline{y}}{R})^{a} \qquad \dots (4)$$

for the velocity distribution in pipes, where V = velocity at the point at the variable radius, r, in the pipe; V_{max} = axial velocity; R = Inside radius of pipe; y = R-r = distance from pipe wall. Using Levy's method, a semi-theoretical relation is derived between the exponent "a" in Eq. (4) and General Index Law

equation for friction factor as follows:

$$a = -1.5 \neq 0.5 \sqrt{9-8} \left(\frac{\text{Re.df}}{\text{f d Re}}\right) \qquad \dots (5)$$

Therefore, E_q . (5) enables one to calculate the velocity distribution exponent "a" by substituting in the friction factor equation for any kind of pipe. Another useful relation has been found for the ratio of average to maximum velocity over a pipe cross-section is as follows:

$$\frac{v_{ave.}}{v_{max.}} = \frac{2}{(a+1)(a+2)} = \frac{1}{1 - \frac{\text{Re. df}}{\text{f d Re.}}} \quad \dots \quad (6)$$

It is apparent from E_q uations (2), (3), and (5) that the velocity distribution exponent "a" will vary with Re., decreasing as Re. increases; this relation checks by all the experimental data found in literature and checks approximately by the writer's isothermal velocity distribution experiments. Therefore, it is necessary to modify Prandtl-von Karman's one-seventh potential law, proposed in 1921, on velocity distribution which states for turbulent flow the exponent "a" in E_q . (5) is a constant and equal to 1/7. From Eqs. (2), (3), and (6), one can also see that the velocity ratio should increase as Reynolds number increases. The applicability of Eq. (6) is greatly inspired by the **exc**ellent correlation with Stanton and Pannell's data.

After a rather thorough review of literature, the experiments were then carried out. An apparatus was specially built in the course of investigation. The apparatus consists essentially of a centrifugal pump, a water reservoir, calming sections over 100 I.D., and two vertical heat transfer sections of 2" hard drawn copper pipe which are jacketed by 3-1/2" iron pipes and either heated by condensing steam or cooling water. Special pitot tube and thermocouple sets have been designed for velocity and temperature explorations. Fifty-six isothermal runs of water were first carried out, and their results check very well with what is required by Eq. (5) and (6). On the non-isothermal runs, mostly heating runs, one pipe was made to run parallelcurrently and the other counter-currently. There is no appreciable difference in result of these two groups Temperature distribution calculations were of runs. made use of, the following relation, readily derived by assuming

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\mathbf{t}}{\mathrm{d}\mathbf{r}} \propto \frac{\mathrm{d}\mathbf{V}}{\mathrm{d}\mathbf{r}}$$

$$\frac{\Delta t}{\Delta t_{\text{max.}}} = \frac{t_{\text{w}} - t}{t_{\text{w}} - t_{\text{a}}} = \left(1 - \frac{r}{R}\right)^{b} = \left(\frac{y}{R}\right)^{b} \qquad \dots \dots (7)$$

Thirty-six non-isothermal velocity distribution runs

fifty-eight

and temperature distribution runs, including only six runs during cooling, were obtained.

The experimental result reveals an important fact that the exponent "b" is far from being equal to the exponent "a", i.e., temperature distribution is not equal at all to the velocity distribution. The elementary form of Reynolds analogy requires that these two exponents should be equal, assuming that there is similarity between momentum transfer and heat transfer. This non-similarity of mechanism of momentum transfer and heat transfer clarifies the question of applicability of Reynolds analogy to liquids, although it has been found applicable to gases by J.R. Pannell's experiments. From the present experiments, it has been found that the temperature drop through the laminar film at the wall is estimated to be 80-90% of the temperature difference between temperatures at the wall and at the center of the pipe, as compared with a ratio of 40-50% in Pannell's experiments on air. This phenomenon is what to be expected, since in case of gases the rapid to and fro motion of their molecules causes the heat transfer very efficiently, but in case of liquids the transmission of heat, according to Caldwell, is believed and has been shown experimentally to take place not through diffusion of molecules but through the actual contact of the molecules themselves. The film temperature has been used in calculating Reynolds number, and the correlation of the non-isothermal
velocity distribution exponents with the isothermal *carriedout.*ones is good. The temperature distribution exponent
"b" has been found to be dependent on the product of
Peclet number of a proposed temperature gradient
ratio, twall-taxis
.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

I.	Introduction	1
II.	Isothermal Friction Factor of Fluids in Circular Pipes.	3
III.	Review of Isothermal Velocity Distribution of Fluids in Circular Pipes.	44
IV.	Review of Non-Isothermal Velocity and Tem- perature Distributions of Fluids in Circular Pipes.	76
v.	Description of Apparatus.	85
VI.	Experimental Procedure.	95
VII.	Isothermal Velocity Distribution Runs.	100
VIII.	Velocity and Temperature Distribution Runs During Heating (Counter-Current and Parallel-Current).	107
IX.	Temperature Distribution Runs During Counter-Current Cooling.	135
x.	Heat Transfer Calculations.	138
XI.	Conclusion	143
•	APPENDIXES	
A.	Tabulation of Calculated Results of Iso- thermal Friction Data in Smooth Pipes from Previous Workers.	l
B.	Tabulation of C _a lculated R _e sults of Iso- thermal Friction Data in Commercial Iron and Steel Pipes from Previous Workers.	16
C.	Calculated Results of Isothermal Velocity Distribution Data from Previous In- vestigators.	39
-		

D. Isothermal Velocity Distribution Data with Calculations and Plots.

53

Page

TABLE OF CONTENTS (Cont.)

		Page
E.	Velocity Distribution Data During Parellel- Current Heating with Calculations and Plots.	86
F.	Velocity Distribution Data During Counter- Current Heating with Calculations and Plots.	108
G.	Temperature Distribution Data During Parallel-Current Heating with Calcula- tions and Plots.	119
н.	Temperature Distribution Data During Counter- Current Heating with Calculations and Plots.	147
I.	Temperature Distribution Data During Cooling with Calculations and Plots.	167
J.	Calibration Charts and Miscellaneous Plots.	174
K.	Table of Nomenclature.	182
L.	List of References (Given at the End of Each Chapter).	

MECHANISMS OF ISOTHERMAL AND NON-ISOTHERMAL FLOW OF FLUIDS IN PIPES.

I. INTRODUCTION

The primary object of the work herein described was to determine experimentally the velocity and temperature distributions obtained when a liquid is heated or Vertical cooled as it is pumped through a pipe. Reynolds analogy suggests the similarity between the transfer of momentum and heat, but the results obtained by using this analogy found applicable in its elemental form are only in case of gases, not for The failure of his analogy in applying to liliquids. quids has often been explained from many different points very little However, up to the present time, no actual exof view. perimental work on the simultaneous velocity and temperature distribution of a liquid has been available, so that it has been difficult to determine whether, or in what manner, the assumptions involved in the various derivations should be changed. It is thus hoped that a determination of the facts as to the velocity and temperature distributions may lead to a clarification of heat transfer theory. Recently, Eagle and Ferguson, in England, Keevil, in this Institute, worked independently on the non-isothermal friction factor during heat transfer. The first two worked with water; the second with oils. The question is still far from solved for fluids in This investigation might throw some light on general. the latter problem also.

The easiest way to study the above stated problems

is to compare the non-isothermal velocity distribution and temperature distribution with the isothermal velocity distribution. In studying the isothermal flow of fluids in pipes, the two most obvious measurable factors are the pressure gradient and the velocity distribution. A theoretical friction factor equation generally has some concomitant velocity distribution equation. Considerable experimental work on turbulent flow friction factor has been found in literature and numerous graphical correlations and empirical equations have been proposed, but few of these have been compared with any extensive part of the now-available data. Until recently, comparatively little work on isothermal velocity distribution is found in literature. Consequently, a critical survey of literthe ature on friction factor problem, as given in Chapter II. and on isothermal velocity distribution, as given in Chapter III, was of primary importance, while the collection of additional experimental data on isothermal velocity distribution was thought necessary.

The importance of the present investigation is evident because of its vast applications in commercial flow of fluids and heat transfer work, besides the theoretical interest on the mechanism of flow isothermally and during heat transfer. 2

1

Isothermal Friction Factor of Fluids in Circular Pipes.

II

A.	General Law of Surface Resistance.
в.	Hagen-Poiseuille's Law for Laminar Flow.
C.	General Index Law for Turbulent Flow.
D.	New Equation for Friction Factor of Fluids in Smooth Pipes.
E.	New Equation for Friction Factor of Fluids in Iron and Steel Pipe.
F.	Application of von Karman's New Theory.
G.	Effect of Entrance Conditions on Friction Factor.
H.	Effect of Roughness of Pipe Walls on Friction Factor.

I. Literature References.

II. Isothermal Friction Factor of Fluids in Circular Pipes.

A. General Law of Surface Resistance.

It is a well known fact that as a fluid moves over a solid surface there is produced at the boundary frictional or shearing stress just as in the case of two solid surfaces sliding over each other. This is called the skin friction or surface resistance and this accounts for the pressure drop of fluids in pipe lines. The differential form of Bernoulli's theorem (1)⁺ may be written as

2fV ² dL	V dV dP	
= .		(1)
gD	g p	

In case of liquids, the density may be taken as constant throughout the system; Thus, integrating Eq. (1),

 $f = \frac{gD}{2 V^{2} L} \begin{pmatrix} V_{1}^{2} - V_{2}^{2} & Ap \\ (-------- + ----) & \dots (la) \\ 2g & \rho \end{pmatrix} \dots (la)$

In case of isothermal flow of gases, substituting in the gas law and integrating,

 $f = \frac{gD}{2 V^2 L} \frac{V_1^2 - V_2^2}{2g} + BT \ln \frac{p_1}{p_2} \dots (1b)$

The kinetic energy term is often negligible in case of liquids, but it is not negligible in case of gases

+Numerals in brackets refer to literature references at the end of each chapter.

*Refer to Nomenclature Table at the end of thesis.

especially at high Reynolds Number; thus, in the former case of Eq. (la) may be simplifies to

which is commonly known as, Fanning Equation.

Rayleigh (2)(3) has shown from his principle of dimensional similarity that surface friction depends only on the diameter of the pipe, and on the velocity, density, and kinematic viscosity of the fluid. He further stated that this is a general law of the resistance of bodies of geometrically similar shape immersed in fluids moving relative to them, while flow of fluids in pipes is only a special case. If this is true, the expression for the surface resistance may be written as,

 $F/(\rho V^2) =$ Function of Reynolds No. = \mathcal{Q} (Re.) (2) The friction factor, f, is equivalent to $2F/\rho V^2$, Equation (2) then may be written as

 $f = 2F/\rho V^2 = \varphi'(Re.)$ (2a)

It has been pointed out by Lees (4) that on the theoretical side of this problem, whether established by an examination of the equations of motion of fluids as by Stokes and Helmholtz or by dimensional analysis as by Rayleigh, shows that cases having the same value of Reynolds number will give same value of friction factor.

Reynolds (5) has definitely shown that there are two entirely different types of fluid motion. One is called laminar or viscous flow which is characterized in a straight pipe. by the straight line motion of the fluid particles parallel to the axis. The other is called turbulent flow which is characterized by an erratic eddying motion of individual fluid particles, although the net flow is only in the direction The Reynolds number at which one type of flow of the axis. changes to the other is defined as the critical value. From an extensive study of this critical value by Schiller (6)(7)(8)(9), it is found that the critical value depends greatly upon the inlet length or calming section and the entrance disturb-According to him. 2.320 may be taken as the lower ances. limit of this criterion. A more detailed discussion of this point will be given later (p. 30).

Hsiao (10) recently has derived a general equation, based upon dimensional analysis, for friction factor interms of Reynolds number and an exponent 'n' which is equal to 1 for laminar flow and varies from 1.7 to 2.0 for turbulent flow depending on the pipe wall roughness. His equation reads:

$$f = 16 \begin{bmatrix} 1918 & (1.918 - ---) \\ n-1 \end{bmatrix}^{1-11}$$
 Re.(3)

Thus for viscous region, where n = 1

$$f = 16 \text{ Re}_{\bullet} = 16/\text{Re}_{\bullet} \qquad \dots (4)$$

And for turbulent region, where n = 1.75 for smooth pipes,

$$f = 0.0826 \text{ Ref. 0.25}$$
(5)

He used the general equation (3) to correlate his experiments on the effect of corrosion on the resistance to the flow of water in metallic pipes.

B. Hagen-Poiseuille's Law for Viscous Flow

In 1839 Hagen (11) first studied the flow of water through brass tubes at different temperatures, and in 1842 Poiseuille (12) used very small glass capillaries to study the flow of water. They practically reached the same equation as follows:

Later, Wiedemann and Hagenbach (11) deduced mathematically the following modified equation

which is better known as Poiseuille's Law, though it ought to be named as Hagen-Poiseuille's Law which name has been adopted by Prandlt and Tietjens (13).

Hagenbach deduced Eq. (7) from a theoretical derivation of a velocity distribution formula for laminar flow

$$V = \frac{P}{4 L \mu} \left[\left(R^{2} - (r)^{2} \right)^{2} \right] \dots (8)$$

i

4

The volume of liquid passed per unit time is equal to the volume of a paraboloid, since Eq. (8) is its profile and is in the form of a parabola. Thus the volume of the paraboloid will be

$$Q = 2\pi \int_{0}^{R} vr dr = 2w \int_{0}^{R} \frac{P}{4Lu} (R^{2} - r^{2})r dr = \frac{\pi P R}{8 L u} \dots (9)$$

which is identical with Eq. (7). Then the law of surface resistance for laminar flow can be easily obtained from Eq. (7) and (1a) and definition of friction factor 'f' in Eq. (2a). Then

$$f = 16 \text{ Re}_{\bullet} = 16/\text{Re}_{\bullet}$$
(10)

This theoretically derived equation has been found to be correct by the early investigators on the viscosity problem and more recently by the experiments of Blasius (14), Stanton and Pannell (15), Mills (16), Clapp and FitzSimons (17) and Keevil (18). Therefore, the resistance law for viscous flow is proved to be exact and it has been accepted by the scientific world.

C. General Index Law for Turbulent Flow. Reynolds (5), from his experiments on lead pipe, made a log-log plot of his observed values of surface resistance against velocity. He found two straight branches; the lower one corresponding to observations below the critical value of Re., the upper one to those above the critical. He suggested for the turbulent region a simple Index Law

 $f = \beta \operatorname{Re}^{2} = \beta \operatorname{Re}^{n-2}$ (11)

where n varies as the nature of the roughness of surface.

A general Index Law has been suggested by many authorities on this problem and has been used by them in correlating their experimental results on turbulent flow:

 $f = d + \beta Re$(12)It is obvious that Eq. (12) reduces to the Reynolds simple form if a=0, so it may be said that the latter is only a special case of the former. A study of the available data on smooth pipes and commercial pipes shews that this equation can be used to represent, surface resistance law in turbulent region very satisfactorily. The coefficients $\boldsymbol{\alpha}$, $\boldsymbol{\beta}$, and c are constants only for classes of pipes of the same degree of wall roughness. A rough pipe would be expected to have coefficients different from those for smooth pipe. However, all available experimental data reveal that for any particular type of pipe these coefficients are constants, - a fact which simplifies the study of the present problem and gives further support to the General Index Law. It is to be noticed that many sets of experimental results have been presented in other forms, some of which are very complicated. These will not be mentioned here, since a comprehensive reviews of these forms have been made by Eason (19) on air and gases, and by Gibson (20) and Forchheimer (21) respectively on water.

A brief summary of Index Law equations proposed by various authors for turbulent flow of fluids in smooth pipes, with their experimental particulars is shown in Table I. Glass, lead, copper and drawn brass are considered to belong to the class of "technically smooth" It is seen from Table 1 that experimenters pipes. who studied a comparatively small range of Reynolds number have generally recommended that the friction factor be expressed by the simple Index Law having $\alpha = 0$. As the range of Keynolds number increases, it is seen that the general Index Law equation is advocated. Schiller and Ombeck are exceptions, but it is seen from Schiller's original paper that beyond Re. = 28,000 his own data deviates from his proposed equation, which is identical with that of Blasius. Indeed, the simple Index Law requires that friction factor is a linear functions of Reynolds number on a log-log plot, which is found to be not true for a wide range of Re. The simple Index Law requires that friction factor approaches zero as Re. approaches infinity, while the general Index Law states that friction factor will approach ✔ as a limit as Re. approaches infinity.

> D. New Equation for Friction Factor of Fluids in Smooth Pipes (for Re. 3,000-3,000,000)

A wide range of data on friction factor in glass, lead, copper and especially drawn brass has been *ne*collected and calculated with the object of obtaining a more accurate general Index Law equation which will cover the biggest range of Reynolds number possible.

TABLE 1.

• 4

SUMMARY OF GENERAL INDEX LAW EQUATIONS FOR TURBULENT FLOW IN SMOOTH PIPES

	Equet	ion: $f = \mathbf{e} + \mathbf{B} \mathbf{R}$	C					
Authority and	mdag of			Coefficien	ts in Eq.	(12)		
Reference	Fluid	Pipe Material	Range of Re	٤	<u> </u>	- C		
1. Saph and Schoder(22 (as calculated by Blasius) (14)	e) Water	drawn brass	3,000 to 100,000	0	•0791	• 2 50		
2. H. Blasius (14)	Water	glass, lead	3,000 to 76,300	0	•0791	• 250		
3. H. Ombeck (23)	Air	drawn brass	6,590 to 481,500	0	.0605	• 224		
4. M. Jakob (24)	air,Water	drawn brass	3,000 to 70,000	0	.0818	• 254		
5. L. Schiller(6)	Water	drawn brass	3,000 to 400,000	0	•0791	.250		
6. H. Richter (25)	Water	drawn copper	4,100 to 72,000	0	.0873	. 267		
7. C. Y. Hsiao (10)	Water	copper,glass, lead-lined	2,690 to 86,200	0	• 0826	• 2 50		
8. Jakob, Erk. (26)	Air,water	drawn brass	86,000 to 462,000	.00179 .	•15 3	• 3 50		
9. Stanton, Pannell(15) (as calculated by Lees) (4)	Air, water	drawn brass	3,000 to 430,000	.00180	•153	• 3 50		
10. Mises (27)		smooth pipe		•0024	•4 2 5	•500		
11. R. Biel (28)		smooth pipe		.0024	.570	•500		
12. R. Hermann (30)	Water	drawn brass	20,200 to 1,900,000	•00135	•099	• 300		
13 R. Hermann (30)	Water	drawn copper	37,700 to 1,330,000	.00132	• 09 98	• 300		
Author			3,000 to 3,000,000	•00140	.125	• 320		

The available data used for this purpose are all taken from the original tabulated data literature, except Nikuradse's data (32) which are presented only in the form of a log-log plot of 4f against Reynolds number. These were necessarily read from an enlarged photograph eight times as big as the original which enabled the writer to read the values accurately to three significant Ombeck and Nusselt's data or compressed figures. air in drawn brass pipes have already been corrected for change of kinetic energy which is only negligible below Re. = 10,000 in their work. Stanton and Pannell's experiments on air have not been corrected for kinetic negligible energy changes but this is not serious in their case since their runs on air are mostly below Re. = 10,000. In so far as is known, all data having an inlet length below 40D, or of an unreliable character for other reasons are excluded. As a result of these considerations, 17 groups of reliable data having calming length of more than 40D, consisting of 1339 tests, have been recalculated and are plotted in Figure I using 4f as ordinate and Re. as abscissa, the adoption of 4f instead of f as ordinate is merely for convenience since all data in German literature are expressed in this way. Table II summarizes the particulars of these 17 groups of experiments having range of diameter, kind of pipe, range of Reynolds number, and inlet length in terms of diameters of the pipe tested all indicated.

TABLE II

SUMMARY OF PREVIOUS EXPERIMENTS ON FRICTION FACTOR IN SMOOTH PIPES.

A	uthority and Reference	Fluid Used	Pipe Ma- terial	I.D. of Pipe in In.	Range of Re	N _O . of Tests	Inlet Length	Remarks
1.	H.Smith, Jr. (33)	Water	Glass	0.746 0.917	7,450-34,200	9		Excluding 4 runs on 0.502" pipe, which is quoted as unreliable by author.
2.	Saph and Schoder(z) as calculated by Blasius)	Water 4)	Drawn Brass	16 Pipe vary ing from 0.107-2.09	-3,000 - 100,00	0 39		These 39 tests are cho- sen as representative of about 300 actual run
3.	H. Blasius (14)	Water	Lead	0.190	1,450-23,600	68	98.2D	45 runs on lead pipe will inlet length of 20.7D are excluded.
	H. Blasius (14)	Water	Glass	0.389	4,470-76,300	75	51.7D	Glass pipes not having
4.	H. Ombeck (23)	Air	Drawn Brass	0.79, 1.176, 1.576, 2.04	6,592-481,49	6 145		
5.	W.Nusselt (as calcu- lated by Ombeck)(23)	Air	Drawn Brass	0.866	6,208-151,70	0 10		W. Nusselt's data were also calculated by Blasius; results are nor much different.
6.	Stanton and Pannell(15) an	Air nd Water	Drawn Brass	0.142, 0.281 0.494, 1.255 4.97	, 1012-430,00 ,	0 308	90-1400	Only 7 runs were done on 4.97" pipe.
7.	J.R. Freeman (16)	Water	Drawn Brass	2 .10 8, 3 .0 67 4.000	, 11,420-908,0	000 59		3" pipe is said to be slightly rougher than either 2" or 4" pipe.
ଷ୍ଟ୍	H.F. Mills (16)	Water	Drawn Brass	0.54	2,580-12,68	0 20		

Authority and Reference	Fluid Used	Pipe Ma- terial	I.D. of Pipe in In.	Range of Re	No. of Tests	Inlet Lengtl	n Remarks
). Jakob and Erk (26)	Water	Drawn Brass	0.54	86,330- 461,620	40	40-511	
.0. R. Hermann (30)	Water	Drawn Brass	2.68	20,200-1,898,000	97	169D	
	Water	Drawn Copper	1.97	37,640-1,328,000	74	249D	
.1. J. Nikur a dse (32)	Water	Drawn Brass		41,200-3,070,000	94	Greater than 551	Diameter of pipe not stated in the reference
.2. C.Y. Hsiao (10)	Water wro	Copper, 8 lead lined ga vanized ught iro	0.671,0.825 1.597 1-	2,69 0- 86,200	150	75-1450	Only 80 runs are cho- sen from 359 runs on 0.825" copper pipe.
3. C.Y. Hsiao (10)	Water	Glass	0.330,0.350	4,800- 36,710	63	91 - 137D	Glass pipes <u>all not</u> having uniform cross- section; excluding 30 ID. inlet length runs.
4. A.H. Gibson (20)	Water	Copper	0.751,0.998 1.500	10,200-101,800	15		
5. H. Richter (25)	Water	Drawn Coppe r	1.57	4,100- 72,000	38	43D	
6. Clapp and Fitzsimons	(17)Water	Coppe r	0.494	2,660- 36,600	45	100D	Range of
7. Clapp and Fitzsimons(17)011	Copper	0.494	1,087-6,740	20	100D	Temp. of oil varies from 30-98°C.

.

Figure 1 Friction Factor

in Smooth Pipes



A new equation in the form of general Index Law has been obtained by applying the method of averages to the 26 points $_{\Lambda}^{SO}$ chosen as to represent the densest place in the band of points on Fig. 1 at these values of the abscissae indicated in Table III. The equation

$$4f = 0.00559 + \frac{0.5009}{0.32}$$
Re.
(13)

or

is

-0.32f = 0.00140 + 0.125 Re.(13a)

The accuracy of the proposed equation and its applicability to a very wide range of Reynolds number are shown in Figure 2 and Table III. It is important to note that this equation covers a range of Reynolds number from 3,000 to 3,000,000 and fits all available data withint 5%. The new equation checks excellently with Lees Equation within the range of Re. of Stanton (see Fig. 2a) and Pannell. It may be further pointed out that it is justified to classify copper, brass, glass, and lead together as smooth surfaces, that is to say they are hydraulically of the same degree of roughness. Although except for 20 runs by Clapp and FitzSimons (17) on oil, only air and water have been used in determining the equation, it is believed, however, from the principle of dimensional similarity that the new equation should be applicable to any kind of fluid. It might be mentioned here that Gib**Sons** (47) has made a series of tests on brine solutions in copper pipes

TABLE 3

Re	4f (read from (figure)	4f (calc. from Eq)	0•95(4f)	1.074f)	
3,000 4,000 5,000 6,000 8,000 10,000 15,000 20,000 30,000 40,000 50,000 60,000 200,000 250,000 250,000 250,000 300,000 400,000 500,000 500,000 1,000,000 1,500,000 2,000,000	0.0435 0.0409 0.0386 0.0368 0.0341 0.0322 0.0289 0.0268 0.0241 0.0223 0.0212 0.0203 0.0190 0.0181 0.0166 0.0157 0.0149 0.0149 0.0144 0.0137 0.0132 0.0121 0.0121 0.0121 0.01095 0.01045	0.04423 0.04083 0.03845 0.03655 0.03655 0.03188 0.02868 0.02665 0.02409 0.02246 0.02130 0.02041 0.01910 0.01910 0.01817 0.01664 0.01567 0.01447 0.01366 0.01311 0.01268 0.01206 0.01041 0.00097	0.0420 0.0388 0.03655 0.0347 0.03215 0.0303 0.0272 0.0253 0.0229 0.0214 0.0202 0.0194 0.01814 0.01727 0.0158 0.0149 0.01422 0.01298 0.01247 0.01298 0.01247 0.01205 0.01103 0.00989 0.00989	0.0464 0.0429 0.0404 0.0355 0.0355 0.0335 0.0250 0.0253 0.0224 0.0214 0.02005 0.01908 0.01750 0.01518 0.01378 0.01378 0.01267 0.01220 0.01220 0.01242 0.0124 0.0124 0.0124 0.0124 0.0124 0.0124 0.0124 0.0124 0.0124 0.0124 0.0124 0.0124	

NEW EQUATION FOR ISOTHERMAL FRICTION FACTOR IN SMOOTH PIPES

Proposed Equation: $4f = 0.00559 + \frac{0.5009}{\text{Re.}^{0.32}}$

or

 $f = 0.00140 + \frac{0.1252}{\text{Re}.^{0.32}}$

Figure 2


Figure Za

Companison of New Equations

with others



and found that the resistance law holds for water as well as for the brine solution of the difference of density of these solutions are taken care of in the calculation. His data on brine is not available in his original paper, hence they are not included in Figure I. Six groups of calculated results of friction data from previous workers are tabulated in Appendix A, because they have not been calculated in terms of f and Re. by previous workers themselves. The data of other groups may be easily found from their original references.

> E. New Equation for Friction Factor of Fluids in Fron and Steel Pipes (for Re. = 3,000 to 2,500,000.)

The friction factor problem of fluids in iron and steel pipe is very much complicated by the corrosion effect. This effect is negligible when dry air, oil, or similar non-corrosive fluid is used but it is important when water, steam or brine solution is used as a fluid. The recent work of Fair, Whipple and Hsiao (61) (also see Hsiao's thesis (10)) has revealed the hydraulic service characteristics of small metallic pipes being Cambridge water. It is found that the effect of corrosion will cause an increase of pipe wall roughness as well as reduction of diameter for commercial wrought iron and steel pipes. For a 3/4" iron or steel pipe, there is a reduction of diameter to one third of the original after passing 3,000 cu.ft. of hot water. 'Of course, the effect of

corrosion will be more pronounced at higher temperature, and also for smaller pipes due to the accompan**yeng** reduction of diameter. Besides the corrosion effect, temperature effect, calming length effect, and in cases of gases, kinetic energy change effect should be always considered. In hydraulics one often neglects the temperature effect. This is not justified, since the water temperature may often change from 35° F. in winter to 75° F. in summer, corresponding to a change of kinematic viscosity of 1.82x10⁻⁵ to 0.99x10⁻⁵.(ft fee)

With all these variables affecting the friction factor, one might expect to find very divergent data in literature. However, by limiting oneself to new and clean iron and steel pipes including plain cast iron or wrought iron without any coating whatsoever, to tests in which the experimental temperature is definitely known, and to those conducted with a reasonable calming length it has been possible to assemble 16 groups of reliable data from literature consisting of 967 tests, using either air, steam, water, or brine as a fluid. A plot of friction factor versus Reynolds number on a log-log plot reveals a relation like that in the case of smooth pipes as shown in Figure 3. This relation can be expressed in the General Index Law form as

Figure 3 Friction Factor

i n

Iron & Steel Pipes

•



Reference Authority and Symbol in Fig.	Fluid Used	Pipe Ma- terial	I.D. in Inches	Range of Re.		No. of Tests	Calming Length and Remarks
1. C.H. Lander (50)	Water Steam	Mild Steel Mild Steel	0.421, 1.30 0.421, 0.75 1.30	4,560 17,400	58 ,100 523,000	15 6 1	171D, 55.5 D 171D, 96D, 55.5D
2. H. Ombeck (23)	Air	Drawn Wrought Iron	0.785	13,510	106,000	16	Discarding 23 runs of much less friction.
3. Fritzsche (23)	Air	Wrought Iron	1.533	8,155	154,276	41	Discarding 42 runs in corroded pipe.
4. H. Darcy (16)	Water	New Cast Iror	5.395	17,900	565,000	10	This is the smoothest of his four test pipes.
5. H. Smith, Jr.(33)	Water	New Wrought (Iron	0.628, 1.052	4,610	40,600	20	
6. J.B. Francis (16)	Water	New Wrought (Iron 1	.801, 1.033, .531, 2.03	9 ,110	117,000	57	As quoted by H.F. Mills.
7. J.R. Freeman (16)	Water	New Wrought C	0.624, 0.816 1.061, 1.387 2.093, 2.503, 3.115, 4.123 5.122, 6.144, 5.050	1,270	863,000	162	Discarding 13 runs. in 0.36" pipe having higher friction as quoted by H.F. Mills.
8. E.W. Schoder (51)	Water	W_r ought Iron	6.075	76,300	443,500	32	40 76D has
9. C. Eberle (52)	Steam	Wrought Iron	2.73	150 ,0 00	687,000	13	164D 🗳
10. Stockalper (23)	Air	Welded and Cas Iron	st 5.•91,7.88	235,530	557,560	5	As quoted by H.Ombeck.

Table 4 Summary of Previous Experiments on Friction Factor in Iron and Steel Pipes

Au	Reference thority and Symbol in Fig.	Fluid Used	Pipe Ma- terial	I.D. in Inches	Range of Re.		No. of Tests	Calming Length and Remarks
11.	Gould and Levy (53)	Brine Sol.	New W _r ought Iron	1.38	1,300	50 , 900	111	About 130D.
12.	Kratz, Macintire and Gould (54)	Brine Sol.	New Wrought Iron	2.08	2,280	93,600	52	About 87D.
13.	F.W. Greve, Jr.(55)	Water	-Black water, Pipe	1.608	4,840	227,000	42	151.5D
14.	Corp and Ruble (56)	Water	Wrought Iron or Steel Gas and Water Pipe.	11.99	96,500	1,116,000) 58	40D; Discarding expts. on 7 other pipes which temp. is not definitely known.
15.	Corp and Hartwell(57)	Water	W _r ought Iron or Steel Water Pipe	0.981, 1.044 1.062, 2.05, 2.09, 2.10, 4.025, 4.03, 4.02, 6.11	' 15 , 180	861 , 000	251	40D; Temp. of/water definitely known.
16.	F. Carnegie (62)	Steam	Solid-drawn, hot rolled and ordinary steel pipe.	1.98, 6.0, 8.0	131,200	2,488,000) 21	Superheated Steam.
				· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	-			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·

Total

967 Tests

$$4f = 0.01227 + 0.7543 \text{ Re.}^{-0.38} \dots (14)$$

$$f = 0.00307 + 0.1886 \text{ Re.}^{-0.38} \dots (14a)$$

0

All the test data available to the author at present are found to fit the equation within a deviation of + 10% as shown in Figure 4. This equation is recommended to be used for new commercial iron and steel pipes of 1/2 to 12 inches in diameter having Reynolds number varying from 3,000 to 2,500,000. This equation checks very well with that proposed by Wilson, McAdams and Seltzer (58), in 1922 (See Figure 2A). It is in disagreement with that of McAdams and Sherwood published in 1926 (59). A tabulation of test specifications, calculated values of friction factor for different Reynolds numbers and a comparison with other proposed empirical equations will be found in Tables 4, 5, 6, respectively. (also see Figure 2a). It must be pointed out here that the former workers did not succeed in collecting such a wide range of data which were available in literature but used Fanning's Tables or Smith's Tables instead, especially for the high Reynolds number range. Ten groups of calculated results of friction data from previous workers who have not given the results as friction factor and Reynolds number are tabulated in Appendix B.

Among the adopted 16 groups of data on friction factor, Eberle's group was the only set of experiments which was tested including 2 to 3 90° elbows in the test section, others all had straight test sections. Eberle's experiment is purposely included here, because of its high range of Reynolds number using steam as a fluid medium. Stockalper's experiment was found to have not sufficiently accurate pressure measurement, however, it is included here because of it classical interest. Carpenter and Sickles' experiment on steam (66) has been excluded, for their test pipes are not new but have been in service for quite a long time. Hussey and Wattles (67) experimental data were taken at 3-1/2 pipe diameter after a 90° elbow; the insufficient calming length of their experiments is apparent.

The effect of pipe diameter on the friction factor is illustrated by several sets of experimental data in Figure 4A. There are indications that small size pipes, say below 1", have high values of friction factor while large size pipes have low values at same Reynolds number. However, for large size pipes, the effect of diameter on friction factor is less pronounced, for example, in Figure 4A, there is practically no difference in friction factor between Freeman's data

on 4" and 3" wrought iron pipes, and Carnegie's experiment on steam shows that the friction factor for his 6" steel pipe is higher than that for his 2" steel pipe. Usually, drawn steel or iron tubes have less friction due to their polished surfaces. Further conclusion on this question cannot yet be drawn until more experimental data on different sizes of same kind of pipe are secured.

The decrease of the slope of the friction factor curve to a considerable degree at high Reynolds number for both smooth and iron and steel pipes may be explained as follows. Below Re. = 100,000 the film at the boundary of the pipe controls or counts for the friction which of course decreases proportionally as velocity increases since an increase of velocity will decrease the film thickness, while above that number the pipe wall roughness controls or counts for the friction mostly thus an increase of velocity will not decrease the friction as much as before. It is also obvious from the empirical equation that as Re. approaches infinity there is still a definite value of friction factor which might be said is due purely to wall rough-In other words, one might visualize the mechanness. ism better if one considers the constant $\not\prec$ in the General Index Law as friction due to pipe wall roughness and the remainder or the entire second term as friction due to that laminar film at the wall which is a function of Reynolds number.



. . .

:



FRICTION FACTOR=4f

FRICTION FACTOR = 4

	(Range	of Diameter 1/	2" to 12")		
	Equation: $\lambda = 4f =$	= 0.01227 + 0.7	543 Re ^{0.38}		
	4 r			4 f	
Re	(Calculated from Eq.) Use Log Table.	$\frac{0.9 (4f)}{(= -10\%)}$	$\frac{1.1 (4f)}{(= +10\%)}$	(Calculated from Wilson, McAdams and Seltzer's Eq.	.)
3,000	0.04827	0.0435	0.0531	0.0498	
4,000 5,000 6,000	4454 4192 3993	401 377 359	49 0 46 1 439	•04255	
8,000 10,000	3707 3595	334 315	408 386	•0376 •03525	
15,000 20,000 30,000	3180 2978 2728	286 268 246	350 328 300	•02996	
40,000 50,000 60,000	2573 2463 2380	231 222 214	283 271 262	.02479	
80,000 100,000	2261 2177 20/11	203 196	249 239	•0228 •0220 2	
200,000 250,000 300,000	1957 1898	184 176 171	225 215 209	•02002	
400,000 500,000 650,000	1788 1743 1694	161 157 152	197 192 186	• 01 807	
850,000 1,000,000 1,500,000	1648 1623 1566	148 146 141	181 179 172	•01702 •01654	
2,500,000 3,500,000)* 4,500,000)	1507 (1473) (1451)	1355 (1326) (1305)	166 (162) (160)		

Table 5Proposed Equation of Isothermal Friction Factor for New
Iron&Steel Pipes.

* Parentheses indicate range of Reynolds number without enough experimental proof.

Table 6 Summary of General Index Law Equations for Turbulent Flow in Iron and Steel Pipes.

		f = d +	β Re. ^{+C}					
-	Authority & Reference	e Fluids	Pipe Material		Range of Test or Source of Data		fficient B	<u>s</u> -c
1.	C.H. Lander (50)	Water and Steam	Mild Steel Steam Pipe	Re.	= 4,560 to 648,000	0.0040	0.282	0.440
2.	Wilson, McAdams and Seltzer (58)	Oil, Water, Steam	Commercial Iron and Steel	Re.	= 3,000 to 1,500,000	0.0035	0.264	0.424
3.	W.H. McAdams and T.K. Sherwood (59)	Air and Steam	Iron and Steel	Re.	= 11,600 to 3,865,000	0.0054	46.4	1.000
4.	M.D. Aisenstein(60)	Water	Commercial Smooth Pipes			0	0.167	0.170
5.	Author	Air, Steam, Water, and Brine Solu- tions.	New clean Iron and Steel Pipes	Re.	= 3,000 to 2,500,000	0.00307	0.1886	0.380

. .

F. Application of von Karman's New Theory

Before stating von Karman's new theory of resistance law, it is necessary to consider Prand(A)'s theory of (1925) turbulence (34), based upon which von Karman's new theory(1930) is derived. In laminar flow, it is always assumed that the shearing stress F may be expressed as follows:

 $F = \mu (dv/dy) = \rho v (dv/dy) \qquad \dots \dots (14)$ where v is the velocity component relative to rectangular axis X. In turbulent flow, a similar relation has been assumed possible by Prand/At/, thus giving

 $F = \rho L^{2} (dv/dy)^{2} \qquad \dots \dots (15)$ If we let $\gamma ! = L^{2} (dv/dy)$, then

 $F = \rho / (dv/dy)$ (15a)

Prandlt calls L', "Mischungsweg" or mixing length which is the distance through which a particle of fluid is displaced from one layer to another and is somewhat analogous to the idea of mean free path in the kinetic theory. Defining ψ ' as the (apparent kinematic viscosity(or 'effective kinematic viscosity' in turbulent flow, we notice the similarity between Equations (14) and (15a). But ψ ', unlike the ordinary kinematic viscosity ψ , which is a constant at a definite temperature, $|eyer^{+o}|$ will vary from_Adifferent layers in the fluid and will also be a function of velocity.

In 1930,

Recently, von Karman (35) based upon his revised equation for velocity distribution between parallel walls and his definition of Prand(Aty's mixing length, L', he succeeded in deriving a new resistance law which is quite different from the simple index law or the general index law. For a detailed discussion, one must refer to his original paper (35) or in English to J.W.Maccoll's review (37). For symmetrical flow in circular pipes, his revised velocity distribution equation may be written as follows:

$$V = V_{\text{max}} + \frac{1}{k} \sqrt{F/\rho} \left[\text{Log} \left(1 - \sqrt{r/R} \right) + \sqrt{r/R} \right] \dots (17)$$

where k is said to be a universal constant, and his definition of mixing length L! is,

$$L' = 2kR \sqrt{r/R} (1 - \sqrt{r/R})$$
(18)

Thus, the calculation yields,

$$V_{\text{max.}} = \frac{1}{k} \sqrt{F/\rho} \quad (\text{Log} \frac{R\sqrt{F/\rho}}{4} + K) \quad \dots \quad (19)$$

where K is another constant independent of k.

By the definition of f and Re., a new resistance law is derived

$$A/\sqrt{f} = Log (Re.\sqrt{f}) + B$$
(20)

or expressing in term of 4f,

$$A' / \sqrt{4f} = Log (Re. \sqrt{4f}) + B'$$
(20)

It must be mentioned here that in von Karman's original equation for resistance law the maximum velocity is used as a reference quantity instead of average velocity, thus in applying his original equation some accurate method must be used to obtain the maximum velocity from the average velocity. Unfortunately, the ratio $V_{\rm av}/V_{\rm max}$ is known to a less order of precision than is the friction factor, hence it is impossible to apply his theoretical equation as it stands.

As a matter of interest, equation (20) or (20a) may be interpreted in terms of the usual Reynolds number and friction factor, though such interpretation is without theoretical basis. The representative values of friction factors read from Fig. I are again used to determine the constants in von Karman's new resistance law by the method of averages. The details of determining the constants are shown in Table 7. A plot of $1/\sqrt{4f}$ against Re. $\sqrt{4f}$ on a semi-log paper is shown in Figure 5 and gives a straight line relation which proves the applicability of von Karman's formula to actual experimental data if interpreted in terms of the average velocity. It is interesting to notice *a good as that* that this correlation is much better than what is shown in von Karman's original article - a fact which indicates a further merit to the new proposed equation based upon all available data. Substituting the constants found in Eq. (20a)

$$\frac{0.496}{\sqrt{4f}} = \log \text{ Re. } \sqrt{4f} - 0.446 \qquad \dots (20a)$$

or we may express this equation in terms of f

$$0.248/\sqrt{f}$$
 Log 2 Re. \sqrt{f} - 0.446 ...(20b)

	Table 7 Ver	Verification of von Karman's New Theory				
		(for Smooth	Pipes)			
Re	4f (Read from Fig.)	1/ √4f	Re 🗸 4f	Log ₁₀ Re. 4f		
3,000 4,000 5,000 6,000 8,000 10,000 15,000 20,000 40,000 50,000 60,000 150,000 200,000 250,000 300,000 400,000 500	0.0435 402 379 361 333 284 263 237 222 211 202 189 180 166 157 150 145 137 132 127 121 109 1044 0992	4.79 4.93 5.126 5.93	626 803 975 1,140 1,460 1,772 2,244 4,530 1,2530 1,000 13,320 25,060 36,200 13,320 25,600 36,200 45,200 57,700 88,700 107,700 156,700 298,800	2.796 2.904 2.989 3.1649 3.1649 3.2403 2.9857 3.2403 2.989 3.1649 3.2403 2.989 3.1649 3.2403 2.903 3.25676 2.12860 2.906 3.2006		
		A 1				

von Karman Eq.: $\frac{A'}{\sqrt{4f}} = \log_{10} \text{ Re.}\sqrt{4f} + B'$ Using method of Averages: A' = 0.496B' = -0.446Proposed Friction Factor: $\frac{0.496}{\sqrt{4f}} = \log_{10} \text{ Re }\sqrt{4f} - 0.446$ Exaction based on war Karmania New Theorem

Equation based on von Karman's New Theory.



The biggest disadvantage of the above found equation is that for a given Re., friction factor has to be obtained through trial and error method. However, it has the particular advantage of calculating velocity of flow when pressure drop is known. (See Figure 5a). For iron and steel pipes, von Karman relation fails to be a straight line as shown in Figure 5a.

<u>G.</u> <u>Effect of Entrance Conditions on Friction Factor</u>.
1. On Viscous Flow:

In viscous flow of fluids a parabolic velocity distribution curve has been theoreticallt derived as given in Eq. (8). An excellent review on the effect of entrance conditions on friction factor has recently been given by Prandlt and Tietjens (13). At the entrance of a round inlet, the velocity distribution is in the form of a trapezoid for laminar flow. As the fluid is flowing away from the inlet, the length of the shorter base of the trapezoid is diminished gradually, and finally the velocity distribution is in the form of a parabola. This inlet length which is required to build up the normal parabolic velocity distribution (better known as calming length) is found by Boussinesq (68) and Schiller (38) to be a function of pipe diameter and Reynolds number. As early as 1891, Boussinesq (68) proposed the following equation,

while Schiller's equation proposed in 1922 has a smaller

X = 0.065 D Re

*Derived for rounded inlet, but on account of negligible contraction at square edge inlet in viscous region the formula should be a good approximation in most cases.

(21)*

constant

X = 0.0288 D Re(21a) From Nikuradse experiments as quoted by Frandlt and Tietjens (13), it is seen that Boussinesq's constant in Eq. (21) holds good only at high X/D Re, while Schiller's constant in Eq. (21a) holds good at only low X/D Re. However, Schiller's equation checks very well with friction factor measurements. Schiller has experimentally shown that due to insufficient calming length, the friction factor will be bigger than what is required by Hagen-Poiseuille's law. Therefore, the importance of sufficient calming length for friction factor determination should not be overlooked. 2. On Critical Value:

The critical value or the value of the critical Reynolds number which is the transition point from laminar

to turbulent flow depends very much on entrance conditions &but slightly on the roughness of the pipe wall has been found by Schiller (6)(9). He illustrated this by varying the distance of an adjustable plate placed near the mouth of a pipe which has a round inlet; the entrance disturbances will be the greatest as the distance He found that an increase is nearest to the mouth. in the inlet disturbance results in a lowering of the critical value, approaching 2,320 as a lower limit, while the upper limit can be controlled to 12,000. With a sharp-edged inlet, the critical value was found to be 2,800. On an artificially 1.6 cm. roughened pipe having a spiral thread of 0.4 mm. pitch and 0.3 m.m. depth, the critical value was found to be still the same. Upon fixing a rounded inlet to this roughened pipe, critical value was found to be as high as 20,000. It was emphatically pointed out by Schiller that some of the previous investigators who did find still lower critical value of Reynolds number than 2,320 was due to the use of too short an inlet length that led to erroneous results. For the upper limit, Ekman(39) found by careful that elimination of disturbances, the critical value can reach as high as 40,000. It is thus seen how the critical value is dependent on the entrance conditions, and for ordinary sharp-edged inlet of sufficient inlet length (i.e., X/DRe> 0.0288), the critical value may be taken as 2,800. Substituting Ke. = 2,800 in Eq. (21),

inlet length ought to be greater than 80.7 D. Schiller & Kirsten (63)(64)(65) found that for a given inlet disturbance, the critical number continuely decreases with increasing tube length. They found that in one case where X/D = 1128, Re. = 3,500. Thus, the lower critical number, 2,320 has not been reached in their experiments. It might be explained that as the calming length is increased, inlet disturbances eliminate away proportionally, but wall roughness might come into picture.

3. On Turbulent Flow:

The effect of inlet length or calming section on the turbulent friction factor is well illustrated in ^Hermann's recent experiments (30) on water. It seems that the inlet length requirement is not so serious as compared with the viscous flow. About 25 D it was found that the turbulent friction factor will deviate ± 4% at Re. = 830,000, what he t at 3% at Re. = 262,000. About 100 D, the friction factor will deviate ± 2.5% at Re. = 830,000 and + 1.7% at Re. = 262,000. About 250D. it will deviate + 0.9% at Re. = 200,000. The inlet length effect will be still less important at lower in furbulent flow. Nikurad(es (32) has shown recently neynolds numbers, that at Re. = 900,000, the velocity distribution curves show no difference at inlet length 100D, 65D, or 40D. However, it is recommended to use as long an inlet length as possible to eliminate any entrance disturbances, at least 40D.

The effect of form of inlet mouth of the pipe on the friction factor has also been worked out by ^Hermann(30) in the same paper. About 50D, for a rounded inlet the friction factor will be 3.5% higher than the ordinary sharp-edged inlet, and for a ring-shaped inlet the factor will be 2% higher. Above 100 D, this effect is less than 1%.

H. Effect of Roughness of Pipe Wall on Friction Factor

Stanton (40) in his 1911 paper on The Mechanical Viscosity of Fluids stated that by artificially roughening the pipe wall, he was able to make the surface friction or F of two pipes of different diameter varies as the square of the velocity; that means the friction factor f in his case will not be a function of Reynolds number. Recently, an exhaustive study of the roughness problem accompanied with their experimental work in rectangular channels has been undertaken by Hopf (41)(42), Fromm (43)(44), and Fritsch (45). Their study has covered a wide field of surfaces varying from smooth-drawn brass. wood, cement, sheet iron, and artificially roughened surfaces of wavy & saw-like shaped; while the sizes range from the smallest pipe tested in the laboratory to conduit of 18 feet in diameter. They found that there are two distinct families of curves on a log-log plot of friction factor against Reynolds number. In the first, all the curves approximate to horizontal straight lines, i.e., friction factor varies very little or does not vary at all with the Reynolds number: while in the second all the curves are almost parallel to the experimental curves of Blasius and other workers on smooth pipes, i.e., the friction factor decreases as Reynolds number increases. The first family includes very rough iron, rough cement, and saw-shaped The second family includes wood, sheet-iron, pipe walls.

and wavy-shaped walls. It is obvious that the first family of curves indicate that the friction factor is independent of Reynolds number thus surface friction varies with the square of velocity as it has been found by Stanton before, while the second family of curves indicate that the friction factor is still dependent on Reynolds number, thus follows the general index law but with different coefficients as compared with in the case of technically smooth pipes. Attention must be called here to distinguish surface friction F from friction factor f, the relation between them is given in Eq. (2a). Engineers in interpreting Fanning equation often state that pressure drop or loss of head in a pipe is directly proportional to the square of velocity in turbulent flow. This is correct only for the first family of very rough pipes, while in other cases in making this statement they assume that f is a constant and ignore the effects of diameter, velocity and kinematic viscosity which constitute the Reynolds number.

In all cases, however, friction factor in rough pipes is always greater, sometimes eight times as big as shown by Fritsch (45), then that in smooth ones, therefore, it might be said that the new equation suggested by the writer serves as the lower limit of all the cases. Davies and White (46) in reviewing the laws of flow of fluids in pipes and channels have suggested that any ordinary surface can be defined completely by two factors, one is size factor and the other is shape factor. But the hard problem is how definitely to measure these factors.

Von Mises (27) in generalizing pipes of all kinds of roughness to a single law by merely adding a roughness factor to the above stated general index law suggested the following equation:

 $f = a + \sqrt{e/R} + \beta Re.$ (22)

substituting his recommended coefficients,

 $f = 0.0024 + \sqrt{e/R} + 0.424$ Re. where e is a roughness coefficient having a linear dimension and is a constant for any particular pipe. The values of the roughness coefficient for different materials are given in Table 8 after, Mises.

Eq. (22a) suggested by Mises is <u>consistent</u> with dimensional homogenity, and is recommended by Schiller (48) to be used for practical purposes.von Mises! equation may be called the "modified general index law", since it is different from the General Index Law only by additional factor. Of course, this modified form can be only applied to the second family of pipes, while the friction factor in any class of pipes of first family will be a constant. Granting that Eq. (22) can be applied generally to technically smooth pipes and rough pipes of the second family, it is obvious to see the effect of diameter on the friction factor;

TABLE 8

von ROUGHNESS COEFFICIENT e (AFTER MISES)

Material	10 ⁶ x	e in cm.	10 ³ x	ve in vcm.
Glass	0.2	to 0.8	0.4	5 to 0.9
Drawn brass, lead, copper	r 0 . 2	to 1.0	0 • 4	5 to 1.0
Polished cement	7•5	to 15	2.7	to 3. 9
Rough cement	20	to 40	4.5	to 6.3
Rubber tubing, smooth	6	to 12	2.4	to 3.5
Rubber tubing, rough	15	to 30	2.7	to 5.5
Gas pipes	2 0	to 50	4.5	to 7
Asphalt lead or cast iron	30	to 60	5•5	to 7.7
Cast iron - New	100	to 2 00	10	to 14
Gast iron → used	250	to 500	16	to 22
Riveted tin pipe	200	to 500	14	to 22
Wood 👄 smooth	2 5	to 50	5	to 7
Wood - polished	50	to 100	7	to 10
Wood - rough	2 00	to 400	14	to 20
Masonry pipes - smooth	20 0	to 400	14	to 20
Masonry pipes - rough	2,000	to 4,000	45	to 63
Earth wall	10,000	to 20,000	100	to 140

i.e., at the same Reynolds number the friction factor of a small pipe will be bigger than that of a large pipe; in other words, a very smooth tube will already be hydrodynamically rough in regard to Reynolds number. This effect has been well illustrated by Wildhagen (49) in his experiments on compressed air using glass capillaries. He found that only above 0.5665 m.m. in diameter, the friction factor in glass capillaries agrees with Blasius' experiments; while below that size the friction factor is greater, the smaller the size the greater is the friction factor. The smallest capillary he used is 0.286 mm. in diameter.

The complicated roughness problem has been gradually cleared up by the previous workers. It is believed that the problem might be further cleared by applying the modified general index law to all the available data on rough pipes at present and determining the coefficients for every class of roughness. The most difficult problem is that there is no sound way of measuring the roughness factor; so it has to be calculated from actual data for any individual class of pipe.

I. LITERATURE REFERENCES

(1) Walker, Lewis & McAdams: Principles of Chemical Engineering, McGraw-Hill Book Co., 2nd Ed. (1927). (2) Rayleigh: Scientific Papers Vol. 1, p. 290. (3) T.E.Stanton: Friction, Longmans, Green & Co., (1923). (4) C.H.Lees: Proc.Roy.Soc. A, Vol. 91, p. 45 (1915). (5) **C.**Reynolds: Scientific Papers, Vol. 2. (6) L.Schiller: Zeit.Angew.Math.u.Mech. Vol. 1,p.1,436 (1921) (7) L.Schiller: Zeit.Angew.Math.u.Mech. Vol. 2, p.91 (1922) (8) L.Schiller: Zeit.Angew.Math.u.Mech. Vol. 3, p.2 (1923) (9) L.Schiller: Forschungsarbeiten Heft 248 (1922) (10) C.Y.Hsiao: Sc.D.Thesis. Harvard Sanitary Eng.Dept.(1930) (11) E.Hatschek: The Viscosity of Liquids, D. VanNostrand Co. (1928) (12) E.C.Bingham: Fluidity and Plasticity, McGraw-Hill Book Co.(1922) (13) Prandlt-Tietjens: Hydro-und Aerodynamik, Vol. 2, Julius Springer, Berlin, 1931 (14) H.Blasius: Forschungsarbeiten Heft 131 (1913). (15) T.E.Stanton and J.R.Pannell: Phil.Trans.Roy.Soc. Vol. 214A (1914) also, Collected Researches, Nat. Phys. Lab. Vol. 11. (16) H.F.Mills: The Flow of Water in Pipes (1923). (17) M.H.Clapp and O. FitzSimons: M.I.T. M.Sc. Thesis (1928) (18) C.S.Keevil: M.I.T. Sc.D. Thesis (1930) (19) A.B.Eason: Flow and Measurement of Air and Gases, Chapter II Griffin and Co., London (1930) (20) A.H.Gibson: Hydraulics and its Applications, Chapter VII, Constable and Co., London (1922). (21) P.Forchheimer: Hydraulik, B.G.Teubner, Leipzig and Berlin (1930). (22) A.V.Saph and E.H.Schoder: Trans.Am.Soc.Civil Engrs. Vol. 51, p. 253 (1903).

Forschungsarbeiten Heft 158-9 (1914). (23) H. Ombeck: (24) M. Jakob: Z.V.D.I., Vol. 66, p. 178 and 862 (1922). (25) H. Richter: Forschungsarbeiten, Heft 338 (1930). (26) M. Jakob and S. Erk: Forschungsarbeiten, Heft 267 (1924).(27) R.V. Mises: Elements der Technischen Hydrodynamik (1914).(28) R. Biel: Technische Mechanik, V.D.I. Verlag (1925). (30) R. Hermann and Th. Burbach: Strömungwiderstand und Warmeübergang in Rohren, Leipzig, (1930). (31) L. Schiller's article in A. Giles, L. Hopf and Th. v. Karman: Aerodynamik und verwandter Gebiete, Julius Springer, Berlin (1930). (32) J. Kikuradse's article in " (33) H. Smith, Jr., Hydraulics, John Wiley and Sons (1886). Zeit. f. angew. Math. u. Mech. Vol. 5, (34) L. Prandtl: p. 136 (1925). Nachrichten von der Gessellschaft der (35) Th. von Karman: Eissenschaften zu Göttingen, Fachgruppe I, (1930). Zeit. f. angew. Math. u. Mech. Vol. 1, (36) Th. von Karman: p. 233 (1921). Journal of Roy. Aero. Soc., London, (37) J.W. Maccoll: Vol. 34, p. 649 (1930). Physik. Zeit. Vol. 26, p. 65 (1925). (38) L. Schiller: Ark. f. Math. Astr. Physik. Vol. 6, (39) V.W. Ekman: No. 12 (1911). Proc. Royal Soc., Vol. 85 A, p. 366 (40) T.E. Stanton: (1911) also, Collected Researches, Nat. Phys. Lab., Vol. 8 Zeit. angew. Math. u. Mech. Vol. 3, p. 329 (41) L. Hopf: (1923).Abhandlungen Aero. Instit. Aachen, Heft 3 (42) L. Hopf:

(1927).

(43) K. Fromm: Zeit. angew. Math. u. Mech., Vol. 3, p. 339 (1923). (44) K. Fromm: Abhandlungen Aero. Instit. Aachen, Heft 3 (1927). (45) W. Fritsch: Zeit. angew. Math. u. Mech., Vol. 8 (1928) also, Abhandlungen Aero. Instit. Aachen, Heft 8 (1928). (46) S.J. Davies and C.M. White: Engineering, Vol. 128, p. 67, p. 98, p. 131 (1929). (47) A.H. Gibson: Proc. Instit. Mech. Engrs., p. 201 (1914).Physik. Zeit., Vol. 26, p. 566 (1925). (48) L. Schiller: (49) M. Wildhagen: Zeit. angew. Math. u. Mech., Vol. 3, p. 181 (1923). Proc. Royal Society, London, Vol. 92A, (50) C.H. Lander: p. 337 (1916). (51) E.W. Schoder: Trans. Amer. Soc. Civil Engrs., Vol. 62, p. 67 (1909). Forschungsarbeiten, Heft 78 (1909). (52) C. Eberle: Also, Z.V.D.I., Vol. 52, p. 663 (1908). (53) R.E. Gould and M.I. Levy: Univ. of Illinois Eng. Exp. Station Bulletin No. 182 (1928). (54) A.P. Kratz, H.J. Macintire and R.E. Gould: Univ. of Illinois Eng. Exp. Station Bulletin No. 222 (1931). (55) F.W. Greve, Jr.: Purdue Univ. Eng. Exp. Station Bulletin No. 1 (1918). (56) C.I. Corp. and R.O. Ruble: Bulletin of Univ. of Wisconsin, Engineering Series, Vol. 6, No. 4 (1911). (57) C.I. Corp. and H.T. Hartwell: Bulletin of Univ. of Wisconsin, Engineering Exp. Station Series No. 66 (1927). (58) R.E. Wilson, W.H. McAdams and Seltzer: Industrial and Engineering ^{Chemistry}, Vol. 14, p. 106 (1922).

- (59) W.H.McAdams and T.K.Sherwood: Mechanical Engineering, p. 1025 (1926).
- (60) M.D. Aisenstein: A.S.M.E. Transactions, Hydraulics 51-7 (1929).
- (61) G.M. Fair, M.C. Whipple and C.Y. Hsiso: Jour. of New England Water Association, Vol. XLIV, No. 4.
- (62) F. Carnegie: Institn. Mech. Engrs., Proceedings, p. 473 (1930).
- (63) L. Schiller and H. Kirsten: Phys. Zeit., Vol. 22, p. 523 (1921).
- (64) L. Schiller: Phys. Zeit. Vol. 25, p. 541 (1924).
- (65) L. Schiller: Phys. Zeit. Vol. 26, p. 65 (1925).
- (66) Carpenter and Sickles: Trans., A.S.M.E. Vol. 20, p. 343 (1899)
- (67) Hussey and Wattles: M.I.T. M.E. Thesis (1908).
- (68) J. Boussinesq: Comptes Rendus Vol. 113, p. 9249 (1891).

III. REVIEW OF ISOTHERMAL VELOCITY DISTRIBUTION OF FLUIDS IN CIRCULAR PIPES

- Α. Velocity Distribution Formula for Laminar Flow. Β. Velocity Distribution Formulae for Turbulent Flow. C. Proposed Velocity Distribution Formula for Turbulent Flow. D. Relation between Velocity Distribution and Friction Factor - dependence of velocity distribution on Reynolds number. Ε. Relation between Velocity Distribution and Ratio of Average to Axial Velocity - dependence of velocity ratio on Reynolds number. On the Radius of Mean Velocity. F.
- G. Factors Affecting Velocity Distribution
- H. Literature References.

III. REVIEW OF ISOTHERMAL VELOCITY DISTRIBUTION OF FLUIDS IN CIRCULAR PIPES.

A. Velocity Distribution Formula for Laminar Flow*

In deriving Hagen-Poisseulle's Law, a parabolic velocity distribution formula has been used. A theoretical derivation of this formula was first given by Hagenbach's Hagenbach⁽²⁾ in 1860. Hatschek⁽³⁾ has given his derivation as follows. Let us consider a vertical length, L, of a circular pipe having its radius, R. A difference of pressure, p, is maintained between the two ends of this vertical pipe, which causes the fluid to flow through the pipe. We assume the flow to be such that every particle of fluid moves parallel to the axis of the pipe with a constant velocity, v. For reasons of symmetry, this velocity will be the same for all points lying on the same circle, so that we may consider the fluid composed of cylindrical laminae moving with velocities which are functions of their radii. The force exerted by pressure p on a cylinder of radius r will be,

$$\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{p}} = \mathbf{\pi} \mathbf{r}^2 \mathbf{p} \qquad \dots \dots (1)$$

while the resistance around the surface of the cylinder caused by the viscosity of fluid, will, according to

* For a detailed discussion, refer to Lamb's book (1)
Newton's fundamental hypothesis on the motion of liquids, be given by the product: area x viscosity coefficient x velocity gradient, i.e.

$$F_{v} = 2\pi r L \mu dv/dr \qquad \dots (2)$$

For steady flow, i.e., v is to remain constant, the forces acting on the cylinder of fluid in consideration must be equal and opposite, therefore

$$rp = -2 L \mu dv/dr \qquad \dots (3)$$

or

$$dv/dr = -\frac{rp}{2L\mu} \qquad \dots (3a)$$

By integration we get,

$$\mathbf{v} = -\frac{\mathbf{r}^2 \mathbf{p}}{4 \mathbf{L} \mu} + \text{constant} \qquad \dots \qquad (4)$$

The usual assumption is that the velocity is zero at the wall, i.e., v = 0 for r = R. Then

$$\mathbf{v} = -\frac{\mathbf{r}^{2}\mathbf{p}}{4 \mathbf{L}\mu} + \frac{\mathbf{R}^{2}\mathbf{p}}{4 \mathbf{L}\mu} = \frac{\mathbf{p}}{4 \mathbf{L}\mu} (\mathbf{R}^{2} - \mathbf{r}^{2}) \dots (5)$$

This is the equation of a parabola. For the maximum velocity, V_{max} , i.e., r = 0, Eq. (5) becomes

$$V_{\text{max.}} = \frac{P}{4 L_{\mu}} R^2 \qquad \dots (5a)$$

Thus,

$$v/V_{max.} = \left(\frac{R^2 - r^2}{R^2}\right) = 1 - (r/R)^2 \dots (6)$$

Eq. (6) is a dimensionless velocity distribution formula for laminar flow which has the advantage to be used in comparing velocity distribution of fluids at different velocities as well as for different size of pipes. In 1929, (4) Recently, Levy (4) proposed a general velocity distribution formula which may be written as follows:

 $v/V_{max.} = \left[1 - (r/R)^2\right]^m \dots (7)$ For laminar flow, he stated that m = 1, thus Eq. (7) reduces to Eq. (6).

Very little work has been done on the isothermal velocity distribution of fluids in laminar flow.

It seems M_0 rrow's data⁽⁵⁾ on water in glass pipes is the only one available at present. Unfortunately, his velocity distribution measurements were made at an inlet length of 30 diameters only, which will lead to erroneous results (see p.).

B. Velocity Distribution Formulae for Turbulent Flow.

Many empirical formulae have been proposed by hydraulic engineers, but each formula seems to be only applicable to either one set of experiments or to one kind of pipe. An excellent review of these forms may be found in Gumbel's article⁽⁶⁾ or Forchheimer's book on hydraulics⁽⁷⁾. In 1904, Christen⁽⁸⁾ found a new formula which can be applied to Freeman's experiment⁽⁹⁾ on half inch brazed brass pipe as well as to Bazin's experiment^(10, 11) on 31-inch cement pipe. His formula may be written as

5

$$v = C(R-r)^{1/8}$$
(8)

where C is a constant.

In 1911, Stanton⁽¹²⁾ **a**n actually measuring the velocity distribution of air in both smooth and rough pipes proposed the following equation which is in the form of a parabola,

$$\mathbf{v} = \mathbf{V}_{\max} - \mathbf{A} \mathbf{r}^2 \qquad \dots \qquad (9)$$

where A is a constant.

In 1917, Sasvari⁽¹³⁾ based upon Biel's friction factor equations⁽¹⁴⁾ derived an approximate form for velocity distribution in circular pipes. It reads

 $v/v_{max.} = 1.25 \left[1 - (r/R)^2\right]^{1/4}$(10) Prandtl⁽¹⁵⁾ in 1920 and von Karman⁽¹⁵⁾ in 1921 based upon Blasius' resistance equation and few assumptions reached the following equation

$$v/v_{max.} = (1 - r/R)^{1/7}$$
(11)

exponent The one-seventh_potential has been supported by the earlier experiments of Nikuradse⁽¹⁶⁾, but it is disproved by Nikuradse himself in his recent experiments(17) that exponent the potential actually decreases as Reynolds number increases. In 1929, Levy⁽⁴⁾ proposed a general formula which has been given already as Eq. (7),

$$v/v_{max.} = [1 - (r/R)^{2}]^{m} \dots (7)$$

where m is a function of Reynolds number decreases as Reynolds number increases, varying from 0.318 at Re. = 2,320 to 0.179 at Re. = 1,000,000. The merit of Levy's equation is that his equation may be applied both to turbulent as well as to laminar flow. The latest equation is proposed by von Karman⁽¹⁸⁾ in 1930, reviewed recently by Maccoll⁽¹⁹⁾ in English, based upon Prandtl's mixing length theory⁽²⁰⁾ in turbulent flow. For isothermal flow in pipes, his equation may be written as

$$V = V_{max.} + (1/k) \sqrt{F/P} \left[Log. (1 - \sqrt{r/R}) + \sqrt{r/R} \right] \dots (12)$$

or,

$$v/\sqrt{F/P} = a + b \log \left(\frac{r \sqrt{F/P}}{v}\right) \dots (13)$$

This equation is derived originally for flow between parallel walls.

From a brief review of all the important formulae for turbulent flow, it follows that E_{q} uations (8), (11), and (7) may be generalized into the following dimensionless equation

$$v/V_{max.} = \left[1 - (r/R)^n\right]^x \dots (14)$$

When n = 1, Eq. (14) reduces to Eq. (8) if x = 1/8, and to Eq. (11) if x = 1/7. When n = 2, Eq. (14) reduces directly to Eq. (7). Consequently,

$$Log.(v/v_{max.}) = x Log. [1 - (r/R)^{n}] \dots (14a)$$

Thus, a log-log plot of $(v/V_{max.})$ against $1-(r/R)^n$, where n is assumed to be known, ought to give a straight line having its slope x. This is the method adopted to test the applicability of the above proposed equations to experimental data.

C. <u>Proposed Velocity Distribution Formula for Turbulent</u> <u>Flow</u>.

In order to find the correct formula to use, all available velocity distribution experimental data in literature have been calculated and tabulated in Appendix They are the work of Stanton⁽¹²⁾, Freeman⁽⁹⁾, D. Lawrence and Braunworth (22), Nikuradse (16, 17), and Marshall⁽²¹⁾. Graphical Plots of these data have been made by assuming n = 1 and n = 2, respectively, (see Fig. 6-36). It is found that the exponent of Prandtl-Karman's formula (i.e., n = 1) does not equal to 1/7, but it varies, while Levy's formula (i.e., n = 2) fits the experimental data only near the center of the pipe not near the wall. By assuming that the exponent in Prandtl-Karman's formula is a variable instead of 1/7, it is found the modified formula will fit the data very well except near the center of the pipe. It is

50

Ka .

obvious then that Levy's formula has over-corrected the defect in Prandtl-Karman's modified form. It must be recalled that Blasius' resistance law is in the form of a simple index law (i.e., $f = b \operatorname{Re.}^{c}$) which has been proved to be incorrect in the previous chapter for a wide range of Reynolds number but might be used as an approximation for a small range. Nevertheless, instead of the General Index Law which has been advocated by the writer, one may use the simple index law for a certain range of Reynolds number but keep on changing the exponent, which corresponds of changing the slope of the friction factor in a log-log plot against Reynolds number, as one changes the range of Reynolds number. Since Prandtl-Karman's original formula of one-seventh potential is based upon Blasius' simple index law, it is already seen from a study of friction factor problem that the velocity distribution exponent should be a variable instead of a constant. Thus, the modified form may be written as

$$v/v_{max.} = (1-r/R)^{a}$$
(14b)

It is quite expected that if we let n = 1.25or n = 1.50, Eq. (14) might be applicable to the experimental data still better than Eq. (14b). The result shows that if n = 1.25, i.e.,

 $v/v_{max.} = [1 - (r/R)^{1.25}]^x \dots (14c)$

51

the formula is found to fit the data even better than Eq. (14b). However, for its simplicity and its further theoretical application in the following treatments, the modified form of Prandtl-Karman's formula, i.e., Eq. (14b) is advocated for ordinary use. The velocity distribution exponents "a" corresponding to all the experfor omosth biles imental data in literature have been graphically solved and their values will be found in Table 9. (See Figs. 6-36).

D. <u>Relation Between Velocity Distribution and Friction</u> <u>Tactor - Dependence of Velocity Distribution on</u> <u>Reynolds Number</u>

Stanton⁽¹²⁾ stated in his 1911 paper that from his experiments on air in smooth brass pipes the velocity distribution curves are only identical when the values of Reynolds number are equal. He further stated that for different Reynolds numbers the distribution curves are identical up to 0.8 R(R = radius of the pipe) but separated beyond this ratio, indicating a region of laminar flow near the wall. An examination of the available isothermal data by previous workers

reveals that the velocity distribution exponent actually decreases as Reynolds number increases. Recently, Nikuradse⁽¹⁷⁾ has shown definitely the decrease of the (Fig.29)exponent at high Reynolds numbers. How can one explain this fact then?



































caeo and New York 1922




























TABLE 9

EXPERIMENTAL VELOCITY DISTRIBUTION EXPONENTS FOR SMOOTH PIPES FROM LITERATURE

Authority	Fluid used	Pipe Material and set up	I.D. Inches	Re.	a	Remarks
T.E.Stanton	Air	Smooth brass (Vertical Position)	2.92 1.94 2.92	40,750 41,200 89,750	0.145 0.140 0.138	Inlet length = 67.6D " " = 101 D " " = 67.6D
J.R.Freeman	Water	Brazed brass (Inclined)	1.15	4 2 5,000	0 .12 7	Inlet length = 104 D
Lawrence and Braunworth	Water	Seamless brass (Vertical Position)	5.02 5.02 5.02 5.02 5.02	136,100 152,500 202,000 300,500 339,000	0.137 0.131 0.129 0.119 0.120	Very big inlet length possibly greater than 250D
J. Nikuradse	Water	Drawn brass (Horizontal Position	1.10) 1.10	162,800 162,200	0.139 0.126	Vertical profile Horizontal profile
J. Nikuradse	Water	Drawn brass (Horizontal Position	.)	53,700 152,000 300,000 928,000 3,070,000	0.138 0.130 0.121 0.106 0.0965	Inlet length great- er than 55D
D. Marshall	Air	Brass (Horizontal)	5.00	1 32,3 00	0.113	Inlet length = 192D

It has been stated before that Prandtl-Karman's equation is derived from the friction law, then a theoretical relation is to be expected to exist between velocity distribution and friction factor. From the General Index Law which the writer has just proposed for technically smooth pipes such as copper, lead, glass and drawn brass as

 $f = 0.00140 + 0.125 \text{ Re.}^{-0.32}$ (15) it is seen that the friction factor decreases as Reynolds number increases and its slope on a log-log plot changes with Reynolds number. Therefore, a decrease of velocity distribution exponent "a" is corresponding to a decrease of friction factor slope on a log-log plot Reynolds number increases.

In 1929, Levy⁽⁴⁾ derived a quasi-theoretical relation between "m" in his equation (Eq. (7)) and 4f based upon Jakob and Erk's friction factor equation which is very similar to Eq. (15). Unfortunately, instead of using that relation he derived, he proceeded to deduce some empirical equation in terms of π . It seems, therefore, his relation has attracted very little attention even among German writers. A similar attack with experimental verification on this relation seems to be necessary in order to explain the mechanism of turbulent flow.

Starting from Levy's equation also,

the ratio of average to maximum velocity can be expressed in terms of m after integration as

It is noticed that when m = 1, Eq. (7) reduces to Eq. (6) which has been theoretically derived for laminar flow. Let us consider Hagen-Poisseuille's Law which may be written in terms of friction factor as

$$f = 16 \text{ Re.}^{-1}$$
(18)

On a log-log plot of f against Re., it is apparent that a straight line of 45° inclined to the right will be obtained. Mathematically, the relation states that

Tan. α = $\frac{d \ln f}{d \ln Re}$ = $\frac{1}{d \ln Re}$ = $\frac{1}{d \ln Re}$ = $\frac{1}{d \ln Re}$

Therefore,

Tan.
$$\alpha = -m$$
(20)
laminar

Assuming that this relation between Tangent α and m can be extended to turbulent flow (note this is the only assumption made), then

					Re df	
Tan.	α	=	 m	=		(21)
	turbulent				f d Re	

It has been shown already that Levy's equation is not applicable to turbulent flow, however, it is possible that Eq. (16) may still hold true for turbulent region. V_{max} <u>max</u> Fig. 36a gives a graph of versus m, where is the reciprocal of the observed value of vave Vave found in literature as given in Table II, while V_{max} m is the negative slope read from Fig. 40a for corresponding Reynolds number. It is seen that Eq. (16) may be accepted as an approximate relation for turbulent flow if not near the critical region.

Eq. (14b) has been accepted by the writer as the velocity distribution equation for turbulent flow

V = ra------ = (1 - -) $V_{max} R$ (14b)

from Eq. (14b) and Eq. (17) one obtainst

$$\frac{V_{ave}}{V_{max}} = \frac{2}{(a+1)(a+2)} \dots (22)$$

It follows:

$$a^{-} + 3a$$

 $m = ------ = 0.5 a^{2} + 1.5 a \dots(23)$

Equating Eq. (21) and Eq. (23),



Therefore,
$$-3 + \sqrt{9-8} (------)$$

a = ------2
2

This is a relation theoretically found between velocity distribution exponent "a", friction factor "f" and Reynolds number "Re".

For turbulent flow of fluids in smooth pipes, velocity distribution exponent can then be calculated from the following equation, based upon the friction factor equation as given in Eq. (15)

$$a = -1.5 + 0.5 \sqrt{9 + \frac{2.56}{1 + 0.0112 \text{ Re} \cdot 0.32}} \dots (25)$$

Since Eq. (15) is derived from experimental data from Re. = 3,000 up to Re. = 3,000,000, the values of "a" calculated from Eq. (25) ought to be applicable to the said range of Reynolds number. The computed values of "a" corresponding to different Reynolds numbers are tabulated in Table 10 and shown as a smooth curve in Figure 37. The available experimental data all on brass pipes, consisting of 17 runs, have already been plotted on log-log paper, and their corresponding values of exponents are tabulated in Table 9, and plotted also A very good correlation of experimental in Fig. 37. exponents with calculated values is noticed. This verification proves the found relation between velocity distribution and friction factor or between velocity distribution and Reynolds number for smooth pipes. Furthermore, this verification gives another evidence of the applicability of General Index Law, not the Simple Index Law; for if the latter law holds, velocity distribution will be independent of Reynolds number Figure 38 gives a picture of in the same pipe. velocity distributions changing from laminar to turbulent flow, and also illustrates the gradual increase of flow near the boundary as Reynolds number increases.

The mechanism of production of turbulence has (20) (24) been explained by Prandtl , Tollmien , and many .58

$Re = \frac{DV_{ave}}{m}$	$\frac{V_{e} \text{locity Distribution } E_{x} \text{ponent}}{\text{"a" (Calc. from Eq. (25))}}$	V _{ave} /V _{max} . (Calc.from Eq.(2/0))	$Re_{max.} = \frac{DV_{max.}P}{\mu}$
$Re = \frac{DV_{ave}r}{2}$ 3,000 4,000 5,000 6,000 6,000 10,000 15,000 20,000 40,000 50,000 60,000 100,000 150,000 100,000 150,000 200,000 200,000 250,000 200,000 200,000 200,000 500,000 400,000 500,00	$\begin{array}{c} \hline v_{elocity \ Distribution \ E_{x} \text{Donent}} \\ \hline "a" (Calc. from Eq. (25)) \\ \hline 0.1760 \\ 1739 \\ 1724 \\ 1710 \\ 1685 \\ 1665 \\ 1665 \\ 1628 \\ 1591 \\ 1554 \\ 1524 \\ 1497 \\ 1475 \\ 1439 \\ 1409 \\ 1355 \\ 1295 \\ 1281 \\ 1253 \\ 1210 \\ 1177 \\ 11/6 \end{array}$	'ave.''max. (Calc.from Eq.(2/2)) 0.781 783 785 787 789 791 795 799 804 8065 810 8115 815 819 825 830 833 842 845	3, 840 5, 110 6, 370 7, 630 10, 140 12, 630 18, 880 25, 050 37, 350 49, 600 61, 750 74, 000 98, 200 122, 100 181, 900 241, 000 300, 000 359, 000 475, 000 592, 000
\$00,000 \$00,000 1,000,000 1,500,000 2,000,000 3,000,000	1148 1103 1066 1002 0958 0890	849 854 858 866 871 879	938,000 938,000 1,166,000 1,732,000 2,297,000 3,415,000

Table 10Relation of Velocity Distribution to ReynoldsNumber for Smooth Pipes.

Figure 37

.





Especially, Prandtl's boundary layer consideraothers. tion will be helpful in explaining the velocity distribution phenomenon as Reynolds number increases. His theory has been recently reviewed and further explained by Glauert⁽²⁵⁾ in English, which may be briefly mentioned here. The narrow region along the surface of the pipe wall, in which the frictional forces are important, is defined as boundary layer or called as Prandtl's boundary layer. The conception of such a layer is merely an approximation to the actual case, and it is rather arbitrary to define its outer.limit. (Velocity distribution for isothermal flow near the wall has been recently reviewed also by Drew and Ryan⁽²⁶⁾, and it is shown the laminar flow near the wall by Hegge Zijnen's experiments.) From the drag experiments, it is believed that at a low scale or low Reynolds number, the flow is laminar and the fluid moves smoothly parallel to the axis, but at high Reynolds number the laminar motion becomes unstable and gradually changes to a turbulent type. From this consideration, it might be due to this gradual change of type of motion of this boundary layer that causes the change of velocity distribution as Reynolds number changes.

E. Relation Between Velocity Distribution Exponent and the Ratio of Average to Axial Velocity - Dependence of Velocity Ratio on Reynolds Number.

In deriving the relation between velocity distribution and friction factor, a very useful relation has been obtained as expressed by Eq. (22)

$$V_{ave}/V_{max} = \frac{2}{(a+1)(a+2)}$$
(22)

also Levy's hypothesis that

$$V_{ave}/V_{max} = \frac{1}{Re. df} (1+a)$$

 $1 - \frac{1}{1 - \frac{$

was found to be a good approximation except near the critical region.

For laminar flow, m = 1, therefore,

 $V_{ave}/V_{max} = 1/2$ (16a)

that is to say, the average velocity in laminar flow is just one-half of the axial velocity which is what has been found (27) in Stanton and Pannell's experiments as shown in Fig. 39.

For turbulent flow in smooth pipes, substituting the friction factor equation, Eq. (15) into Eq. (16), we obtain 0.32 $V_{ave}/V_{max} = \frac{1}{0.32}$ 1 + 0.0112 Re 1 + 0.0112 Re 1 + 0.0112 Re1 + 0.0112 Re

The above equation expresses the relation between velocity ratio and Reynolds number in smooth pipes. The useful application of this equation is to calculate velocity ratio from a given Reynolds number, or to estimate the mean velocity after knowing the axial velocity in a pipe. It is believed that no previous worker has ever *algebra.cly* expressed such a relation quantitatively. Many hydraulic engineers believed that this velocity ratio is always a constant for all pipes, thus we can find in literature this constant varies from 0.753 to 0.950 as reviewed by Eason⁽²⁶⁾. Stanton and Pannell⁽²⁷⁾ first showed experimentally the variation of velocity ratio with Reynolds number from laminar to turbulent region, and the increase of the ratio in the turbulent region as Reynolds number increases. However, no explanation of this change is given by them.

The following important conclusions can be drawn based upon Eq. (21a) with an understanding of the friction resistance problem:

- (1) Velocity ratio (i.e., $V_{ave.}/V_{max.}$) will be a constant only when friction factor obeys the simple index law (i.e., $f = b \operatorname{Re.}^{C}$), which is only an approximation for a small range of Reynolds number.
- (2) Velocity ratio will increase gradually as Reynolds number increases for almost any individual pipe, since friction factor generally obeys the General Index Law (i.e., f = a + b Re.²).
- (3) Velocity ratio will be only identical at identical Reynolds number in the same pipe, or in/two pipes

of same degree of roughness.

(4) Velocity ratio will be usually different even at identical Reynolds number in two pipes of different degree of roughness (say copper and cast iron), since the resistance law coefficients will be different.

Based upon the above generalizations, we are able to explain some of the facts concerning velocity distribution problem found in literature. It is apparent that it is not reasonable to compare Darcy and Threllfall's experiments on cast iron pipe with Stanton and Pannell's experiments on drawn brass pipe as it was attempted by the latter experimenters.

 F_{r} om E_{q} . (**266**) the velocity ratios corresponding to a range of Reynolds number from 3,000 to 3,000,000 have been calculated and tabulated in Table 10 also. They are plotted in Figure 39 as a smooth curve, while velocity ratios of available data have been tabulated in Table 11 and shown also in Fig. 39, Fig. 39 A. Systematically It is observed that experimental data deviate A from the theoretical curve only at low or high Reynolds number,

while Stanton and Pannell's data fit the curve remarkably good. It must be noticed that the velocity





Authority	Fluid Used	Pipe Material	I.D. (inches)	Re	v _{ave} ./v _{max} .
Stanton and Pannell	Water (t _{āve} .10.76°C.)	D _r awn Brass	1.124	37,400 31,800 28,950 27,000 23,550 21,100 21,050 19,100 16,870 14,000 34,200 34,200 34,200 35,800 37,350 48,450 41,800	0.803 .802 .802 .798 .799 .798 .798 .798 .798 .795 .789 .786 .802 .805 .805 .803 .806 .807 .806
Stanton and Pannell	Water (t _{ave} = 9.6° C.)	D _r awn Brass	0.281	10,480 7,850 6,780 5,620 4,400 3,510 3,100 2,640 2,125 1,890 1,783 1,556 1,470 1,360	0.789 .780 .778 .770 .764 .748 .740 .722 .619 .572 .564 .519 .508 .515

.

Table 11. Mean to Axial Velocity Ratio vs. Reynolds Number for Smooth Pipes.

(Calculated from Literature)

Authority	Fluid Used	Pipe Material	I.D. (inches)	Re.	v _{ave} /v _{max}
				1,306 1,198 27,650 24,200 20,200 15,200 36,000 39,450 42,950 42,950 47,000 50,650 55,400 60,200 64,600	0.498 .514 .799 .799 .793 .805 .808 .805 .810 .807 .813 .812 .814
Stanton and Pannell	Air (T _{ave.} =15°C.)	Drawn Brass	0.494	4,870 6,110 9,800 5,500 4,000 3,085 3,430 3,480 7,590	0.758 .768 .775 .761 .747 .705 .735 .735 .735 .770
n	. 11	n H	1.124	4,650 5,470 4,005	•758 •762 •745
11	11	Ħ	0.281	2,430 1,400 1,608 1,752 1,873 1,233 1,560	.611 .499 .498 .511 .508 .505 .501

ទួ

Authority	Fluid Used	Pipe Material	I.D. (inches)	Re.	Vave./Vmax.
Lawrence and Braun- worth	Water	Seamless-Brass	5.016	57,850 134,800 136,100 150,300 152,500 159,000 202,000 204,000 204,000 219,000 263,000 299,000 300,500 318,000 339,000 352,000	0.829 .833 .840 .862 .830 .865 .858 .858 .858 .872 .870 .873 .872 .872 .872
J. Morrow	Water	Glass	2.005	709 1,082 1,460 2,025 2,655 3,990	0.590 .617 .619 .638 .701 .765
Schiller and Kirsten	Air	Brass	2.99	20,340 46,600 54,260	0.824 .792 .815
T.E. Stanton	Air	D _r awn Brass	2.92 1.94 2.92	40,750 41,200 89,750	•855 •802 •8105 •808
J.R. Freeman	Water	Brazed Brass	1.15	425,000	0.835 G
D. Marshall	Air	Brass	5.00	132,300	0.856

ratio as given by Eq. (16b), although it approaches the limit 1 at high Reynolds number, increases more rapidly than the usual Stanton and Pannell's plot indicates at Re. about 10^5 .

A much simpler way of obtaining the velocity distribution exponent "a" in Eq. (14b)

$$V = (1 - \frac{r}{R})$$

 $V_{max} = (1 - \frac{r}{R})$ (14b)

is to calculate from the ratio of average to maximum velocity as given by Eq. (22)

$$v_{ave} = 2$$

.....(22)
 v_{max}

which is integrated from Eq. (14b).

It must be pointed out that Eq. (22) is not limited to any class of pipe, no matter whether smooth or rough. Thus, a careful measurement of average and axial velocity alone will enable one to predict the velocity distribution in a pipe from Eq. (22). An extended application of this relation will be particularly helpful in predicting the velocity distribution during heat transfer, so long as Eq. (14b) will still hold true for non-isothermal gases.

F. On the Radius of Mean Velocity

For laminar flow, the radius of mean velocity is easily obtained by equating Eq. (6) and Eq. (16a), thus

$$V_{ave}/V_{max} = 1 - (r_{ave}/R)^2 = 1/2$$
(26)

Let $(r_{ave}/R) = X$, then

X = 1/2 = 0.707(26a)

For turbulent flow, a similar relation, but

much more complicated, can be obtained from Eq. (14b) and E_q . (22) as

$$Log.(1-X) = \frac{Log.(V_{ave}/V_{max.})}{a} = \frac{Log.(\frac{2}{(a+1)(a+2)})}{a} \dots (27)$$

This relation states that X, the radius of mean velocity as per cent of radius of pipe, is a function of velocity exponent "a", and is also depending on Reynolds number, since "a" is a function of Re. for a certain pipe. Thus, X can be calculated from given or known values of "a" from E_0 . (27). Fortunately, from actual calculation the variation of X is very small with respect to "a", varying only from 0.753 at a = 0.175 to 0.761 at a = 0.086. Consequently, in smooth pipes, one may take it as a constant by using its average,

 $X_{ave} = 0.757$ (28)

for a wide range of Reynolds number from 3,000 to 3,000,000. This reveals a very simple method of measuring the average velocity of turbulent flow in pipes. G. Factors Affecting Velocity Distribution

There are three important factors which will affect velocity distribution in pipes, i.e., inlet length, inlet shape and roughness of pipe wall. Concerning the first two factors, which may be grouped together as entrance conditions, considerable work has been carried out by Schiller and Kirsten⁽²⁹⁾ experimentally They tested these effects by means of measuring velocity distribution of air in a three inch brass pipe which is attached to the suction side of a ventilating fan, using a special steel pitot tube for measuring the velocity. They used both a round mouth inlet, having its biggest diameter 10" at the open end and gradually beveled to connect with the 3" main pipe, and a sharp edged inlet which is the main pipe alone. Their velocity distributions were taken at different distances away from the inlet which is called inlet length. Their results are tabulated in Table 12, and may be briefly summarized as follows:

- (1) For a round mouth inlet, velocity distribution is almost a flat shape near the inlet, but gradually approach the elliptical shape as the measuring station is moved away from the inlet, and a fully developed distribution is to be found at an inlet length equivalent to 50 diameters.
- (2) For a sharp edged inlet, similar effect as a round inlet has been found, but, due to more disturbance caused by the sharp inlet, the inlet length effect is less significant at the start, as shown by graphs in their original paper, but it was found that in order to obtain a fully developed distribution, an inlet length of 50 D is also necessary.

TABLE 12.

EFFECT OF ENTRANCE CONDITIONS ON VELOCITY DISTRIBUTION*

X = Inlet length

38.17 50.00

D = diameter of pipe

	$Re = \frac{X}{D}$	19,060 $\frac{v_{ave}}{v_{max}}$	Re. = <u>X</u> D	22,940 <u>Vave</u> Vmax	$\frac{Re}{D} = \frac{X}{D}$	57,600 <u>Vave</u> V _{max}	Re. <u>X</u> D	$= 87,440$ $\frac{v_{ave}}{v_{max}}$	
	1.32 3.29 15.79 22.37 38.17	0.962 0.917 0.889 0.856 0.836	2.21 6.81 16.68 39.05 50.89	0.952 0.946 0.886 0.841 0.824	2.21 4.18 6.81 12.08 16.68 19.31 23.26 25.89 39.05 50.89	0.980 0.954 0.937 0.906 0.865 0.835 0.814 0.806 0.806 0.804	2.21 4.18 6.81 12.08 16.68 25.89 39.05	0.975 0.960 0.943 0.887 0.865 0.865 0.820 0.809	
				B. Sharp Ed	ged Inlet				
$\frac{Re.}{D} = \frac{X}{D}$	20,340 <u>Vave</u> V _{max}	Re. = X D	= 46,600 <u>Vave</u> V _{max}	Re. X D	= 54,260 <u>Vave</u> V _{max}	Re. = $\frac{X}{D}$	57,600 Vave Vmax	Re. = 10 $\frac{X}{D}$	00,980 Vave V _{max}
38.17 50.00	0.848 0.824	100 135	0•792 0•792	25.00 38.1 7 50.00	0.835 0.839 0.815	2 5.00 3 8.17 50.00	0.880 0.835 0.835	25.00 38.17	0.864 0.865

A. Round Inlet

*Experimental Results of Schilter and Kirsten

(3) For a round mouth inlet, the velocity ratio, i.e., $V_{ave.}/V_{max.}$, approaches 0.8 at their experimental range, while for a sharp edged inlet, this value is higher at the same inlet length.

The effect of roughness of pipe wall will increase the surface friction, decrease the quantity of flow, thus will naturally affect the velocity distribution. The velocity distribution exponent and velocity ratio at different Reynolds numbers for iron and steel pipes have been calculated from the proposed friction factor equation, and those values will be found in Table 13 and plotted on Figures 37 and 40 in the form of smooth curves. Their equations are as follows: (For iron and steel pipes)

$$\frac{V_{ave}}{V_{max.}} = \frac{1 + 0.01628 R_{e.}}{1.38 + 0.01628 R_{e.}} \dots (29)$$

and

$$a = -1.5 + 0.5 \sqrt{9 + \frac{3.04}{1 + 0.01628 \text{ Re} \cdot 0.38}} \dots (30)$$

Based upon these equations, it is noticed that velocity will be quite different in a rough pipe as compared with a smooth pipe, at the same Reynolds number the velocity distribution exponent is smaller and velocity ratio is greater. This indicates more turbulence in a rough pipe than in a smooth pipe. Very little work has been found on the velocity distribution in/ron and

Table	13.	Relation of Velocity Distribution
		to Reynolds Number in Iron and
		Steel Pipes (Calculated).

$$f = 0.003068 + 0.1886 \text{ Re}^{-0.38} \qquad \frac{V_{ave}}{V_{max}} = \frac{1+0.01628 \text{ Re}^{0.38}}{1.38+0.01628 \text{ Re}^{0.38}}$$
(29)

$$a = -1.5 \neq 0.5 \sqrt{9 + \frac{3.04}{1+0.01628 \text{ Re}^{0.38}}}$$
 (30)

Re.	Velocity Distribution Exponent "a"	Vave/Vmax
3,000 4,000 5,000 6,000 8,000 10,000 15,000 20,000 40,000 50,000 60,000 80,000 100,000 150,000 250,000 250,000 300,000 500,000 500,000 1,000,000 2,500,000	0.178 0.175 170 166 161 156 148 142 133 127 122 118 115 1068 0978 0917 0870 0832 0775 0731 0680 0633 0606 0539 04625	0.779 .784 .788 .792 .797 .803 .811 .817 .828 .834 .844 .851 .858 .859 .858 .887 .894 .900 .906 .913 .924 .934



Fig. 40a

•

· ·



steel pipes in literature except those of Threlfall⁽³⁰⁾ and Longridge⁽³¹⁾. Their experiments on air and gases all prove a much higher velocity ratio than that calculated in an ordinary smooth pipe, the average ratio of Longridge's experiments is as high as 0.921. This at least indicates definitely that velocity distribution in iron and steel pipes is different from that in smooth pipes, thus Figures 37 and 40 may be suggested to be used at the present time for iron and steel pipes.

The experiments of Stanton⁽¹²⁾ on artificially roughened pipe, $Bazin^{(10, 11)}$ and $Krey^{(23)}$ on cement a shift in the value of "a forthe)pipes, however, indicate, the opposite direction as given by Eq. (29) and (30). 73

.7

H. LITERATURE REFERENCES

.

(1)	H. Lamb: Hydrodynamics, 3rd Edition.
(2)	E. Hagenbach: Pogg. Ann. Vol. 109, p. 385 (1860).
(3)	E. Hatschek: The Viscosity of Liquids, D. Van Nostrand Co., N.Y. (1928).
(4)	F. Levy: Forschungsarbeiten, Heft 322 (1929).
(5)	J. Morrow: Roy. Soc. Proc. A, Vol. 76, p. 205 (1905).
(6)	L. Gümbel: Jahrbuch der Schiffbau Technischen Gesellschaft, Vol. 14 (1913).
(7)	P. Forchheimer: Hydraulik, 3rd Edition, B.G. Teubner, Leipzig and Berlin (1930).
(g)	T. Christen: Zeit. f. Gewässerkunde, Vol. 6, p. 175 (1904)
(9)	J.R. Freeman: Trans. Amer. Soc. Civil Engrs., Vol. 21, p. 303 (1889).
(10)	H. Bazin: Discussion on paper No. 911, Trans. Amer. Soc. Civil Engrs., Vol. 47, p. 244 (1902).
(11)	H. Bazin: Memoires de l'institut, Vol. 32 (1897).
(12)	T.E. Stanton: Proc. Royal Soc., Vol. 85 A, p. 366 (1911). also, Collected Researches, Nat. Phys. Lab., Vol. S.
(13)	G. Sasvari: Zeit. f. Gesamte Turbinewesen, p. 21, 35, 41, 52, (1917)
(14)	R. Biel: Forschungsarbeiten, Heft 44.
(15)	Th. von Karman: Zeit. angew. Math. u. Mech., Vol. I, p. 233 (1921).
(16)	J. Nikuradse: Forschungsarbeiten, Heft 281 (1926).
(17)	J. Nikuradse: Article in A. Giles, L. Hopf, and Th. von Karman: Aerodynamik und verwandter Gebiete, Julius Springer, Berlin (1930).
(18)	Th. von Karman: Nachrichten von der Gessellschaft der Wissenschaften zu Göttingen, Fachgruppe, Vol. 1 (1930).

(19)	J.W. Maccoll:	Jour. Roy. Aero. Soc., London, Vol. 34, p. 649 (1930).
(20)	L. Prandtl:	Zeit. angew. Math. u. Mech., Vol. 5, p. 136 (1925).
(21)	D. Marshall:	Great Brit. Aero. Comm. Research Rpts. and Memo. No. 1004 (1925-26).
(22)	F.E. Lawrence a	and P.L. Braunworth: Trans. Amer. Soc. Civil Engrs., Vol. 57, p. 265 (1906).
(23)	H. Krey:	Zeit. angew. Math. u. Mech., Vol. 7, p. 107 (1927).
(24)	W. Tollmien:	Nachrichten der Gessellschaft der Wissenschaften zu Göttingen, p. 21 (1929).
(25)	H. Glauert:	Jour. Roy. Aero. Soc., Vol. 35, p. 333 (1931).
(26)	T.B. Drew and W.P. Ryan:	Ind. and Eng. Chem., Vol. 23, p. 945, (1931).
(27)	T.E. Stanton - and J.R. Pan- nell:	Phil. Trans. Roy. Soc., Vol. 214 A (1914) also, Collected Researches, Nat. Phys. Lab., Vol. 11.
(29)	L. Schiller and H. Kirsten:	l Zeit. Tech. Physik, Vol. 10, p. 268 (1929).
(30)	R. Threlfall:	Institn. Mech. EngrsProceedings (1904) p. 245.
(31)	M. Longridge:	Chief Engineer's Report of British Engine, Boiler, and Electrical Insurance Co., Ltd., p. 74, (1909): p. 88 (1910).

IV. REVIEW OF NON-ISOTHERMAL VELOCITY AND TEMPERATURE DISTRIBUTION OF FLUIDS IN CIRCULAR PIPES.

Pannell⁽¹⁾ in 1916, measured the velocity and temperature distributions of air in a vertically heated In 1930, Jakob, Erk, and Eck⁽²⁾ made the similar pipe. measurements on steam in a vertical pipe while conden-Recently, Kraussold⁽³⁾ measured the temperature sing. distributions of oil in vertical pipes mostly in viscous region. In this Institute, Woolfenden⁽⁴⁾. in 1927, performed an experiment on velocity and temperature distributions of water in a horizontal pipe. Jakob. Erk and Eck's work is on a subject involving change of state. Woolfenden's experimental arrangement is rather unfortunate for comparison with the present work for he used a vertical pipe, instead of a horizontal one, which position caused the non-symmetry of his velocity and temperature distributions. Hence, Pannell's work on air still remains as the only experiments of importance in turbulent region.

Therefore, it is believed to be very desirable to review Pannell's work more or less in detail. The calculated results of his four experiments are to be found in Table 14 with the accompanyeigFigures 41 to 46. The temperature distribution equation used was due to

Schack⁽⁵⁾. Its derivation is briefly outlined as follows. According to Schack, Prandtl's theory of similarity may be written as

$$\frac{dt}{dr} = \frac{kdV}{dr} \qquad \dots \dots (1)$$

That is to say, the temperature at any point ought to be directly proportional to the velocity at that point. The velocity distribution equation is

$$\frac{\mathbf{v}}{\mathbf{v}_{\max}} = \left(1 - \frac{\mathbf{r}}{\mathbf{R}}\right)^{\mathbf{a}} \qquad \dots (2)$$

Differentiate E_q . (2) and substitute in (3), and integrate,

$$\int_{\substack{t_{a} \\ t_{a}}} \frac{dt}{k} = \frac{a V_{max}}{R} \cdot \int_{\substack{t_{a} \\ t_{a}}} (1 - \frac{r}{R})^{a-1} dr....(3)$$

$$t_{w}-t_{a} = -k V_{max}. \qquad \dots (4)$$

and

$$\int_{t}^{t} \frac{dt}{k} = \frac{a V_{max}}{R} \int_{r}^{R} (1 - \frac{r}{R})^{a-1} dr \dots (5)$$

•
$$t_{w}-t = -k V_{max} (1 - \frac{r}{R})^{a}$$
(6)

Dividing Eq. (6) by Eq. (4), the temperature distribution equation is obtained, thus,

$$\frac{t_{w}-t}{t_{w}-t_{a}} = (1 - \frac{r}{R})^{a} \qquad \dots \dots (7)$$
This equation states that the temperature distribution exponent is identical with the corresponding velocity distribution exponent, if the similarity holds. In order to differentiate the actual temperature exponent from the velocity distribution exponent, "a" in E_q . (7) is changed to "b", thus

$$\frac{\Delta t}{\Delta t_{max.}} = \frac{t_{w}-t}{t_{w}-t_{a}} = \left(1 - \frac{r}{R}\right)^{b} \qquad \dots \dots (7a)$$

In Table 14 , it is seen that the graphically determined exponents "a" and "b" on Pannell's data are almost identical. The graphical plot of his E_x periment IV is illustrated here. Thus, the similarity is found to be applicable to gases. However, its application to liquids is still unknown.

(Colum (1) Exper-	nn) (2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(g)	(9)	(10)	(11)	(12)
iment No.	V _{ave} . (Cm./Sec.)	$\frac{t_{ave.}}{(\circ C.)}$	$\frac{t_{w}-t_{a}}{(\circ C.)}$	tw (°C.)	$\frac{t_w - t_{ave.}}{t_w - t_a}$	$\frac{t_{ave.}-t_a}{t_w-t_a}$	$\frac{v_{ave}}{v_{max}}$	Refave.	8.	ď	$Pe.\frac{(two.ta)}{(t_{ave}t_{a})}$
I	542	24.82	13.3	35•5	0.803	0.197	0.788	17,120	0.169	0.170	100,000
II	1,200	23.7	16.7	37•4	0.821	0.1796	0.809	38,200	0.154	0.150	245,000
III	1,482	23•7	17.4	38.0	0.822	0.1781	0.815	47,300	0.143	0.141	305,000
IV	2,180	27.3	18.6	43.0	0.844	0.1558	0.816	67,400	0.138	0.136	497,500

Table 14 Summarized Calculated Results of Pannell's Data on Heating of Air

Calculated Results of Pannell's Data on Heating of Air

(Tech. Reports, Adv. Comm. for Aero. (Great Britain) Vol. I, p. 22 (1916-7)).

(<u>r</u>)	$1 - \frac{r}{R}$	$1 - \left(\frac{r}{R}\right)^{2}$	$\frac{\mathbf{t}_{\mathbf{w}} - \mathbf{t}}{\mathbf{t}_{\mathbf{w}} - \mathbf{t}_{\mathbf{a}}}$	$\frac{v}{v_{\max}}$.
0.00 .15 .30 .45 .60 .70 .85 .90 .95 .97 .95 .97 .99 .99 .99 .99 .99 .99 .99	1.00 .85 .70 .55 .40 .30 .20 .15 .10 .07 .05 .04 .03 .02 .01 .00	1.000 .978 .910 .797 .640 .510 .360 .278 .190 .135 .098 .078 .059 .040 .020 .000	1.000 1.000 .985 .940 .880 .842 .775 .737 .690 .638 .593 .563 .518 .465 .375 .000	1.000 .995 .963 .927 .873 .828 .773 .742 .701 .662 .581 .581 .517 .395 .190 .000

Experiment I.

R = 2.44 Cm.

 $V_{max.} = 688$ Cms./sec. $V_{ave.} = 542 \text{ Cms./sec.}$

 $t_{w} = 35.5^{\circ}C.$ $t_{ave.} = 24.82^{\circ}C.$ $t_{w}-t_{a} = 13.3^{\circ}C.$

	on Heat:			
	Experiment II	R = 3	2.44 Cm.	
(<u>푸</u>)	$(1 - \frac{r}{R})$	$(1 - (\frac{\mathbf{r}}{\mathbf{R}})^2)$	tw-t tw-ta	V V _{max} .
0.00 .15 .30 .450 .70 .855 .90 .93 .97 .995 .97 .999 1.00	1.00 .85 .70 .55 .40 .30 .20 .15 .10 .07 .05 .04 .03 .02 .01 .00	1.000 .978 .910 .797 .640 .510 .360 .278 .190 .135 .098 .078 .078 .059 .040 .020 .000	1.000 .994 .975 .952 .898 .850 .802 .754 .700 .652 .610 .575 .545 .515 .467 .000	1.000 .988 .959 .929 .874 .837 .786 .755 .711 .674 .623 .600 .545 .310 .000

Calculated Results of Pannell's Data on Heating of Air

 $V_{max.} = 1,483 \text{ Cms./sec.}$ $t_w = 37.4 \circ \text{C.}$ $V_{ave.} = 1,200 \text{ Cms./sec.}$ $t_{ave.} = 23.7 \circ \text{C.}$

 $t_{w}-t_{a} = 16.7$ °C.

	Experiment	III	R = 2.44 Cm.	
(<u>픆</u>)	$1 - \frac{r}{R}$	$1 - \left(\frac{r}{R}\right)^2$	$rac{t_w-t}{t_w-t_a}$	V V _{max} .
0.00 15 30 50 78 89 93 95 97 99 99 99 99 99 99 99 99 99 99 99 99	1.00 .85 .70 .55 .40 .30 .20 .15 .10 .07 .05 .04 .03 .02 .01 .00	1.000 .978 .910 .797 .640 .510 .360 .278 .190 .135 .098 .078 .059 .040 .020 .000	1.000 .994 .983 .948 .896 .850 .793 .752 .707 .661 .632 .615 .592 .563 .517 .000	1.000 .990 .967 .930 .882 .794 .762 .762 .656 .655 .598 .598 .599 .478 .000

Calculated Results of Pannell's Data on Heating of Air

v _{max} .	=	1820	Cms./sec.	t _w =	38.	.0°C.
V _{ave} .	Ħ	1482	Cms./sec.	tave.	=	23.7°0.

 $t_{w}-t_{a} = 17.400.$

Calculated Results of Pannell's Data on Heating of Air

Experiment IV.

R = 2.44 Cm.

(<u>류</u>)	$1 - \frac{T}{R}$	$1 - \left(\frac{r}{R}\right)^2$	tw-t tw-ta	V Vmax.
0.00 .15 .30 .45 .60 .70 .80 .97 .95 .90 .97 .95 .97 .98 .99 1.00	1.00 .85 .70 .55 .40 .30 .20 .15 .10 .07 .05 .04 .03 .02 .01 .00	1.000 .978 .910 .797 .640 .510 .360 .278 .190 .135 .098 .078 .059 .040 .020 .000	1.000 1.000 .993 .966 .924 .870 .811 .762 .719 .676 .650 .627 .601 .574 .515 .000	1.000 .992 .969 .938 .884 .796 .763 .727 .697 .621 .584 .475 .000

V_{max.} = 2,670 Cms./sec. V_{ave.} = 2,180 Cms./sec.

 $t_{w} = 43.0°C.$ $t_{ave.} = 27.3°C.$ $t_{w}-t_{a} = 18.6°C.$













LITERATURE REFERENCES

 J.R. Pannell: Tech. Rpts. Adv. Comm. for Aero. (Great Britain) Vol. 1, p. 22 (1916-17).
Jakob, Erk and Eck: Tech. Mech. Thermodynamik, Band 1, No. 1, p. 46 (1930).
H. Kraussold: Forschungsheft No. 351 (1931).
L.B. Woolfenden: M.S. Thesis, M.I.T. (1927).
A. Schack: Z.V.D.I., Vol. 67, p. 807 (1923).

V. DESCRIPTION OF APPARATUS

In the course of investigation, an apparatus was built in the summer of 1930. Additional parts were added on from time to time. The general layout of the apparatus in the final form is shown diagrammatically in Figure 47, where the arrows in the pipe line indicate the regular direction of flow of water in the system. The apparatus consists mainly of pump and reservoir calming sections, vertical heat transfer sections which are either heated by condensing steam or cooled by cooling water in the outside jacket, and velocity and temperature measuring instruments which are specially designed. The two test sections are both made of No. 10 stubs gage seamless hard drawn copper and of 20 feet in length, having an inside diameter of 1.95 in. The details of the several important parts will be given in the following.

Pump and Reservoir

The water reservoir is a 55 gallon drum, to which are connected two feed lines of water of 1-inch pipe. Water was pumped by means of a centrifugal pump at a constant rate from the reservoir. The pump capacity is about 100 gallons per minute. The pump intake is always submerged in water, thus there is no chance of having air sucked into the system. The quantity of water pumped is regulated by means of a main by-pass valve, and another 1/4-inch needle valve



Figure 47

is also provided for minute adjustment. At the top of each value is a Bourdon gauge to indicate the pressure. The direction of flow can be reversed in the whole system by means of cross pipes and values. The water, after passing the test sections, may be either discarded to the sewer or return to the reservoir and recirculated. Due to the immense quantity of water needed in the system, it is impossible to get the maximum rate without recirculating through the system. Even running the apparatus at moderate rate without recirculating, it takes nearly all the water from the two supply mains of the laboratory.

Calming Sections

Except the test sections, all pipes in the apparatus are made of standard 2-inch galvanized iron pipes. The length of calming section in this investigation is defined as the length of straight pipe from the upstream elbow or tee to the test section. There are five available test cross-sections, but only test cross-sections 2, 3, 4, and 5 have been used. (These test cross-sections will be called "stations" from now on.) The calming lengths expressed in terms of the inside diameter of the test pipe for different stations are:

Station	Calming Length in I.D.
No.	of Test Pipe
2	129.2
3	160.0
4	108.1
5	169.6

It is believed that the present apparatus with such a long calming length for each station will eliminate any entrance disturbance (cf. Nikuradse(17)Chap. III). Test Sections or Heat Transfer Sections

There are two test sections: A 10 ft. length primarily for parallel current flow and a 20 ft. length primarily for countercurrent flow. They are set in a vertical position, so that by reasons of symmetry, the velocity and temperature distribution curves should be symmetrical with respect to the axis of the pipe. They are made of copper as mentioned before; copper being chosen because of its high conductivity and purity, so the standard value of its thermal conductivity can be used in the heat transfer calculations. The short section is jacketed with a 3.5-inch iron pipe 10 ft. long. while the long section is jacketed with a 24 ft. length The jacket and the pipe are held toof the same size. gether with two successively reducing steel bushings which are specially made to fit the present size and a 3.5-inch coupling. The exact way of fitting is shown in Fig. 48 . Between these bushings, steam valve packing glands have been used to make the joint steam tight. These joints are flexible so that the jacket may be slid to other parts of the test pipe, if necessary. Steam or water was fed into the long jacket at the top and exhausted at the bottom, but only steam was fed to the short jacket. One condensate trap was

provided to remove the condensate, before the steam was fed to the heating jacket. Air vents were provided at the top of each vertical section of the apparatus in order to remove air in the system.

The outside diameter of the copper pipe was measured by means of a vernier caliper at different stations, its average value was found to be 2.25". By means of a depth gage, the value of the inside diameter plus one wall thickness was obtained, thus subtracting this value from the measured outside diameter will give the wall thickness of the pipe, which was found to be 0.15". Then the inside diameter of the pipe can be readily calculated; its average is 1.95 inch. The dimensions of different stations are given in Appendix J, and found to have very little difference from each other. Orifices

There are three orifices provided in the system, one for the main water line, one for cooling water, and one for steam. Only the main line orifice is mostly used during the test to determine approximately the quantity of water going through the system. The main line orifice chamber consists of a thin plate orifice of 1-11/16 inch in diameter, the chamber being 3-inch standard iron pipe. During the calibration of the orifice, the water, after passing through it instead of being discharged to the sewer, was discharged to the





Figure 51

weighing tank on a platform scale. The calibration data are tabulated in Appendix J. The coefficient of this orifice was found to be 0.608.

Pitot Tube Set for Velocity Exploration (see Figure 51)

The pitot tube set consists of a static tube made of 3/16" copper tubing and a specially made impact tube made of 1/8" brass tubing. Considerable effort has been devoted in choosing the metal for the impact tube. Hypodermic-needle steel tubing cannot be used in this case, since it will rust easily in hot water and is liable to plug up the impact hole. Other tubings of alloy, such as monel, are not available to such a fine size. Copper tubing was once tried, but found to be too soft, besides its disadvantage of high thermal conductivity. The brass impact tube consists of a tip part and the stem. The tip part is a converging cone having its smaller end 0.4 mm. in inside diameter, while the bigger end, threaded, can be fitted to the main (See Fig. 49 stem.). The tip part, together with a short length of brass tubing, is bent from the main stem to form an oblique angle of about 110°, thus the tip part is leaning outward. This arrangement was

found to be necessary in order to get velocity exploration near to the pipe wall with the least possible disturbance. However, the plane of the tip was filed down to be parallel to the main stem, thus the tip is

facing perpendicularly to the direction of flow of water in the pipe. The main stem of the impact tube was jacketed with a 5-inch length of 9/16" iron pipe which was threaded at one end to be fitted to the copper pipe; this end of the iron pipe was plugged with a bakelite stopper with a hole drilled at its center just big enough for the impact tube to slide to and A hard rubber stopper, instead of bakelite, was fro. tried at the beginning, but found to be not satisfactory because hard rubber shrinks when it is heated. The other end of the 9/16" iron pipe was threaded with an intermediate brass tubing which was used to tighten the packing in the annular space between the impact tube and its iron jacket. This packing was necessary in order to prevent any leakage. The iron jacket extended from the copper pipe, passed the annular space between the copper pipe and its 3-1/2" jacket and fitted tightly to the latter by means of a rubber stopper and litharge glycerine. A caliper which was readable to 0.01 cm. was fitted to the 9/16" steel pipe with its sliding indicator attached to the 1/8" impact tubing, thus by sliding the indicator, the position of the impact tube in the copper pipe was changed. As the impact tube was moving away from the fitting of its jacket on the copper pipe wall, it would touch the other side of the pipe wall diagonally.

Since the impact tube was electrically insulated by bakelite from its jacket and consequently from the copper pipe, an electric device by combining electric bell, dry cells and other connections was used to determine the positions of the impact tube when it touched the wall. The bell rang as soon as the impact tube touched the wall. The bell rang as soon as the impact tube touched the copper pipe, and readings on the caliper were taken. This device was found to be very desirable in order to determine the exact position as well as to protect the tubing from breakage or bending through "over pushing" against the wall, due to ignoring the exact position.

Thermocouple Set for Temperature Exploration

The other fittings of this set were exactly the same as those used in the pitot tube set, but the impact tube was replaced by a thermocouple tubing which contained either No. 24 or No. 26 copper constantan wires. The thermocouple tubing was just the main impact tube, as mentioned before, less its tip part. These wires were cotton-covered and coated with sealo wax, which was found to be a satisfactory insulator for the present purpose. The hot junction was soldered and filed down to a fine tip having its diameter from 0.4 to 0.6 mm. Just below the junction these wires were again insulated and protected by a spaghetti

tubing (see Figure 50), which was obtained from one electric supply store, before they were fitted into the brass tubing. At the outlet of the brass tubing, a short length of rubber tubing was connected, the thermocouples were passed through the rubber tubing and connected to the potentiometer. By tying together the rubber tubing and the wires inside with a copper wire, leakage was eliminated entirely.

Other Thermocouples and Thermometers

No. 24 copper constantan thermocouples were used throughout to measure temperature before and after heating or cooling, and the outside wall temperatures of the copper pipe at the test cross-sections. These mixing cup temperatures were taken at the 2"-2"-1" tees, where water was assumed to be very turbulent and These wires were enclosed in a 3/16" glass well mixed. tubing held firmly near the tip with the aid of duPont cement, while the hot junction was left uncovered outside the glass tubing. The glassprotecting tubing was passed through a rubber stopper which was inserted into the 1" side of the tee and held tight by means of a reducing coupling fitted on the 1" side led the way out from the fluid and made the attachment leakage proof.

Those thermocouples used to take outside wall temperatures were soldered into grooves on the wall while the excess solder was removed by a file and the surface was smoothed by sand paper. From the grooves,

these wires were attached to, but electrically insulated from, the pipe wall for about three inches, by means of putting a piece of mica underneath the wires and electric tape above the wire and mica to hold them together at

the wall, before they were led to the outside of the jacket.

All cold junctions of thermocouples were immersed in ice-filled thermo bottles. The potentiometer used was a Brown Precision Portable Type, readable to 0.01 of a millivolt (equivalent to 0.25°C.), and estimable to 0.005 of a millivolt.

One thermometer was inserted immediately after the steam orifice, and another in the water reservoir. <u>Manometers</u>

The manometers were made from 3/16" pyrex glass tubing of well selected uniform cross-section. For taking main line orifice readings, a magnified mercury manometer inclined with a slope of 0.228 was used. For taking the static head of the test crosssections, vertical mercury manometers were used, having one column connected to the static tube while the other open to the atmosphere. For taking velocity head at the test cross-sections, vertical manometers filled with carbon tetrachloride which was dyed red with azobenzene, were used, having one column connected

to the impact tube, while the other connected to the static tube. The carbon tetrachloride used was left together with excess amount of water in a liter bottle for several weeks, thus it ought to be saturated with Its specific gravity at room temperature was water. found to be 1.5762, so the manometer reading for velocity head was magnified 1.74 times the velocity head expressed in water itself. Bromobenzene and chlorobenzene were found to be good, but their readings magnified too much that the manometers built approximately 2-1/2 ft. in height were not high enough, especially for readings near the center of the pipe. The leads of manometers were a combination of rubber and glass tubing, the reason of combining some glass tubings was to detect the air bubbles in the leads. In the manometer system, sufficient air vents were provided.

Lagging

The main part of the apparatus was lagged with 2-1/2" magnesia lagging from T_1 to T_2 , as shown in Figure of the General Layout of Apparatus.

VI. EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Before any run, water was recirculated through the system, keeping a maximum rate of flow by shutting all the by-pass valves. During recirculating, air was removed from the system through the numerous air vents provided for this purpose and especially through the static and impact pressure leads to the manometers. Complete elimination of air in the system is regarded as a primarv necessity in this investigation; because its presence in the system would effect the velocity and temperature distributions in the test cross-section, while its presence in the manometer leads would interfere with the pressure, measurements by giving erroneous readings, and sometimes even cause the manometer liquid to be sucked to the system. For most of the isothermal runs, water was recirculated, thus no air bubbles were detected after they had been excluded. For the heating runs, water was not recirculated but discharged to the sewer, the problem of getting rid of the air bubbles became more serious, because as the water was being heated in the pipe, its capacity of dissolving air in it is gradually diminished, thus giving out air to the system. To overcome this difficulty, occasional opening of the air vents during the test worked out successfully except at very low velocity runs. At low velocity runs, when countercurrent heating runs were performed on the long section,

there was considerable difficulty to stop the air bubbles from/coming through the impact tube to the manometer leads, for the impact tube in these runs were facing downward, giving a favorable condition for air bubbles to go in. Apparently, in the parallel current runs, where the impact tube was facing downward, air bubbles were not liable to go into the tubing even if they were evolved. This explains why, in the present investigation, there are fewer simultaneous velocity and temperature distribution measurements in the *Counter-current* former_case.

Because of the short distance to the bottom tee, stations 2 and 3 can be only run parallel currently. Stations 4 and 5 were used for countercurrent runs only, whether during or cooling or isothermally. Preliminary runs of testing symmetry of velocity and temperature distributions at different stations were carried out at the very beginning of the experimentation. Table 15 and Figure 52 illustrate the symmetry of velocity distribution at Station 5, using bromobenzene as a manometer liquid which magnifies the reading more than the latter used carbon tetrachloride. The symmetry shown is what one expects; that little deviation might be due to the effect of fitting, while the velocity distribution on the other

Table 15							
Preliminary Run	of Test	ing	Symme	etry	of	Velocity	
Distribution	(Station	No.	5)	(Wat	er Upv	Running ward)	

. -

r R	<u>Δh</u> (cm. Bromobenzene)	v/v _{max} .	Remarks
0.788 .748 .655 .534 .449 .348 .244 .147 .046 .003	25.8 27.4 29.8 33.4 36.4 38.6 40.8 42.4 43.4	0.771 .794 .828 .875 .915 .942 .970 .988 1.000 1.000	Near fitting
.048 .136 .245 .345 .544 .544 .5641 .56441 .5644 .5936 .9367 .988 .997 .988 .997 .987 .987	43.4 43.4 42.0 40.4 38.4 36.2 33.4 29.6 25.4 23.6 20.2 17.0 15.6 14.2	1.000 1.000 983 964 940 913 875 825 764 737 682 625 599 572	Away from fitting

Static Pressure = 32.5 cm. Hg. Gauge t = 25°C.

 v_{ave} (Manometer) = 6.02 ft./sec.



half of the pipe away from the fitting indicates a remarkably good exploration. With these facts in mind, it was decided to explore that half of the radius away from the fitting for both velocity and temperature measurements, believing that the symmetry holds for all the time and for all cases in a vertical pipe.

For runs on isothermal velocity distribution. water was recirculated save in a few exceptional cases; while for non-isothermal runs, the water was discharged to the sewer. The discharging of water after its being heated or cooled is regarded as the only practical way of obtaining steady temperature distribution measurement irrespective of the time, since the inlet water from main was at constant temperature and wall temperature at a definite station was always kept constant. For isothermal runs, only velocity explorations have to be made, besides taking main line orifice manometer reading and water temperature reading. For each velocity exploration, the position of the impact tube in the pipe was changed with the aid of the sliding indicator and caliber attached to the pitot tube set. It took about 3 minutes for the CCl₄ manometer to give a steady reading of velocity head, this reading was taken together with its corresponding static pressure which was almost constant throughout a run. The exploration schedule was set for 15 readings, but, in the later

runs, it was reduced to 10 readings. It took about 10 minutes to get the steady running condition at the start, and, combining together with the velocity explorations, the whole run took about 1-1/2 hour.

For non-isothermal runs, it took more than 2-1/2 hours to complete a run. At the beginning, steam in case of heating cooling water in case of cooling was turned on, the rate of the water flow inside the test pipes was also adjusted. The apparatus was allowed to run 20 minutes or more to obtain a constant and steady fluid flow and heat flow in the system. This condition was tested by measuring inlet and outlet water temperature and the pipe wall temperature at different stations. When the condition was steady, either velocity exploration or temperature exploration was performed besides the thermocouple readings of pipe wall, inlet and outlet water temperature, the thermometer reading at the steam orifice and main line orifice manometer readings. The steam used was found to be always superheated about 10°C.

An attempt was made to take readings at the four stations, two in the heating and two in the cooling section (which is the long pipe), simultaneously, having water in the system recirculated. It was found that even the cooling water was run at maximum rate while the steam at minimum, the temperature of water in the system was constantly increasing instead of keeping constant.

VII. ISOTHERMAL VELOCITY DISTRIBUTION RUNS

Fifty-six isothermal runs of water were made during the investigation, but only 32 runs which are considered to be more representative and reliable are presented here. Their data, with calculations and plots, are mostly included in Appendix D, while about half of the number of plots not included will be available in the files of the Department of Chemical Engin-These runs cover a range of Reynolds number eering. from 15,000 to 234,000. The average velocity varied from 1.43 to 7.66 feet per second. The temperature of water ranged waried from 7 to 57°C. The lowest temperature runs were performed on cold winter nights, while the highest temperature runs were made possible by means of preheating the water first, then circulating through the system, having a constant amount of steam passed through the long jacket to keep the water at almost constant temperature.

It might be mentioned here that the writer, during this investigation, observed through these experiments that Reynolds number has a marked effect on the velocity distribution, before the recent articles of Nikuradse⁽¹⁾ were available.

The summarized results of these isothermal runs are given in Table 16. The velocity distribution exponent "a" in the following equation,

Run No.	Vave. (ft./sec.) (Graph.Integration)	$Re = \frac{DV_{ave}\rho}{\mu}$	a (from Plot)	v_{ave}/v_{max}	Station No.	<u>Calming Length</u> (Distance from upstream elbow)
V I-10	* 5.52	93,100	0.111	0.853	2	129.2D
LV I-11	5.54	93 ,500	.111	•8 <u>5</u> 5	3	160 D
▼ I- 15	1.77	26,500	•151	.800	3	160 D
V I-17	6.83	120,500	•109	.841	2	129.2D
(V I-18	6.70	118,200	•115	.825	3	160 D
V I-20	3.50	61,750	•119	.846	2	129 . 2D
V I-24	5.30	103,400	.110	.843	2	129 . 2D
(V I -26	5.30	103,400	.118	.838	4	108.1D
V I-27	4.36	80,900	.118	• 838	2	129.2D
V I-28	7•56	125,000	•113	.850	3	160 D
IV I-29	7.45	123,000	.121	.840	4	108.1D
V I -31	6 <u>•5</u> 7	118,700	.125	.830	4	108.1D
I I-32	6.71	124,000	.109	.842	2	129 . 2D
V I-34	6.64	123,200	•125	•830	4	108.1D
V I-36	2.88	49,900	•133	.818	3	160 D
<u>V I-37</u>	5•85	106,200	.122	•838	3	160 D
IV I-38	5.81	105,600	.127	.830	- 4	108.1D
I V I−39	3.29	59,500	.138	.820	3	160 D
<u>U</u> <u>1-40</u>	3.26	59,000	•145	.808	4	108.1D
V 1-44	4.01	69,000	•13(.821	4	108.1D
V 1-45	2•(9	49,400	•133	.812	4	108.1D
V 1-40		74,700	•139	.807	4	108.10
V 1-4/	1.43	15,030	• 160	.803	2	129.20
(V 1-48	1.43	15,070	•149	.804	2	160 D
V 1-49	(.66	135,000	• 1 1 1	•858 alia	2	160 D
(V 1-50	<u>(</u> • <u>þ</u> þ	133,000	•119	•845	4	108.1D
V 1-51	(.66	234,000	• 101	•8(5	3	160 D
<u>v 1–52</u>	3.82	41,250	•141	•830	3	160 D
V I-53	1.44	16,040	.148	•815	3	160 D
V I-54	3.38	36,950	.130	.829	3	160 D
V I-55	1.52	17,000	.169	•797	3	160 D
V I-56	2.07	22,600	.160	.813	3	160 D .

Table 16. Summarized Results of Isothermal Velocity Distribution Data

[*{ means Runs takens together]

$$\frac{v}{v_{\text{max.}}} = (1 - \frac{r}{R})^{a} \qquad \dots \dots (1)$$

is determined graphically from a log-log plot for each individual run. For most of the isothermal runs another velocity distribution exponent "m'" in the equation

$$\frac{V}{V_{max.}} = (1 - (\frac{r}{R})^{1.25})^{m!} \dots (2)$$

is also determined graphically. For example, for Run V I-38 (see the accompanied plots)(Figures 52A and 52B)

a = 0.127 ; m' = 0.122

Confidence in the accuracy of the data is inspired by the smoothness of the curve plotted as velocity ratio against fraction of radius on an ordinary graph paper. (Fig. 55)

In Figure 53 , velocity distribution exponent "a" is plotted against Reynolds number. Obviously, this exponent decreases as the Reynolds number increases, but the present experimental points all lie below the curve which is calculated from Eq. (25), Chapter III. It must be recalled that in the first place, the friction data on smooth pipes are mostly on brass pipes, and, secondly, the roughness of pipe wall has a remarkable effect on the shape of the curve, as illustrated in Chapter III by Eq. (30) and also Figure 40. Hard drawn copper has been used in the present case, so Eq. (25) might not be exact for copper pipe **as** the present pipe



Z






is rougher hydraulicly than the average smooth pipes. Therefore, instead of following Eq. (25) in Chapter III, an average experimental line is drawn, as shown in Figure 53. This line gives approximately the following values of "a" for different Reynolds numbers:

_ <u>a</u>	Re
0.17	10,000
0.132	50,000
0.119	100,000
0.100	300,000

The decreasing of values of "a" as Reynolds number is increasing proves definitely the occurrence of more turbulence and the swelling up of the velocity distribution curve. This phenomenon might be caused by the decrease of the thickness of the viscous film near the wall, thus causing more flow near the boundary.

Values of distribution exponent m' in Eq. (2) are tabulated in Table 17 and plotted against Reynolds numbers in Figure 54. The object of this plotting is to illustrate that Eq. (2) actually fits the data better than Eq. (1) for velocity distribution, although it is more complicated in application. It is noticed that the experimental points gather closer together, while the slope is also evident. This plot also illustrates that practically the velocity distribution at stations 2, 3, 4, of different calming lengths

		Stat	ion	m *
Rur	n No.	No	. Re.	(From Plot)
(v (v	I-10 I-11	2 * 3	93 ,100 93 , 500	0.125
- V	I- 15	3	26,500	.166
(V (V	I-17 I-18	23	120,500 118,200	.124 .131
v	I-20	2	61,750	.136
۲ ۲	1-24 1-26	2 4	103,400 103,400	.125 .132
v	I-27	2	80,900	•133
(V (V	1–28 1–29	34	125,000 123,000	.120 .131
V	I-31	4	118,700	.136
(v (v	I-32 I-34	2 4	124,000 123,200	.116 .135
V	I- 36	3	49 , 9 00	. 145
(V (V	I-37 I-38	3 4	106,200 105,600	.129 .133
(v v	1-39 1-40	3 4	59,500 59,000	.147 .153
v	I_44	4	69,000	•151
V	I-45	4	49,400	•144
V	I_46	4	74,700	•154
*	S ⁺	tation No.	Calming Len I.D. of Cop	gth in per Pipe
		2 3 4	129. 160. 108.	2 0 1

Table 17 Isothermal Velocity Distribution $E_{\rm X}$ ponent in Eq. $\frac{\mathbf{v}}{\mathbf{v}_{\text{max.}}} = \left[1 - \left(\frac{\mathbf{r}}{\mathbf{R}}\right)^{1.25}\right]^{\text{m'}}$

×,



may be considered constant at a certain Reynolds number. It is noticed that this long calming length has eliminated entrance disturbance effect on the velocity distribution, thus, during non-isothermal runs on Stations 2 and 3, corresponding isothermal runs may be taken on station 4 to compare the effect of heating on velocity distribution.

The velocity ratio, i.e., the ratio of average velocity to the maximum velocity which is at the axis of the pipe, for each run is calculated from the actually measured velocity at the axis and the graphically in-tegrated values of V_{ave} , which can be expressed as,

0R

$$V_{\text{ave.}} = \frac{2\pi f_0^{-1} \vee r \, dr}{\pi R^2} = \frac{2}{R^2} \int_0^R \vee r \, dr \dots (3)$$

or

$$V_{ave} = 2 \int_{0}^{R} V(\frac{r}{R}) d(\frac{r}{R}) \qquad \dots (3a)$$

The value in the integral is obtained through graphical integration - as illustrated in Figure 56 for Run V I-38. Thus, the velocity ratio for every run is similarly obtained. They are given in Table 16 and plotted in Figure 57. The apparent rise of this ratio with increase of Reynolds number is similar to the calculated line from Eq. (21c) in Chapter III, except these values are higher than the calculated values which is what is expected since the corresponding velocity distribution









exponents "a" are lower than those calculated.

It must be pointed out here that the average velocity obtained from graphical integration is satisfactory as compared with orifice meter readings and actual weighing. Its deviation from orifice meter reading is about \pm 30%, while its deviation is still much less as compared with actual weighing (See Fig. 57a). For $\frac{V_{ave}}{----}$ calculations, values of graphically integrated V_{ave} max are recommended to use, since any error that may introduce in the pitot tube coefficient will apparently be eliminated this way.

References

- (1) J. Nikuradse: Article in A.Giles, L. Hopf and Th.von Karman: Aerodynamik und verwandter Gebiete, Julius Springer, Berlin (1930).
- (2) J. Nikuradse: Article in Proceedings of the 3rd International Congress for Applied Mechanics, Vol. 1 (1931).

VIII. VELOCITY AND TEMPERATURE DISTRIBUTION RUNS DURING HEATING.

(Counter-Current and Parallel-Current)

- A. General Discussion.
- B. On Velocity Distribution During Heating.
- C. On the Effective Film Temperature.
- D. On Temperature Distribution During Heating.
- E. Non-Similarity between Temperature and Velocity Distribution of Liquids.
- F. Parallel-Current vs Counter-Current Heating.
- G. On Temperature ^Hise Between Two Cross-Sections.

VIII. Velocity and Temperature Distribution

Runs During Heating

(Counter-Current and Parallel Current)

A. General Discussion.

Parallel current runs were carried out at Stations 2 and 3, having water flowing downward; while counter current runs were carried out at Stations 4 and 5, having water flowing upwards. Twenty-one simultaneous velocity and temperature distribution runs with one extra temperature distribution run were obtained, operating with parallel currents and their data with calculations and plots are included in Due to the difficulty in Appendices E and G. obtaining accurate velocity distribution measurements when the water is being heated and flowing upward as explained in Chapter VI, only ten simultaheous velocity and temperature distribution runs with six extra temperature distribution measurements were obtained on counter current runs. These data with calculations and plots are to be found in Appendices **B** and H. Graphical integration plots of average velocity, average temperature and mixing cup temperature are not included, but they are available in the Heat Transmission file in the Chemical Engineering Department.

The velocity distribution exponent "a" is graphically determined for each run, just like the isothermal runs, and the average velocity over the cross section is found by graphical integration. Based upon equation (7A) derived in Chapter IV, which is

$$\Delta t \qquad t_{w-t} \qquad r$$

$$----- = ------ = (1 - -)$$

$$\Delta t_{max} \qquad t_{w-t_a} \qquad R$$
.....(1)

the value of "b", which is defined as temperature distribution exponent, is similarly graphically determined for each run. The average "space" temperature over the cross-section can readily be seen to be equal to

However, this average cross-sectional temperature is different from the mean fluid temperature (better known as mixing cup temperature) which is equal to

$$t_{m} = \frac{2\pi \int_{0}^{R} t\rho \, vr \, dr}{2\pi \int_{0}^{R} \rho v \, r \, dr} = \frac{2 \int_{0}^{R} t\rho v \, (r/R) d(r/R)}{(\rho V)_{av}} \qquad (....(3)$$

These operations are illustrated for Run V H-16, Run T H-26 in the parallel-current runs, and for Run V H-31, Run T H-45 in the counter-current runs by graphs herein inserted. (See Figure 58-63). All these graphically determined values are tabulated in Tables 18 and 19.

(Parallel Current)												
(Column) (1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)	(10)	(11)	(12)	(13)
Veloci t y Run	Temp. Run	tion No.	$\frac{v_{ave}}{(ft./sec)}$	$\frac{v_{ave}}{v_{max}}$	$\frac{t_{ave}}{(\circ C.)}$	$\frac{t_m}{(\circ C_{\bullet})}$	tw (°C.)	$\frac{t_{w}-t_{a}}{(\circ c.)}$	Э.	Ъ	a/b	t _f (°C.)
▼ H-3	т н-14	2	2,28	0.869	25.52	23.77	78.0	56.4	0.100	0.039	2.56	52.3
№ н–5	T H-16	2	4.13	0.857	22.92	22.69	70	48.85	0.103	.0223	4.62	45.2
(V H_8 (V H_9	T H-18) T H-19)	2 3	1.275 1.244	0.768 0.778	28.56 37.60	27.17 36.11	86.7 80.3	63.45 47.55	0.169 0.153	•0495 •054	3.41 2.83	67•5 60•98
(V H-10 (V H-11	T H-20) T H-21)	2 3	4.39 4.02	0.869 0.778	25.85 28.80	25.14	74.2 65.0	51.40 38.0	0.101 0.157	.030 .0278	3•37 5•65	56.35 49.2
(V H-12 (V H-13	T H-22) T H-23)	2 3	3.45 3.22	0.847 0.791	25.92 30.80	25.00 30.33	76.41 69.0	54.56 41.0	0.109 0.155	.0417 .0397	2.62 3.90	58.8 52.05
(V H-14 (V H-15	T H-24) T H-25)	2	3.928 3.870	0.825 0.809	18.72 24.28		73.21 66.36	57.81 45.76	0.124 0.140	.0384 .0415	3.23 3.37	54.63 48.13
(V H-16 (V H-17	T H-26) T H-27)	23	2.806 2.806	0.838 0.826	19.36 25.52		77.11 71.51	61.38 49.36	0.123 0.131	•0364 •0422	3.38 3.10	57.0 53.52
(V H-18 (V H-19	T H-28) T H-29)	2 3	4.434 4.432	0.832 0.828	17.60 21.60		76.01 66.91	61.51 48.48	0.123 0.127	.0288 .0324	4.27 3.92	55•75 44•81
(V H-20 (V H-21	T H-30) T H-31)	2 3	1.557 1.560	0.814 0.767	10.48 18.40		78.41 76.01	73.01 61.51	0.141 0.177	.0434 .0348	3•25 5•08	55.80 49.7
(V H-22 (V H-23	T H-32) T H-33)	2 3	2.120 2.05	0.859 0.830	9.20 17.12		75.03 73.91	70.53 60.75	0.103 0.123	.0414 .0348	2.49 3.53	53.24 47.84
V H-24	T H-34A T H-34) 2) 3	2.350	0.877	8.40 15.28		79 .01 74.71	75 .01 63 .01	0.0905	.0342 .0279	3.24	55•32 47•06
(V H-25 (V H-26	T H-35) T H-36)	2 3	4.770 4.705	0.892 0.856	7.40 12.30		73.21 65.71	69.6 1 56.74	0.0806 0.1054	.0318 .0275	2.54 3.83	50.4 40.6

Table 18 Velocity and Temperature Distribution During Heating

					Table	(Cont.)			
(Column) (1) Velocity Run	(2) Temp. Run	(14) ^{Re} tave.	(15) Re _{tf}	(16) Prtf	(17) Pe _{tf}	(18) tw-tave	(19) tw-tave	(20) t _{ave} -ta	(21) Peta $(\frac{t_w - t_a}{2})$
	\			1		(•0•)	tw ^{-t} a	tw-ta	^t 'tave-ta'
V H-3	T H-14	38,900	64,200	3•47	223,000	52.48	0.931	0.0695	3,210,000
V H_5	T H-16	66,800	103,500	3.97	411,000	47.08	0.963	•0363	11,320,000
(V H-8 (V H-9	T H-18) T H-19)	23,200 26,900	44,700 39,500	2.67 2.56	119,400 101,200	58.14 42.7	0.918 0.899	.0838 .102	1,426,000 993,000
(V H-10 (V H-11	T H-20) T H-21)	74,700 73,800	131,800 108,000	3.21 3.68	423,000 398,000	48.35 36.2	0.941 0.953	•0594 •0474	7,120,000
(V H-12 (V H-13	T H-22) T H-23)	59,600 61,600	107,800 90,500	3.10 3.48	334,000 315,000	50.48 38.2	0.925 0.932	•0747 •0684	4,470,000 4,605,000
(V H-14 (V H-15	T H-24) T H-25)	57,200 64,100	114,800	3.32 3.74	348,000 381,000	54.49 42.08	0.943	•0575 •0804	6,050,000 4,740,000
(V H-16 (V H-17	T H-26) T H-27)	41,500 47,850	85,200 8 0 ,600	3.19 3.38	272,000	57•75 45•99	0.942 0.931	•0592 •0683	4,600,000
(V H-18 (V H-19	T H-28) T H-29)	62,700 69,000	132,000 110,400	3.25 4.00	429,000 442,000	58.41 45.31	0.950	• 0504 • 0655	g,520,000 6,750,000
(V H-20 (V H-21	T H-30) T H-31)	18,200 22,500	46,400 42,100	3.24 3.63	150,200 153,000	67.93 57.61	0.931 0.938	• 0696 • 0634	2,160,000 2,415,000
(V H-22 (V H-23	T H-32) T H-33)	23,900 28,600	60,600 53,800	3.40 3.76	206,000	65 .83 56 . 79	0.934 0.935	•0666 •0652	3,090,000
▼ H-24	T H-34A) T H-34)	<u> </u>	69,500 60,850	3.28 3.82	228,000 232,000	70.61 59.43	0.942 0.943	•0587 •0568	3,885,000 4,085,000
(V H-25 (V H-26	T H-35) T H-36)	51,000 57,900	130,400 108,800	3. 58 4.36	467 ,0 00 475,000	65,81 53.41	0.945 0.941	•0546 •0587	8,560,000 8,100,000

Table 19. <u>Velocity and Temperature Distribution During Heating</u> (Counter Current)												
(Column (1)) (2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(୫)	(9)	(10)	(11)	(12)	(13)
Velocity Run	Temp. Run	tion No.	Vave. (ft/sec)	Vave Vmax	$\frac{t_{ave}}{(\circ C_{\bullet})}$	$\frac{t_m}{(\circ C.)}$	tw (°C.)	$\frac{(t_{w}-t_{a})}{(\circ C_{\bullet})}$	a	Ъ	a /b	t _f (°C.)
	(T H-37 (T H-38	4 5	1.302 (manometer	>	22.80 38.56		87.24 86.64	69 .42 55 . 44		0.0637 .0895		67.4 62.9
V H−27	(T H-39 (T H-40	4 5	3.76	0.822	8.96 18.60	8.93 -	32.30 73.20	24 .10 57 .1 5	0.131	.0239 .0308	5.48	23.6 42.83
(VH–28 (VH–29	(T H-41 (T H-42	4 5	2.98 3.03	0.829 0.851	12.12 24.48	11.33 23.9	65.93 79.63	56•93 58•37	0.119 0.111	•0330 •0330	3.61 3.36	46.80 48.06
V H−30	(T H-43 (T H-44	4 5	1.442	0.824 _	21.92 36.56	20.6	83.27 85.57	66 .82 53 .87	0.129	•0563 •0553	2.29	62.8 59.53
(V H-31 (V H-32	(T H-45 (T H-46	4 5	3•33 3•30	0.837 0.830	10.88 22.08	10.13 21.68	62.95 78.95	54•75 59•75	0.121 0.123	.0283 .0322	4.27 3.82	45 .0 49 . 67
	(T H-47 (T H-48	4 5	1.102 (Weighing)		20.32 35.44	-	94.33 93.18	79 .03 59 . 33	_	•0537 •0378		70.46 63.2
(V H-33 (V H-34	(т н_49 (т н_50	4 5	1.526 1.510	0.807 0.791	19. 84 34.48	19.63 33.76	79.41 86.37	64 .11 55 . 57	0.151 0.161	.0517 .0438	2 .92 3.68	59•9 57•93
(V H-35 (V H-36	(T H-51 (T H-52	4 5	2.02 2.02	0.844 0.835	17.64 29.92	16 .28 29 . 55	74.66 83.56	61.51 56.36	0.117 0.125	.0418 .0334	2 .80 3.75	55.0 53.8

.

(l)	(2)	(14)	(15)	(16)	(17)	(18)	(19)	(20)	(21)
Run	Run	Retave.	Retf	Prtf	Petf	$\frac{t_{w}-t_{ave}}{(\circ C_{\bullet})}$	tw-tave tw-ta	tave-ta tw-ta	$Pe_{t_{f}} \left(\frac{t_{w}-t_{a}}{t_{ave}-t_{a}}\right)$
artige and an international part of the provide state of the	(T H-37	20,800	45,950	2.67	122,700	64.44	0.929	0.0718	1,710,000
	(T H-38	28,950	43,000	2.87	123,500	48.08	.868	0.133	929,000
V H-27	(T H-39	42,450	62,000	6.54	405,000	23.34	•969	•0319	12,700,000
	(T H-40	54,900	91,200	4.18	381,000	54.60	•955	•0446	8,540,000
(V H-28	(T H-41	36,800	77,300	3.84	296,500	53 .8 1	•945	.0548	5,410,000
(V H-29	(T H-42	50,000	78,900	3.75	296,000	55.15	•945	.0551	5,380,000
(V H-30	(T H_43	22,600	47,500	2.87	136,300	61.35	.918	•0820	1,662,000
	(T H_44	30,850	45,350	3.03	137,200	49.01	.910	•0902	1,522,000
(▼ H-31	(T H-45	39,400	83,200	4.00	333,000	52 .07	•951	•049	6, 800,000
(▼ H-32	(T H-46	52,500	90,000	3.63	326,500	56 .8 7	•952	•0482	6,770,000
	(T H-47	16,650	40,000	2.52	100,800	74 .01	•936	•0635	1,588,000
	(T H-48	23,400	36,600	2.85	104,400	57.74	•974	•0268	3,900,000
(V H-33	(т н_49	22,700	48,000	3.00	144,000	59•57	• 930	•0708	2,035,000
(V H-34	(т н_50	31,250	46,700	3.12	145,600	51•89	• 933	•0662	2,200,000
(V H-35	(T H-51	28,700	59,350	3•30	195,800	57 .02	•927	•0730	2,685,000
(V H-36	(T H-52	38,100	58,300	3•35	195,200	53.64	•953	•0483	4,040,000













It is a very significant fact that these temperature distribution exponents "b" are found to be always much smaller than the corresponding velocity distribution exponents "a". The apparent difference of these two exponents is to be expected as discussed before and to be observed in Figure 58 which illustrates dimensionless plots of the sample runs V H-16 and It is recalled that from Pannell's experiments T H-26. on air (1) (See Figures 41-44, Chapter IV), the corresponding velocity and temperature distribution exponents are almost equal. However, in the present investigation, instead of being equal, their ratio (a/b) varies from 2 to 5; a fact which reveals definitely that the elementary form of Reynolds analogy as adopted by Prandtl (See Chapter IV) between momentum and heat transfer fails to apply to liquids,

In the same run, there is a noticeable difference in pipe wall temperature between two sections. In the parallel current runs, the pipe wall temperature of Station 3, i.e., the station farther away from the inlet water end, is always 2 to 10° C. lower than that of Station 2; consequently the maximum temperature gradient, (t_w-t_a) , at Station 3 will be always smaller than that at the other station. It must be remembered that excess amount of steam was used in each heating run so the decrease of pipe wall temperature cannot be due to insufficient steam.

However, in the counter-current runs, the pipe wall temperature of Station 5, which is the station farther away from the inlet water end but nearer to the steam inlet end, is usually greater than that at Station 4: thus, this equalizes the maximum temperature gradients between these sections to some extent, although they are seldom equal to each other. Of coursen the difference of pipe wall temperatures will gradually decrease as the rate of water flowing inside the pipe being heated decreases or the velocity of the steam in the jacket increases. Uniform wall temperature seems to be almost impossible to maintain. if condensing steam is employed as a heating medium either in parallel-current or counter-current cases. In view of these facts it should be realized that while the results herein presented show the phenomena actually obtaining in real cases of heating water by steam, they may differ from the phenomena associated with a truly uniform wall temperature. Such differences as may exist cannot be determined by the present apparatus.

B. On Velocity Distribution During Heating.

In analyzing the difference of flow conditions between non-isothermal case and the isothermal one, the following factors must be considered:

1. The effective temperature based upon which Reynolds number ought to be calculated.

- 2. The density gradient due to the temperature gradient in the cross-section, thus producing natural convection.
- 3. The viscosity gradient also due to the temperature gradient in the cross-section.

The density effect will favor the flow near the boundary of the pipe for upward flow, while the reverse is true for the downward flow. The viscosity effect should apparently be to increase flow near the boundary, whether the water is flowing upward or downward during heating.

In plotting the velocity distribution exponents "a" in Fig. 64 against usual Reynolds number, the kinematic viscosity in which is based on the "space average" cross-sectional temperature, t_{ave} , it is observed that they generally lie below the experimental isothermal line. However, by substituting in calculating the Reynolds number, a mean film temperature, t_f , or effective film temperature taken at 0.995R from the corresponding temperature distribution for each velocity distribution run, it is shown in Fig. 65 that these exponents correlate better with the average isothermal line.

Keevil and McAdams (3) (4) have recently pointed out the effect of both density and viscosity gradients on the viscous flow during heat transfer; an understanding of their mental picture on the subject will be very helpful in explaining the present investigation. As the water is being heated, due to the high temperature

near the pipe wall and the low temperature near the center of the pipe, the water near the wall will have a lower viscosity and lower density than that at the In comparison with the isothermal center portion. case, the liquid near the wall will flow at a greater velocity relative to that in the central portion for water flowing upward, and also for water flowing downward, provided that in the latter case, the density effect is negligible compared with the viscosity effect. Let us consider a long vertical pipe being heated at its middle position by a steam jacket (See Figure 65') the following phenomena are what are to be expected: (1) Since the total flow at any pipe cross-section will be a constant, some radial flowwill be produced as water is flowing from the isothermal to the heated section.

(2) Assume curve a in Fig. 65' represents the velocity distribution in the isothermal section Abefore heating, curve b will be the velocity distribution in the heating section B, since water will flow from central portion to the boundary due to radial flow as compared with the isothermal curve.
(3) After heating, the velocity distribution in the isothermal section C ought to go back to the isothermal case, curve a, thus some water has to flow backward from boundary to central portion as compared with the velocity distribution curve b during heating.
























The above statements are the possible phenomenon which describe the effect of heating on velocity distribution. Experimental verification is still lacking in literature, and is to be attempted as follows from the present investigation.

In the present investigation, some sets of non-isothermal runs were taken simultaneously with isothermal velocity distribution runs which were taken either before or after the water was heated. (Tabulated in Table 19A). The apparent swelling up of the velocity distribution near the wall and its shrinkage at the central portion may be observed in Figures 65A to 65D.

Figures 65E to 65H illustrate more clearly the radial flow phenomenon by plotting the difference of velocity between corresponding isothermal and non-isothermal runs against fraction of radius. The arrows in these figures indicate the direction of radial flow as one passes from one pipe crosssection to another following the main stream. It is seen that in case the isothermal run is taken before the heating runs, the direction of radial flow is from central portion to the boundary, and in case that the isothermal run is taken after the heating runs, the direction of radial flow is reversed, i.e., some portion of water near the boundary flows backward toward the central portions as the case is changed from heating to isothermal. It must be

remarked that the density variation over a cross section

is only about 0.3%. Thus, these figures may be

considered to show changes in the local mass velocity.

Data not accurate enough, etc., for giving amount of

redial flow.

Table 19A. Comparison of Isothermal and Non-Isothermal Velocity Distributions at Constant Mean Velocity. Isothermal Velocity Distribution. Velocity Distribution During Heating $\frac{\text{Re}_{t}}{\text{av}}$ Ret Re Station No. Stat. Run No. Run No. a a No. (after heating) V I-44 0.124 57,200 114,800 2 0.137 69,000 4 V H-14 0.140 64,100 102,000 3 V H-15 0.123 41,500 2 V I-45 0.133 49,400 4 V H-16 85,200 V H-17 0.131 47,850 80,600 3 0.139 V H-18 0.123 62,700 132,000 2 V I=46 74,700 4 0.127 69,000 110,400 V H-19 3 (Parallel-Current Runs above) (Counter-Current Runs below) (Before Htg.) V I-52 0#141 41,250 3 V H-27 0.131 42,450 62,000 4 0.129 22,600 47,500 V I-43 0.148 16,040 V H-30 4 3 V I-54 0.130 36,950 3 V H-31 0.121 39,400 83,200 4 V H-32 0.123 52,500 90,000 5 V I-55 V H-33 0.151 22,700 48,000 0.169 17,000 3 4 0.161 31,250 V H-34 46,700 5 V I-56 0.160 22,600 3 V H-35 0.117 28,700 59,350 4 0.125 38,100 58,300 V H-36 5

The data of the present investigation are still insufficient to express quantitatively the effect of radial flow, which is due to the temperature gradient, on the non-isothermal velocity distribution exponent. As an approximation, the mechanism of non-isothermal flow may be regarded as chiefly due to the reduction of film resistance near the pipe wall; thus, the mean film temperature, which may be taken roughly as the arithmetical mean of the pipe wall and average water temperature, can be used in calculating the Reynolds number approximately. It is recommended that the isothermal velocity distribution line be used to non-isothermal cases when Re has been computed in this way.

C. On the Effective Film Temperature.

Eagle and Ferguson (5)(6) in correlating their non-isothermal friction data on water during heating used wall temperature in obtaining the Reynolds number. Their data (6) are reproduced here as Fig. 66. However, they did state that for high temperature difference between pipe wall and water, a temperature of the sum of the average water temperature plus 90 per cent of the temperature difference between the water and the pipe should be used, i.e., the effective temperature is

 $t = t_{av} + 0.9(t_w - t_{av}) = 0.9 t_w + 0.1 t_{av}$ (4) effective

It is interesting to note that Keevil (4) in correlating his non-isothermal friction data on oil for viscous region suggested the following formulae,

(For heating) $t = 0.21 t_w + 0.79 t_{av}$ (5) and

(For cooling) $t_{eff} = 1.29 t_{ave} - 0.29 t_{w}$ (6)

The above three equations can be generalized as the following one,

$$\begin{array}{c} t_{\text{eff}} - t_{\text{av}} \\ t_{\text{w}} - t_{\text{av}} \end{array} = K \qquad \dots \dots (7)$$

where K may be considered as a constant for a certain experimental range.

The adoption of 0.995R as the point to take the mean film temperature or effective film temperature by the writer is similar to ten Bosch (7) and Prandlt's (8) idea of using that in calculating the Prandlt's number, $C\mu/k$, in heat transfer equations. Prandlt (8) proposed an equation for this mean film temperature, which reads,

$$t_{eff} = t_{w} + (t_{ave} + t_{w}) \frac{(V_{l}/V_{av}) Pr}{1 + (V_{l}/V_{av}) Pr - 1)}$$
(8)

where, V₁ = marginal velocity between the viscous film at the boundary and the turbulent core of fluid

....(9)

and

$$\frac{v_{1}}{v_{av}} = \frac{v_{max}}{v_{av}} \qquad \begin{array}{c} 1.363 \\ \hline & v_{max} \\ (-\frac{max}{v}) \end{array}$$

The deviation of Eq. (9), however, is based upon his one-seventh potential velocity distribution, By the use of Equation (9) the writer calculated from several of his velocity distributions the values of These quantities when substituted in V_1/V_{av} Equation 8 gave values for teff. equal in most cases to the actual temperature of the fluid occurring, as shown by the temperature distributions, at about It must be remarked here that in actual 0.995R. velocity distribution the change from laminar film near the wall to the turbulent region must be gradual, so such assu mption of a sharp margin is purely arbitrary and for the sake of convenience. Granting that 0.995R is the place to take the effective temperature for the present experimental range, the average value of k in Eq. (7) is found to be 0.73, thus

$$t_{\rm eff} - t_{\rm ave} = 0.73$$
(10)
 $t_{\rm w} - t_{\rm ave}$

 \mathbf{or}

$$t_{eff} = x \times 0.73 t_w + 0.27 t_{ave}$$
(10A)

Undoubtedly, K in Eq. (7) is a variable for different running conditions and for different velocity or temperature. The exact formula of K cannot be deduced as yet, its solution can be obtained through a collection of more non-isothermal friction data taken together with velocity and temperature explorations.

D. On Temperature Distribution During Heating.

The factors which will affect the temperature distribution exponent of a liquid have not been enumerated As found graphically, the rapid change of this vet. exponent cannot be explained by Reynolds number alone, whether taking the average temperature or mean film temperature for the kinematic viscosity factor. The other factor which is to be considered will naturally be the Prandlt number, $c\mu/k$, since this number in the present experimental range has been found to vary from 2.50 to 6.50 at the mean film temperature. It is believed that the mean film temperature should be based upon in calculating this factor as pointed out by Prandlt (8). Plotting the temperature distribution exponent, "b", with the product of Reynolds number and Prandlt's number, which is usually called Peclet number, the decrease of this exponent with increase of Peclet number is noticed in Figure 67. The Peclet number adopted here is based upon mean film temperature, and it is obvious that this will almost be equal to that based upon average temperature, since the group $)c\beta/k$ with change very little with temperature. This relation means that in a given pipe and at the same time temperature, the temperature distribution exponent is dependent entirely on the average velocity in the pipe, decreasing as increase of velocity. Since the increase of velocity is equivalent to saying increase of turbulence in the pipe, as a result improving the mixing of liquid from the boundary layer to the central portion, thus less temperature gradient or the decrease

of "b" is what is to be expected. As a limiting case, when the water in the pipe is infinitely turbulent, i.e., the velocity distribution exponent approaches zero, the different molecules of water over the pipe crosssection are so well mixed that there should not be any temperature gradient present, i.e., "b" = 0, also, which is equivalent to the isothermal flow.

However, the above method is found to be insufficient and not conclusive to explain all the experimental data secured, since it is very evident in examining the present data that at the same average velocity, the running conditions are not necessarily identical, therefore the temperature gradient across the pipe varies with different runs as the conditions may be. Consequently. the product of the Peclet number and a dimensionless) is tav-ta recommended to be used in plotting with the temperature distribution exponent. Figure 68 illustrates a more prominent effect of this product on "b" than what has already been shown in Fig. 67. It is noticed that this correlation not only fits the present data on both heating and cooling runs but also fits fairly well on Pannell's data (1) on heating of air.



Fig. 68



Based upon Eq. (1) and (2), two useful relations of temperature gradient ratio can readily be derived as follows:

$$\frac{t_{w}-t_{av}}{t_{w}-t_{a}} = \frac{2}{(b+1)(b+2)} \dots \dots (11)$$

and,

$$\begin{array}{cccc} t_{av} - t_{a} & 2 \\ \hline t_{w} - t_{a} & (b+1)(b+2) \end{array} \qquad \dots \dots (12)$$

It is noticed that Eq. (11) is exactly analogous to Eq. (22) in Chapter III, having the temperature gradient taking the place of velocity and its distribution exponent taking the place of velocity exponent. Sung (9) proposed in his recent thesis that a constant ratio may t - tave be used for $-\frac{W}{-}$, i.e., $t_W - t_a$

$$t_{w}-t_{ave} = 0.917$$
(13)
 $t_{w}-t_{a}$

While in the present investigation, which covers a much wider range than Sung's the average of this ratio is found approximately to be 0.938 as shown in Fig. 69. It must be realized that this temperature gradient ratio is by no means constant as required by Eq. (11), that it can only be considered as a constant for a very limited experimental range as an approximation. The error made in assuming it as a constant is just as bad as of saying the mean to axial velocity ratio is a constant for different Reynolds numbers. The values



of these temperature gradient ratios are calculated from Eq. (11) and (12) and tabulated in Table 19B for the range of "b" from 0 to 0.15. The verification of this relation by the present data is to be found in Figure 69A. This verification states indirectly the justification and applicability of the relation expressed

$$t_{w}-t$$
 r
 $-t_{w}-t_{a}$ $(1 - \frac{r}{R})$ (1)

by

If a straight line may be drawn through the experimental points shown in Fig. 68, the following relation can readily be found for the temperature distribution exponent by simply applying Eq. (12),

Table	19B. Dependence of Temperature Gradient Ratios on Temperature Distribution Exponent.*				
<u>b</u>	$t_w - t_{av}$ $t_w - t_a$	$t_{w}-t_{a}$			
	(Calculated from Eq	11) (Calculated from Eq. 12)			
0 0.01 .02 .03 .04 .05 .06 .07 .08 .09 .10 .11 .12	1.000 0.985 .971 .957 .943 .929 .915 .902 .890 .878 .866 .854 .843 .843	$\begin{array}{c} 0\\ 0.015\\ .029\\ .043\\ .057\\ .071\\ .085\\ .098\\ .110\\ .122\\ .134\\ .146\\ .157\\ .169\end{array}$			
.14	.820 .808	.180 .192			

*The present experimental range is from b = 0.02to b = 0.09.



Where, Slope = the slope om the log-log plot in Fig. 68 Or

b = Pe $\begin{pmatrix} t_w - t_a \\ - - - - - - - - - \end{pmatrix}$ (14a) $t_w - t_a$

A simple way of explaining the above complicated relation is to regard that the temperature gradient ratio signifies the ineffectiveness of heat transmission from pipe wall to the main body of fluid inside the pipe, thus at constant Peclet number the bigger is the ratio, the bigger will the temperature distribution exponent, that means the less efficient is the way of heat transmission. One notices that in the case of gases this temperature gradient ratio is much smaller than that in the case of liquids. For example, comparing the present data on water with Pannell's data on air (1) at about the same Reynolds number in the following table, it proves the statement at least qualtitatively.

Table 1	190.	Comparison of Temperature Gradient Ratio for ^G ases and Liquids.			
Fluid u	used	Retav	tw-ta_ t _{av} -ta	Remarks	
Air		38,200	5.56	Expt.II(Pannell)	
Water		38,900	14.4	Run V He3	
Air		67,400	6 .42	Expt. IV	
Water		66 , 800	27.5	Run V H-5	

The explanation of this fact will be given in the section following.

E. Non-Similarity between Temperature and Velocity Distribution of Liquids.

The derivation of the temperature distribution equation given in Chapter IV assumes the validity of the similarity between temperature and velocity distributions over a pipe cross-section, that is to say, the temperature at any point ought to be directly proportional to the velocity at that point. If this assumption holds true for liquids, the experimental velocity distribution exponent and temperature distribution exponent should be equal to each other, as it has been found from Pannell's data on air. The far from being equal to these two exponents as shown in Tables 18 and 19 of the present investigation is sufficient to believe the non-similarity between temperature and velocity distribution in case of This statement proves indirectly but conclusively liquids. that the mechanism of heat transfer is different from momentum transfer.

The significant facts which are believed to account for the difference in the mechanisms of transfer for gases and liquids are these:

(1) In gases where the rapid to and fro motion of the molecules occurs, which leads to the momentum and viscosity conduction, is very similar to the molar difference of particles in a turbulent fluid, as it is recently stated by Caldwell (10). Based upon Iyer's latest experiment (11), he further stated that in liquids, the transmission of momentum and heat takes place mainly, not by diffusion of molecules, but by transmission through the molecules themselves which are more or less in actual contact all the time.

(2) It is found from the present temperature distribution data on water that the temperature drop through the laminar film attached to the pipe wall is about 80-90% of the total drop from pipe wall to axis; while in Pannell's data on air, this ratio is found to be 40-50%. (The calculation is based upon the assumption that 0.90R will be the outer margin of the laminar film, for both cases).

(3) The viscosity gradient effect will be different for gases and liquids, since viscosity increases with temperature for gases but decreases with temperature for liquids.

From the above established facts, it is obvious that the mechanisms of transfer of heat and momentum for gases will be different from those for liquids. It might be remarked here that if one excludes the laminar film and considers the turbulent core in the pipe alone, one will get the almost same velocity distribution exponent but a uite different temperature distribution exponent for a definite run since the temperature drop through the film is very great. By this modified way, these two exponents may expect to approach each other. However, the method of calculating film thickness is still doubtful, so such application to the experimental data is not possible at present.

In spite of the fact that there is no similarity between velocity and temperature distribution, Eq. (1) is still recommended for the temperature distribution equation to be used in comparing non-isothermal data, and Eq. (13) is recommended to be used to calculate the average temperature from known axial and pipe wall temperatures.

F. Parallel-Current vs Counter-Current Heating

In all these heating runs, whether the water is flowing upward or downward, i.e., counter-current or parallel current with the condensing steam in the outside jacket, there is practically no difference observed in velocity or temperature distribution at a certain Reynolds number. At very low velocity, about or below 1 ft./sed., velocity distribution measurements were very difficult and sometimes inaccurate due to the air bubbles evolved from water during heating.

As the only difference in upward and downward flow will be due to the effect of density gradient which causes the natural convection, it might be concluded here that in case of forced convection and turbulent flow the natural convection is comparatively negligible as compared with the effect of forced convection.

In examining the data on parallel-current and counterscurrent heating, the following significant facts which account for the more efficient heating during counter-current runs are noticed.

Parallel-Current Flow

- (1) Pipe wall temperature decreases with direction of flow.
- (2) Maximum temperature gradient, (t_w-t_a), always decreases with direction of flow.
- (3) Mean film temperature decreases with direction of flow.
- (4) Retf decreases with direction of flow.
- (5) "a" increases with direction of flow.
- (6) "b" usually decreases with direction of flow.

Counter-Current Flow

- (1) Pipe wall temperature increases with direction of flow.
 - (t_w-t_a) decreases slightly with direction of flow but increases at high velocity of water.
- (3) Mean film temperature increases with direction of flow.
- (4) Ret increases with derection of flow.
- (5) "a" decreases with direction of flow.
- (6) "b" usually about constant with direction of flow.

From the discussion on velocity and temperature distribution exponents in above sections, the favorable conditions for efficient heat transfer have been found to be at maximum temperature exponent and minimum velocity distribution exponent possible. Consequently, countercurrent heating should be more efficient from the above listed facts. The heat transfer coefficients for countercurrent run is found to be higher than that for parallelcurrent run at same Peclet number as it will be found, in Chapter X.

G. On Temperature Rise between Two Cross-Sections.

The temperature rise between two test sections for each run has been calculated. In their results as to be found in Appendices G and H and are also illustrated in Figures 70-79. The maximum temperature rise is observed to be at 0.6 to 0.9 of the pipe radius. This phenomena may be accounted as the way of travelling of heat wave with the direction of flow. It is recalled that a similar phenomenon has been observed by Pannell (1) in his experiments on heating of air; the maximum temperature rise on his experiments varies at 0.85 to 0.95 R.




















Literature References

- (1) J.R.Pannell: Tech.Reports Adv.Comm. for Aero. (Great Britain) Vol. I p. 22 (1916-17)
- (2) Chapter II, this thesis.
- (3) C.S.Keevil and W.H.McAdams, Chem. and Met. Vol. 36, p. 8 (1929)
- (4) C.S.Keevil: Sc.D.Thesis, M.I.T. (1930).
- (5) A. Eagle and R.M.Ferguson: Proc.Roy.Soc. Vol. 127A p. 806 (1930)
- (6) A.Eagle and R.M.Ferguson: Proc.Institution Mech.Engrs., p.985 (1930)
- (7) ten Bosch: Z.V.D.I., Vol. 70, p. 911 (1926)
- (8) L.Prandtl: Physik. Zeitschr. Vol. 29, p. 487 (1928)
- (9) H.C.Sung: M.S.Thesis, M.I.T. (1932)
- (10) J.Caldwell: Jour.Roy.^Tech.College, Glasgow, p. 409 (1931)

IX. Temperature Distribution Runs During Counter Current Cooling

Only six temperature distribution runs during counter current cooling were obtained. Their data and calculated results are shown in Appendix I. As it is mentioned in Chapter VI on Experimental Procedure. it is believed that the present apparatus is not sufficiently good to take cooling runs due to the practical impossibility of recirculating of the main line water without an addition of a series of auxiliary coolers to the present The low temperature gradient between the pipe layout. wall and the preheated water will not, it is believed, change the shape of isothermal velocity distribution to any appreciable extent, thus the lack of the simultaneous velocity distribution runs are not considered to be series.

From the summarized results of these runs in Table 20, it is noticed that the temperature gradient from the pipe wall to the axis is very little, varying from 7.00 to 18.5° C., as compared with that in heating runs which have a gradient of as big as 79° C. Due to the small gradient and majority of the temperature drop occurs through the film, the temperature gradient in the runs TC-3 and TC-5 is almost negligible, thus the accuracy of the graphical method used in determining their temperature distribution exponents is greatly reduced. Therefore, the value determined graphically by one can hardly be checked by another; so in Sung's

		Та	ble 20.Sur	nmarized Re	sults of During Co	Temperation Temperation	ure Distri ent Coolin	bution Da	ata	
(Column) (1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(g)	(9)	(10)	(11)
Run No.	tion No.	Vave. (ft./sec.)	$\frac{t_{ave}}{(\circ C_{\bullet})}$	Retave.	$\frac{t_a-t_w}{(\circ c_{\bullet})}$	tw-tave tw-ta	$\frac{t_{ave}-t_{a}}{t_{w}-t_{a}}$	ъ	Petave.	$Pe_{t_f}(\frac{t_w-t_a}{t_{ave}, -t_a})$
T C-1	4	3.69	40.06	ø5 , 700	18.46	0.934	0.0719	0.0358	377,000	5,250,000
(T C-2 (T C-3	4 5	3.67 3.67	30.22 28.33	63,000 67,650	8.33 9.60	0.966 0.972	•0397 •0289	.021 .012	346,000 392,000	8,720,000 13,560,000
(T C-4 (T C-5	4 5	0.855 0.855	34 .0 25 . 76	17,680 14,830	8.14 6.96	0.963 0.987	.0340 .0191	.0318 .00995	88,400 92,000	2,600,000 4,830,000
т с-6	4	0.769	35•73	16,310	12.41	0.954	•0491	.0318	78,300	1,600,000

thesis (1) these exponential values, graphically determined, are quite different from the values here adopted.

The correlation of the present data with the already secured heating data is shown in Figure 368, plotting "b" against $t_w-t_a = t_w-t_a$. The tendency $t_e't_f = t_{av}-t_a$

of the decrease of "b" with the increase of latter group is also apparent. It is realized that some other efficient cooling agents such as brine or ammonia might be used, instead of cooling water, in order to build up a big temperature gradient over the pipe cross-section; the data thus obtained should be more comparable with the present heating data.

Literature Reference:

(1) H.C.Sung, M.S. Thesis, M.I.T., Course X (1932)

X. HEAT TRANSFER CALCULATIONS

From the results of velocity and temperature distribution measurements, heat transfer calculations are made possible. These calculations applied to sections which have been preceded by a reasonable length of heated pipe so that the temperature distribution has been fairly uniformly built up are considered to be more reliable. No great precision can, of course, be attributed to the heat transfer coefficients found in this way because the apparatus in use is not really well suited for the measurements of such quantities.

The inside heating area between Stations 2 and 3 is 2.55 sq.ft., while between Stations 4 and 5 is 5.103 sq.ft. In calculating temperature distributions, the inside wall temperature for each run has been estimated through overall heat balances, thus these temperatures can be readily used. The heat transfer equation reduces down to

 $\frac{Q}{\Theta} = h A (\Delta t)_{ave} = h A (t_w - t_{ave})_{ave} \dots (1)$ and

 $\frac{Q}{Q} = 3,600 \times 1.8 \times 0.02075 \times 6.24 V_{ave}$ (Temp.Rise) ...(2)

For short section:
$$h = \frac{\$,370 \text{ V}_{ave} \text{ } \Delta \text{ T}}{4.59(\Delta t)_{ave}}$$
 ...(3)

and For long section:
$$h = \frac{\$,370 \text{ V}_{ave.} \Delta \text{ T}}{9.18 (\Delta t)_{ave.}}$$
 ...(4)

The average cross-sectional temperature, tave., instead of mixing cup temperature, t_m , is used; this seems justifiable within the possible accuracy since the difference of these readings are employed in the calculation and t_{ave} . and t_m differ from each other but little and always in the same direction. The calculated results are given in Table 21 and 22.

In plotting the heat transfer coefficient against the modulus, $\frac{DUS}{Z}$, which is equivalent to $\frac{\text{Re.}}{7,728}$, $\frac{(\frac{hD^{n}}{k})}{(\frac{CZ_{m}}{k})^{0.5}}$ and $\frac{(\frac{hD^{n}}{k})}{(\frac{CZ_{m}}{k})^{0.4}}$ have both been tried. (See Fi-

gure 80). It is seen that according to the first group, the slope is found to be 0.82; while, according to the second group, the slope is found to be 0.84. Lawrence and Sherwood⁽¹⁾ proposed the heat transfer equation for water in copper pipes as follows,

$$\frac{hD}{k} = 550 \left(\frac{DUS}{Z}\right)^{0.7} \left(\frac{CZ_m}{k}\right)^{0.5} \qquad \dots \dots (5)$$

Thus, the present investigation taking the middle portion of the heated pipe for the calculation checks well with other workers.

Schiller⁽²⁾ and Burbach⁽³⁾ proposed a very simple equation as follows:

$$\frac{hd}{k_{w}} = 0.0395 (Pe_{w})^{0.75} \dots (6)$$

139

	Table 21. Results of Heat Transfer Calculations
	(Stations No. 2 and 3)(Parallel Current)
Потт	•

Run No.	Temp. Rise °C.	ନ୍/ଚ	Δtave °C.	h	hD" k	CZ k	$\left(\frac{CZ}{k}\right)^{0.4}$	$\frac{\frac{h D^{n}}{k}}{\left(\frac{CZ}{k}\right)^{0.5}}$	$\frac{\frac{hD^{n}}{k}}{\left(\frac{CZ}{k}\right)^{0.4}}$	DUS Z	(Pe ^t ave.)
(T H-18 (T H-19	9.04	95,250	50.42	412	2295	1.454	1.35	1578	1700	3.24	128,200
(T H-20 (T H-21	2.95	100,200	42.28	515.5	2880	1.567	1.43	1838	2013	9.63	442,000
(T H-22 (T H-23	4.88	136,000	44.34	669	3730	1.542	1.414	2420	2640	7.82	348,000
(T H-24 (T H-25	5.56	181,300	48.29	818.5	456 0	1.69	1.52	2700	3000	7.85	418,500
(T H-26 (T H-27	6.16	144,800	51.87	608.5	339 0	1.668	1.505	2030	2250	5.78	300,800
(T H -28 (T H - 29	4.00	148,300	51.86	624	3480	1.73	1.552	50 70	2240	8,52	477,000
(T H-30 (T H-31	7.92	103,300	62.77	35 8	1995	1.854	1.64	1076	1216	2.635	169,400
(T H-32 (T H-33	7.92	138,200	61.31	491.5	2740	1.888	1.66	1451	1650	3.40	226,500
(T H-34A (T H-34	6.88	135,300	65.02	453	2525	1.932	1.694	1307	1490	4.05	283,000
(T H-35 (T H-36	4.90	194,200	59.61	710	3 96 0	2.00	1.742	1980	2275	7.05	528,000

Table 22 Results of Heat Transfer Calculations

(Station No. 485) (Counter Current)

Run No.	Temp. Rise (°C.)	ହ/ ଚ	$\frac{\Delta t_{ave}}{(\circ C_{\bullet})}$	h	hD" k	CZ k	$\left(\frac{CZ}{k}\right)^{0.4}$	$\frac{\frac{nD^{*}}{k}}{\left(\frac{CZ}{k}\right)^{0.5}}$	$\frac{\frac{hD^{*}}{k}}{\left(\frac{CZ}{k}\right)^{0.4}}$	DVS Z	(Pe't _{ave})
(T H-37 (T H-38	15.76	171,600	56.26	332.5	1853	1,496	1.380	1240	1343	3.21	134,600
(T H-39 (T H-40	9•7	307,500	38.97	861	4795	1.873	1.653	2560	2900	6.28	412,000
(T H-41 (T H-42	12.36	310,000	54.48	62 0	3455	1.761	1.573	1961	2195	5•59	324,000
(T H-43 T H-44	14.64	176,400	55.18	348.5	1942	1.528	1.403	1271	1384	3.44	150,400
(T H-45 (T H-46	11.20	312,000	54.47	625	3483	1.807	1.603	1929	2170	5•93	361,500
(T H-47 (T H-48	15.12	139,400	65.88	231	1288	1.558	1.424	82 6	904	2.56	115,800
(T H-49 (T H-50	14.64	186,000	55•73	36 3	2023	1.570	1.434	1289	1410	3.475	159 ,800
(T H-51 (T H-52	12,28	208,800	55•33	412	2295	1.638	1.484	1401	1546	4.300	216,000

Figure 80

Heat Transfer Plot

.







According to their equation, the plotting of heat transfer coefficient against the Peclet number ought to give a slope of 0.75. This method is applied to the present data, except Peclet number at average temperature is used instead of taking wall temperature. The 0.75 slope fits the present data very well, especially on the counter current runs. (Fig. 81-82).

Dittus and Boelter's equation on heat transfer (4) can be written as 0.8 0.4 hD" DVS CZ --- = 534 (----) (----)(7) k · Z k

The present investigation checks well with their equation as shown in Fig. 80.

The present data indicates that countercurrent runs have higher heat transfer coefficients at the same Reynolds number.

Literature References

- (1) A.E.Lawrence and T.K.Sherwood: Ind. and Eng.Chem., Vol. 23, No. 3, p. 301 (1931).
- (2) L.Schiller and Th. Burbach: Physik. Zeit., Vol. 29, p. 340 (1928).
- (3) Th.Burbach: "Stromungsweiderstand und Warmeubergang in Rohren", Akad. Verlag, Leipzig (1930).
- (4) Dittus and Boelter: Univ.Calif.Publication in Engineering, Vol. 2, p. 443 (1930).

XI. CONCLUSION

From the experimental results on the simultaneous velocity and temperature distribution measurements of water when it is being either heated or cooled, as it is pumped through a pipe, it is definitely found that the velocity distribution exponent "a" in Eq.

$$\frac{V}{V_{\text{max.}}} = \left(1 - \frac{r}{R}\right)^{a} \qquad \dots \dots (1)$$

and its corresponding temperature distribution exponent "b" in Eq.

$$\frac{\Delta t}{\Delta t_{\text{max.}}} = \frac{t_{\text{w}} - t}{t_{\text{w}} - t_{\text{a}}} = \left(1 - \frac{r}{R}\right)^{b} \qquad \dots (2)$$

are far from being equal; the latter exponent is always much smaller than the former one. Therefore, it is obvious that the form of the Reynolds analogy which states the similarity between the transfer of momentum and heat should not be applicable to liquids, although it is applicable to gases. From this non-similarity, it can be concluded indirectly that the mechanism of momentum transfer and heat transfer in case of liquids are very different. Consequently, any heat transfer theory which presupposes the validity of Reynolds analogy to liquids is erroneous.

From a critical survey of literature on friction

factor problem, it is evident that the General Index Law form for the Fanning friction factor should be adopted.

$$f = a + b Re.$$
(3)

It is recommended that the following equations should be used for smooth pipes, for commercial iron, and for steel pipes, respectively.

For Smooth Pipes, $f = 0.00140 + 0.125 \text{ Re.}^{-0.32}...(4)$ and for Iron and $f = 0.00307 + 0.189 \text{ Re.}^{-0.38}...(5)$ Steel Pipes,

One might visualize the mechanism of flow better if one considers the constant \underline{a} in Eq. (3) is due to pipe wall roughness, while the second term in that equation is due to the effect of laminar film at the wall.

From a critical survey of literature on the isothermal velocity distribution, a general empirical equation is recommended to calculate the velocity distribution exponent "a"

$$a = -1.5 \pm 0.5 \sqrt{9 - {}^{\circ}(\frac{\text{Re.df}}{\text{fd Re}})} \dots (6)$$

It follows that for the velocity ratio,

$$\frac{\mathbf{v}_{ave.}}{\mathbf{v}_{max.}} = \frac{1}{1 - \frac{\text{Re. df}}{\text{f d Re}}} \qquad \dots (7)$$

The change of the distribution exponent and the velocity ratio with the Reynolds number is apparent from the above stated equations; this is supported by the experimental facts found in literature as well as by the results of the present investigation.

For non-isothermal flow, the velocity distribution exponent equation, Eq. (1), still holds true. It is found that if the film temperature of the water is taken in calculating the Reynolds number for non-isothermal flow, the velocity distribution exponential values correlate with the isothermal values found exportinentally. From this fact, it is again indirectly concluded that the film temperature should be used in calculating Reynolds number for the non-isothermal friction factor.

Mechanisms of Isothermal and Non-Isothermal Flow of Fluids in Pipes.

Volume 2 - Appendix sections A - K (volume 2 contains separate page numbering from volume 1)

by

Eugene Chen Koo

1932



V.2 * Mi

38

(Volume 2)

MECHANISM OF ISOTHERMAL AND NON-ISOTHERMAL FLOW OF FLUIDS IN PIPES

APPENDIXES

Part		Page
Α.	Tabulation of Calculated Results of Isothermal Friction Data in Smooth Pipes from Previous Workers.	l
В.	Tabulation of Calculated Results of Isothermal Friction Data in Commercial Iron and Steel Pipes from Previous Workers.	16
C.	Calculated Results of Isothermal Velocity Distribution Data from Previous Investigators.	39
D.	Isothermal Velocity Distribution Data with Calculations and Plots.	53
E.	Velocity Distribution Data during Parallel-Current Heating with Calcu- lations and Plots.	86
F.	Velocity Distribution Data During Countercurrent Heating with Calculations and Plots.	108
G.	Temperature Distribution Data during Parallel-Current Heating with Calculations and Plots.	119
H.	Temperature Distribution Data during Countercurrent Heating with Calculations and Plots.	147
I.	Temperature Distribution Data during Cooling with Calculations and Plots.	167
J.	Calibration Charts and Miscellaneous Plots.	174
K.	Table of Nomenclature	182
L.	List of ^R eferences (Given at the end of each Chapter).	

APPENDIX A

TABULATION OF CALCULATED RESULTS OF ISOTHERMAL FRICTION DATA IN SMOOTH PIPES FROM PREVIOUS WORKERS.

J.R.Freeman
H.F.Mills
J. Nikuradse
H.Smith, Jr.
A.H.Gibson
C.Y.Hsiao

186841

şi.

7 4 2

John R. Freeman

Quoted by H.F.Mills

"The Flow of Water in Pipes" (1923)

First Series 17 Runs Water in Smooth Drawn Brass Pipe D = 2.108'' = 0.1755 ft. $t = 70^{\circ}$ F.

Re	4f
11,420	0.0313
12,640	0.0309
16,700	289
30,200	2395
46,300	217
62,700	2025 ->
98,600	183
137,000	171
171,400	163
209,000	1565- - 7
244,000	152
250,000	151
297,500	147
345,000	143
391,500	140
401,000	139
442,000	138

John R. Freeman

Quoted by H.F.Mills

Second Series	19 Runs	Water in Drawn	Brass Pipe
D = 3.067 in.	= 0.2555 f	$t \cdot t = 70^{\circ} H$	
$R_{e} = \frac{DV}{-}$	x = 4f		
17,130 22,750	. ⁰²⁹⁶ 270		
55 ,200	2135 182		
146,000	1705		
221,000	157		
244,000 299,000	154 148		
343,000 417,000	$144 \\ 139$		
448,000 499,000	139 1 3 6		
535,000 575,000	134 132		
639,000 678,000	1295 129		
715,000 748,000	128 126		

3

....

 ~ 5

-

John R. Freeman

Quoted by H.F.Mills

Third Series

23 Runs Wat

Water in Drawn Brass Pipe

D = 4.00 in. = 0	0.333 ft. $t = 70^{\circ} F$.	
$R_{e} =$	x = 4 f	
36 ,9 00	0.0235	
50,200	214	
52,900	212	
113,000	178	
184,500	161	
239,000	154	
239,300	151	
284,000		
3771 000		
374 000	.01405	
435,000	137	
480,000	134	
537m000	130	
580,000	130	
622.000	129	
700,000	131	
722,000	125	
778,000	124	
808,000	.01255	
845,000	123	
888,000	121	
908,000	·01225 ·	

H.F.Mills

"Flow of Water in Pipes" (1923)

Water in Smooth Drawn Brass Pipe D = 0.54 in. = .045 ft.

 $t = 70^{\circ} F.$ 25 Runs

Re	4f
274	0.225
278	0.228
295	0.248
308	0.228
313	0.226
1188	0.0552
1210	0.0550
2360	0.0351
2390	346
2410	352
2580	411
3465	420
3585	414
4120	402
4530	391
5440	376
6160	368
7900	341
7920	343
8000	342
9190	330
10500	318
10430	319
11480	310
12680	302

J. Nikuradse: <u>Water in Drawn Brass Pipe</u>

Given as a plot in A.Giles, L.Hopf & Theo. v. Karman: Aerodynamik und verwandter Gebeite, Julius Springer, Berlin(1930) (Values in the following table read from an eight times enlarged plot)

$\underline{4f}$	Re	<u>4f</u>	Re	<u>4f</u>	Re	
.0219	41,200	.0147	285,000	.0113	1,100,000	
214	45,100	145	303,000	114	1,120,000	
212	48,800	145	28 6,0 00	114	1,150,000	
206	52,800	143->	314,000	1 15	1,140,000	
204	53,700	142	325,000	115	1,180,000	
200	58,900	139	349,00 0	114	1,190,000	
199	63,100	139	36 5, 000	112	1,210,000	
195	67,600	138	394,000	112	1,250,000	
192	70,000	137	398,000	112	1,310,000	
191	75,900	136	410,000	112	1,330,000	
190	78,000	135	431,000	111	1,290,000	
188	78,700	134	446,000	110	1,350,000	
186	84,100	134	475,000	108	1,510,000	
182	90,200	132	494,000	108	1,580,000	
179	100,000	131	495,000	108	1,760,000	
177	105,000	130	525,000	105	1,980,000	
178	108,000	129	527,000	105	2,060,000	
175	114,000	129	555,000	103	2,160,000	
174	117,000	128	5 62,0 00	102	2,360,000	
170	127,000	127	605 , 000	101	2,610,000	
170	130,000	126	588 ,00 0	099	2,790,000	
168	136,000	126	637 , 000	099	3,070,000	
167	148,000	126	661,000			
165	148,000	125	668 ,00 0			
163	165,000	124→	689,0 00			
162	168,000	123	703 ,0 00	Total	. 94 runs	
162	173,000	123	728,000			
160	183,000	122	745,000			
158	182,000	122	776,000			
157	200,000	119	783,000			
156	206,000	120	813,000			
151	232,000	119	887,000			
151	242,000	119	925,000		$\langle \cdot \rangle$	
150	243,000	116	90 4,0 00	Inlet	. \	
149	263,000	119	986,0 00	∧Distan	ice greater that	<u>1</u>
147	266,000	117	1,040,000	4 OD		

Hamilton Smith, Jr.

.

				"Hydrau	ulics"	(1886)			
9 F	luns	Water	in	Smooth	Glass	Pipes	t =	57 - 68°	F.
		Re			<u>4f</u>				
	,	32,8	300		0.0254	1			
		28,'	700		0.0262	2			
		34,2	200		0.0273	3			
		19,3	300		0.0288	3			
		12,8	300		0.0322	2			
		23,4	400		0.027	7			
		19,	550	•	0.028	5			
		14,	140		0.0309	Ð			
		7,	450		0.0368	3			

7

*

A.H.Gibson

•

	Proc.	Inst. ^M ech.Engr.,	p. 201	(1914)				
15	Runs	Water in Copper	Pipes	At l	5° C.	=	59°	F.
	Re	4 f	Dia (ir	meter iches)				
	10,200 20,400 30,600 40,750 50,900	0.0316 273 2485 233 2195	0.7 1 1 1 1 1	51				
	13,560 27,100 40,650 54,200 67,800	298 258 236 223 214	0.99 11 11	998				
	20,400 40,750 61,100 81,500 101,800	257 221 205 193 185	· 1.5 พ พ พ	00				

8

C.Y.Hsiao: Harvard Sanitary Eng.Dept. (1930) Sc.D Thesis

C.I. IISIAO: DC.D. III	lests, harvard santtary.
Wat	er in Glass Pipe
Glass Pipe No. 1	Entrance Length = $109D$
Test no. G 1-3 1-16	D = 0.02747! = 0.33"
Re	<u> 4f </u>
14,650	0.0300
13,570	312
12,840	314
12,100	322
11,520	322
10,900	328
10,400	328
9,800	330
9,170	335
8,430	348
7,800	354
7,200	357
6,660	365
6,130	373
5,650	379
5,060	390

Test No. G 1.10 1-17

36,710	0.0233
34,420	240
32,350	245
30,190	249
28,280	251
26,270	258
24,210	264
22,230	265
20,260	269
17,650	282
15,500	292
13,700	2 99
11,980	308
10,240	327
8,894	342
7,736	356
6,500	374

9

C.Y. Hsiao

Entrance Length = 137D

.

Glass	Pipe	No.	2	D = 0.02915	$1 = 0.35^{n}$	Tes	t No.	G 2-	3 1-16	
			Re							
	х		17,460 16,490 15,500 14,720 13,310 12,450 11,320 11,320 11,320 10,470 9,765 9,078 8,405 7,593 6,822 6,074		0.0284 285 290 294 296 298 312 314 320 325 332 340 342 354 362 368				· · ·	
			13,200 12,550 11,820 11,200 9,840 9,000 8,380 7,700 7,040 6,400 5,840 5,240 4,800		308 311 312 318 324 329 339 344 351 359 368 379 390 394	Test	N g. (32-1	1-14	

C.Y.Hsiad	C		Copper	Pipe No.	<u> </u>
Test No.	1-1	1-22	D =	0.1331'	1.597"
		Entranc	e Lengt	ch = 75 D)
		Re		<u>4f</u>	
	10,322 30,10,14,182 322,34,57 8,811 122,529 322,32 12,	660 360 590 190 890 780 880 880 830 659 457 468 087 380 418 910 950 490 110 821		0.0319 247 249 326 318 297 276 339 241 388 398 370 350 350 350 310 293 254 248 408 303	

.

C.Y.)	Copper	Pipe	NO. 10	
Test	No.	16 -1	1-16	D =	0.06881	0.825 [#]

Entrance Length = 145D

Re	<u>4f</u>
32,530	0.0251
33 ,460	239
24,570	268
24,580	267
15,320	294
15,360	293
12,490	316
12,470	315
9.444	33 7
8,860	341
5.853	388
5,838	383
4.660	410
4.622	417
3.716	431
3,696	427

Test No. 16-3 17-27

11,110	0.0328
9,900	346
8,775	354
6,981	377
5,937	394
4,970	412
4,543	424
4,082	425
4,543	424
4,082	425
3,532	450
3,132	455
2,749	470

C.Y.H	Isiac)	Cop	oper Pipe No. 16
Test	No.	16-11	1-21	D = 0.0688! = 0.825"
		Re		<u>4f</u>
		50,400 45,910 41,450 37,660 33,920 30,510 27,700 24,610 22,500 21,310 20,200 17,790 16,300 15,050 13,150 11,750 10,090 8,305 7,140 66,970 80,850		0.0216 224 227 236 238 240 250 259 272 278 274 289 291 300 304 311 337 354 368 204 198
Test	No.	16-12	1-14	
		59,800 54,530 48,380 38,480 31,130 24,710 20,040 18,290 16,330 13,760 12,210 10,560 8,603 86,180		205 211 214 222 244 255 282 280 282 280 282 298 312 321 346 1845→

•

•

•

.

C.Y.H	Isia	0	Copper	Pipe	No.	16		
Test	No.	16-22	1-10	D =	0.06	588 I	=	0.825*
		Re		4	<u>4f</u>			
		29,1	.00	•(0256			
		25.0	40		261			
		20.4	80		275			
		15,9	10		298			
		11.3	20		324			
		8,1	.33		354			
		6,1	.34		382			,
		4,6	60		405			
		3,6	50		438			
		2,6	86		463			
Test	No.	16-17	1-8					
		48.0	70	•)224			
		-33,3	40	•	246			
		27.1	10		258			
		20.7	60		276			
		15,1	.90		306			
		9,6	94		344			
		5,9	43		390			
		4,2	270		423			

.

.

14

С,	Y	•Hs	iao	
----	---	-----	-----	--

Test No. 12-1

1-18 D = 0.0559' 0.671" Entrance Length = 145 D

Re

<u>4f</u>

29.890	0.0253
29,130	264
27.970	259
24,560	272
21,700	278
17,350	294
14,440	309
10,190	342
12,410	312
10,500	324
9,265	324
7,940	348
7,105	360
6,174	366
5,327	386
4,122	410
3,436	452
2,897	428

•

ĉ

APPENDIX B

TABULATION OF CALCULATED RESULTS OF ISOTHERMAL FRICTION DATA IN COMMERCIAL IRON AND STEEL PIPES FROM PREVIOUS WORKERS

1. H. Darcy

2. H.Smith, Jr.

3. J.B.Francis

4. J.R.Freeman

5. E.W,Schoder

6. C.Eberle

7. F.W.Greve, Jr.

8. C.I. Corp and R.O.Ruble

9. C.I.Corp and H.T.Hartwell

10. F. Carnegie

• •

H. Darcy

Quoted by H.F.Milles "Flow of Water in Pipes" (1923)

Water	in New	Smooth Cas	st Iron Pipe	10 Runs
		D = 0.450	ft. = 5.395"	$t = 59^{\circ} F_{\bullet}$
		Re	4f	
		17,900	0.0291	
		35,900 58,800	0.02634 236	
		91,800 154,000	220 208	
		206,000 252,000	204 203	
	:	274,500 439.000	202 200	
		565,000	205	

H.Smith, Jr.

	"Hydraulics"	John Wiley, 1	N.Y. (1886)	•
	Water in 1	New Wrought]	Iron Pipe	
I	D = 0.0878 ft. = (No funr	1.052" t nel)	= 57 to 68° F.	
	4f	Re		
	0.0253 260 269 281 314 344 461	40,100 35,200 29,800 23,900 16,200 10,720 7,220		
II	D = 0.0878 ft. = 1	1.052" (with	funnel shaped mouth	n piece
	0.0253 260 269 280 309 342 400	40,600 35,400 30,100 24,300 16,5 6 0 10,810 7,940		
VI	D = 0.0523 ft.	≥t. = 0.628 [™]	(no funnel)	
	0.0299 309 320 338 370 417	17,400 15,180 12,830 10,300 7,070 4,610		

18 î. 3

)
J.B.Francis

.

.

(As quoted by H.F.Mills)

	Wa	ter in New Wrought Iron Pipes
I.	D = 0.801 in.	\Rightarrow 0.06675 ft. t = 65.5° F.
	Re	<u>4f</u>
	9,110 9,120 16,100 16,150 21,250 21,300 25,700 25,800	0.0305 304 266 264 250 249 2395 2365
II.	$D = 1.033^{n} =$	0.0861ft. $t = 66.5^{\circ} \text{F.}$
	Re	<u>4f</u>
	13,960 14,030	0.0282 282 250
	24.700	248
	32,200	235
	32,600	234
	39,200 39,250	225 224
	~~~~	

19

J.B.Francis

.

(As quoted by H.F.Mills)

Water in New Wrought Iron pipes

III.  $D = 1.531^{\text{H}} = 0.1278 \text{ ft.} \text{ t} = 71^{\circ} \text{ F}.$ 

Re	<u>4f</u>
21,850	0.0256
23,000	241
33,800	2375
33,950	2355
42,550	234
42,600	<b>2</b> 26
50,300	221
50,500	222
50,700	221
55,600	217
55,700	216
61,700	213
61,850	2115
67,700	209
68,000	209
68,200	209
72,850	206
73,300	207
73,700	204
76,900	204
77.100	2035

J.B.Francis

(As quoted by Mills) Water in New Wrought Iron Pipes IV.  $D = 2.03^{\circ} = 0.169$  ft.  $t = 70.5^{\circ} F_{\bullet}$ 

Re	<u>41</u>
50,000	0.0230
50,450	2275
66.300	220
66.500	220
73.750	2185
74.000	216
74.100	217
84,200	214
84.400	2135
91.000	212
91,100	211
101,000	208
101,300	2075
109,200	2065
109,500	2065
114,500	2085
115,500	205
116,000	203
116,100	203
117.000	200

1

$J_{R}$ .Freeman 1. (12 Runs) $D = 0.624$ = 0.052	ft.
---------------------------------------------------	-----

	Water	in New	Wrought	Iron	Pipes
(Quoted	by H.F.Mill	s)	t = 7	'0° F.	,
	Re		<u>4f</u>		
/	457		0.14	88	
	749		.08	92	
	2,465		4	:02 :48	
	4,300		4	25	
	5,670 7,150		4	25	
	8,500		3	92	
	10,400		3	76	
	12,000		3 3	571 570	
	13,520		3	50	

.

•

.

J.R.Freeman

(As quoted by H.F.Mills)

Water in New Wrought Iron Pipe

2.  $D = 0.816^{n} = 0.068$  ft.  $t = 70^{\circ}$  F.

Re	4f
1,270	0.0587
3,345	460
7,260	399
15,330	341
24,750	308
33,600	292
42,500	282
51,000	276
61,400	269
71,000	266
82,100	2605
92,500	256
-	

3. 
$$D = 1.061^{n} = 0.0885 \text{ ft.}$$

976	0.0676
2,565	280
5,590	408
11,790	362
19,000	310
25,800	<b>8</b> 04
32,600	281
39,200	284
47,150	276
54,500	271
63,000	266
71,000	2565

Quoted by H.F. Mills

"Water in New Wrought Iron Pipe"

t = 70°F.

4. D = 1.387" = 0.1155 ft.

Re	<u>4f</u>
5500	0.0472
9700	366
24800	290
34000	271
40500	260
60600	246
83000	2355->
100000	234
121000	2273->
147800	224
176500	222
190200	219

# 5. D = 2.093" = 0.1745 ft.

Re	<u>4f</u>
4520	0.0347
13200	3145-7
35700 #7600	251
82800	277
110600	220
138700	2155->
166000	2105 →
203000	2035 →>
240500	203
271000	199

Quoted by H.F. Mills

Water in New Wrought Iron Pipe

 $t = 70^{\circ}F.$ 

6.  $D = 2.503^{n} = 0.2085$  ft.

Re	<u>4f</u>
12,000	0.03085
39,500	246
56,500	231
78,900	2245
89,500	• 2155
120,400	2085
159,800	201
187,300	1965
251,500	1922
298,000	186
346,000	1823
380,000	1875
414,500	1782

# 7. D = 3.115" = 0.2595 ft.

Re	<u>4f</u>
8,260	0.0326
10,640	3135
13,270	316
17,680	299
35,200	254
58,800	229
80,400	2225
113,800	2115
127,400	208
1/9,100	201
227,500	195
269,000	191
356,000	185
419,500	182
469,500	1815
518,500	177
555 <b>,</b> 000	175

Quoted by H.F. Mills

Water in New Wrought Iron Pipe

 $t = 70^{\circ}F.$ 

8.  $D = 4.123^n = 0.344$  ft.

<u>Re</u>	<u>41</u>
2,950 4,360 16,270 21,100 25,650 42,400 53,900 60,400 60,400 64,700 86,100 101,800 101,800 101,800 117,500 177,000 178,000 178,000 254,500 381,000 381,000 559,000 634,500 735,000 735,000 764,000	0.0541 4305 309 2795 2675 2395 222 2495 2249 2215 208 228 201 199 195 1785 1926 1875 186 181 1765 173 175 170 169

Quoted by H.F. Mills

Water in New Wrought Iron Pipe

 $t = 70^{\circ}F.$ 

9. D = 5122 = 0.427 ft.

 $\begin{array}{c|c} \underline{Re} & \underline{4f} \\ 20,600 & 0.02515 \\ 28,000 & 250 \\ 39,500 & 241 \\ 78,000 & 2055 \\ 83,800 & 210 \\ 159,100 & 193 \\ 312,500 & 1825 \\ 405,000 & 1783 \\ 471,000 & 176 \\ 540,500 & 176 \\ 540,500 & 176 \\ 540,500 & 174 \\ 647,500 & 174 \\ 547,500 & 172 \\ 830,000 & 1715 \\ 832,500 & 170 \\ \end{array}$ 

Quoted by H.F. Mills

Water in New Wrought Iron Pipe

t = 74°F.

10. D = 6.144" = 0.512 ft.

		Re	1	+f
		51,000 99,700 125,000 147,500 245,500 290,000 377,000 486,000 574,500 609,000 797,000 863,000	0.(	2241 213 200 196 1688 175 1748 1684 165 1655 1655
11. D	= 8.05" =	0.670 ft.	t =	69 <b>.5°F</b>
		Re	<u> </u>	f
		31,700 61,250 93,100 125,000 194,500 252,000 342,500 370,000 370,000 391,000 451,000 451,000 514,500 514,500 574,000 575,000 575,000 575,000 815,000 820,000	0.0	252 2165 199 189 182 177 176 1755 167 167 175 167 170 170

28

## E.W. Schoder

Trans. Amer. Soc. Civil Engrs. Vol. 62, p. 67 (1909)

Water in 6" Wrought Iron Pipe

 $D = 6.075^{*} = 0.506$  ft.

<u>A</u> .	I.	<u>Pipe Length = $99.33$ ft.</u>	II.	Pipe Length = 46.10 ft.
		Calming Length = $40.1$ D		Calming Length= 76 D

t == 69°F.

Re	<u>4f</u>	<u>4f</u>
286,000 269,000 247,500 203,300 184,000 168,200 136,000 107,700 76,300	0.01716 172 1743 177 1783 181 1832 1885 1955 2025	0.01713 1718 1742 1765 1782 181 1832 1885 1960 202
$\underline{B}$ . t = 33°F.		· .
443,500 435,000 382,000 309,500 248,000 185,300	1638 1640 1642 1674 1683 1672	1636 1640 1640 1675 1682 1672

C. Eberle

(Forschungsarbeiten, Heft 78 (1909)).

Steam in Wrought Iron Pipe

D = 7.0 cm. = 2.73"

Corrected for Elbows, Equivalent length of 90°Elbow = 30 D.

Re	<u>4f</u>	
580,000 687,000	0.0179 191)	3 elbows
162,600 194,000 150,000 169,000	184 195 201 195	2 elbows '
212,000 215,000 220,500 319,000 330,000	182 183 181 185 188	Calming Length = $164 \text{ D}$
274,500 250,500	179 184	

F.W. Greve, Jr.

Purdue Univ. Eng. Experim. Station, Bull. No. 1 (1918) Water in Black Commercial Water Pipe

13.	D = 1.6076" = 0.134 ft.	Calming Length # 151.5 D
	$t = 59^{\circ}F.$	Length = $40.513$ '

4, \$00 $0.0330$ $9,940$ $309$ $20,950$ $283$ $22,600$ $278$ $32,200$ $249$ $32,200$ $254$ $39,750$ $2465$ $46,200$ $2335$ $46,500$ $229$ $52,950$ $2255$ $52,950$ $2255$ $52,950$ $2253$ $58,300$ $227$ $67,400$ $216$ $67,400$ $2165$ $91,800$ $2055$ $91,800$ $2055$ $91,800$ $2055$ $91,800$ $198$ $109,700$ $198$ $109,700$ $198$ $109,700$ $198$ $138,000$ $1918$ $138,000$ $1918$ $138,000$ $190$ $148,400$ $190$ $148,400$ $190$ $148,400$ $190$ $148,400$ $190$ $148,400$ $191$ $170,200$ $1868$ $183,000$ $1862$ $184,200$ $1863$ $190,000$ $1864$ $191,000$ $1862$ $197,200$ $1868$ $199,000$ $1848$ $217,300$ $1848$ $217,300$ $1844$ $217,400$ $1844$	Re	<u>4f</u>
9,940 $309$ 20,950 $283$ 22,600 $278$ $32,200$ $249$ $32,200$ $254$ $39,750$ $248$ $39,750$ $2448$ $39,750$ $2245$ $46,500$ $229$ $52,950$ $2255$ $52,950$ $2255$ $58,300$ $2253$ $58,300$ $2253$ $58,300$ $2253$ $58,300$ $2253$ $58,300$ $2255$ $91,800$ $2055$ $91,800$ $2055$ $91,700$ $1985$ $109,000$ $198$ $109,700$ $1985$ $120,800$ $194$ $122,000$ $1932$ $138,000$ $190$ $148,400$ $190$ $148,400$ $190$ $148,400$ $190$ $148,400$ $190$ $148,400$ $190$ $148,400$ $191$ $170,200$ $1868$ $183,000$ $1862$ $184,200$ $1863$ $190,000$ $1864$ $191,000$ $1862$ $197,200$ $1868$ $199,000$ $1848$ $208,000$ $1848$ $217,300$ $1844$ $217,400$ $1844$	4,800	0.0330
22,600 $278$ $32,200$ $249$ $32,200$ $254$ $39,750$ $248$ $39,750$ $2448$ $39,750$ $2445$ $46,200$ $2335$ $46,500$ $229$ $52,950$ $2255$ $52,950$ $2253$ $58,300$ $2253$ $58,300$ $2253$ $58,300$ $2253$ $58,300$ $2253$ $58,300$ $2255$ $91,800$ $2055$ $91,800$ $2055$ $91,700$ $1985$ $109,000$ $198$ $109,700$ $1985$ $120,800$ $194$ $122,000$ $1932$ $138,000$ $1918$ $138,000$ $190$ $148,400$ $1905$ $153,400$ $214$ $154,400$ $191$ $170,200$ $1868$ $183,000$ $1862$ $184,200$ $1863$ $190,000$ $1868$ $199,000$ $1848$ $208,000$ $1848$ $208,000$ $1844$ $217,400$ $184$	9,940	309 283
32,200 $249$ $32,200$ $254$ $39,750$ $248$ $39,750$ $2445$ $46,200$ $2335$ $46,500$ $229$ $52,950$ $2255$ $52,950$ $2275$ $58,300$ $2253$ $58,300$ $2253$ $58,300$ $2253$ $58,300$ $2253$ $58,300$ $2253$ $58,300$ $2253$ $58,300$ $2255$ $91,800$ $2055$ $91,800$ $2055$ $91,700$ $1985$ $109,700$ $1985$ $120,800$ $194$ $122,000$ $1932$ $138,000$ $1918$ $138,100$ $1920$ $148,000$ $190$ $148,000$ $190$ $148,000$ $190$ $148,000$ $190$ $148,000$ $190$ $148,000$ $190$ $148,000$ $190$ $148,000$ $191$ $170,200$ $1868$ $183,000$ $1862$ $184,200$ $1863$ $190,000$ $1864$ $191,000$ $1868$ $199,000$ $1848$ $208,000$ $1843$ $208,000$ $1844$ $217,400$ $184$	22,600	278
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	32,200	249
39,750 $2465$ $46,200$ $2335$ $46,500$ $229$ $52,950$ $2255$ $52,950$ $2275$ $58,300$ $2253$ $58,300$ $227$ $67,400$ $216$ $67,400$ $2165$ $91,800$ $2055$ $91,700$ $2065$ $109,000$ $198$ $109,700$ $1985$ $120,800$ $194$ $122,000$ $1932$ $138,000$ $1918$ $138,100$ $1920$ $148,400$ $190$ $148,400$ $190$ $153,400$ $214$ $154,400$ $191$ $170,200$ $1868$ $183,000$ $1868$ $183,000$ $1868$ $183,000$ $1868$ $183,000$ $1868$ $183,000$ $1868$ $183,000$ $1868$ $183,000$ $1868$ $183,000$ $1868$ $183,000$ $1868$ $183,000$ $1868$ $183,000$ $1868$ $183,000$ $1868$ $183,000$ $1868$ $183,000$ $1868$ $183,000$ $1868$ $184,200$ $1848$ $208,000$ $1848$ $208,000$ $1848$ $217,300$ $184$ $217,400$ $184$ $226,000$ $1845$	<i>32,200</i> 39,750	248
46,200 $2335$ $46,500$ $229$ $52,950$ $2255$ $52,950$ $2275$ $58,300$ $227$ $67,400$ $216$ $67,400$ $2165$ $91,800$ $2055$ $91,700$ $2065$ $109,700$ $198$ $109,700$ $1985$ $120,800$ $1918$ $138,000$ $1918$ $138,000$ $1990$ $148,400$ $1900$ $148,400$ $1905$ $153,400$ $1214$ $154,400$ $191$ $170,200$ $1878$ $171,300$ $1868$ $183,000$ $1862$ $184,200$ $1863$ $183,000$ $1868$ $183,000$ $1868$ $183,000$ $1868$ $183,000$ $1868$ $183,000$ $1868$ $183,000$ $1868$ $183,000$ $1868$ $183,000$ $1868$ $183,000$ $1868$ $183,000$ $1868$ $183,000$ $1848$ $217,300$ $1848$ $217,300$ $1848$ $217,400$ $1844$	39,750	2465
52,950 $2255$ $52,950$ $2275$ $58,300$ $2253$ $58,300$ $227$ $67,400$ $216$ $67,400$ $2165$ $91,800$ $2055$ $91,700$ $2065$ $109,000$ $198$ $109,700$ $1985$ $120,800$ $194$ $122,000$ $1932$ $138,000$ $1918$ $138,100$ $1920$ $148,400$ $190$ $148,400$ $190$ $148,400$ $190$ $148,400$ $191$ $170,200$ $1868$ $183,000$ $1868$ $183,000$ $1868$ $183,000$ $1868$ $183,000$ $1868$ $183,000$ $1868$ $183,000$ $1868$ $183,000$ $1868$ $183,000$ $1868$ $183,000$ $1868$ $183,000$ $1868$ $183,000$ $1868$ $184,200$ $1868$ $199,000$ $1848$ $208,000$ $1848$ $217,300$ $184$ $217,400$ $184$	46,200	2335
52,950 $2275$ $58,300$ $2253$ $58,300$ $227$ $67,400$ $216$ $67,400$ $2165$ $91,800$ $2055$ $91,700$ $2065$ $109,000$ $198$ $109,700$ $1985$ $120,800$ $194$ $122,000$ $1932$ $138,000$ $1918$ $138,100$ $1920$ $148,400$ $1905$ $153,400$ $214$ $154,400$ $191$ $170,200$ $1868$ $183,000$ $1868$ $183,000$ $1862$ $184,200$ $1863$ $183,000$ $1862$ $184,200$ $1863$ $190,000$ $1868$ $183,000$ $1868$ $123,000$ $1848$ $208,000$ $1848$ $217,300$ $184$ $217,400$ $184$ $217,400$ $184$	52,950	2255
58,300 $227$ $67,400$ $216$ $67,400$ $2165$ $91,800$ $2055$ $91,700$ $2065$ $109,000$ $198$ $109,700$ $1985$ $120,800$ $194$ $122,000$ $1932$ $138,000$ $1918$ $138,100$ $1920$ $148,400$ $1905$ $153,400$ $214$ $154,400$ $191$ $170,200$ $1868$ $183,000$ $1868$ $183,000$ $1868$ $183,000$ $1868$ $183,000$ $1868$ $184,200$ $1863$ $190,000$ $1868$ $184,200$ $1868$ $197,200$ $1868$ $199,000$ $1848$ $208,000$ $1848$ $217,300$ $184$ $217,400$ $184$ $226,000$ $184$	52,950	2275 2253
67,400 $216$ $67,400$ $2165$ $91,800$ $2055$ $91,700$ $2065$ $109,000$ $198$ $109,700$ $1985$ $120,800$ $194$ $122,000$ $1932$ $138,000$ $1918$ $138,100$ $1920$ $148,400$ $190$ $148,400$ $190$ $148,400$ $190$ $153,400$ $214$ $154,400$ $191$ $170,200$ $1868$ $183,000$ $1868$ $183,000$ $1862$ $184,200$ $1863$ $190,000$ $1864$ $191,000$ $1862$ $197,200$ $1868$ $199,000$ $1848$ $208,000$ $1848$ $217,300$ $184$ $217,400$ $184$ $226,000$ $1845$	58,300	227
07,400 $2109$ $91,800$ $2055$ $91,700$ $2065$ $109,000$ $198$ $109,700$ $1985$ $120,800$ $1914$ $122,000$ $1932$ $138,000$ $1918$ $138,000$ $1990$ $148,400$ $1900$ $148,400$ $1905$ $153,400$ $214$ $154,400$ $191$ $170,200$ $1868$ $183,000$ $1868$ $183,000$ $1862$ $184,200$ $1863$ $183,000$ $1862$ $184,200$ $1863$ $190,000$ $1868$ $197,200$ $1868$ $199,000$ $1848$ $208,000$ $1848$ $217,300$ $184$ $217,400$ $184$	67,400	216 2165
91,700 $2065$ $109,000$ $198$ $109,700$ $1985$ $120,800$ $194$ $122,000$ $1932$ $138,000$ $1918$ $138,100$ $1920$ $148,000$ $190$ $148,000$ $190$ $148,400$ $1905$ $153,400$ $214$ $154,400$ $191$ $170,200$ $1878$ $171,300$ $1868$ $183,000$ $1862$ $184,200$ $1863$ $190,000$ $1864$ $191,000$ $1868$ $192,000$ $1848$ $208,000$ $1848$ $217,300$ $184$ $217,400$ $184$ $226,000$ $1845$	91,800	2055
109,000 $198$ $109,700$ $1985$ $120,800$ $194$ $122,000$ $1932$ $138,000$ $1918$ $138,100$ $1920$ $148,000$ $190$ $148,000$ $190$ $148,400$ $190$ $153,400$ $214$ $154,400$ $191$ $170,200$ $1868$ $183,000$ $1868$ $183,000$ $1862$ $184,200$ $1863$ $190,000$ $1862$ $197,200$ $1868$ $199,000$ $1848$ $208,000$ $1848$ $208,000$ $1848$ $217,300$ $184$ $217,400$ $184$ $226,000$ $1845$	91,700	2065
120, 800 $194$ $122,000$ $1932$ $138,000$ $1918$ $138,100$ $1920$ $148,000$ $190$ $148,400$ $190$ $148,400$ $190$ $148,400$ $190$ $153,400$ $214$ $154,400$ $191$ $170,200$ $1878$ $171,300$ $1868$ $183,000$ $1862$ $184,200$ $1862$ $197,200$ $1868$ $199,000$ $1848$ $208,000$ $1848$ $217,300$ $184$ $217,400$ $184$ $226,000$ $1845$	109,000	1985
122,000 $1932$ $138,000$ $1918$ $138,100$ $1920$ $148,000$ $190$ $148,400$ $1905$ $153,400$ $214$ $154,400$ $191$ $170,200$ $1878$ $171,300$ $1868$ $183,000$ $1862$ $184,200$ $1863$ $190,000$ $1868$ $197,200$ $1868$ $199,000$ $1848$ $208,000$ $1848$ $217,300$ $184$ $217,400$ $184$	120,800	194
138,100 $1920$ $148,000$ $190$ $148,400$ $1905$ $153,400$ $214$ $154,400$ $191$ $170,200$ $1878$ $171,300$ $1868$ $183,000$ $1862$ $184,200$ $1863$ $190,000$ $1862$ $197,200$ $1868$ $199,000$ $1848$ $208,000$ $1848$ $217,300$ $184$ $217,400$ $184$ $226,000$ $1845$	138,000	1932 191 <b>8</b>
148,000 $190$ $148,400$ $1905$ $153,400$ $214$ $154,400$ $191$ $170,200$ $1878$ $171,300$ $1868$ $183,000$ $1862$ $184,200$ $1863$ $190,000$ $1862$ $197,200$ $1868$ $199,000$ $1868$ $199,000$ $1848$ $208,000$ $1848$ $217,300$ $184$ $217,400$ $184$	138,100	1920
153,400 $214$ $154,400$ $191$ $170,200$ $1878$ $171,300$ $1868$ $183,000$ $1862$ $184,200$ $1863$ $190,000$ $1864$ $191,000$ $1862$ $197,200$ $1868$ $199,000$ $1848$ $208,000$ $1848$ $217,300$ $184$ $217,400$ $184$	148,000	190
154,400 $191$ $170,200$ $1878$ $171,300$ $1868$ $183,000$ $1862$ $184,200$ $1863$ $190,000$ $1864$ $191,000$ $1862$ $197,200$ $1868$ $199,000$ $1848$ $208,000$ $1848$ $217,300$ $184$ $217,400$ $184$ $226,000$ $184$	153,400	214
170,200 $1868$ $171,300$ $1868$ $183,000$ $1862$ $184,200$ $1863$ $190,000$ $1864$ $191,000$ $1868$ $197,200$ $1868$ $199,000$ $1848$ $208,000$ $1848$ $208,000$ $1848$ $217,300$ $184$ $217,400$ $184$ $226,000$ $1845$	154,400	191 1878
183,000 $1862$ $184,200$ $1863$ $190,000$ $1864$ $191,000$ $1862$ $197,200$ $1868$ $199,000$ $1848$ $208,000$ $1843$ $208,000$ $1848$ $217,300$ $184$ $217,400$ $184$ $226,000$ $1845$	171,300	1868
194,200 $1867$ $190,000$ $1864$ $191,000$ $1862$ $197,200$ $1868$ $199,000$ $1848$ $208,000$ $1843$ $208,000$ $1848$ $217,300$ $184$ $217,400$ $184$ $226,000$ $1845$	183,000	1862 1863
191,0001862197,2001868199,0001848208,0001843208,0001848217,300184217,400184226,0001845	190,000	1864
$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$	191,000	1862 1 <i>8</i> 68
208,000       1843         208,000       1848         217,300       184         217,400       184         226,000       1845	197,200	1848
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	208,000	1843
217,400 184 226,000 1845	208,000	1848 184
226,000 1845	217,400	184
227,000 184	226,000	1845 184

31

C.I. Corp. and R.O. Ruble

Univ. Wisconsin Bull., Vol. 9, No. 1 (1922)

- I. 12" Pipe Water in Wrought Iron or Steel Gas and Water Pipe (New Clean)
- 14. D = 0.999 ft. = 11.99 in. t = 70°F.

(Calming Length > 40 D)

Re	<u>4f</u>	Re	<u>4f</u>
283,000	0.01503	844,000	0.0167
635,000	166	879,000	1719
460,000	1639	1,079,000	1676
730,000 Foll 000	108	951,000	1724
796,000	101	96,500	1839
890,000	1725	250,000	1202
1,042,000	156	1.028.000	1633
1,098,000	152	1,059,000	153
738,000	161	1,069,000	1527
1,116,000	1525	1,010,000	1653
787,000	1643	1,017,000	1623
644,500	1594	895,000	171 Ø
491,000	160	835,500	1678
361,500	1624	788,000	1672
250,000	1667	726,000	1646
828,000	1045	66/,000 610,500	163
960,000	174	532,000	1669
904,000	1718	358,000	1661
1,086,000	1572	273,500	170
970,000	1737	1,098,000	1534
994,000	146	1,056,000	1592
772,000	149 1614	994,000	1/03
594,000	1581		
405,000	1615		
1,059,000	148		
990,000	1779		
920,000	1732		
909,000 \$10,000	164		
010,000	TOL		

C.I. Corp. and H.T. Hartwell Univ. Wisconsin Bulletin Engineering Series No. 66 (1927) Water in New Wrought Iron or Steel Pipe (Temp. definitely known) I. 1" Pipe D = 0.981" to 1.062" (S Pipes)

Re	<u>4f</u>
15,180 30,400 38,400 45,700 51,000 57,700 15,900 20,800 20,200 39,300 47,200 58,500 19,700 98,500 19,700 95,300 91,500 12,300 37,700 57,700 58,500 19,700 57,700 58,500 19,700 57,700 58,500 19,700 57,700 58,500 19,700 57,700 58,500 19,700 57,700 58,500 19,700 57,700 58,500 19,700 57,700 57,700 58,500 10,500 57,700 57,700 58,500 10,500 57,700 57,700 58,500 10,500 57,700 57,500 80,000 73,300 81,100 98,800 102,700 23,550	0.0301 225452 224452 224452 224452 224452 224452 224552 224552 22222 22222 222222 222222 2222222 2222
*0,0UU	2525

33

C.I. Corp. and H.T. Hartwell

II.

Water in New Wrought Iron or Steel Water Pipe (Temp.

2" Pipe D = 2.05, 2.09 - 2.10"<u>4f</u> <u>Re</u> Re 4**f** 182,000 0.0179 66,100 2025 1796 91,300 1915 ←181 177,000 127,000 171,000 166,000 180 153,000 213,000 236,000 181 1674 160,400 183 1685 165 154,000 1843 145,800 1865 112,000 185 189 138,000 149,000 175 130,800 191 1705 176,500 195 194 119,200 209,500 1683 112,200 104,000 96,100 197 200 86,300 2035 2045 80,200 72,900 2075 211 217 50,500 38,000 114,200 2215 215 211 107,800 102,900 98,000 2205 218 93,000 2185 85,200 223 77,100 2195 229 63,600 228 56,200 230 50,000 42,600 240 246 37,600 31,300 25,000 252 265 288 19,200 324 240,000 167 1694 226,500 214,000 1712 207,000 1723 1754 192,400 1782 178,500 160,600 183 184 144,000 186 121,600 191 97,300 58,800 211

definitely known)

C.I. Corp. and H.T. Hartwell

Water in New Wrought Iron or Steel Water Pipe (Temp. definitely known)

III. 4" Pipe D = 4.025, 4.03, 4.02" (4 Pipes)

Re	<u>4f</u>	Re	<u>4f</u>
41,200 59,800 74,900 87,600 106,700 108,000 121,300 143,700 142,200 172,700 168,000 177,000 189,000 196,800 210,500 224,000 152,000 152,000 152,000 152,000 152,000 152,000 224,000 224,000 232,000 232,000 249,000 249,000 249,000 258,000 258,000 258,000 258,000 258,000 258,000 258,000 258,000 258,000 258,000 258,000 258,000 258,000 259,000 259,000 260,700 260,000 260,000 260,000 260,000 260,000 260,000 260,000 260,000 260,000 260,000 260,000 260,000 260,000 260,000 260,000 260,000 260,000 260,000 273,000 260,000 260,000 273,000 260,000 273,000 260,000 273,000 260,000 273,000 260,000 273,000 260,000 273,000 260,000 273,000 260,000 273,000 260,000 273,000 260,000 273,000 260,000 273,000 260,000 273,000 260,000 273,000 260,000 273,000 260,000 273,000 260,000 273,000 260,000 273,000 260,000 273,000 260,000 273,000 260,000 273,000 260,000 273,000 260,000 273,000 292,000 200,000 200 273,000 292,000 200 200 200 200 200 200 200	0.02265 219 206 200 196 194 193 1896 195 1797 1862 1933 1825 1825 1825 1825 1825 1803 218 1765 189 1765 189 1765 189 1765 189 1762 178 172 172 172 172 172 172 172 172 172 172 172 172 172 172 172 172 172 172 172 172 172 172 172 172 172 172 172 172 172 172 172 172 172 172 172 172 172 172 172 172 172 172 172 172 172 172 172 172 172 172 172 172 172 172 172 172 172 172 172 172 172 172 172 172 172 172 172 172 172 172 172 172 172 172 173 176 1732	298,500 308,000 311,000 316,000 322,000 47,000 63,500 120,800 120,800 120,800 142,200 147,300 156,000 200,800 216,000 226,000 245,000 259,500 274,500 288,000 308,500 308,500 325,000 343,500 364,000 120,400 124,300 120,400 124,300 124,300 124,300 124,300 124,300 124,300 124,300 124,300 124,300 124,300 124,300 124,300 125,000 125,000 125,000 125,000 125,000 125,000 126,000 126,000 259,500 325,000 364,000 126,000 126,000 126,000 259,500 126,000 364,000 126,000 126,000 126,000 126,000 259,500 126,000 126,000 259,500 126,000 126,000 259,500 126,000 126,000 259,500 126,000 364,000 124,000 124,000 124,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000 154,000	0.0178 174 173 17728224805 222222222222222222222222222222222222

35

.

.

٠

$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
229 500 226

.

C.I. Corp. and H.T. Hartwell

Water in New Standard Wrought Iron or Steel Water Pipe

IV. 6" Pipe I.D. = 0.509 ft. = 6.11 in.

Temp. of  $H_2O$  given.

F. Carnegie Institution of Mechanical Engineers -Proceedings p. 473 (1930).

Steam in Steel Pipes (H. Speyerer's Data on Viscosity of Steam (Z.V.D.I. Vol. 69, p. 747) was used.

A. D = 8" = 0.75 ft. Pressure = 189 to 220 lbs. per sq.in. abs.  $T_{emperature} = 246-251$ °C. Test Length = 221.6 ft.

Re	4f	Pipe Material	Remarks
483,300 871,800 1,022,000 1,128,000 1,357,000 1,695,000 2,351,000 2,269,000 2,488,000 1,913,000 1,708,000 1,858,000 1,209,000	0.01728 .01732 .01512 .01520 .01300 .01344 .01396 .01396 .01512 .01356 .01548 .01588	Solid-drawn steel pipes with welded flanges.	Quantity of steam measured by steam-meter- ing system.

B.  $D = 6^{n} = 0.50$  ft. Pressure = 82.5-88.5 lb./sq.in. abs. Temperature =  $196-199^{\circ}C$ .

Re	4 <b>f</b>	Pipe Material	Remarks
258,800 459,500 515,200 649,000	0.02112 .01988 .02092 .01940	Hot-rolled steel pipes.	Quantity of steam meas- ured by steam- metering sys- tem-

C. D = 1.98" = 0.165 ft. (actually measured); Test Length= 100 ft. Pressure = 66.5-78.5 lb./sq.in. abw. Temperature = 170-191°C.

Re	4 <b>f</b>	Pipe Material	Remarks
131,200 244,500 299,400 249,400	0.02168 .01932 .02036 .02020	Ordinary welded steam-barrel pipe.	Quantity of steam measured by actual con- densation.

# APPENDIX C

Calculated ⁿesults of ^Isothermal ^Velocity Distribution Data from Previous Investigators

I.	T.E.Stanton		
II.	J.R.Freeman		
III.	F.E.Lawrence	and	P.L.Braunworth
IV.	J. Nikuradse		
V.	D.Marshall		

#### I. T.E.Stanton

Calculation of Stanton's Data on Isothermal velocity distribution of Air.

Proc.Royal Society, London, vol.85A, Table II, 1911

Radius :	= 2.465 cm. 0.971 in.	<b>V</b> .,	ax. = 1525 c <b>m</b> ./s 50 ft./se	sec. C.
r	V	V	<b>V</b> (r/R)	1 <b>-</b> r/B
R	(ft./sec.)	V max.	(ft./sec.)	
.000	50.0	1.000	.00	1.000
.183	49.35	.987	9.04	.817
•284	48.4	•968	13.74	.716
.390	47.2	.945	18.40	<b>.</b> 610
.491	45.75	.915	22.45	.509
.597	44.1	.882	26.30	.403
.698	41.9	.838	29.20	.302
.800	39.4	.788	31.5	.200
.853	37.65	.754	32.1	.147
.905	35.55	.711	32.15	.095
.926	34.4	•688	31.85	.074
.942	33.6	.672	31.65	.058
.955	32.25	.645	30.8	.045
.966	31.4	.628	30.3	•034
.979	29.75	.595	29.1	.021
.986	26.70	.534	26.3	.014
.990	19.40	.388	19.2	.010

Calming length = 101D

Assume  $t_{av} = 59^{\circ} F_{\bullet}$ 

Re = 41,200

 $\mathbf{V}_{av}$  (from graph) = 40.5 ft./sec.

 $v_{av}/v_{max} = 40.5/50 = 0.8105$ 

#### I. T.E.Stanton

Calculation of Stanton's Data on Isothermal Velocity Distribution of Air

Proc.Roy.Soc., London, vol. 85A, Table II, 1911

**𝚛**_{max} = 1.017 c**m.f**f./sec. 33.35 ft./sec. Radius = 3.7 cm. = 1.46 in.r 2 1.25 r r r v v/v_{max}. v(-) 1--1-(-) 1 - (-) $(\mathbf{r}/R)$ (ft./sec.) R R R R 1.000 1.000 1.000 33.35 1.000 000.0 .000 .744 .887 10.75 .664 32.00 .960 .336 .540 19.13 .322 .385 .848 28.25 .678 .274 21.47 .148 .192 .757 25.25 .852 .120 21.32 .097 .185 .708 23.60 .903 .144 21.22 .093 .688 .075 22.95 .925 20.92 .061 .074 .116 .669 22.28 .939 .056 .088 20.40 .046 21.37 .641 .954 .069 .044 19.88 .035 20.60 .618 .965 .049 18.93 .025 .031 19.40 .582 .975 .026 16.70 .014 .016 16.92 .507 .986 .010 .016 12.73 .008 12.86 .385 .992

Calming Length = 67.6 D

Assume t =  $59^{\circ}$  F. Re. = 40,750  $V_{ave.}(graphical integration) = 26.75$  ft./sec.  $V_{ave.}/V_{max.} = 26.75/33.35 = 0.802$ 

### I.T.E. Stanton

Calculation of Stanton's Data on Isothermal Velocity Distribution of Air.

Proc.Royal Society, London, vol. 85A, 366, 1911

Radius	= 3.7 cm. =	1.46 in.	v _m	ax = 2.	215 cm./sec. .60 ft./sec.	
					1.25	2
r	V	v	r	r	r	r
()			v ( - )	(1)	1 - (-)	1 - ()
R	(ft./sec.)	$v_{max}$	R	R	R	R
.000	72.6	1.000	00.00	1.000	1.000	1.000
.336	69.5	.957	23.35	.664	•744	.887
.678	62.1	.855	42.1	.322	•385	.540
.852	55.52	.765	47.3	.148	.192	.274
.903	52.6	.725	47.5	.097	.120	.185
.925	51.0	.7025	5 47.2	.075	.093	.144
.939	49.5	.682	46.45	.061	.074	.116
.954	47.65	.657	45.45	.046	. 056	.088
.965	46.15	.636	44.5	.035	.044	.069
.975	44.08	.607	43.0	.025	.031	.049
.986	40.95	.564	40.35	.014	.016	.026
.992	36.00	.496	35.65	.008	.010	.016

Calming Length = 67.6 D

Assuming t =  $59^{\circ}$  F. air Re. = 89,750

 $V_{ave.}(graphical integration) = 58.60 ft./sec.$ 

 $V_{ave} / V_{max} = 58.6 / 72.6 = 0.808$ 

#### II. J.R. Freeman

Isothermal Velocity Distribution Data of Water in Brazed Brass Pipe (As Calculated by T. Christen) (Zeitschr. für Gewasserkunde, Vol. 6, p. 175 (1914)).

R = 1.46 cm = 0.575 in.

V_{max.} = 75.0 ft./sec.

<b>Ř</b>	$(1 - \frac{r}{R})$	v/V _{ave} .	v/v _{max.}
0 1748 1748 1748 1748 1748 1748 1748 1748 1748 1748 1748 1748 1748 1748 1748 1720 1995 1995 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 199	1.000 0.826 .652 .478 .391 .357 .252 .287 .252 .217 .183 .148 .130 .113 .096 .078 .061 .043 .026 .009	1.197 1.173 1.146 1.088 1.058 1.046 1.032 1.013 0.992 .976 .955 .931 .917 .899 .890 .867 .845 .806 .768 .720	1.000 0.980 .957 .909 .8873 .8646 .825 .846 .825 .797 .7766 .7753 .724 .7650 .724 .705 .661 .601

$$\frac{v_{ave}}{v_{max}} = \frac{1}{1.197} = 0.835$$

Assume  $t_{H_2O} = 10^{\circ}C$ .

Calming Length = 104 D

$$Re = 425,000$$

III. Lawrence, F.E. and Braunworth, P.L. Isothermal Vel. Distribution of  $H_2O$  in Brass Pipes (Am.Soc.Civil Engr. Trans., Vol. 57, p. 265 (1906)). Seamless Brass Pipe D = 5.016"

Traverse No. 1

 $V_{max.} = 10.29 \, \text{ft./sec.}$ 

r R	V ₁ (ft./sec.)	$v/v_{max}$ .	$(1 - \frac{r}{R})$
0.000	10.29(ave.)	1.000	1.000
0.282	10.12	.984	.718
0.413	9.91	.962	.587
0.514	9.45	.918	.486
0.598	9.24	.897	.402
0.672	9.08	.882	.328
0.740	8.69	.844	.260
0.802	8.47	.823	.198
0.860	8.29	.805	.140
0.913	7.98	.775	.087
0.966	6.67	.648	.034

Vave (Calculated from Vel. Dist.) = 8.79 ft./sec.

$$\frac{v_{ave}}{v_{max}} = \frac{8.79}{10.29} = 0.854$$

Vave' (from actual measurement) = 9.072 ft./sec.

$$\frac{v_{ave}}{v_{max}} = \frac{9.072}{10.29} = 0.882$$

 $t_{H_2} = 68^{\circ} F.$  (assumed) Re = 339,000

# Actual data obtained from Cornell University through the kindness of Mr. C. H. Chang

#### III. Lawrence, F.E., and Braunworth, P.L.

Isothermal Velocity Distribution of Water in Brass Pipe Am.Soc. Civil Engrs., Trams., Vol. 57 (1906) Seamless Brass Pipe D = 5.016"

Traverse	No.2	$V_{max} = 6.11$	ft./sec.
r	V	VV	r
-			1
R	(It./sec.)	^v max.	- R
.000	6.11	1.000	1.000
.282	5.83	.955	.718
.413	5.76	.944	•587
.514	5.57	.913	•486
• 598	5.42	•888·	.402
.672	5.30	.868	.328
.740	5.12	.839	.260
.802	4.90	.802	.198
.860	4.68	<b>.</b> 766	.140
.913	4.51	.739	.087
.966	3.95	<b>.647</b>	.034

```
V<sub>av</sub> (Calculated from Vel.Dist.) = 5.293 ft./sec.

. V<sub>av</sub> 5.293

. ---- = ---- = 0.865

V<sub>max</sub> 6.110
```

 $V_{av}$ ' (from actual meas.) = 5.244 ft./sec.

 $\frac{V_{av}!}{V_{max}} = \frac{5.244}{6.11} = 0.859$ t = 68° F. Re = 204,000 H₂O III. Lawrence, F.E. and Braunworth, P.L. Iso. Vel. Dist. of  $H_2O$  in Brass Pipe (Am. Soc. Civil Engr. Trans. vol. 57, p. 265 (1906)). Seamless Brass Pipe  $D = 5.016^{m}$ 

V_{max.=} 4.77 ft./sec.

Traverse No. 3

r R	$(1 - \frac{r}{R})$	V (ft./sec.)	v/v _{max} .
.000	1.000	4.77	1.000
.282	.718	4.64	.973
.413	.587	4.44	.930
.514	.486	4.30	.902
.598	.402	4.19	.878
.672	.328	4.17	.875
.740	.260	4.01	.840
.802	.198	3.81	.799
.860	.140	3.76	.788
.913	.087	3.34	.700
.966	.034	3.01	.630

 $v_{ave.}$  (Calculated) = 3.956 ft./sec.  $\frac{v_{ave}}{v_{max}}$  (calc.) =  $\frac{3.956}{4.77}$  = 0.83  $v_{ave.}$  (Meas.) = 4.128

Re = 152,500

III. Lawrence, F.E., and Braunworth, P.L.

Isothermal Velocity Distribution of  $H_2O$  in Brass Pipe

Am.Soc.Civil Engrs. Trans., vol. 57, p. 265 (1906)Seamless Brass Pipe $D = 5.016^{\circ\circ}$ Traverse No. 4V = 8.93 ft./sec.

r R	$(1 - \frac{r}{R})$	V <u>1</u> (ft./sec.)	V _l /V _{max} .
.000	1.000	8.93	1.000
282	.718	8.68	0.972
413	.587	8.39	0.940
.514	.486	8.25	0.925
598	.402	8.09	0.907
672	.328	7.92	0.888
740	.260	7.72	0.865
802	.198	7.25	0.812
860	.140	7.09	0.795
913	.087	6.64	0.745
966	.034	5.64	0.632

 $V_{av}$  (calculated) = 7.80 ft./sec.  $V_{av} = \frac{7.80}{V_{max}} = 0.873$ 

 $V_{av}$  (meas.) = 7.76 ft./sec.

 $Re_{ave} = 38,550 \times 7.80 = 300,500$ 

III. Lawrence, F.E., and Braunworth, P.L.

Isothermal Velocity Distribution of  $H_2O$  in Brass Pipe

Am.Soc. Civil Engrs. Trans. Vol. 57, p. 265 (1906)Seamless Brass Pipe $D = 5.016^{"}$ Traverse No. 5 $V_{max} = 4.20$  ft./sec.

		max.	· .
r	r (7 )	Vl	vı
R	(1 – –) R	(ft./sec.)	V _{max} .
.000	1.000	4.20	1.000
.282	.718	4.00	.953
.413	.587	3.89	.927
.514	.486	3.79	.903
.598	.402	3.73	.889
.672	.328	3.62	.863
.740	.260	3.53	.840
.802	.198	3.38	.805
.860	.140	3.21	.765
.913	.087	3.00	.715
.966	.034	2.56	.610

 $V_{av.}$  (calculated) = 3.53 ft./sec.;  $V_{ave.}/V_{max.=3.53/4.20=0.840}$  $V_{av.}$  (meas.) = 3.495 ft./sec.

Re = 136,100

#### IV. J. Nikuradse

Calculation of Nikuradse's Isothermal Velocity Distribution data of water in drawn brass Pipe.

Forschungsarbeiten, V.D.I., Heft 281, 1926

Radius = 0.551

(Vertical Profile) V = 30.87 ft./sec.

			max.
		2	
r	r	r	
-	1	1 - (-)	v/v _{max}
R	R	R	max •
.991	.009	.018	.140
.972	.028	.055	.557
.955	.045	.088	.647
.936	.064	.124	.685
.909	.091	.174	.726
.882	.118	.222	.750
.827	.173	.316	•787
.773	.227	.403	.819
.665	,335	.558	.878
.556	.444	.691	.918
.447	•553	.800	.950
.339	.661	.885	.970
.230	.770	.947	•980
.121	.879	<b>.</b> 985	1.000
.014	.986	.998	.997

 $t_{H_2O} = 50^{\circ} F_{\bullet}$ 

Re. = 162,600

#### IV. J. Nikuradse

Calculation on Nikuradse's Isothermal Velocity Distribution of water in drawn brass pipe.

Forschungsarbeiten, V.D.I., Heft 281, 1926

Radius = 0.551"

(Horizontal Profile) V = 30.8 ft./sec.

r R	r 1 R	V V _{max}	r 2 1 - (-) R
991 972 955 936 909 8827 773 665 556 447 339	.009 .028 .045 .064 .091 .118 .173 .227 .335 .444 .553 .661	.130 .561 .648 .686 .729 .750 .790 .822 .880 .922 .952 .973	.018 .055 .088 .124 .174 .222 .316 .403 .558 .691 .800 .885
230	.770 .879	.982 1.000	.947 .985 .998

 $= 10^{\circ} C. = 50^{\circ} F.$ t Н**г**О

Re = 162,200

## IV. J. Nikuradse

Isothermal Velocity Distribution of Water in Drawn Brass Pipes.

A. Gilles, L.Hoff and Theo. v. Karman = Aerodynamik und Verwandte Gebeite, Julius Springer, Berlin, 1930

Calming Length greater than 55D

Read from an enlarged plot of eight times as big as the original.

R	$(1 - \frac{1}{R})$	Re=53,700 V/V _{max} .	Re=152,000 V/V _{max} .	Re=300,000 V/V _{max} .	Re=928,000 V/V _{max} .	Re=3,070,00 V/V _{max} .
00	1.00	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000
.20	08. 0	.980	.981	.990	.991	.992
.40	.60	.941	•950	.957	.962	.968
.60	.40	.889	.900	.912	.918	•928
.70	•30	.852	.862	.877	.890	. 898
.80	.20	.803	.814	•8 <b>36</b>	.852	.859
.88	5 .15	.774	.786	.805	.826	.840
.90	.10	.730	.742	.766	.788	.808
.93	3 .07	.697	.710	.737	.760	.781
.96	.04	.637	.656	.681	.711	•73 <b>7</b>
.98	.02	.587	.603	.622	.663	.685
.99	.01	.549		.561	.612	•643

V. D. Marshal

Calculation of D. Marshall's Isothermal Velocity Distribution of Air in Pipes. (Brass Pipe)

(Gt. Brit. Aero. Research Comm., Repts. and Memo. no. 1004, 1925-6

Radiua = 2.5"

 $V_{max.} = 59.0 \text{ ft./sec.}$   $V_{ave.} = 50.5 \text{ ft./sec.}$   $t_{ave.} = 16^{\circ}\text{C.} = 60.6^{\circ}\text{F.}$ Calming Length = 192 D.

$\mathbf{y}_{max} = 59.0 = 0.890$	$\frac{v_{ave}}{v_{max}}$ .	=	<u>50.5</u> 59.0	=	0.856
-----------------------------------	-----------------------------	---	---------------------	---	-------

r R	(1 - <del>Ĩ</del> )	v/v _{max} .	V (cm./sec.)
.000 100 200 .300 .400 .500 .600 .709 .788 .8350 .8557 .8557 .8557 .8557 .8557 .8557 .8557 .8557 .8557 .8557 .9355 .9451 .9777 .9852 .992	1.000 .900 .800 .700 .600 .500 .400 .291 .212 .181 .165 .150 .133 .118 .102 .086 .070 .055 .039 .023 .015 .008	1.000* 995* 980* 970* 960* 930* 905* 865* 830 815 805 795 788 765 78 765 75 74 70 68 64	1810 1800 1773 1755 1738 1682 1638 1565 1500 14755 14425 14425 14410 13855 13405 132655 12305 1205 1205 1160

Re = 132,300

* Estimated from the graph given in the original paper.

# ISOTHERMAL VELOCITY DISTRIBUTION DATA WITH CALCULATIONS AND PLOTS

Appendix D

Run V I-10

Station No. 2

$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	( <u>r</u> )	$\frac{\Delta h}{(cm.Ccl_4)}$	$(\overline{\texttt{ft./sec.}})$	V Vmax.	$\frac{\mathbb{V}(\frac{\mathbf{r}}{\mathbf{R}})}{(\texttt{ft./sec})}$	$1-\left(\frac{r}{R}\right)^{2}$	(1- <u>〒</u> )
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	985 970 950 930 900 850 800 700 600 500 100 200 100 000	12.80 14.90 17.50 18.64 20.50 22.34 24.12 26.60 28.70 30.10 33.10 33.10 33.10 33.4	3.95 4.62 4.67 5.02 4.67 5.02 4.69 26 5.50 5.50 6.00 5.50 5.50 6.00 5.50 6.00 5.50 6.00 6.0	0.611 .659 .714 .736 .774 .807 .838 .880 .915 .937 .966 .981 .992 .998 1.000	3.89 4.139 4.393 4.543 4.543 4.550 503 1.986 5050 1.928 500 1.2650 0.00	.0298 .0591 .0975 .1351 .1900 .2775 .3600 .51 .64 .75 .84 .91 .96 .99 1.00	.015 .030 .05 .07 .10 .15 .20 .30 .40 .50 .60 .70 .80 .90 1.00

Static Pressure = 17.0 Cm. Hg. Gauge  $t = 25^{\circ}C$ .  $V_{ave.}$  (manometer) = 5.35 ft./sec.  $V_{ave.}$  (graphical integration) = 5.52 ft./sec.  $V_{ave.}/V_{max.} = 5.52/6.47 = 0.853$ 

Re = 93,100
I-11

Station No. 3

E R	$\frac{\Delta h}{(cm.Ccl_4)}$	V (ft./sec.)	V Vmax.	$\frac{\mathbb{V}(\frac{\mathbf{r}}{\mathbf{R}})}{(\texttt{ft./sec.})}$	$1-(\frac{r}{R})^2$	1- <u>r</u>
0.988 .970 .950 .900 .850 .800 .700 .600 .500 .400 .300 .200 .100 .000	12.90 15.11 17.67 19.10 20.50 24.30 26.50 28.65 30.15 32.60 33.25 33.80 34.30 34.40	3.96 9294 4.682 997 4.682 997 4.682 997 5.468 160 6.3362 6.46 6.47	0.612 .664 .718 .746 .772 .815 .842 .878 .914 .938 .975 .984 .998 .998 1.000	3.92 4.16 4.41 4.49 4.49 4.49 4.49 4.49 4.49 4.49	.0239 .0591 .0975 .1351 .19 .2775 .36 .51 .64 .75 .84 .91 .96 .99 1.00	.012 .03 .05 .07 .10 .15 .20 .30 .40 .50 .60 .70 .80 .90 1.00

Static Pressure = 17.6 Cm. Hg. Gauge

t = 25°0.

 $V_{ave.}$  (manometer) = 5.35 ft./sec.

 $V_{ave.}$  (graphical integration) = 5.54 ft./sec.

 $v_{ave}/v_{max} = 5.54/6.47 = 0.855$ 

Re = 93,500

	•0239 •0591	.012
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	.0975 .1351 .1900 .2775 .3600 .5100 .6400 .7500 .6400 .7500 .8400 .9100 .9600 .9900	.05 .07 .10 .15 .20 .30 .40 .50 .50 .60 .70 .90 .90

Static Pressure = 21.3 Cm. Hg. Gauge  $t = 19.5^{\circ}$ C.  $V_{ave.}$  (Manometer) = 1.84 ft./sec.  $V_{ave.}$  (graphical integration) = 1.77 ft./sec.  $V_{ave.}/V_{max.} = 1.77/2.21 = 0.500$ Re = 26,500 I-17

r R	$\frac{\Delta h}{(Cm.Ccl_4)}$	<u>V</u> (ft./sec.)	v/v _{max} .	$\frac{\mathbb{V}\left(\frac{\mathbf{r}}{\mathbf{R}}\right)}{(\texttt{ft./sec.})}$	$1-(\frac{r}{R})^2$	1- <u>r</u>
0.985 970 950 930 900 850 800 700 600 500 400 300 200 100 000	24.30 25.30 28.16 29.54 31.60 31.60 34.60 34.60 34.30 44.550 54.10 54.10 54.10	5.44 5.55 5.899 6.199 6.40 6.40 7.360 7.67 7.98 8.11 8.12	0.671 .684 .722 .738 .763 .800 .818 .874 .907 .937 .956 .983 .990 1.000 1.000	5.35 5.56 5.57 5.51 5.51 5.31 5.31 5.31 5.31 5.31 5.31	.0298 .0591 .0975 .1351 .1900 .2775 .3600 .5100 .6400 .7500 .8400 .9100 .9100 .9900 1.0000	.015 .03 .05 .07 .10 .15 .20 .30 .40 .50 .60 .70 .80 .90 1.00

Static Pressure = 26.5 Cm. Hg. Gauge

 $t = 27 \circ C$ .

 $v_{ave.}$  (manometer) = 6.75 ft./sec.

 $V_{ave.}$  (graphical integration) = 6.83 ft./sec.

 $v_{ave.}/v_{max.} = 6.83/8.12 = 0.841$ 

Re. = 120,500

t = 27°C.

Run V I-18

Station No. 3

r R	$\frac{\Delta h}{(Cm.Ccl_4)}$	V (ft./sec.)	v/v _{max} .	<u>V (F)</u> (ft./sec.)	$1-(\frac{r}{R})^{2}$	$1-(\frac{r}{R})$
0.988 970 950 930 900 850 800 700 600 500 400 300 200 100 000	23.70 25.06 27.10 27.50 29.84 31.88 34.36 35.60 46.00 49.70 51.54 53.40 51.54	5.37 5.57 5.79 5.79 5.023 6.29 6.29 7.48 51 9.09 7.99 7.99 7.99 8.09 8.12	0.662 .682 .709 .714 .743 .768 .797 .844 .888 .922 .958 .976 .994 .996 1.000	5.31 5.37 5.376 5.346 5.43 5.49 5.17 5.17 5.17 5.17 5.17 5.138 1.61 0.00	.0239 .0591 .0975 .1351 .1900 .2775 .3600 .5100 .6400 .7500 .8400 .9100 .9600 .9900 1.0000	.012 .03 .05 .07 .10 .15 .20 .30 .40 .50 .60 .70 .60 .70 .80 .90 1.00

Static Pressure = 51.4 Cm. Hg. Gauge  $V_{ave.}$  (manometer)= 6.75 ft./sec.  $V_{ave.}$  (graphical integration) = 6.70 ft./sec.  $V_{ave.}/V_{max.}$  = 6.70/8.12 = 0.825 Re. = 118,200

	Stati	on	No.	2
--	-------	----	-----	---

$\frac{\text{fraction}}{(\frac{r}{2})}$	<u>Δh</u>	<u>v</u>	v ⊽	$(1-(\frac{r}{R})^2)$	( <b>1</b> -( ^{<b>r</b>} / _{<b>R</b>} )	) $\frac{V(\frac{r}{R})}{ft./}$
<u> </u>	(cm. CC1_)	(ft./sec.)				<u> </u>
0•9 <b>8</b> 5	4.79	2.42	0.583	0.0298	•015	2.38
0.970	6.20	2.75	0.663	0.0591	•03	2.66
0.950	6.80	2.88	0.694	0.0975	•05	2•74
0.930	7.40	3.00	0.724	0.1351	•07	2.79
0.900	7.90	3.10	0.748	0.1906	•10	2.79
0.850	8.80	3.27	0.791	0 <b>. 2</b> 775	.15	2.78
0.800	9.42	3.39	0.817	0.3600	• 20	2.71
0.700	10.60	3.59	0.867	0.51	• 30	2.52
0.600	11.60	3.76	0.907	0.64	•40	2.26
0.500	12.30	3.87	0.935	0.75	•50	1.94
0.400	12.90	3.96	0.957	0.84	• 60	1.58
0.300	13.54	4.06	0.979	0.91	.70	1.22
0.200	13.86	4.10	0.990	0.96	.80	0.82
0.100	14.04	4.13	0.997	0.99	.90	0.41
0.000	14.10	4.14	1.000	1.00	1.00	0.00

Static pressure = 7.54 cm. Hg. gauge  
t = 27°C.  

$$V_{ave}$$
 (Manometer) = 3.43 ft./sec.  
 $V_{ave}$  (Graphical integration) = 3.50 ft./sec.  
 $\frac{V_{ave}}{V_{max}}$  = 3.50/4.14 = 0.846  
Re. = 61,750

### RUN V I-24

F	r	80	t	1	on	
					_	

FIRO FIOI	1			79		
of Radiu	18		T	$\nabla(\frac{1}{2})$	_ ,r.*	_ <b>r</b>
$(\underline{\mathbf{r}})$	<u>Ah</u>	V	_ 👻		1-( <u>R</u> )	1- <u>R</u>
<u>`R'</u>	$(\overline{\text{cm. OCl}})$	(ft./sec	.) 'max	(ft./sec.)		
		•				
0.991	14.54	4.21	0.669	4.17	0.0179	0.009
0.970	15.74	4.38	0.696	4.25	0.0591	0.03
0.950	16.94	4.54	0.723	4.31	0.0975	0.05
0.930	17.94	4.68	0.743	4.35	0.1351	0.07
0.900	19.54	4.88	0.776	4.39	0.1900	0.10
0.850	20.54	5.00	0.794	4.25	0.27/5	0.15
0.800	22.34	5.22	0.828	4.18	0.3600	0.20
0.700	24.34	5.44	0.865	3.80	0.5100	0.30
0.600	26.34	5.66	0.900	3.40	0.6400	0.10
0.500	27.74	5.81	0.924	2.90	0.7500	0.50
0.400	28.94	5.94	0.943	2.38	0.8400	0.60
0.300	30.34	6.08	0.965	1.82	0.9100	0.70
0.200	31.54	6.19	0.985	1.24	0.9600	0.80
0.100	32.14	6.26	0.994	0.63	0.0000	0.00
0.000	32.54	6. 20	1,000	0.00	1 0000	1 00
00000	Jeeja	99 E7	<b>T 4</b> 000		**0000	T+00 .

Static Pressure = 16.74 cm. Hg. Gauge  $t = 31.8 \circ C$ .  $V_{ave}$  (manometer) = 5.25 ft./sec. V_{ave} (Graphical integration) = 5.30 ft./sec. Vave V_{max}  $\frac{5.30}{6.29} = 0.843$ 

Re. = 103,400

RUN V I-26

Station No. 4

Fraction of Radius $\left(\frac{\mathbf{r}}{R}\right)$	<u>Ah</u> (cm. CCl ₄ )	V (ft./sec.)	V V _{ma} x	$\frac{V(\frac{r}{R})}{(ft./sec)}$	$l_{\Theta}(\frac{\mathbf{r}}{\mathbf{R}})$	$\mathbf{L} = \frac{\mathbf{r}}{\mathbf{R}}$
0.989 0.970 0.950 0.930 0.900 0.850 0.850 0.800 0.800 0.800 0.500 0.500 0.400 0.300 0.200 0.100	11.36 13.76 15.86 17.16 18.76 19.96 21.96 24.86 26.66 28.66 30.16 30.96 32.26	3.72 4.09 4.39 4.57 4.78 4.93 5.17 5.50 5.70 5.91 6.06 6.14 6.27	0.587 0.646 0.694 0.722 0.755 0.779 0.817 0.869 0.900 0.933 0.957 0.969 0.989	3.68 3.96 4.17 4.25 4.19 4.14 3.49 4.14 3.49 2.942 1.85 2.942 1.85 2.942	0.0219 0.0591 0.0975 0.1351 0.1900 0.2775 0.3600 0.5100 0.6400 0.7500 0.6400 0.9100 0.9600	0.011 0.03 0.05 0.07 0.10 0.15 0.20 0.30 0.40 0.50 0.60 0.50 0.60 0.70 0.80
0.000	32.96	6.33	1.000	0.00	1.0000	1.00

Static Pressure = 13.2 cm. Hg. Gauge

t = 31.8°C.

 $v_{ave}$  (Manometer) = 5.25 ft./sec.

 $V_{ave}$  (Graphical integration) = 5.30 ft./sec.

$$\frac{v_{ave}}{u_{max}} = \frac{5,30}{6,33} = 0.838$$

Re = 103,400

Run V I-27

Station No. 2

( <u>r</u> )	$\frac{2  \Delta h}{(Cm. Ccl_{4})}$	$\frac{V}{(ft./sec.)}$	v/v _{max} .	$\frac{V(\frac{r}{R})}{(ft./sec.)}$	$1-\left(\frac{r}{R}\right)^{2}$	1- <u>r</u>
0.991 .970 .950 .930 .900 .850 .800 .700 .600 .500 .400 .300 .200 .100 .000	7.90 10.30 10.90 11.90 12.80 13.80 14.90 16.60 17.90 19.14 20.20 21.10 21.70 21.96 22.20	3.10 3.54 3.56 3.95 4.20 4.20 4.20 4.20 4.20 4.20 5.16 4.20 5.17 5.17 5.17 5.20	0.596 .681 .700 .731 .759 .788 .819 .865 .897 .928 .953 .975 .988 .994 1.000	3.446 3.446 3.456 3.456 3.4150 2.492 1.502 2.92 1.502 1.502 1.502 1.500 1.500 1.500 1.500 1.500	.0179 .0591 .0975 .1351 .1900 .2775 .3600 .5100 .6400 .7500 .8400 .9100 .9600 .9900 1.0000	.009 .03 .05 .07 .10 .15 .20 .30 .40 .50 .60 .70 .80 .90 1.00

Static Pressure = 12.10 cm. Hg. Gauge  $t = 29.3^{\circ}$ C.  $V_{ave.}$  (Manometer)= 4.31 ft./sec.  $V_{ave.}$  (graphical integration) = 4.36 ft./sec.  $V_{ave.}/V_{max.} = 4.36/5.20 = 0.838$ Re. = 80,900 Run V I-28

Station No. 3

$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	( <u>r</u> )	$\frac{\Delta h}{(Cm.Ccl_4)}$	V (ft./sec.)	v/v _{max} .	$\frac{V(\frac{r}{R})}{(ft./sec)}$	(1- <u>r</u> )	$1 - (\frac{r}{R})^{25}$
	0.985 970 950 930 900 850 800 700 600 500 400 300 200 100	24.6886868022335.4465.0 28.88686802888480 33582.6802888480 5555668686 55556666666666666666666666	5.50 5.99 6.68 6.88 7.55 6.68 7.55 6.68 7.55 6.68 5.68 5.68 5.68 5.88 5.85 5.90 8.85 8.85 8.85 8.85 8.85 8.85 8.85 8.8	0.618 .663 .710 .742 .770 .812 .846 .894 .928 .955 .975 .975 .975 .990 .994 .998 1.000	5.41 5.72 6.14 6.16 6.14 6.14 6.16 6.14 5.59 6.16 6.16 6.16 6.16 5.96 5.92 5.84 4.3.64 1.75 0.00 0.00	.015 .030 .050 .070 .100 .150 .200 .300 .400 .500 .600 .700 .800 .900 1.000	.019 .037 .062 .086 .124 .184 .243 .360 .472 .579 .682 .778 .866 .944 1.000

Static Pressure = 35.3 cm. Hg. Gauge  $t = 24.0 \circ C$ .  $V_{ave.}$  (manometer) = 7.83 ft./sec.  $V_{ave.}$  (graphical integration) = 7.56 ft./sec.  $V_{ave.}/V_{max.} = 7.56/8.90 = 0.850$ Re. = 125,000

Run	<b>v</b> I-29	Stati	on No. 4				
r	۵h	1.2184h	V	v	V(r/R)	<b>}−</b> r	1.25
R	(cm.CCL ₄ )	( = v2)	(ft./sec.)	v max.	( <u>ft.</u> ) ( <u>sec</u> .)	R	1-(1/1)
.989	22.6	27.6	5.25	0.592	5.19	0.011	0.014
.970	25.6	31.2	5.58	.630	5.51	.030	.037
.950	29.8	36.3	6.02	<b>.</b> 679	5.72	•0 <b>50</b>	.062
•930	34.2	41.7	6.45	.727	6.00	070	.086
•900	36.8	44.8	6.69	•755	6.02	.100	.124
.850	40.4	44.2	7.01	.791	5.96	.150	.184
.800	44.2	53.8	7.33	.827	5.86 ,	.200	.243
.700	49.4	60.2	7.76	.876	5.43	.300	.360
.600	53.2	64.8	8.05	.908	4.83	.400	.472
.500	56.4	68.7	8.28	.934	4.14	.500	•579
.400	59.0	71.9	8.47	•955	3.39	.600	.682
.300	61.6	75.0	8.65	.975	2.60	.700	.778
.200	63 <b>.6</b>	77.5	8.80	•992	1.76	.800	<b>.</b> 866
.100	64.2	78 <b>Ş2</b>	8.85	.998	.89	.900	.944
.000	64.6	78.7	8.87	1.000	• 00	.1.000	1.000

Static Pressure = 26.2 cm. Hg. Gauge t =  $24^{\circ}$  C.  $V_{av}$  (manometer) = 7.83 ft./sec.  $V_{av}$  (graphical integration) = 7.45 ft./sec.  $V_{av}/V_{max} = 7.45/8.87 = 0.840$ 

Re. = 123,000

Station No. 4

						1.	S
<b>r</b> .	Δh	v	v	V(r/R)	r	r	
(_) R	$(cm.CCL_4)$	(ft./sec.)	V max.	(ft./sec.)	(1) R	1-(-) R	
•989	16.8	4.52	0.570	4.47	.011	.014	
.970	20.4	4.98	.629	4.85	.030	.037	
.950	23.6	5.36	.677	5.09	.050	.062	
.930	25.8	5.60	.707	5.21	.070	.086	
.900	28.4	5.88	.742	5.29	.100	.124	
.850	32.2	6.26	.790	5.32	.150	.184	
.800	34.6	6.49	.820	5.19	.200	.243	
.700	38.8	6.87	<b>.</b> 867	4.81	.300	<b>.</b> 360	
.600	42.0	7.15	.902	4.29	.400	.472	
.500	44.2	7.33	.925	3.67	<b>.50</b> 0	.579	
.400	47.0	7.56	.955	3.02	.600	.682	
.300	49.2	7.73	.976	2.32	•700	.778	
.200	50.4	7.83	.989	1.57	.800	.866	
.100	51.0	7.88	.995	0.79	•900	.944	
.000	51.6	7.925	1.000	0.00	1.000	1.000	

Static Pressure = 21.2 cm. Hg. Gauge  $t = 28^{\circ} C$ . V (manometer) = 6.97 ft./sec.

 $V_{ave}$  (graphical integration) = 6.57 ft./sec.

 $V_{ave}/V_{max} = 6.57/7.925 = 0.830$ 

Re. = 118,700

5

Run v I-32

Station No. 2

						1.20
r	Δh	v	V	V(r/R)	r	r
R	(Cm.CCL ₄ )	(ft./sec.)	v _{max.}	(ft./sec.)	1 R	1-(-) R
.991	20.8	5.04	0.632	4.99	0.009	0.011
.970	24.6	5.48	.687	5.31	.030	.037
.950	27.0	5.74	.720	5.45	.050	.062
.930	29.0	5.94	.745	5.52	.070	.086
.900	31.2	6.16	.773	5.55	.100	.124
.850	34.2	6.45	.810	5.48	.150	.184
.800	36.2	6.64	.833	5.31	.200	.243
.700	40.0	6.97	.875	4.88	.300	.360
.600	42.8	7.22	.905	4.335	.400	.472
.500	45.0	7.40	.928	3.70	.500	.579
.400	47.6	7.62	.955	3.05	.600	<b>.</b> 682
.300	49.2	7.74	.970	2.32	.700	.778
.200	51.0	7.88	.987	1.58	.800	.866
.L00	51.6	7.92	.992	0.79	.900	.944
.000	52.2	7.97	1.000	0.00	1.000	1.000

Static Pressure = 26.6 cm. Hg. Gauge  $t = 29.1^{\circ} C.$  $V_{ave.}$  (manometer) = 7.02 ft./sec.

 $V_{ave.}$  (graphical integration) = 6.71 ft./sec.

 $V_{ave}/V_{max} = 6.71/7.97 = 0.842$ 

Re. = 124,000

						1.25
r	Δh	v	V	V(r/R)	r ()	r
R	$(Cm.CCL_4)$	(ft./sec.)	V _{max} .	(ft./sec.)	(1) R	r=(=) R
.989	17.2	4.58	0.572	4.53	0.011	0.014
.970	21.4	5.11	<b>.</b> 639	4.96	.030	0.037
950	23.8	5.38	.673	5.11	.050	.062
930	26.4	5.67	.709	5.28	.070	•086
900	29.0	5.94	.743	5.35	.100	.124
.850	32.2	6.25	.781	5.31	.150	.184
.800	34.8	6.51	.814	5.21	.200	.243
.700	39.4	6.92	• <b>865</b>	4.85	.300	.360
.600	42.4	7.19	•899	4.31	<b>.4</b> 00	.472
.500	45.2	7.42	.928	3.71	•500	•579
.400	48.0	7.64	.955	3.06	<b>.</b> 600	.682
+	· · · ·	_		~ ~ /	200	<b>m</b> m0

.955 .978 .988

.996

1.000

•

Station No. 4

Run v I-34

r R

.300

.200

.100

.000

50.2

51.4

52.2 52.6

Static Pressure = 21.2 cm. Hg. Gauge	$t = 2911^{\circ} C.$
V _{ave} (manometer) = 7.02 ft./sec.	
$V_{ave.}$ (graphical integration) = 6.64 ft	./sec.
$V_{ave}/V_{max} = 6.64/8.00 = 0.830$	
$Re_{-} = 123.200$	

7.64 7.82

7.90

7.97 8.00

67

.778

.866

.944 1.000

.700 .800

.900 1.000

2.34

1.58

0.80

Station No. 3

						1.25
r	Δh	V	v	V(r/R)	r	r
( )					(1)	1-(-) ·
R	$(Ccm.CCL_4)$	(ft./sec.)	^v max.	(ft./sec.)	R	R
0.985	3.8	2.15	0.610	2.12	0.015	0.019
.970	4.4	2.31	.656	2.24	.030	.037
.950	4.8	2.42	.688	2.30	.050	.062
.930	5.0	2.46	.699	2.29	.070	.086
.900	5.4	2.56	.727	2.30	.100	.124
.850	5.8	2.66	<b>.</b> 756	2.26	.150	.184
.800	6.2	2.74	.779	2.19	.200	.243
.700	7.2	2,96	.841	2.07	.300	•360
.600	8.0	3.12	.887	1.87	.400	.472
.500	8.6	3.23	.918	1.62	.500	.579
.400	9.0	3.30	<b>•</b> 938	1.32	.600	•682
.300	9.4	3.38	•960	1.01	•700	.778
.200	9.8	3.45	.980	0.69	•800	.866
.100	10.0	3.48	•989	0.35	.900	.944
.000	10.2	3.52	1.000	0.00	1.000	1.000

Static Pressure = 29.0 cm. Hg. Gauge  $t = 26.1^{\circ}$  C. V_{ave.} (manometer) = 2.92 ft./sec. V_{ave.} (graphical integration) = 2.88 ft./sec. V_{ave.}/V_{max.} = 2.88/3.52 = 0.818 Re. = 49,900 Run v I-37

Station No. 3

r	$\Delta h$ (CCm.CCL ₄ )	v	v	v(r/R)	(1)	l.25
R		(ft./sec.)	v _{max} .	(ft./sec.)	R	(l-(r/R)
0.98 .97 .98 .93 .90 .85 .80 .70 .60 .50 .50 .20 .10	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	4.27 4.47 4.83 5.07 5.31 5.54 5.75 6.08 6.27 6.49 6.63 6.78 6.89 6.94 6.98	0.612 .640 .692 .727 .761 .794 .824 .871 .899 .930 .950 .972 .987 .995 1.000	4.20 4.34 4.59 4.72 4.78 4.70 4.60 4.25 3.76 3.24 2.65 2.04 1.38 0.69 0.00	0.015 .030 .050 .070 .100 .150 .200 .300 .400 .500 .600 .700 .800 .900 1.000	0.019 037 062 086 124 184 243 360 472 579 682 778 866 944 1.000

Static Pressure = 21.0 cm.Hg. Gauge t = 28.35° C.
V (,anometer) = 6.11 ft./sec.
ave.

 $V_{ave.}$  (graphical integration) = 5.85 ft./sec.

 $V_{ave}/V_{max} = 5.85/6.98 = 0.838$ Re. = 106,200 Run v I-38

Station No. 4

r	Δh	V	V	V(r/R)	(1-r/R)	1.25 1-(r/R)
R	$(ccm.CCL_4)$	(ft./sec.)	v _{max} .	(ft./sec.)	(,,	_ (_,,
.989	13.2	4.01	0.573	3.96	0.011	0.014
.970	16.4	4.47	.639	4.34	.030	.037
.950	18.8	4.78	.683	4.54	.050	.062
.930	20.2	4.96	.709	4.61	.070	.086
.900	22.4	5.22	.746	4.70	.100	.124
.850	24.6	5.47	781	4.65	.150	.184
.800	26.6	5.69	.813	4.55	.200	.243
.700	30.0	6.04	.863	4.23	.300	.360
.600	32.2	6.26	.896	3.76	.400	.472
.500	34.8	6.51	.930	3.26	.500	•5 <b>79</b>
.400	36.6	6.68	.955	2.67	.600	.682
.300	38.2	6.81	.973	2.04	<b>.7</b> 00	.778
.200	39.2	6.91	.988	1.38	.800	.866
.100	39.8	6.96	.995	.70	.900	.944
.000	40.2	7.00	1.000	.00	1.000	<b>1.</b> 000 [,]

Static Pressure = 16.0 cm. Hg. Gauge  $t = 28.35^{\circ}$  C. V_{ave.} (manometer) = 6.11 ft./sec. V_{ave.} (graphical integration) = 5.81 ft./sec. V_{ave.}/V_{max.} = 5.81/7.00 = 0.830 Re. = 105,600 RUN V I-39

$\left(\frac{r}{R}\right)$	$\frac{\Delta h}{(cm. CCl_4)}$	V (ft./sec)	V V max	$\frac{V(\frac{r}{R})}{(ft/sec)}$	$1-\frac{r}{R}$	$1-(\frac{r}{R})^{1.25}$
0.985 0.970 0.950 0.930 0.900 0.850 0.800 0.800 0.700 0.600 0.500 0.500 0.200 0.200 0.100	4.0 5.0 5.8 6.2 7.0 7.8 8.4 9.6 10.4 11.0 12.0 12.4 12.8 13.0	2.21 2.47 2.66 2.74 2.92 3.08 3.20 3.42 3.56 3.56 3.56 3.56 3.56 3.56 3.55 3.55	0.552 0.616 0.664 0.684 0.729 0.769 0.798 0.798 0.854 0.888 0.913 0.953 0.968 0.985 0.993	2.18 2.40 2.52 2.55 2.63 2.62 2.56 2.40 2.14 1.83 1.53 1.53 1.16 0.79 0.40	0.015 0.030 0.050 0.070 0.100 0.150 0.200 0.300 0.300 0.400 0.500 0.600 0.500 0.600 0.700 0.800 0.900	0.019 0.037 0.062 0.086 0.124 0.184 0.243 0.360 0.472 0.579 0.682 0.778 0.944
0.000	13.2	4.01	1.000	0.00	1.000	1.000

Static Pressure = 26.6 cm. Hg. Gauge t =  $28.2^{\circ}$ C.

V (Manometer) = 3.60 ft./sec.

 $V_{ave}$  (Graphical integration) = 3.29 ft./sec.

$$\frac{V_{ave}}{V_{max}} = \frac{3.29}{4.01} = 0.820$$

Re. = 59,500

$\left(\frac{\mathbf{r}}{\mathbf{R}}\right)$	$\frac{\Delta h}{(cm. CCl_4)}$	(ft./sec)	V V max	$\frac{V(\frac{\mathbf{r}}{R})}{(ft./sec)}$	$(1-\frac{r}{R})$	$1-\left(\frac{r}{R}\right)^{1.25}$
0.989 0.970 0.950 0.930 0.900 0.850 0.800 0.700 0.600 0.500 0.500 0.400 0.500 0.200 0.200 0.200	3.6 4.8 5.6 6.2 7.0 7.8 8.4 9.3 10.2 11.0 12.0 12.0 12.6 13.2 13.4	2.09 2.42 2.61 2.74 2.92 3.08 3.20 3.20 3.20 3.56 3.56 3.98 3.98 3.98 3.98 4.04	0.518 0.599 0.646 0.679 0.723 0.762 0.792 0.832 0.872 0.906 0.946 0.946 0.970 0.985 0.994 1.000	2.07 2.35 2.48 2.55 2.63 2.62 2.56 2.35 2.11 1.83 1.53 1.18 0.80 0.40 0.00	0.011 0.030 0.050 0.100 0.100 0.150 0.200 0.300 0.400 0.500 0.400 0.500 0.600 0.700 0.800 0.900 1.000	0.014 0.037 0.062 0.086 0.124 0.184 0.243 0.360 0.472 0.579 0.682 0.579 0.682 0.778 0.866 0.944 1.000

Static Pressure = 25.0 cm. Hg. Gauge t = 28.2°C.  $V_{ave}$  (Manometer) = 3.60 ft./sec.  $V_{ave}$  (Graphical integration) = 3.26 ft./sec.  $\frac{V_{ave}}{V_{max}} = \frac{3.26}{4.04} = 0.808$ 

Re = 59,000

RUN V 1-44

(Taken simultaneously with Run V H-4 and V H-15)

r R (c	$\Delta h$ m. CCl ₄ )	V (ft./sec.)	<u>v</u> v _{max}	$\frac{V(\frac{r}{R})}{(ft./s\infty.)}$	$1-(\frac{r}{R})$	$1-(\frac{r}{R})$
0.989 0.970 0.950 0.930 0.900 0.850 0.800 0.700 0.600 0.500 0.500 0.400 0.300 0.200 0.100 0.000	5.8 7.0 8.6 9.4 10.0 11.4 12.4 14.2 15.4 15.4 15.4 17.2 18.2 19.0 19.4 19.6	2.67 2.94 3.29 3.49 3.49 3.49 3.49 3.49 3.49 4.58 4.57 4.57 4.55 4.55 4.55 4.55 4.55 4.55	0.547 0.603 0.664 0.695 0.715 0.763 0.763 0.752 0.858 0.916 0.939 0.965 0.986 0.995 1.000	2.64 2.85 3.08 3.16 3.14 3.16 3.10 2.92 2.60 2.26 2.24 1.83 1.41 0.96 0.49 0.00	0.011 0.030 0.050 0.070 0.100 0.150 0.200 0.300 0.400 0.500 0.600 0.500 0.600 0.700 0.800 0.900 1.000	0.014 0.037 0.062 0.086 0.124 0.184 0.243 0.360 0.472 0.579 0.682 0.778 0.866 0.944 1.000

Static pressure = 32.2 cm. Hg. Gauge t =  $25.78 \circ \text{C}$ . V_{ave} (manometer) = 3.92 ft./sec. V_{ave} (Graphical integration) = 4.01 ft./sec.  $\frac{\text{V}_{ave}}{\text{V}_{max}} = \frac{4.01}{4.38} = 0.821$ Re. = 69,000 1.25

Station No. 4

#### RUN V I-45

#### Station No. 4

(Taken simultaneously with Run V H-16 and V H-17)

$\frac{R (cm. CCl_{\bullet}) (ft/sec_{\bullet})}{max (ft/sec)} $	
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	0.014 0.037 0.062 0.086 0.124 0.184 0.243 0.243 0.360 0.472 0.579 0.682 0.778 0.866 0.944 1.000

Static pressure = 30.8 cm. Hg. Gauge t =  $27.2^{\circ}C.$ Vave (Manometer) = 2.84 ft./sec. Vave (Graphical integration²) = 2.79 ft./sec.  $\frac{V_{ave}}{V_{max}} = \frac{2.79}{3.43} = 0.812$ 

Re. = 49,400

### RUN V I-46

Station No. 4

r R (ci	$\frac{\Delta h}{n \cdot CC1}$	V (ft./sec)	V V max	V (ft/sec.)	$(1-(\frac{r}{R}))$	$1-\left(\frac{r}{R}\right)^{1.25}$
0.989 0.970 0.950 0.930 0.900 0.850 0.800 0.800 0.600 0.500 0.500 0.400 0.200 0.200 0.100 0.900	7.0 9.4 10.4 11.4 13.8 14.8 17.0 18.8 20.4 23.0 23.6 23.6 24.8 24.8	2.94 3.52 3.57 3.57 3.02 5.79 5.28 9.56 9.85 5.28 5.28 5.28 5.28 5.28 5.28 5.28 5	0.536 0.618 0.649 0.708 0.746 0.776 0.874 0.909 0.940 0.964 0.976 0.976 0.976 0.976 0.976	2.91 3.29 3.38 3.46 3.49 3.49 3.49 3.19 2.49 2.06 1.50 1.10 0.50	0.011 0.030 0.050 0.070 0.100 0.150 0.200 0.300 0.400 0.500 0.600 0.500 0.600 0.700 0.800 0.900 1.000	0.014 0.037 0.062 0.086 0.124 0.189 0.243 0.243 0.243 0.360 0.472 0.579 0.682 0.778 0.866 0.944 1.000
Static	Pressure	e = 39.2 cm.	Hg. Gaug	g e		

(Taken simultaneously with Run V H-18 and V H-19)

t = 23.5°C.  $V_{ave}$  (Manometer) = 4.76 ft./sec.

 $V_{ave}$  (Graphical integration) = 4.42 ft./sec.

 $\frac{v_{ave}}{v_{max}} = \frac{4.42}{5.48} = 0.807$ 

Re. = 74,700

RUN V I-47

Station No. 2

r R	$\frac{\Delta h}{(cm. CCl_4)}$	V (ft./sec.)	$\frac{V(\frac{r}{R})}{(ft./sec.)}$	$(1-\frac{\mathbf{r}}{\mathbf{R}})$
0.991 0.970 0.950 0.90 0.80 0.70 0.60 0.40 0.20 0.00	0.60 0.85 1.00 1.25 1.60 1.85 2.00 2.20 2.40 2.60	0.86 1.02 1.10 1.233 1.393 1.500 1.557 1.639 1.710 1.780	0.483 0.573 0.618 0.694 0.784 0.843 0.843 0.875 0.921 0.960 1.000	0.009 0.030 0.050 0.10 0.20 0.30 0.40 0160 0.80 1.00

Static Pressure = 10.20 cm. Hg Gauge

 $t_{H_20} = 6.85 \circ C.$   $v_{ave.} \notin Graphical Integration) = 1.429 \text{ ft./sec.}$   $\frac{v_{ave}}{v_{max}} = \frac{1.429}{1.780} = 0.803$   $Re = \frac{0.1626 \times 1.429 \times 10^5}{1.544} = 15,030$ 

## RUN V I→48

# Station No. 3

<u>r</u> R (c	Δh em. CC1 ₄ )	V (ft./sec.)	v V _{max}	$\frac{V(\frac{r}{R})}{(ft./sec.)}$	$(1-\frac{\mathbf{r}}{\mathbf{R}})$
0.985 0.970 0.950 0.900 0.800 0.700 0.600 0.400 0.200 0.000	0.7 0.9 1.1 1.3 1.6 1.86 2.0 2.2 2.4 2.5	0.93 1.077 1.157 1.258 1.393 1.500 1.557 1.639 1.71 1.780	0.522 0.605 0.650 0.706 0.784 0.843 0.843 0.875 0.920 0.960 1.000	0.916 1.044 1.100 1.132 1.116 1.050 0.935 0.655 0.342 0.00	0.015 0.030 0.100 0.200 0.300 0.400 0.600 0.800 1.000
Stat	cic pressure	e = 10.5 Cm. Hg	. Gauge		
t _{H2} C	= 6.85°C.				
V ave	(Graphics	al Integration)	= 1.432 ft	./seC.	
Vave V _{max}	$= \frac{1.43}{1.78}$	<u>62</u> = 0.804			
Re =	<u>.1626 x 1</u> 1.5	$\frac{.432 \times 10^5}{.44} =$	15,070		

-

S	ta	ti	on	No.	3
---	----	----	----	-----	---

r R	$\frac{\Delta h}{(cm. CCl_4)}$	V (ft./sec.)	V V max	$\frac{V(\frac{r}{R})}{(ft./sec.)}$	$\left(1-\frac{r}{R}\right)$
0.985 0.970 0.950 0.900 0.800 0.700 0.600 0.400 0.400 0.200 0.000	25.5 29.4 33.0 39.2 46.6 51.4 55.6 61.4 63.4 65.5	5.605 5.983 6.34 6.91 7.535 7.91 8.24 8.66 8.81 8.935	0.625 0.670 0.710 0.774 0.8335 0.885 0.923 0.923 0.970 0.986 1.000	5.52 5.80 6.02 6.02 6.02 5.54 4.94 5.94 3.465 1.762 0	0.015 0.030 0.050 0.100 0.200 0.200 0.300 0.400 0.600 0.600 0.800 1.000

Static pressure = 34.70 Cm. Hg. Gauge  $t_{H_20} = 27.0$ °C.  $V_{ave}$  (manometer) = 7.30 ft./sec.  $V_{ave}$  (Graphical Integration) = 7.660 ft./sec.  $\frac{V_{ave}}{V_{max}} = \frac{7.660}{8.935} = 0.858$ 

$$Re = \frac{0.1626 \times 7.66 \times 10^{7}}{0.923} = 135,000$$

r	$\frac{\Delta h}{(cm. CCl_{4})}$	V (ft./sec.)	V V max	$\frac{\mathbb{V}(\frac{\mathbf{r}}{R})}{(\mathbf{ft}./\mathrm{sec}.)}$	(1- <u>r</u> )
0.989 0.970 0.950 0.900 0.800 0.800 0.800 0.600 0.600 0.400 0.200 0.000	22.7 27.5 31.7 38.1 44.3 45.9 53.5 59.5 59.7 64.1 65.6	5.258 5.788 6.21 6.81 7.35 7.72 8.08 8.53 8.84 8.94	0.589 0.648 0.695 0.762 0.823 0.864 0.905 0.955 0.989 1.000	5.20 5.61 5.90 6.13 5.88 5.40 4.85 3.41 1.77 0	0.011 0.030 0.050 0.100 0.200 0.300 0.400 0.600 0.600 1.000

Static Pressure = 26.8 Cm. Hg. Gauge

 $t_{H_20} = 27.0$ °C.

 $V_{ave}$  (Manometer) = 7.30 ft./sec.

 $V_{ave}$  (Graphical Integration) = 7.548 ft./sec.

$$\frac{V_{a}Ve}{V_{max}} = \frac{7.548}{8.94} = 0.845$$

$$Re = \frac{0.1626 \times 7.548 \times 10^{5}}{0.923} = 133,000$$

r R	$\frac{\Delta h}{(cm. CCl_{\star})}$	$\frac{v}{(ft./sec.)}$	V V _{max}	$\frac{V(\frac{r}{R})}{(ft./sec.)}$	$\left(1-\frac{r}{R}\right)$
0.985 0.970 0.950 0.900 0.800 0.700 0.600 0.400 0.200 0.200	27.0 30.8 34.4 40.2 46.6 51.0 54.4 59.2 61.4 62.9	5.735 6.12 6.47 7.00 7.53 7.58 8.15 8.49 8.65 8.76	0.655 0.699 0.739 0.799 0.860 0.900 0.930 0.930 0.970 0.987 1.000	5.65 5.94 6.15 6.30 6.02 5.52 4.89 3.395 1.73 0	0.015 0.030 0.050 0.100 0.200 0.300 0.400 0.600 0.600 1.000

 $t_{H_2O} = 57.4\circ C.$  (Constant temp. maintained by means of heating the water at first, then circulating through the pipe by adding a little steam to the cooling section).

 $V_{ave}$  (Manometer) = 7.34 ft./sec.

•

 $V_{ave}$  (Graphical Integration) = 7.664 ft./sec.

$$\frac{v_{ave}}{v_{max}} = \frac{7.664}{8.76} = 0.875$$

 $Re = \frac{.1626 \times 7.664 \times 10^5}{0.533} = 234,000$ 

RUN V I-52

Station No. 3

r R	$\frac{\Delta h}{(cm. CC1_4)}$	<u>V</u> (ft./sec.)	V ▼ max	$\frac{V(\frac{r}{R})}{(ft./sec.)}$	$\left(1-\frac{r}{R}\right)$
0.985 0.970 0.950 0.90 0.80 0.70 0.60 0.40 0.20 0.00	5.30 6.60 7.40 9.00 11.00 13.00 14.40 16.10 17.20 17.40	2.542 2.832 3.00 3.31 3.66 3.98 4.19 4.43 4.577 4.603	0.552 0.615 0.652 0.719 0.795 0.865 0.910 0.962 0.995 1.000	2.50 2.745 2.85 2.98 2.925 2.785 2.515 1.772 0.915 0.00	0.015 0.030 0.050 0.100 0.200 0.300 0.400 0.600 0.600 0.800 1.000

(Taken simultaneously with Run V H-27)

Static Pressure = 24.2 Cm. Hg. Gauge  $V_{ave}$  (Graphical Integration = 3.82 ft./sec.

$$\frac{v_{ave}}{v_{max}} = \frac{3.82}{4.603} = 0.830$$

$$t = 7.7 \circ C.$$
  
Re =  $\frac{0.1626 \times 3.82 \times 10^5}{1.505}$  = 41,250

.

r R 7	Δh cm. CCl.)	V (ft./sec.)	V ™max	$\frac{V(\frac{r}{R})}{(ft./sec.)}$	(1- <u>r</u> )
0.985	0.73	0.95	0.538	0.936	0.015
0.970	0.92	1.06	0.601	1.028	0.030
0.950	1.07	1.14	0.646	1.083	0.050
0.90	1.35	1.28	0.725	1.152	0.10
0.80	1.60	1.393	0.790	1.115	0.20
0.70	1.81	1.48	0.839	1.036	0.30
0.60	1.99	1.556	0.882	0.935	0.40
0.40	2.25	1.658	0.940	0.664	0.60
0.20	2.43	1.72	0.975	0.344	0.80
0.00	2.55	1.764	1.000	0.00	1.00

(Taken Simultaneously wi	th Run	V	H-30)
--------------------------	--------	---	-------

Static Pressure = 39.6 cm. Hg. Gauge  $V_{ave}$  (Weighing) = 1.434 ft./sec.  $V_{ave}$  (Graphical Integration) = 1.438 ft./sec.  $\frac{V_{ave}}{V_{max}} = \frac{1.438}{1.764} = 0.815$   $t_{H_2O} = 8.8 \circ C.$ Re =  $\frac{0.1626 \times 1.438 \times 10^5}{1.457} = 16,040$ 

r R	$\frac{\Delta h}{(cm. CCl_4)}$	V (ft./sec.)	V V max	$\frac{\mathbb{V}(\frac{1}{R})}{(\text{ft./sec.})}$	$(1 - \frac{1}{R})$
0.985 0.970 0.950 0.900 0.80 0.70 0.60 0.40 0.20 0.00	4.60 5.10 6.30 7.30 8.90 10.10 11.0 12.5 13.4 13.6	2.368 2.494 2.77 2.98 3.295 3.51 3.60 3.90 4.04 4.04	0.582 0.613 0.681 0.732 0.810 0.863 0.885 0.959 0.992 1.000	2.33 2.42 2.63 2.68 2.635 2.455 2.16 1.56 0.808 0.00	0.015 0.030 0.050 0.100 0.200 0.300 0.400 0.600 0.600 0.800 1.000

(Taken simultaneously with Run V H-31, and Run V H-32)

Static Pressure = 28.40 cm. Hg. Gauge

 $V_{ave}$  (Graphical Integration) = 3.375 ft./sec.

 $\frac{v_{ave}}{v_{max}} = \frac{3.375}{4.07} = 0.829$  $t_{H_20} = 8.16^{\circ}C.$  $Re = \frac{0.1626 \times 3.375 \times 10^5}{1.485} = 36,950$ 

```
Station No. 3
```

(Taken simultaneously with Run V H-33 and Run V H-34)

r R (	$\Delta h$ (c. CC1_)	V (ft./sec.)	V V max	$\frac{V(\frac{r}{R})}{(ft./sec.)}$	$(\mathbf{L}, \frac{\mathbf{r}}{\mathbf{R}})$
0.985	0.70	0.925	0.484	0.911	0.015
0.970	0.90	1.05	0.550	1.018	0.030
0.950	1.10	1.156	0.605	1.098	0.050
0.90	1.40	1.304	0.683	1.174	0.10
0.80	1.70	1.436	0.752	1.148	0.20
0.70	2.10	1.597	0.836	1.118	0.30
0.60	2.30	1.676	0.878	1.006	0.40
0.40	2.70	1.815	0.950	0.726	0.60
0.20	2.90	1.880	0.984	0.376	0.60
0.00	3.00	1.910	1.000	.0.0	1.00

Static Pressure = 38.0 Cm. Hg. Gauge
Vave (Weighing) = 1.515 ft./sec.
Vave (Graphical Integration) = 1.522 ft./sec.

$$\frac{v_{ave}}{v_{max}} = \frac{1.522}{1.910} = 0.797$$

$$t_{H_20} = 8.88 \circ C.$$
  
Re =  $\frac{0.1626 \times 1.522 \times 10}{1.454} = 17,000$ 

(Taken simultaneously with Run V H-35 and Run V H-36)

r R	$\frac{\Delta h}{(Cm. CCl_{4})}$	<u>V</u> ( <u>ft./sec.</u> )	V v max	$\frac{V(\frac{r}{R})}{(ft./sec.)}$	$(1-\frac{r}{R})$
0.985 0.970 0.950 0.90 0.80 0.70 0.60 0.40 0.20 0.00	1.40 1.60 1.86 2.40 3.34 4.20 4.44 4.70 5.10 5.30	1.303 1.39 1.50 1.71 2.02 2.264 2.325 2.393 2.493 2.493 2.542	0.513 0.547 0.590 0.673 0.795 0.891 0.915 0.941 0.981 1.000	1.283 1.348 1.425 1.539 1.615 1.584 1.394 C.957 0.499 0.00	0.015 0.030 0.050 0.10 0.20 0.30 0.40 0.60 0.60 1.00

Static pressure = 35.10 Cm. Hg. Gauge  $V_{ave}$  (Graphical Integration) = 2.065 ft./sec.  $\frac{V_{ave}}{V_{max}} = \frac{2.065}{2.542} = 0.813$   $t_{H_20} = 8.1 \circ C.$ Re =  $\frac{0.1626 \times 2.065 \times 10^5}{1.487} = 22,600$ 









R-n R

4






























M























# APPENDIX E

VELOCITY DISTRIBUTION DATA DURING PARALLEL CURRENT HEATING WITH CALCULATIONS AND PLOTS (WATER FLOWING DOWNWARD)

Run v H-3 Station No. 2

(See Run T H-14 for Corresponding Temperature Distribution)

r/R	$\Delta h$ (cm.CCL ₄ )	V (ft./sec.)	V/V max.	V(r/R) (ft./sec.)	$\frac{r}{R}$	r 1 R
.985	2.44	1.725	.658	1.700	0.0298	0.015
.970	2.64	1.793	•684	1.740	.0591	.03
.950	3.04	1.925	.734	1.83	.0975	.05
.930	3.46	2.055	•784	1.91	.1351	.07
.900	3.74	2.135	.814	1.92	.1900	.10
.850	3.94	2.190	<b>.</b> 835	1.86	2775	.15
.800	4.18	2.260	.862	1.81	.3600	20
.700	4.68	2.390	.911	1.67	.5100	.30
.600	4.90	2.446	932	1.47	64.00	.40
.500	4.94	2.454	.935	1.23	.7500	.50
.400	5.24	2.530	.963	1.01	.8400	. 00 <b>.</b>
.300	5.34	2,552	.972	.77	9100	.00
200	5.64	2.623	1.000	53	0600	• 10
.100	5.64	2.623	1 000	•00 26	.9000	•00
.000	5.64	2 623	1 000	• ~ 0	•9900	
	0.01	$\sim \bullet \circ \circ \circ \circ$	<b>T</b> • 000	•00	T.0000	T.00

Static Pressure = 33.48 Cm.Hg.Gauge

 $V_{ave}$  (manometer) = 2.175 ft./sec.

 $V_{ave.}$  (Graphical Integration) = 2.28 ft./sec.

 $V_{ave}/V_{max} = 2.28/2.623 = 0.869$ 

t (Graphical Integration) = 25.52° C.

Re. = 38,900

Run v H-5

#### Station No. 2

(See Run T H-16 for Corresponding Temperature Distribution)

r  R	$\Delta h$ (cm.CCL ₄ )	V (ft./sec.)	` v 	r 2 1-(-) R	$(1-\frac{r}{R})$	V(r/R)
	<b>~</b> -	•	max.			
		х				1 4
0.985	8.30	3.184	0.661	0.0298	0.015	3.14
.970	8.80	3.280	.681	.0591	.03	3.18
.950	9.84	3.466	.720	.0975	.05	3.30
•930	10.70	3.610	,750	.1351	.07	3.36
.900	11.50	3.741	.777	.1900	.10	3.36
.850	12.60	3.917	.813	.2175	.15	3.32
.800	13.80	4.100	.851	.3600	.20	3.28
.700	14.90	4.260	.885	.5100	.30	2.98
.600	15.70	4.374	.908	.6400	.40	2.62
.500	16.70	4.510	.936	.7500	.50	2.26
.400	17.40	4.600	.954	.8400	.60	1.84
.300	17.80	4.660	.966	.9100	.70	1.40
.200	18.40	4.730	.981	.9600	.80	0.95
.100	18.90	4.800	.995	.9900	.90	.48
.DDD	19.10	4.820	1.000	1.0000	1.00	.00

Static Pressure = 35.0 cm.Hg.Gauge  $V_{ave}$  (manometer) = 4.58 ft./sec.  $V_{ave}$  (Graphical Integration) = 4.13 ft./sec.  $V_{ave}/V_{max}$  = 4.13/4.82 = 0.857  $t_{ave}$  (graphical integration) = 22.92° C.

Re. # 66,800

Data of Koo and Sung

Run v H-8

## Station No. 2

(See Run T H-18 for corresponding temperature distribution)

r	Δh	V	V	V(r/R)	r 2	r
R	(Cm.CCL ₄ )	(ft./sec.)	V max.	(ft./sec.)	1 <b>-1-</b> ) R	(1) R
0.991 .970 .950 .930 .900 .850 .800 .700 .600 .500 .400 .300 .200 .100	$\begin{array}{c} 0.50 \\ .70 \\ .80 \\ .86 \\ 1.10 \\ 1.20 \\ 1.30 \\ 1.40 \\ 1.50 \\ 1.60 \\ 1.74 \\ 2.10 \\ 2.20 \\ 2.24 \\ 2.26 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.782 \\ .925 \\ .988 \\ 1.025 \\ 1.160 \\ 1.212 \\ 1.260 \\ 1.307 \\ 1.354 \\ 1.398 \\ 1.458 \\ 1.600 \\ 1.638 \\ 1.652 \\ 1.660 \end{array}$	0.470 .557 .595 .617 .699 .730 .759 .787 .816 .842 .878 .964 .986 .995	$\begin{array}{c} 0.775 \\ .897 \\ .939 \\ .953 \\ 1.044 \\ 1.03 \\ 1.008 \\ .915 \\ .813 \\ .700 \\ .584 \\ .480 \\ .328 \\ .165 \end{array}$	0.0179 .0591 .0975 .1351 .1900 .2775 .3600 .5100 .6400 .7500 .8400 .9100 .9900	0.009 03 05 07 10 15 20 30 40 50 60 .70 80 .90
		±•000	T.000	U	T.0000	⊥.00

Static Pressure = 16.78 Cm.Hg.Gauge V (Manometer) = 1.25 ft./sec. vave. (Graphical Integration) = 1.27 ft./sec. Vave. /V_{max.} = 1.27 1.66 = 0.766 tave. (Graphical Integration) =  $28.56^{\circ}$  C. . Re = 23,200

Run v H-9

#### Station No. 3

(See Run T H-19 for corresponding temperature distribution)

r	Δh	V ·	v	V(r/R)		_
R	(Cm.CCL ₄ )	(ft./sec.)	V max,	(ft./sec.)	1 <b>-(r/</b> H	R) ² 1- r/R
0.985 .970 .950 .930 .90 .85 .80 .70 .60 .50 .40 .30 .20 .10	0.60 .80 .94 1.04 1.12 1.16 1.24 1.40 1.60 1.80 1.90 2.00 2.10	$\begin{array}{c} 0.855 \\ .987 \\ 1.047 \\ 1.072 \\ 1.128 \\ 1.170 \\ 1.190 \\ 1.230 \\ 1.308 \\ 1.400 \\ 1.485 \\ 1.553 \\ 1.553 \\ 1.565 \\ 1.600 \end{array}$	0.534 .617 .655 .670 .705 .732 .744 .769 .817 .875 .928 .970 .978 1.000	0.842 .957 .995 .997 1.015 .995 .952 .862 .785 .700 .594 .466 .314 .160	0.0298 .0591 .0975 .1351 .1900 .2775 .36 .51 .64 .75 .84 .91 .96 .99	0.015 .03 .05 .07 .10 .15 .20 .30 .40 .50 .60 .70 .80 .90
0	2 · TO	1.600	1.00.0	0	1.00	1.00

Static Pressure = 18.04 Cm.Hg.Gauge  $V_{ave.}$  (Manometer) = 1.25 ft./sec.  $V_{ave.}$  (Graphical Integration) = 1.23 ft./sec.  $V_{ave.}/V_{max.}$  = 1.23/1.60 = 0.769 0.77%  $t_{ave.}$  (Graphical Integration) = 37.6° C. Re. = 26,900

Run v H-10

### Station No. 2

(See Run T H-20 for Corresponding Temperature Distribution) .

r	Δh	V	v	<b>v(r/</b> R)	r	r
R	(Cm.CCL ₄ )	(ft./sec.)	V max.	(ft./sec.)	1-(-) ² R	1 R
.991 .970 .950 .930 .900 .850 .800 .700 .600 .500 .400 .300 .200	9.04 10.6 11.1 12.4 13.16 14.6 15.50 16.4 17.7 18.84 19.84 20.4 20.7 21.04	3.30 3.57 3.66 3.86 3.98 4.19 4.32 4.43 4.61 4.76 4.89 4.95 4.99 5.03	.653 .707 .725 .764 .788 .830 .856 .878 .913 .943 .943 .968 .980 .988	3.27 3.46 3.48 3.59 3.58 3.56 3.46 3.10 2.76 2.38 1.96 14.9 1.00 50	.0179 .0591 .0975 .1351 .1900 .2775 .3600 .5100 .6400 .7500 .8400 .9100 .9600	.009 .03 .05 .07 .10 .15 .20 .30 .40 .50 .60 .70 .80
.000	21.14	5.05	1.000	.00	1,0000	1.00

Static Pressure = 39.64 cm.Hg.Gauge  $V_{ave.}$  (manometer) = 4.57 ft./sec.  $V_{ave.}$  (graphical integration) = 4.39 ft./sec.  $V_{ave.}/V_{max.}$  = 4.39/5.06 = 0.869  $t_{ave.}$  (graphical integration) = 25.35° C. Re. = 74,700

## Run v H-11

# Station No. 3

(See Run T H-21 for Corresponding Temperature Distribution)

r -	Δh	v	v	V(r/R)		r
R	(Cm.CCL _e )	(ft./sec.)	V _{max} .	(ft./s.)	1-(r/R)*	3 1 R
<ul> <li>985</li> <li>970</li> <li>950</li> <li>930</li> <li>900</li> <li>850</li> <li>800</li> <li>700</li> <li>600</li> <li>500</li> <li>400</li> <li>300</li> </ul>	6.66 7.56 8.66 9.66 10.36 11.56 12.56 13.88 15.42 17.66 18.8 20.56	2.83 3.01 3.23 3.42 3.53 3.73 3.89 4.08 4.31 4.61 4.76 4.86	.547 .582 .625 .662 .683 .721 .753 .790 .834 .892 .921 .942	2.78 2.92 3.07 3.18 3.18 3.18 3.17 3.12 2.86 2.58 2.31 1.90 1.43	.0298 .0591 .0975 .1351 .1900 .2775 .3600 .5100 .6400 .7500 .8400 .9100	.015 .03 .05 .07 .10 .15 .20 .30 .40 .50 .60 .70
.100	21.36 21.76 22.16	5.07 5.11 5.17	.980 .990 1.000	1.01 .51 .00	.9600 .9900 1.0000	.80 .90

Static Pressure = 42.14 cm.Hg.Gauge  $V_{ave.}$  (manometer) = 4.57 ft./sec.  $V_{ave.}$  (graphical integration) = 4.02 ft./sec.  $V_{ave.}/V_{max.}$  = 4.02/5.17 = 0.778  $t_{ave.}$  (graphical integration) = 28.8° C. Re. # 73,800

Run v H-12

### Station No. 2

(See Run T H-22 for Corresponding Temperature Distribution)

	Δh	V	v	ŗ, ŗ	r	V(r/R)
r/R	$(cm.CCL_4)$	(ft./sec.)	V _{max} .	1-(-) R	(1) R	(ft. per sec.)
001	5 30	2 52	0 620	0179	0.009	2 50
.991 070	6.30	2.75	-675	.0591	.03	2.67
950	7 32	2.96	727	.0975	.05	2.82
.930	7.8	3.06	752	1351	.07	2.84
.900	8.4	3.18	.782	.1900	.10	2.86
.850	8.96	3.28	.806	.2775	.15	2.79
.800	9.50	3.38	.830	.36	.20	2.70
.700	10.24	3.51	.863	.51	.30	2.46
.600	11.10	3.66	.900	•64	.40	2.20
.500	12.2	3.83	.941	.75	.50	1.92
.400	12.64	3.90	<b>95</b> 8	.84	.60	1.56
.300	13.14	3.98	.978	.91	.70	1.19
.200	13.30	4.00	<b>.</b> 983	.96	.80	0.80
.100	13.80	4.07	1.000	.99	.90	0.41
.000	13.80	4.07	1.000	1.00	1.00	0.00

Static Pressure - 22.86 cm.Hg.Gauge

V_{ave} (manometer) = 3.56 ft./sec. V_{ave} (graphical integration) = 3.46 ft./sec. V_{ave} /V = 3.46/4.07 = 0.850t_{ave} (graphical integration) =  $25.92^{\circ}$  C. Re. = 59,600

Run v H-13

## Station No. 3

(See Run T H-23 for Corresponding Temperature Distribution)

r	Δh	V	V	V(r/R)	$r_{2}$	<b>r</b>
R	(cm.CCL4)	(ft./sec.)	V _{max} .	(ft. per sec.)	1-(-) R	R
0.005	4 50	0 33	0 573	2.30	0.0298	0.015
0.985	4.50	2.00	.600	2,36	.0591	.03
.970	4.90 R 6	2.59	637	2.46	.0975	.05
.900	6 16	2.72	668	2.53	.1351	.07
•900 000	6 76	2.85	.700	2.56	.1900	.10
• <del>9</del> 00 850	7.56	3.01	.740	2.56	.2775	.15
-000 -008	8.16	3.14	.772	2.51	.3600	.20
.700	9.26	3.34	.821	2.34	.5100	.30
600	10.24	3.51	.863	2.10	.6400	.40
.500	10.96	3.63	.892	1.82	.7500	.50
400	11.76	3.76	.925	1.50	.8400	.60
.300	12.96	3.95	.970	1.19	.9100	.70
.200	13.36	4.01	.987	.80	.9600	.80
.100	13.66	4.05	.995	.41	.9900	.90
.000	13.80	4.07	1.000	.00	1.0000	1.00

Static Pressure = 24.28 cm.Hg.Gauge  $V_{ave.}$  (manometer) = 3.56 ft./sec.  $V_{ave.}$  (graphical integration) = 3.22 ft./sec.  $V_{ave.}/V$  = 3.22/4.07 = 0.791  $t_{ave.}$  (graphical integrayion) = 30.8 ° C. Re. = 61,600 Run v H-14

(For corresponding Temperature Distribution, see Run T H-24)

r	Δh	v	V	v(r/R)	r (7 )
R	(Cm.CCL ₄ )	(ft./sec.)	V max.	(ft. per sec.)	(1) R
.991	7.4	3.02	0.634	2.99	0.009
.970	. 8.0	3.14	.660	3.045	.030
.950	8.8	3.29	.691	3.125	.050
.930	9.6	3.43	.720	3.19	.070
.900	10.4	3.56	.748	3.20	.100
.850	11.4	3.72	.782	3.16	.150
.800	12.0	3.82	.802	3.06	.200
.700	13.2	4.00	.840	2.80	.300
.600	14.2	4.16	.874	2.50	.400
.500	15.2	4.30	•903	2.15	.500
.400	16 <b>.0</b>	4.42	•929	1.77	.600
.300	17.0	4.56	.959	1.37	.700
.200	17.8	4.66	.980	0.932	.800
.100	18.2	4.71	.990	0.471	.900
.000	18.6	4.76	1.000	0.00	1.000

Static Pressure = 32.6 cm.Hg.Gauge  $V_{ave.}$  (manometer) = 3.92 ft./sec.  $V_{ave.}$  (graphical integration) = 3.928 ft./sec.  $V_{ave.}/V_{max.}$  = 3.928/4.76 = 0.825  $t_{ave.}$  (graphical integration) = 18.72° C. Re. = 57,200

## Run v H-15

(For Corresponding Temperature Distribution, see Run T H-25)

r	Δh	v	V	V(r/R)	(1 m/R)
R	$(cm.CCL_4)$	(ft./sec.)	V max.	(ft./sec.)	(1-1-/11)
.985 .970 .950 .930 .900 .850 .800 .700 .600 .500 .400 .300	$\begin{array}{c} 6.2 \\ 7.0 \\ 8/0 \\ 8.8 \\ 9.6 \\ 10.4 \\ 11.2 \\ 12.6 \\ 14.0 \\ 15.4 \\ 16.4 \\ 17.4 \\ 19.2 \\ \end{array}$	2.77 2.94 3.14 3.29 3.43 3.58 3.69 3.91 4.12 4.33 4.47 4.61	0.578 614 656 687 717 747 770 816 860 905 934 963 985	2.73 2.85 2.98 3.06 3.085 3.04 2.95 2.74 2.47 2.17 1.79 1.38 0.942	$\begin{array}{c} 0.015 \\ 0.030 \\ 0.050 \\ 0.070 \\ 100 \\ 150 \\ .200 \\ .300 \\ .400 \\ .500 \\ .600 \\ .700 \\ .800 \end{array}$
.100 .000	18.6 18.8	4.76 4.79	.995 1.000	0.476	.900 1.000

Static Pressure = 35.0 cm.Hg.Gauge

V_{ave.} (manometer) = 3.92 ft./sec. V_{ave.} (graphical integration) = 3.87 ft./sec. V_{ave.}/V_{max.} = 3.87/4.76 = 0.809t_{ave.} (graphical integration) =  $24.28^{\circ}$  C. Re. = 64,100
(For corresponding Temperature Distribution, see Run T H-26)

r	۵h	и <b>V</b> и и	V	$V(\mathbf{r}/R)$	r
R	$(cm.CCL_4)$	(ft./sec.)	V _{max} .	(ft./sec.)	(1 ) R
.991	3.2	1.97	0.588	1.95	0.0 <b>09</b>
.970	4.0	2.21	.660	2.14	.030
•950	4.4	2.31	<b>.</b> 690	2.195	.050
.930	4.8	2.42	.723	2.25	.070
.900	5.2	2.52	.752	2.27	.100
.850	5.6	2.61	.780	2.22	.150
.800	<b>8</b> .0	2.70	.806	2.16	\$200
.700	6.6	2.83	<b>.</b> 845	1.98	•300
.600	7.3	2.98	.890	1.79	.400
.500	-8.0	3.12	.931	l.56	.500
.400	8.4	3.20	. 955	1.28	<b>.60</b> 0
.300	8.7	3.26	.973	0.978	.700
.200	8.9	3.295	.984	0.659	.800
.100	9.1	3.33	.994	0.333	.900
.000	9.2	3.35	1.000	0.00	1.000

Static Pressure = 30.20 Cm.Hg.Gauge  $V_{av}$ . (for manometer) = 2.84 ft./sec.  $V_{ave}$ . (from Graphical Integration) = 2.806 ft./sec.  $V_{ave}$ ./ $V_{max}$ . =  $\frac{12.806}{-----}$  = 0.838  $t_{av}$  = 19.36° C.

 $\frac{1.952 \times 2.806 \times 10^5}{12 \times 1.101} = 41,500$ 

Station No. 3

(For corresponding temperature distribution, see Run T H-27)

r	$\Delta \mathbf{h}$	V	V	V(r/R)	
R	$(cm.CCL_4^\circ)$	(ft./sec.)	V max.	(ft./sec.)	(1- <b>r</b> /R)
.985 .970 .950 .930 .900 .850 .800 .700 .600 .500 .400 .300 .200	3.2 3.8 4.4 4.8 5.2 5.6 6.0 6.7 7.4 8.0 8.5 8.9 9.2	1.97 2.154 2.31 2.42 2.52 2.61 2.70 2.78 3.00 3.12 3.22 3.295 3.35	0.580 0.634 0.680 .712 .741 .768 .795 .818 .883 .918 .947 .970 .985	1.94 2.09 2.195 2.25 2.27 2.22 2.16 1.946 1.80 1.56 1.29 .989 .670	$\begin{array}{c} 0.015 \\ .030 \\ .050 \\ .070 \\ .100 \\ .150 \\ .200 \\ .230 \\ .300 \\ .400 \\ .500 \\ .600 \\ .700 \end{array}$
.000	9.5	3.40	1.000	.000	.900

Static Pressure = 32.6 Cm.Hg.Gauge  $V_{ave.}$  (from manometer) = 2.84 ft./sec.  $V_{ave.}$  (from graphical integration) = 2.806 ft./sec.

.  $V_{ave.}/V_{max.} = 2.806/3.40 = 0.826$   $t_{av} = 25.52^{\circ} \text{ C.}$ .  $Re = \frac{1.952 \times 2.806 \times 10^{5}}{12 \times 0.955} = 47,850$ 

(for Corresponding Temperature Distribution, see Run T H-28)

r	Δh	V	V	v(r/R)	
R	(Cm.CCL ₄ )	(ft./sec.)	V _{max} ,	(ft./sec.)	(1-r/R)
.991	9.2	3.36	0.630	3.33	0.009
.970	10.0	3.49	.655	3.385	.030
.950	11.2	3.69	.692	3.505	.050
.930	12.0	3.82	.717	3.55	.070
.900	13.0	3.97	.745	3.575	.100
.850	14.4	4.18	.785	3.555	.150
.800	15.3	4.33	.812	3.46	.200
.700	17.0	4.55	.853	3.18	.300
.600	. 18.4	4.74	.889	2.84	.400
.500	19.6	4.89	.918	2.445	.500
.400	20.8	5.03	.944	2.01	.600
.300	21.8	5.15	.966	1.545	.700
.200	22.4	5.21	.979	1.04	.800
.100	23.0	5.28	.991	0.528	.900
.000	23.4	5.33	1.000	0.000	1.000

Static Pressure = 39.8 Cm.Hg.Gauge  $V_{ave.}$  (for manometer) = 4.76 ft./sec.  $V_{ave.}$  (for graphical integration) = 4.434 ft./sec.  $V_{ave.}/V_{max.} = 4.434/5.33 = 0.832$ t = 17.6° C. ave.

Station No. 3

r	Δh	V	v	v(r/R)	
R	$(Cm.CCL_4)$	(ft./sec.)	V max.	(ft./sec.)	(1 <b>-r</b> /R)
.985	8.6	3.25	0.607	3.20	0.015
.970	9.6	3.43	.641	3.33	•03 <u>0</u>
<b>.</b> 950	11.0	3.66	.684	3.48	.05
.930	11.8	3.78	.707	3,515	.070
•900	12.8	3.94	.736	3.545	.100
.850	14.2	4.16	.778	3.535	.150
.800	15.0	4.28	.800	3.42	.200
.700	16.8	4.52	<b>.84</b> 5	3.165	.300
.600	18.4	4.74	.885	2.84	.400
.500	19.8	4.91	.918	2.455	.500
.400	21.0	5.05	.944	2.02	.600
.300	22.0	5.17	.966	1.55	.700
.200	22.6	5.24	979	1.048	.800
.100	23.2	5.30	.991	.530	.900
.000	23.6	5.35	1.000	.000	1.000

(For corresponding temperature distribution, see Run T H-29)

Static Pressure = 42.2 Cm.Hg.Gauge

V (Manometer) = 4.76 ft./sec. ave. V (for Graphical Integration) = 4.432 ft./sec. V ave. V  $v_{ave}/v_{max}$  =  $\frac{4.432}{5.35}$  = 0.828

(For Corresponding Temperature Distribution, see Run T H-30)

r	Δh	V	V	V(r/R)	(7, (7))
R	(Cm.CCL ₄ )	(ft./sec.)	V _{max} .	(ft./sec.)	(1 <b>-r</b> /K)
.991	0.80	0.993	0.519	0.984	0.00 <b>9</b>
.970	1.00	1.103	0.577	1.070	0.030
.950	1.06	1.25	0.654	1.188	0.050
.900	1.60	1.394	0.730	1.255	0.100
.800	2.00	1.56	0.815	1.248	0.200
.700	2.20	1.64	0.858	1.149	0.300
.600	2.30	1.675	0.875	1.005	0.400
.400	2.60	1.78	0.931	0.684	0.600
.200	2.80	1.85	0.968	0.370	0.800
0.000	3.00	1.913	1.000	0.000	1.000

Static Pressure = 24.0 Cm.Hg.Gauge

(Manometer out of order)

V (Graphical Integration) = 1.557 ft./sec. ave.

.  $V_{ave} / V_{max.} = \frac{1.557}{1.913} = 0.814$ 

 $t_{ave.} = 10.48^{\circ} C.$ 

## Station No. 3

(For corresponding temperature distribution, See Run TH-31)

r	Δh	V	ν	V(r/R)	
R	(Cm.CCL ₄ )	(ft./sec.)	V _{max} .	(ft./sec.)	$(1-\mathbf{r}/\mathbf{R})$
.985	0.60	0.863	0.424	0.850	0.015
.970	0.80	0.993	0.488	0,963	.030
.950	1.20	1.208	0.593	1.148	.050
.900	1.40	1.33	0.654	1.197	.100
.800	1.80	1.48	0.727	1.184	.200
.700	2.20	1.64	0.806	1.148	.300
600	2.40	1.71	0.840	1.027	.400
.400	2.90	1.88	0.924	0.752	<b>.60</b> 0
.200	3.20	1.977	0.971	0.396	.800
.000	3.40	2.036	1.000	0.000	1.000

Static Pressure = 25.2 Cm.Hg.Gauge (Main Line Orifice out of Order)  $V_{ave}$  (Graphical Integration) = 1.560 ft./sec.  $V_{ave}/V_{max} = \frac{1.56}{2.036} = 0.767$  $t_{ave} = 18.4^{\circ}$  C.

 $R_{e} = \frac{1.952 \times 1.56^{\circ} \times 10^{5}}{12 \times 1.127} = 22,500$ 

Station No. 2

r	Δh	V	V	V( <b>r/</b> R)	(1 - 1)
R.	$(Cm.CCL_4)$	(ft./sec.)	V _{max} .	ft./sec.	( <b>1-</b> r/n)
.991 .970 .950 .900 .800 .700 .600 .400 .200	2.3 2.5 2.7 3.2 3.5 3.8 4.1 4.4 4.6	1.673 $1.745$ $1.81$ $1.97$ $2.066$ $2.153$ $2.238$ $2.314$ $2.364$ $2.470$	0.678 .707 .733 .798 .838 .872 .906 .936 .956	$ \begin{array}{r} 1.66\\ 1.693\\ 1.72\\ 1.773\\ 1.655\\ 1.507\\ 1.342\\ 0.926\\ 0.473\\ 0.000 \end{array} $	0.009 0.030 0.050 0.100 0.200 0.300 0.400 0.600 0.800 1.000

(For corresponding temperature distribution, see Run T H-32)

Static Pressure = 24.2 Cm.Hg.Gauge

(Main Line Orifice Out of Order)

 $V_{ave.}$  (Graphical Integration) = 2.12 ft./sec.

.  $V_{ave}/V_{max} = \frac{2.12}{2.47} = 0.859$ 

t = 
$$9.2^{\circ}$$
 C.  
ave.  
. 1.952 x 2.12 x 10⁵  
. Re = -----------------= 23,900

Run V H-23

Station No. 3

(For corresponding temperature distribution, See Run T H-33)

r ·	Δh	V	V	V(r/R)	( <b>1</b> / <b>D</b> )
R	$(Cm_{\bullet}CCL_{4})$	(ft./sec.)	V _{max} .	(ft./sec.)	(1 <b>-P</b> / <b>R</b> )
.985	2.0	1.56	0.632	1.536	0.015
.970	2.2	1.636	.662	1.586	.030
.950	2.4	1.71	.693	1.624	.050
.900	2.9	1.88	.762	1.693	.100
.800	3.2	1.976	.800	1.58	.200
.700	3.6	2.094	.848	1.467	.300
.600	3.9	2.184	.885	1.31	.400
400	4.2	2.263	.917	0.905	.600
200	4.6	2.368	.959	0.474	.800
.000	5.0	2.47	1.000	0.000	1.000

Static Pressure = 25.2 Cm.Hg.Gauge

(Main Line Orifice Manometer out of Order)

Vave. (Graphical Integration) = 2.050 ft./sec.

• 
$$V_{ave}/V_{max} = 2.05/2.47 = 0.830$$

 $t_{ave.} = 17.12^{\circ} C.$ 

 $1.952 \times 2.05 \times 10^{5}$ . Re = ------ = 28,600 12 x 1.164

Station No. 3

r	<b>≜</b> h	V	V	$V(\mathbf{r}/R)$	
R	(Cm.CCL ₄ )	(ft./sec.)	V _{max} .	(ft./sec.)	( <b>1-r</b> / <b>R</b> )
.985 .970 .950 .900 .800 .700 .600 .400 .200 .000	$2.70 \\ 3.20 \\ 3.50 \\ 3.90 \\ 4.30 \\ 4.60 \\ 5.10 \\ 5.50 \\ 5.70 \\ 5.90 \\ $	1.816 1.977 2.064 2.184 2.290 2.369 2.369 2.494 2.59 2.636 2.680	0.677 0.738 0.770 0.815 0.855 0.884 0.930 0.966 0.982 1.000	1.788 1.917 1.960 1.968 1.832 1.658 1.497 1.038 0.527 0.000	0.015 .030 .050 .100 .200 .300 .400 .600 .800 1.000

(For Corresponding Temperature Distribution, see Run T H-34)

Static Pressure = 44.0 Cm.Hg.Gauge

(No manometer reading, since  $H_2O$  was discarded at bottom)

 $V_{ave.}$  (Graphical Integration) = 2.35⁰ ft./sec.

 $V_{ave} / V_{max} = 2.35/2.68 = 0.877$ 

t = 15.28° C.

 $1.952 \times 2.350 \times 10^5$ . Re = ----- = 31,300

Station No. 2

(For corresponding Temperature Distribution, see Run T H-35)

r	∆h	V	v	V(r/R)	
R	$(Cm.CCL_4)$	(ft./sec.)	V max.	(ft.sec.)	( <b>1-r</b> / <b>R</b> )
.991	11.6	3.758	0.702	3.72	0.009
.970	13.4	4.042	0.755	3.92	.030
.950	14.5	4.204	.786	3.99	.050
.900	15.9	4.402	.823	3.96	.100
.800	17.9	4.67	.874	3.74	.200
.700	19.6	4.887	.914	3.42	.300
.6 <b>6</b> 0	21.0	5.06	.945	3.04	.400
.400	22.2	5.202	.972	2.08	.600
.200	23.2	5.314	•99 <b>4</b>	1.063	.800
.000	23.5	5.35	. 1.000	0.00	1.000

Static Pressure = 33.3 Cm.Hg.Gauge

 $V_{ave}$  (manometer) = 4.97 ft.sec.

 $V_{ave}$  (Graphical Integration) = 4.77 ft./sec.

$$V_{ave}/V_{max} = 4.77/5.35 = 0.892$$

# Station No. 3

r	∆h	v	V	V(r/R)	
R	$(Cm.CCL_4)$	(ft./sec.)	V max.	(ft./sec.)	(1 <b>-</b> r/R)
0.985	10.4	3.56	0.648	3.505	0.015
.970	11.8	3.79	0.690	3.68	.030
.950	13.0	3.98	.724	3.78	.050
.900	14.6	4.218	.767	3.80	.100
.800	16.9	4.539	.825	3.63	.200
.700	18.9	4.80	.873	3.36	.300
.600	20.9	5.048	.918	3.03	.400
.400	23.0	5.29	.962	2.115	.600
.200	24.4	5.452	.991	1.09	.800
.000	24.8	5.498	1.000	0.00	1.000

(For corresponding temperature distribution, See Run T H-36)

Static Pressure = 33.8 Cm.Hg.Gauge

V_{ave} (Manometer) = 4.97 ft./sec. V (Graphical Integration) = 4.705 ft./sec. ave.

 $V_{ave}/V_{max} = 4.705/5.498 = 0.856$ 

 $t_{ave.} = 12.3^{\circ} C.$ 

Run v H-26





N













V









:





















# APPENDIX F

VELOCITY DISTRIBUTION DATA DURING COUNTER CURRENT HEATING WITH CALCULATIONS AND PLOTS.

( Water Flowing Upward )

Run V

H-27(Counter current)

Station No. 4

(For corresponding temperature distribution, see Run T H-39)

r	Δh	v	v	v(r/R)	(1-n/R)	
R	(Cm.CCL ₄ )	(ft./sec.)	v max.	(ft./sec.)	(1-1/11)	
0.989	5.70	2.636	0.576	2.605	0.011	
970	7.00	2.92	.638	2.83	.030	
.950	7.80	3.082	.674	2.925	.050	
.90	9.00	3.31	.723	2.98	.10	
.80	10.6	3.594	.786	2.875	.20	
.70	12.4	3.887	.850	2.72	.30	
.60	13.7	4.087	.894	2.455	.40	
.40	15.4	4.332	.946	1.732	•60 ·	
.20	16.8	4.525	.989	.905	.80	
.00	17.2	4.577	1.000	.000	1.00	

Static Pressure = 19.2 Cm.Hg.Gauge

Vave. (Graphical Integration) = 3.86 ft./sec.

.  $V_{ave}/V_{max} = \frac{3.76}{4.577} = 0.822$ 

Run v H-28 (Counter Current)

Station No. 4

(For corresponding temperature distribution, see Run T H-41)

r R	$\Delta h$ (Cm.CCL ₄ )	V (ft./sec.)	V V max.	V (r/R) (ft./sec.)	(1-r/R)
.970	5.20	2.52	.701	2.395	.050
•90	5.80	2.658	.740	2.390	.10
.80	7.10	2.938	.818	2.35	.20
.70	7.90	3.103	<b>.</b> 864	2.17	.30
.60	8.40	3.20	.891	1.92	.40
.40	9.40	3.386	.943	1.355	.60
.20	10.30	3.54	.985	.708	.80
.00	10.60	3.593	1.000	.000	1.00

Static Pressure = 24.8 Cm.Hg.Gauge

 $V_{ave}$  (Graphical Integration) = 2.98 ft./sec. 2.98  $V_{ave}/V_{max}$  = 0.829 3.593
Run v H-29 (Counter Current)

(For corresponding temperature distribution, See Run TH-42)

r	Δh	v	V	V(r/R)	1_n/B
R	(Cm.CCL ₄ )	(cu.ft./sec.)	V _{max} .	(ft./sec.)	1-1/11
0.991 .970 .950 .90 .80 .70 .60 .40 .20	4.20 4.80 5.40 6.13 7.30 7.90 8.52 9.38 10.10	2.264 2.419 2.567 2.73 2.98 3.102 3.203 3.380 3.508 7.508	0.636 .680 .721 .767 .837 .872 .905 .950 .986	2.243 2.345 2.44 2.455 2.385 2.17 1.935 1.354 0.702	$\begin{array}{c} 0.009 \\ 0.030 \\ 0.050 \\ 10 \\ .20 \\ .30 \\ .40 \\ .60 \\ .80 \\ 1.00 \end{array}$

Static Pressure = 20.6 cm. Hg. Gauge

 $V_{ave.}$  (Graphical Integration) = 3.03 ft./sec.

 $v_{ave}/v_{max} = 3.03/3.56 = 0.851$ 

Run V H-30 (Counter Current)

Station No. 4

(For corresponding temperature distribution, see Run TH-43)

r	Δł	l	V	. <b>V</b>	V(r/R)	
R	(Cm.(	CCL ₄ )	(.ft./sec.)	V max.	(ft./sec.)	(1-r/R)
0.00	20	0.94	1 015	0 590	1 004	0 011
0.90	59 70	1.06	1.132	.647	1.098	.030
.9	50	1.17	1.192	.681	1.132	.050
.9	0	1.39	1.30	.743	1.170	.10
.8	0	1.69	1.43	.817	1.144	.20
.7	0	1.79	1.475	.843	1.033	.30
.6	0	1.94	1.53 <b>3</b>	.876	0.920	.40
.4	0	2.19	1.633	.934	0.654	.60
.20	0	2.36	1.697	.970	0.340	<b>.</b> 80
.0	0	2.51	1.750	1.000	0	1.00

Static Pressure = 34.40 Cm.Hg.Gauge

 $V_{ave.}$  (weighing) = 1.434 ft./sec.

V (Graphical Integration) = 1.442 ft./sec. ave.

.  $v_{\text{ave}} / v_{\text{max}} = \frac{1.442}{1.750} = 0.824$ 

(For corresponding temperature distribution, See Run T H-45)

R(Cm.CCL_4)(ft./sec.)V max.(ft./sec.)(1- $r/r$ 0.9895.102.4940.6272.4670.011.9705.702.637.6622.557.030.9506.302.77.6962.63.050.907.202.96.7442.663.100.808.603.24.8142.59.20.709.603.42.8602.393.30.6010.303.54.8902.125.40.4011.703.77.9471.51.60	r	∆h	V	v	V(r/R)	
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	R	(Cm.CCL ₄ )	(ft./sec.)	V max.	(ft./sec.)	$(1-\mathbf{r}/\mathbf{R})$
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	_		١			
.970 $5.70$ $2.637$ $.662$ $2.557$ $.030$ $.950$ $6.30$ $2.77$ $.696$ $2.63$ $.050$ $.90$ $7.20$ $2.96$ $.744$ $2.663$ $.100$ $.80$ $8.60$ $3.24$ $.814$ $2.59$ $.20$ $.70$ $9.60$ $3.42$ $.860$ $2.393$ $.30$ $.60$ $10.30$ $3.54$ $.890$ $2.125$ $.40$ $.40$ $11.70$ $3.77$ $.947$ $1.51$ $.60$	0.989	5.10	2.494	0.627	2.467	0.011
.9506.302.77.6962.63.050.907.202.96.7442.663.100.808.603.24.8142.59.20.709.603.42.8602.393.30.6010.303.54.8902.125.40.4011.703.77.9471.51.60	.970	5.70	2.637	.662	2.557	.030
.907.202.96.7442.663.100.808.603.24.8142.59.20.709.603.42.8602.393.30.6010.303.54.8902.125.40.4011.703.77.9471.51.60	.950	6.30	2.77	.696	2.63	.050
.80       8.60       3.24       .814       2.59       .20         .70       9.60       3.42       .860       2.393       .30         .60       10.30       3.54       .890       2.125       .40         .40       11.70       3.77       .947       1.51       .60	.90	7.20	2.96	.744	2.663	.100
.70       9.60       3.42       .860       2.393       .30         .60       10.30       3.54       .890       2.125       .40         .40       11.70       3.77       .947       1.51       .60	.80	8.60	3,24	.814	2.59	.20
.60       10.30       3.54       .890       2.125       .40         .40       11.70       3.77       .947       1.51       .60	.70	9.60	3.42	.860	2.393	.30
.40 11.70 3.77 .947 1.51 .60	.60	10.30	3.54	.890	2.125	.40
	.40	11.70	3.77	.947	1.51	.60
20 12 60 3 92 985 0.784 .80	20	12 60	3 92	985	0.784	.80
.00 13.00 3.98 1.000 0.0 1.00	.00	13.00	3.98	1.000	0.0	1.00

Static Pressure = 23.70 Cm.Hg.Gauge

 $V_{ave}$  (Graphical Integration) = 3.33 ft./sec.

 $V_{ave}/V_{max} = \frac{3.33}{3.98} = 0.837$ 

#### Run V

### H-32 (Counter Current)

Station No. 5

r	Δh	. V	v	v(r/R)	$(1 - \sqrt{2})$
R	(CCm.CCL ₄ )	(ft./sec.)	V max.	(ft./sec.)	(1-1/1)
0.991	5.35	2.554	0.642	2.530	0.009
.970	5.98	2.700	.679	2.62	.030
.950	6.23	2.75	.691	2.61	.050
.90	7.23	2.966	.745	2.67	.10
.80	8.23	3.166	.795	2.535	.20
.70	9.23	3.355	.843	2.35	.30
.60	10.15	3.515	.884	2.11	.40
.40	11.48	3.74	.940	1.496	.60
.20	12.47	3.90	.980	0.78	.80
.00	12.98	3.98	1.000	0.00	1.00

(For corresponding temperature distribution, see Run T H-46)

Static Pressure = 24.0 cm. Hg. Gauge

V (Graphical Integration) = 3.30 ft./sec. 3.30

 $v_{ave}/v_{max} = \frac{3.30}{3.98} = 0.830$ 

Run V H-33 (Counter Current)

Station No. 4

(For corresponding temperature distribution, see Run T H-49)

r	Δh	v	V	V(r/R)	(1 m/P)
R	(CCm.CCL ₄ )	(ft./sec.)	V _{max} .	(ft./sec.)	(1-1/1)
0 <b>.9</b> 90	0.78	0.980	0.518	0.970	0.01
.970	0.962	1.08	.571	1.048	.03
.950	1.17	1,193	.631	1.133	.05
.90	1.56	1.372	.726	1.234	.10
.80	1.82	1.483	<b>.</b> 785	1.186	.20
.70	2.08	1.59	.842	1.113	.30
.60	2.21	1.64	.868	0.985	.40
.40	2.60	1.78	.942	0.712	.60
.20	2.80	1.85	.979	0.370	•80 °
.00	2.93	1.89	1.000	0.00	1.00

Static Pressure = 32.2 Cm.Hg.Gauge

Vave. (weighing) = 1.515 ft.sec.

 $V_{ave.}$  (Graphival Integration) = 1.526 ft./sec. .  $V_{ave.}/V_{max.} = \frac{1.526}{1.89} = 0.807$ 

r R	$\Delta h$ (CCm.CCL ₄ )	V (ft./sec.)	V V _{max} .	v(r/R) (ft./sec.)	(l <b>-r/</b> R)
0.991 .970 .950 .90 .80 .70 .60 .40 .20 .00	0.80 0.95 1.15 1.35 1.60 1.90 2.30 2.65 2.90 3.00	0.990 1.077 1.184 1.28 1.394 1.52 1.676 1.80 1.880 1.91	0.518 .564 .620 .730 .736 .877 .943 .984 1.000	0.981 1.045 1.126 1.152 1.116 1.064 1.006 0.720 0.376 0.00	0.009 030 050 10 20 30 40 60 80 1.00

Run V H-34 (Counter Current) Station No. 5

(For corresponding temperature distribution, see Run T H-50)

Static Pressure = 36.2 Cm.Hg.Gauge

V (Weighing) = 1.515 ft./sec.

 $V_{ave}$  (Graphical Integration) = 1.510 ft./sec.

.  $V_{ave}/V_{max} = 1.51/1.91 = 0.791$ 

Run V H-35 (Counter Current)

t) Station No. 4

(For corresponding temperature distribution, see Run T H-51)

r	۵h	v	V	<b>v(r/</b> R)	(1 - P)
R	(CCm.CCL ₄ )	(ft./sec.)	V _{max} .	(ft./sec.)	(1-1/1)
0.990	1.70	1.436	0.600	1.421	0.010
.970	2,10	1.596	<b>.</b> 667	1.547	.030
.950	2.30	1.676	.701	1.592	.050
.90	2.60	1.780	.745	1.602	.10
.80	3.20	1.976	.826	1.580	.20
.70	3.60	2.095	.876	1.468	.30
.60	3.80	2.155	.901	1.293	.40
.40	4.20	2.264	.947	0.906	.60
.20	4.50	2.340	.979	0.468	.80
.00	4.70	2.393	1.000	0.00	1.00

Static Pressure = 30.2 Cm.Hg.Gauge

 $V_{ave.}$  (Graphical Integration) = 2.02 ft./sec.

.  $V_{\text{ave}}/V_{\text{max}} = \frac{2.02}{2.393} = 0.844$ 

Run V H-36 (Counter Current) Station No. 5

(For corresponding temperature distribution, see Run T H-52)

r	∆h	V	V	V(r/R)	(1 n/R)
R	(CCm.CCL ₄ )	(ft./sec.)	V max.	(ft./sec.)	(1-1/11)
0.990	1.80	1.48	0.612	1.467	.010
.970	2.00	1.56	.645	1.513	.030
.950	2.20	1.64	.678	1.558	•050°
.90	2.50	1.746	.722	1.572	.10
.80	3.10	1.945	.804	1.557	.20
.70	3.60	2.095	.866	1.468	.30
.60	3.90	2.183	.904	1.310	.40
.40	4.30	2.29	.946	0.916	•60 ·
.20	4.60	2.368	.979	0.473	<b>.</b> 80
.00	4.80	2.42	1.000	0.00	1.00

Static Pressure = 24.0 Cm.Hg.Gauge

V (Graphical Integration) = 2.02 ft./sec.

•  $v_{ave}/v_{max} = 2.02/2.42 = 0.835$ 





















## APPENDIX G

TEMPERATURE DISTRIBUTION DATA DURING PARALLEL <u>CURRENT HEATING WITH CALCULATIONS AND</u> <u>PLOTS</u> (Water Flowing Downward)

(See V Haj for Corresponding Vel. Distribution)

r R	rdg. in mo.	¢Č.	twt tw ⇔ta	$t(\frac{r}{R})$ ( °C )	$l_{\leftrightarrow}(\frac{r}{R})^{2}$	1 <u>-                                   </u>
1.000 0.991 0.970 0.950 0.930 0.930 0.900 0.850 0.800 0.800 0.800 0.700 0.600 0.450 0.300 0.150 0.000	1.295 1.165 1.130 1.050 1.053 1.015 0.98 0.945 0.890 0.870 0.870 0.870	31.8 28.7 27.9 26.7 26.7 26.0 25.1 24.3 23.7 21.6 21.6 21.6	.\$19 .\$74 .\$88 .\$99 .910 .922 .938 .952 .962 .991 1.000 1.000 1.000	(78.0) 31.5 27.8 26.5 25.4 24.0 22.1 20.1 17.0 14.2 10.0 6.5 3.2 0.0	0.0179 0.0591 0.0975 0.1351 0.1900 0.2775 0.3600 0.5100 0.6400 0.798 0.910 0.978 1.000	0.009 0.03 0.05 0.07 0.10 0.15 0.20 0.30 0.40 0.55 0.70 0.85 1.00

t (outside wall) = 78.9°C.  $V_{ave}$  (from graph) = 2.28 ft./sec.  $t_{w} - t_{a} = 56.4°C.$  $t_{ave}$  (from Graph) = 25.52°C.

 $t_m$  (Graphical integration) = 23.77°C.

Station No. 2

ŦR	rdg. in mo.	°C.	tw-t °C.	$\frac{t_{w}-t}{t_{w}-t_{a}}$	$t(\frac{r}{R})$ oC.	$(1 - \frac{r}{R})$
1.000 0.991 0.970 0.950 0.930 0.930 0.930 0.930 0.930 0.930 0.930 0.90 0.855 0.850 0.70 0.60 0.455 0.30 0.15 0.00	1.020 0.995 0.985 0.970 0.960 0.945 0.930 0.930 0.855 0.865 0.865 0.855 0.850	25.3 24.7 24.4 24.1 23.9 23.5 23.1 22.25 22.0 21.5 21.4 21.25 21.15	4455691597056785 4454667888 44556678 4466788 4488 4488 4488 4488 4488 44	0.915 0.926 0.933 0.940 0.943 0.951 0.960 0.977 0.981 0.992 0.994 0.997 1.000	(70.0) 25.0 24.0 23.2 22.4 21.5 20.0 18.5 15.6 13.2 9.7 6.4 3.2 0	0.009 0.030 0.050 0.070 0.10 0.15 0.20 0.30 0.40 0.55 0.70 0.85 1.00

(For corresponding velocity distribution, See Run V H-5)

 $t_{0.W.} = 70.9 \text{ (assumed)}$   $t_{1} = \text{Inlet temperature} = 20.4\circ\text{C.}$   $t_{e} = \text{Exit temperature} = 24.6\circ\text{C.}$   $t_{w} = 70.0\circ\text{C.}$   $t_{w} - t_{a} = 48.85\circ\text{C.}$   $t_{ave} \text{ (Graphical integration)} = 22.92\circ\text{C.}$   $t_{m} \text{ (Graphical integration)} = 22.69\circ\text{C.}$ 

#### RUN T Hals

(See Run V H-S for corresponding Vel. Distribution)

r R	Rdg. in mo.	°C.	$\frac{\mathbf{t_w} - \mathbf{t}}{\mathbf{t_w} - \mathbf{t_a}}$	$t(\frac{r}{R})(\circ C)$	$l_{r}(\frac{\mathbf{r}}{R})^{\mathbf{s}}$	$1-\frac{r}{R}$
1.000 0.987 0.970 0.950 0.930 0.930 0.900 0.850 0.800 0.800 0.800 0.800 0.800 0.800 0.800 0.800 0.150 0.000	1.505 1.340 1.265 1.250 1.200 1.170 1.145 1.085 1.040 1.000 0.960 0.940 0.935	36.80 32.90 31.10 30.70 29.50 28.80 28.20 26.80 25.75 24.80 23.90 23.40 23.25	•787 •848 •876 •883 •902 •913 •922 •944 •960 •975 •989 •997 1.000	(86.70) 36.30 31.90 29.60 26.60 24.50 22.60 15.45 11.17 7.17 3.51 0.00	0.0258 0.0591 0.0975 0.1351 0.1900 0.2775 0.3600 0.5100 0.5100 0.6400 0.7980 0.9100 0.9780 1.0000	0.013 0.03 0.05 0.07 0.10 0.15 0.20 0.30 0.40 0.55 0.70 0.85 1.00

 $t_w = 86.7 \circ C.$ t (outside wall) =  $87.6 \circ C.$   $t_w = t_a = 63.45 \circ C.$   $V_{ave}$  (from Graph) = 1.27 ft./sec.  $t_{ave}$  (from Graph) =  $28.56 \circ C.$   $t_m$  (Graphical Integration) =  $27.77 \circ C.$   $t_i = 22.8 \circ C.$  $t_e = 40.0 \circ C.$  RUN T Hel9

Station No. 3

r R	Rdg. in mo.	t °C.	tw-t tw-ta	$t(\frac{r}{R})(\circ C)$	$1-\left(\frac{r}{R}\right)^{2}$	$1 - \frac{r}{R}$
1.000 0.990 0.970 0.950 0.930	1.715 1.640 1.630 1.600	41.65 39.95 39.70 39.00	. 813 - 849 - 854 - 869	(80.30) 41.30 38.80 37.70 36.30	0.0199 0.0591 0.0975 0.1351	0.01 0.03 0.05 0.07
0.900 0.850 0.800 0.700	1.500 1.505 1.475	37 • 20 36 • 80 36 • 05	• 907 • 915 • 930	31.60 29.40 25.20	0.1900 0.2775 0.3600 0.5100	0.10 0.15 0.20 0.30
0.600 0.450 0.300 0.150	1.435 1.415 1.365 1.340	35.10 34.65 33.50 32.90	•951 •960 •985 •997	21.05 15.60 10.06 4.94	0.6400 0.7975 0.9100 0.9780	0.40 0.55 0.70
0.000	1.335	32.75	1.000	0.00	1.0000	1.00

(See Run V H-9 for Corresponding Vel. Distribution)

 $t_w = 80.3^{\circ}C.$   $t \text{ (outside wall)} = 81.2^{\circ}C.$   $t_w = t_a = 47.55^{\circ}C.$   $V_{ave} \text{ (from Graph)} = 1.23 \text{ ft./sec.}$   $t_{ave} \text{ (from Graph)} = 37.6^{\circ}C.$   $t_m \text{ (Graphical integration)} = 36.11^{\circ}C.$   $t_i = 22.8^{\circ}C.$  $t_e = 40.0^{\circ}C.$ 

```
Station No. 2
```

<u>r</u> R	Rdg. in mo.	°C.	t _w ⇔t t _w ⇔t	t( <u>∓</u> )(℃)	$l_{-}(\frac{\mathbf{r}}{R})^{2}$	$1 = \frac{r}{R}$
1.000 0.987 0.970 0.950 0.930 0.900 0.850 0.800 0.800 0.800 0.800 0.800 0.800 0.800 0.800 0.800 0.800 0.800 0.800 0.900 0.9300 0.900 0.950 0.930 0.900 0.950 0.930 0.930 0.930 0.930 0.930 0.930 0.930 0.930 0.930 0.930 0.930 0.930 0.930 0.930 0.930 0.930 0.930 0.930 0.930 0.950 0.930 0.950 0.930 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.9500 0.9500 0.9500 0.9500 0.9500 0.9500 0.9500 0.9500 0.95000 0.95000 0.95000 0.950000000000		27.75 27.60 27.50 27.20 27.00 25.80 25.35 25.10 24.35 23.85 22.90 22.80	• 904 • 908 • 910 • 915 • 919 • 942 • 950 • 956 • 970 • 979 • 997 • 997	(74.2) 27.4 26.75 26.13 25.30 24.3 21.9 20.27 17.58 14.6 10.74 6.87 3.42 0	.0258 .0591 .0975 .1351 .1900 .2775 .3600 .5100 .6400 .7975 .9100 .9780 1.0000	0.13 0.03 0.05 0.07 0.10 0.15 0.20 0.30 0.40 0.55 0.70 0.55 1.00

(See Run V HelO for corresponding Vel. Distribution)

t (outside wall) = 75.1°C.  $t_w = 74.2°C.$   $t_i = 22.8°C.$   $t_e = 29.4°C.$   $t_w \rightarrow t_a = 51.4°C.$   $t_{ave}$  (Graphical Integration) = 25.85°C.  $t_m$  (Graphical Integration) = 25.14°C.

r R	rdg. in mo.	t ∘C.	t _w −t ℃.	t _w ⇔t t _{w⇔t} a	t( <u>r</u> ) (°C)	$\left(1-\frac{r}{R}\right)$	V _{t(五)} (℃)(ft/ 
1.000 0.990 0.970 0.950 0.930 0.930 0.90 0.85 0.80 0.70 0.60 0.45 0.30 0.15 0.00	1.360 1.220 1.215 1.205 1.200 1.190 1.175 1.170 1.155 1.135 1.115 1.100 1.095	33.30.09 29.53 29.53 29.53 28.4 28.0 27.2 27.0	31.7 35.0 35.1 35.5 35.5 35.1 26.0 58.0 377.8 38.0	0.834 0.921 0.924 0.932 0.934 0.950 0.952 0.953 0.953 0.986 0.994 1.000	(65.0) 33.0 29.1 28.4 27.6 26.6 24.9 23.1 20.2 17.0 12.6 8.3 4.1 0	0.01 0.03 0.05 0.07 0.10 0.15 0.20 0.30 0.40 0.55 0.70 0.85 1.00	

(For corresponding velocity distribution, See Run V H-11)

 $t_{o.w.} = 65.89^{\circ}C.$  (assumed)  $t_w = 65.0^{\circ}C.$   $t_w - t_a = 38.0^{\circ}C.$   $t_{ave} = 28.8^{\circ}C.$  (Graphical Integration)  $t_i = 22.8^{\circ}C.$  $t_e = 29.4^{\circ}C.$  125

Station No. 3

RUN T He22

.

•

(See Run V H-12 for Corresponding Velocity Distribution)

Ī	Rdį in	g. mo.	t ∘C.	tw-t tw-ta	$1 - \left(\frac{r}{R}\right)^2$	$(1-\frac{r}{R})$	$t(\frac{r}{R})(\infty)$
1.0 0.99 0.99 0.99 0.99 0.99 0.99 0.99 0	00 87 70 53 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50	1.245 1.160 1.130 1.110 1.055 1.030 1.000 0.970 0.925 0.895 0.890 0.890	30.6 28.6 27.8 27.4 27.15 26.1 25.75 24.8 24.1 23.0 22.0 21.85 21.85	0.839 0.876 0.891 0.898 0.902 0.928 0.928 0.945 0.958 0.977 0.995 1.000 1.000	0.0259 0.0591 0.0975 0.1351 0.1900 0.2775 0.36 0.51 0.64 0.798 0.910 0.978 1.000	0.013 0.03 0.05 0.07 0.10 0.15 0.20 0.30 0.40 0.55 0.70 0.85 1.00	(76.41) 30.2 27.7 26.4 25.5 24.4 22.2 20.6 17.4 14.5 10.4 6.6 3.3 0
		t _{o.w}	= 77.30	)°C.			
		t _w -	= 76.41°(	C. (temp.	drop through 0.89°C.)	pipe wall	allowed =
		tw⇔t	<b>=</b> 54.50	5°C.			
		t ave	(Graphic	al Integ:	ration) = 25.9	2°0.	
		t _i =	23.0400	•			

 $t_e = 31.9$ °C.

 $t_m = 25.00$ °C. (Graphical Integration)

Station No. 2

# Station No. 3

(For corresponding velocity distribution, see Run V Hal3)

r	rdg.	t	twet	t _w ⇔t	t( <u>r</u> )	$(1_{e} \frac{r}{R})$
R	in mo.	•C	∘C.	t _w ⇔ta.	(°C)	
1.000 0.990 0.970 0.950 0.930 0.900 0.850 0.850 0.850 0.800 0.700 0.600 0.45 0.30 0.15 0.00	1.435 1.345 1.320 1.300 1.290 1.275 1.260 1.245 1.205 1.180 1.170 1.155 1.135	35.1 33.0 32.4 31.9 31.7 31.5 31.0 30.6 29.7 29.1 28.8 28.5 28.0	33.9 36.0 36.6 37.1 37.3 37.7 38.4 39.3 38.4 39.9 40.2 40.5 41.0	0.827 0.878 0.995 0.910 0.920 0.927 0.926 0.958 0.958 0.980 0.987 1.000	(69.0) 34.8 32.0 30.8 29.6 28.6 26.6 24.8 21.4 17.8 13.1 8.7 4.3 0	0.01 0.03 0.05 0.07 0.10 0.15 0.20 0.30 0.40 0.55 0.70 0.85 1.00

$$t_{0.W.} = 69.89 \circ C. \text{ (assumed)}$$
  

$$t_{W} = \mathbf{59} \circ C.$$
  

$$t_{W} \Rightarrow t_{a} = 41 \circ C.$$
  

$$t_{w} \Rightarrow t_{a} = 41 \circ C.$$
  

$$t_{ave} \text{ (Graphical integration)} = 30.8 \circ C.$$
  

$$t_{m} \text{ (Graphical integration)} = 30.32 \circ C.$$
  

$$t_{i} = 23.04 \circ C.$$
  

$$t_{a} = 31.9 \circ C.$$

Station No. 2

(For corresponding Velocity Distribution, See Run V  $H_{\leftrightarrow}$ 14)

r R	Rdg. in mo.	°C.	(t _w ⇔t) (°C)	t _w ⇔t t _w ⇔t _a	t( <u>r</u> ) ( (∘C)	1 <u>- <del>I</del></u> )
1.000 0.987 0.970 0.950 0.930 0.930 0.900 0.850 0.800 0.800 0.800 0.600 0.450 0.300	1.005 0.892 0.865 0.837 0.818 0.778 0.748 0.710 0.685 0.650 0.630	(73.21) 24.93 24.45 21.50 20.8 20.36 19.38 18.64 17.70 17.10 16.24 15.74	48.28 48.76 51.71 52.41 52.55 53.83 54.57 55.51 56.11 56.97 57.47	0.835 0.844 0.895 0.907 0.915 0.932 0.944 0.960 0.970 0.985 0.994	(73.21) 24.6 23.7 20.4 19.35 18.32 16.48 14.92 12.40 10.27 7.31 4.73	0.013 0.030 0.050 0.070 0.100 0.150 0.200 0.300 0.400 0.500 0.700
0.150	0.620	15•50 15•40	5/•/⊥ 57•81 ·	0.998 1.000	2•325 0•00	0.850 1.000

$$t_{o.w.} = 74.10 \circ C.$$
  
 $t_w = 74.10 - 0.89 = 73.21 \circ C.$   
 $t_w = 57.81 \circ C.$   
 $t_{ave}$  (Graphical Integration) = 18.72 \circ C.  
 $t_i = 15.93 \circ C.$   
 $t_e = 25.78 \circ C.$ 

128

(For Corresponding Velocity Distribution, See Run V Hel5)

<u>r</u> R	Rdg. in mo.	* °C.	twet oC	tw∽t tw∽ta	$t(\frac{r}{R})$	(1→ <u>r</u> )
1.000 0.990 0.970 0.950 0.930 0.930 0.900 0.850 0.800 0.800 0.700 0.600 0.450 0.300 0.150 0.000	1.215 1.090 1.048 1.038 1.028 1.017 0.985 0.960 0.930 0.850 0.850 0.835 0.828	(66.36) 29.4 26.0 25.7 25.5 25.2 24.45 24.3 23.9 23.15 22.12 21.14 20.78 20.60	36.46 40.36 40.66 41.91 42.06 41.91 42.46 43.21 45.58 45.76	0.797 0.882 0.889 0.900 0.916 0.919 0.927 0.944 0.966 0.988 0.995 1.000	(66.36) 29.6 25.2 24.4 23.7 20.8 19.45 16.73 13.9 9.96 6.35 3.12 0.00	0.010 0.030 0.050 0.100 0.150 0.200 0.300 0.400 0.550 0.700 0.850 1.000

$$t_{o.w.} = 67.25 \circ C.$$
  
 $t_w = 67.25 - 0.89 = 66.36 \circ C.$   
 $t_{w^{ev}t_a} = 66.36 - 20.60 = 45.76 \circ C.$   
 $t_{ave}$  (Graphical Integration) = 24.28 \circ C.  
 $t_i = 15.93 \circ C.$   
 $t_e = 25.78 \circ C.$ 

129

RUN T He 26

Station No. 2

( For Corresponding Velocity Distribution, See Run V H-16)

r R	Rdg. in mo.	t ∘C.	t _w ⊷t ∘C.	t _{w⇔t} t _{w⇔t} a	$t(\frac{r}{R})$	$(1-\frac{r}{R})$
1.000 0.987 0.970 0.950 0.930 0.900 0.850 0.800 0.800 0.800 0.800 0.800 0.800 0.800 0.800 0.800 0.800 0.150	1.005 0.940 0.886 0.860 0.848 0.790 0.760 0.760 0.730 0.700 0.670 0.640 0.630	(77.11) 24.9 23.4 22.0 21.4 21.1 19.65 18.90 18.18 17.47 16.74 15.98 15.73	52.21 53.71 55.11 55.71 56.01 57.46 58.21 58.93 59.64 60.37 61.13 61.38	0.851 0.876 0.899 0.909 0.914 0.935 0.950 0.950 0.960 0.972 0.985 0.996	(77.11) 24.6 22.7 20.9 19.9 19.0 16.7 15.1 12.7 10.5 7.54 4.80 2.36	0.013 0.030 0.050 0.070 0.100 0.150 0.200 0.300 0.400 0.550 0.700
0.000	0.630	15.73	61.38	1.000	0.00	1.000

Outside wall temperature =  $78.0^{\circ}$ C.  $t_w = 78.0 - 0.89 = 77.11^{\circ}$ C.  $t_{w} = 61.38^{\circ}$ C.  $t_{ave}$  (Graphical Integration) =  $19.36^{\circ}$ C.  $t_i = 16.06^{\circ}$ C.  $t_w = 27.20^{\circ}$ C.

(For Corresponding Velocity Distribution, See Run V H-17)

<u>r</u>	Rdg.	t	t _w ⇔t	t _w ⇔t	$t(\frac{r}{R})$	$(1-\frac{r}{R})$
R	in mo.	℃.	(∘C)	t _w ⇔ta	(°C)	
1.000 0.990 0.970 0.950 0.930 0.900 0.850 0.800 0.800 0.800 0.700 0.600 0.450 0.300 0.150 0.000	1.453 1.155 1.122 1.100 1.095 1.075 1.058 1.018 0.978 0.936 0.936 0.901 0.891 0.891	(71.51) 35.6 28.45 27.70 27.15 27.00 26.55 26.20 25.20 25.20 23.30 22.40 22.15 22.15	35.91 43.06 43.51 44.531 44.531 44.531 45.31 47.21 49.11 49.36 49.36	0.728 0.872 0.888 0.900 0.902 0.910 0.918 0.938 0.957 0.976 0.975 1.000 1.000	(71.51) 35.2 27.6 26.3 25.25 24.3 22.55 20.95 17.63 14.60 10.50 6.72 3.32 0.00	0.010 0.030 0.050 0.100 0.150 0.200 0.300 0.300 0.400 0.550 0.700 0.850 1.000

Outside pipe wall temperature =  $72.4 \circ C$ .  $t_w = 72.4 = 0.89 = 71.51 \circ C$ .  $t_{w}=t_a = 49.36 \circ C$ .  $t_{ave} = 25.52 \circ C$ . (Graphical Integration)  $t_i = 16.06 \circ C$ .  $t_e = 27.20 \circ C$ .

Station No. 3

(For corresponding velocity distribution, See Run V H+15)

r	Rdg.	t	t _w −t	t _w ⇔t	$t(\frac{r}{R})$	$\left(1-\frac{r}{R}\right)$
R	in mo.	℃.	°C.	t _w ⇔ta	(°C)	
1.000 0.987 0.970 0.950 0.930 0.900 0.850 0.850 0.800 0.800 0.800 0.800 0.850 0.800 0.850 0.800 0.900 0.150 0.000	0.938 0.820 0.795 0.780 0.760 0.743 0.695 0.663 0.640 0.610 0.590 0.585 0.580	(76.01) 23.35 20.40 19.8 19.4 18.9 18.5 17.3 16.56 16.0 15.2 14.8 14.6 14.5	52.66 55.61 56.21 56.61 57.51 57.51 59.45 60.01 61.21 61.41 61.51	0.856 0.905 0.914 0.920 0.929 0.935 0.955 0.966 0.975 0.988 0.995 0.998 1.000	(76.01) 23.05 19.80 18.8 18.04 17.0 15.7 13.85 11.6 0.96 0.684 0.444 0.219 0.000	0.013 0.030 0.050 0.070 0.100 0.150 0.200 0.300 0.400 0.550 0.700 0.850 1.000

Outside pipe wall Temperature =  $t_{0.W.} = 76.9 \circ C$ .  $t_W = 76.9 = 0.89 = 76.01 \circ C$ .  $t_{W} = t_a = 61.51 \circ C$ .  $t_{ave}$  (Graphical integration) = 17.6 \circ C.  $t_i = 14.12 \circ C$ .  $t_e = 24.3 \circ C$ .

Station No. 2

.

(For corresponding velocity distribution, See Run V Hel9)

<u>r</u> ———	Rdg. in mo.	t ℃.	t _w ⇔t (∘C)	t _w ⇔t t _{w⇔ta}	$t(\frac{r}{R})$	$\left(1-\frac{r}{R}\right)$
1.000 0.990 0.970 0.950 0.930 0.900 0.850 0.800 0.800 0.700 0.600 0.450 0.300 0.150 0.000	1.040 0.900 0.895 0.893 0.880 0.885 0.885 0.855 0.855 0.855 0.75 0.760 0.740	(66.91) 25.7 22.4 22.25 22.18 22.1 22.0 21.86 21.75 21.27 20.0 19.3 18.92 18.43	41.21 44.51 44.66 44.73 44.91 45.05 45.16 45.64 45.61 47.99 48.48	0.851 0.918 0.922 0.923 0.925 0.925 0.925 0.929 0.929 0.932 0.941 0.967 0.983 0.990 1.000	(66.91) 25.40 21.73 21.1 20.6 19.9 18.7 17.5 15.22 12.77 9.00 5.79 2.84 0.00	0.010 0.030 0.050 0.100 0.100 0.150 0.200 0.300 0.300 0.400 0.550 0.700 0.850 1.000

$$t_{o.w.} = 67.8 \circ C.$$
  
 $t_w = 66.91 \circ C.$   
 $t_{w^{en}}t_a = 48.48 \circ C.$   
 $t_{ave}$  (Graphical Integration) = 21.60 \circ C.  
 $t_i = 14.12 \circ C.$   
 $t_e = 24.3 \circ C.$ 

Station No. 3

Station No. 2

r R	Rdg. in mo.	¢	t _w ⇔t	tw-t tw-ta	t( <u>r</u> ) (°C)	$(\mathbf{L}, \frac{\mathbf{r}}{\mathbf{R}})$
1.000 0.987 0.970 0.950 0.900 0.800 0.800 0.700 0.600 0.450 0.300 0.000	0.787 0.615 0.555 0.430 0.380 0.380 0.265 0.240 0.215	(78.41) 19.6 15.4 13.9 12.21 10.85 9.60 8.06 6.67 6.05 5.40	58.81 63.01 64.51 66.21 67.56 68.81 70.35 71.74 72.36 73.01	0.806 0.864 0.9884 0.907 0.926 0.942 0.964 0.983 0.992 1.000	(78.41) 19.33 14.93 13.2 10.98 8.68 6.72 4.84 3.00 1.815 0.00	0.013 0.030 0.050 0.100 0.200 0.300 0.400 0.550 0.700 1.000

(For corresponding velocity distribution, See Run V H=20)

 $t_{o.w.} = 79.3^{\circ}C.$   $t_{w} = 78.41$   $t_{we}t_{a} = 73.01^{\circ}C.$   $t_{ave}$  (Graphical Integration) = 10.48^{\circ}C.  $t_{i} = 5.0^{\circ}C.$  $t_{e} = 21.77^{\circ}C.$ 

$\frac{\mathbf{r}}{\mathbf{R}} \qquad \mathbf{in mo.} \qquad \mathbf{C.} \qquad \mathbf{C.} \qquad \frac{\mathbf{w}}{\mathbf{t}_{\mathbf{w}} \mathbf{t}_{\mathbf{a}}} \qquad \mathbf{C.}$	n.
1.000 (76.01) (76.03	.)
0.990 $0.942$ $23.4$ $52.61$ $0.855$ $23.2$	0.010
0.970 $0.645$ $20.96$ $55.05$ $0.695$ $20.5$	0.030
0.900 $0.805$ $20.0$ $56.01$ $0.910$ $19.0$	0.100
0.800 0.790 19.64 56.37 0.916 15.78	0.200
0.700 $0.740$ $18.43$ $57.58$ $0.930$ $12.9$	0.300
0.600 $0.705$ $17.55$ $58.46$ $0.950$ $10.54$	0.400
0.450 $0.660$ $16.50$ $59.51$ $0.968$ $7.47$	0.550
0.000 0.580 14.5 61.51 1.000 0.000	

(For corresponding velocity distribution, See Run V H-21)

$$t_{o.w.} = 76.9^{\circ}C.$$
  
 $t_{w} = 76.01^{\circ}C.$   
 $t_{w} = 61.51$   
 $t_{ave}$  (Graphical integration) = 18.4°C.  
 $t_{i} = 5.0^{\circ}C.$   
 $t_{e} = 21.77^{\circ}C.$ 

135

r R	Rdg. in mo.	t ∘C.	t _w −t °C.	$\frac{t_{w}-t}{t_{w}-t_{a}}$	t( <u>r</u> ) (°C≬	$\left(1-\frac{r}{R}\right)$
1.000 0.987 0.970 0.950 0.900 0.800 0.800 0.700 0.600 0.450	0.745 0.575 0.535 0.445 0.365 0.320 0.260 0.210	(75.03) 18.54 14.38 13.40 11.20 9.20 8.07 6.54 5.28	56.49 60.65 61.63 65.83 65.83 66.96 68.49 69.75	0.801 0.860 0.874 0.905 0.933 0.950 0.970 0.989	(75.03) 18.3 13.95 12.73 10.08 7.36 5.65 3.92 2.375	0.013 0.030 0.050 0.100 0.200 0.300 0.400 0.550
0.300	0.200 0.180	5.00 4.50	70.03 70.53	0.992 1.000	1.500 0.00	0.700 1.000

(For corresponding velocity distribution, See Run V  $H_{\rightarrow}$  22)

$$t_{o.w.} = 75.92^{\circ}C.$$
  
 $t_{w} = 75.03$   
 $t_{w^{-}}t_{a} = 70.53^{\circ}C.$   
 $t_{ave}$  (Graphical Integration) = 9.2^{\circ}C.  
 $t_{i} = 3.75^{\circ}C.$   
 $t_{e} = 21.13^{\circ}C.$ 

Station No. 2
RUN T H -33

Station No. 3

(For corresponding velocity distribution, See Run V H=23)

r R	Rdg. in mo.	°C.	t _w ⊷t ℃.	t _w ⇔t t _w ⇔ta	t( <u>r</u> ) ( ℃ )	$\left(1-\frac{r}{R}\right)$
1.000 0.990 0.970 0.950 0.900 0.900 0.800 0.800 0.700 0.600 0.450	0.875 0.780 0.770 0.745 0.700 0.655 0.645 0.595	(73.91) 21.76 19.4 19.18 18.55 17.45 16.36 16.10 14.88	52.15 54.51 54.73 55.36 56.46 57.55 57.81 59.03	0.859 0.898 0.901 0.912 0.930 0.948 0.952 0.972	(73.91) 21.53 18.8 18.2 16.7 13.97 11.46 9.66 6.70	0.010 0.030 0.050 0.100 0.200 0.300 0.400 0.550
0•300 0•000	0•540 0•525	13.52 13.16	60 <b>•3</b> 9 60 <b>•</b> 75	0•994 1•000	<b>9</b> ∙05 0∗00	0.700

$$t_{0.W.} = 74.80^{\circ}C.$$
  
 $t_{W} = 73.91^{\circ}C.$   
 $t_{W=}t_{a} = 60.75^{\circ}C.$   
 $t_{ave}$  (Graphical Integration) = 17.12^{\circ}C.  
 $t_{i} = 3.75^{\circ}C.$   
 $t_{e} = 21.13^{\circ}C.$ 

RUN T H-34A

Station No. 2

<u>r</u>	Rdg. in mo.	°C.	t _w ⇔t °C.	t _w ⇔t ^t w∽ta	$t(\frac{r}{R})$ (°C)	$(1-\frac{r}{R})$
1.000 0.987 0.970 0.950 0.900 0.800 0.800 0.700 0.600 0.450 0.300 0.000	0.695 0.5035 0.470 0.410 0.330 0.260 0.230 0.210 0.180 0.160	(79.01) 17.32 12.64 11.80 10.32 8.30 6.54 5.78 5.30 4.50 4.00	61.69 66.37 67.21 68.69 70.71 72.47 73.23 73.71 74.51 75.01	0.823 0.885 0.916 0.916 0.943 0.965 0.976 0.983 0.993 1.000	(79.01) 17.1 12.27 11.2 9.29 6.64 4.58 3.47 2.385 1.35 0.00	0.013 0.030 0.050 0.100 0.200 0.300 0.400 0.550 0.700 1.000

(No corresponding Velocity Distribution Run)

t _{o.w.} = 79.9°C.	
t _w = 79.01°C.	
$t_{w} - t_{a} = 75.01 \circ C.$	
tave (Graphical Integration)	= 8.40°C.
$t_1 = 3.88°C.$	
$t_e = 19.47 \circ C.$	

RUN T H-34

(For Corresponding Velocity Distribution, See Run V H-24)

r R	Rdg. in mo.	°C.	t _w ⇔t °C.	twet tweta	t( <u>r</u> ) (°C)	$(1 - \frac{r}{R})$
1.000 0.990 0.970 0.950 0.900 0.800 0.700 0.600 0.450 0.300	0.780 0.695 0.675 0.640 0.620 0.580 0.550 0.520 0.490	(74.71) 19.40 17.32 16.85 16.00 15.50 14.50 13.78 13.04	55.31 57.39 57.86 58.71 59.21 60.21 60.93 61.67 62.41	0.878 0.911 0.920 0.932 0.940 0.955 0.967 0.980 0.981	(74.71) 19.20 16.8 16.0 14.4 12.4 10.15 8.28 5.87	0.010 0.030 0.050 0.100 0.200 0.300 0.400 0.550
0.700 0.600 0.450 0.300	0.580 0.550 0.520 0.490	14.50 13.78 13.04 12.30	60.21 60.93 61.67 62.41	0.955 0.967 0.980 0.991	10.15 8.28 5.87 3.69	0.300 0.400 0.550 0.700

 $t_{o.w.} = 75.6 \circ C.$   $t_{w} = 74.719C.$   $t_{w-t_{a}} = 63.01 \circ C.$   $t_{ave}$  (Graphical Integration) = 15.28 \circ C.  $t_{i} = 3.88 \circ C.$  $t_{e} = 19.47 \circ C.$ 

Station No. 3

## RUN T H-35

(For corresponding Velocity Distribution, See Run V  $H_{\rightarrow}25$ )

<u>r</u> R	Rdg. in mo.	•0.	t _w -t °C.	t _w ⇔t t _w ⊷t _a	t( <u>r</u> ) ( °C )	$\left(1-\frac{r}{R}\right)$
1.000 0.987 0.970 0.950 0.900 0.800 0.800 0.700 0.600 0.450 0.300	0.555 0.445 0.410 0.350 0.280 0.225 0.200 0.165 0.150	(73.21) 13.9 11.2 10.35 8.82 7.05 5.67 5.00 4.12 3.74	59.31 62.01 62.86 64.39 66.16 67.54 68.21 69.09 69.47	0.852 0.891 0.904 0.925 0.951 0.970 0.980 0.992 0.998	(73.21) 13.72 10.87 9.84 7.94 5.64 3.97 3.00 1.855 1.122	0.013 0.030 0.050 0.100 0.200 0.300 0.400 0.550 0.700

 $t_{0.W.} = 74.1 \circ C.$   $t_{W} = 73.21 \circ C.$   $t_{W} = 69.61 \circ C.$   $t_{ave}$  (Graphical Integration) = 7.40 \circ C.  $t_{i} = 3.36 \circ C.$  $t_{g} = 15.2 \circ C.$ 

Station No. 2

Т H⇔36

t_{w⇔}t  $t(\frac{r}{R})$  $\left(1-\frac{r}{R}\right)$  $\frac{\mathbf{r}}{\mathbf{R}}$ Rdg. t ( 00 ) °C. in mo. ( °C ) 1.000 (65.71) (65.71) 15.5 13.9 13.04 0.990 15.35 13.48 12.40 0.620 50.21 51.81 0.885 0.010 0•555 0•520 0•500 0.970 0.913 0.030 0.950 0.930 52.67 0.050 53.17 53.91 54.51 0.938 12.54 11.30 9.44 0.100 0.800 0.470 0.950 11.8 0.200 0.700 0.600 0.450 0.445 11.2 0.961 7.84 0.300 0.420 0.971 0.977 0.990 55.11 10.6 6.36 4.61 0.400 55.46 56.14 56.74 0.405 10.25 0.550 0.380 9•57 8•97 0.300 2.87 0.700 0.355 0.000 1.000 0•0Ò 1.000

(For Corresponding Velocity Distribution, See Run V H-26)

 $t_{0.W.} = 66.6$ °C.  $t_{w} = 65.71 \circ C.$  $t_{w}-t_{a} = \Delta t_{max} = 56.74 \circ C.$ tave (Graphical Integration) = 12.3°C.  $t_1 = 3.36 \circ C$ .  $t_e = 15.2°0.$ 

RUN

































-













## Temperature Distribution in the Direction of Flow

r/R	0.99	0.97	0.95	0.93	0.90	0.85	0.80	0.70 0	.60 0.4	15 0.30	0.15	0
Run T H-18	(t ₁ )	Run	T H-19	9 (t ₂ )	tw(a	ave.) ⁼⁸	3.5° C.	^t w(av	e.) - t	= 60.7	° C.	
t ₂ (°C.)	41.65	39.95	39.70	39,00	38.1	37.2	36.8 3	6.05 35	5.10 34.6	35 33.5	32.9 3	2.75
t ₁ (°C.)	40.00	32 <b>.9</b>	31.1	30.7	29.5	28.8	28.2 2	6.8 25	5.75 24.8	3 23 <b>.9</b>	23.4 2	3.25
t _e -t ₁	1.65	7.05	8.60	8.3	8.6	8.4	8.6	9.25 9	.35 9.8	35 9.6	9.5	9.5
te-t] (i tw(av)-ti	) 0.02'	7 0.110	3 0.14:	2 0.13	7 0.14	2 0.138	0.142	0.152 0	).154 0.1	162 0.15	8 0.156	0156
Run T H-20	(t ₁ )	Run T	H-21	(t ₂ ) t	w(av)=	69.6° C	• ^t w(	av) - t	= 46.8	3° C.		
t ₂ (°C.)	33.	3 30	.0 29	9.9	29.6	29.5	29.3	28.9	28.8	28.4	28.0	27.5
t _l (°C.)	32.0	27.0	5 2'	7.5	27.2	27.0	25.8	25.35	25.1	24.35	23.85	22.9
t _z -t _l	1.	30 2	.4	2.4	2.4	2.5	3.5	3.55	3.7	4.05	4.15	4.6
( t _{w(av)} -ti	-) 0.0	278 0.0	0513 0	.0513	0.0513	0.0534	0.0748	0.0759	0.0791	0.0865	.0887 .	0.0983

27.2	27.0
22.8	22.8
4.4.	4.2
0.094	0.0897

<u>r</u> R	0.99	0•97	0.95	0.93	0.90	0.85	0.80	0.70	0.60	0.45	0.30	0.15	0
Run T H=22 Run T H=23		$\begin{pmatrix} t_1 \\ t_2 \end{pmatrix}$		^t w(ave	e)= 72.7	71°C.		tw(av	e) ^{- t} i	= 49.6	7°C.		
t ₂ (°C) t ₁ (°C) t ₂ ⇔t ₁	35.1 33.5 1.6	33.0 28.6 4.4	32•4 27•8 4•6	31.9 27.4 4.5	<b>31.</b> 7 27.15 4.55	31.3 26.1 5.2	31.0 25.75 5.25	30.6 24.8 5.8	<b>29.</b> 7 24.1 5.6	29.1 23.0 6.1	28.8 22.0 6.8	28.50 21.85 6.65	28.0 21.85 6.15
$\frac{t_{s}-t_{i}}{t_{w}(ave)^{-t}i}$	0.0322	2 0.0886	0.0926	0.0906	5 0.0916	5 0.1048	0.1058	0.1168	0.1128	0.123	0.137	0.134	0.124
Run T H-24 Run T H-25		$ \begin{pmatrix} t_1 \\ t_2 \end{pmatrix} $		^t w(ave	e) = 69.	69°0.		tw(av	e) — ^t i	= 53.8	6°C.		
t ₂ (∘C) t ₁ (∘C)	29.9 29.0	26.0 24.45	25•7 21•5	25•5 20•8	<b>25.2</b> 0	<b>24.4</b> 5 19 <b>.</b> 38	24.30 18.64	23.9	23.15	22.12	21.14	20.78	20.60
<b>f</b> sot ₁	0.9	1.55	4.2	4.7	4.84	5.07	5.66	6.2	6.05	5.88	19•74 5•40	5•28	19•40 5•20
t _{zet} ; t _{w(ave)} eti	_0.0167	7 0.0288	0.078	0.0872	0.0899	0.0942	0.105	0.115	0.112	0.109	0.1003	0.098	0 <b>•096</b> 5

## TEMPERATURE DISTRIBUTION IN THE DIRECTION OF FLOW

			TEMPER	ATURE DI	STRIBUT	TION IN	THE DI	RECTION	OF FLOV	Ľ			
r	0•99	0•97	0.95	0•93	0.90	0.85	0.80	0.70	0.60	0.45	0.30	0.15	0
Run T H⇔26 Run T H⇔27	$\begin{pmatrix} t_1 \\ t_2 \end{pmatrix}$		tw(a	ave) = 7	74.3100.	•	t _{w(a}	ave) 🗖	t _i = 58.	25°C.		<u> </u>	
t ₂ (°C) t ₁ (°C)	35.60 32.3	28.45 23.4	27.70 22.0	<b>27.</b> 15 <b>2</b> 1.4	27.0 21.1	<b>2</b> 6.55 19.65	<b>26.2</b> 0 18.90	<b>2</b> 5.20 18.18	24.3 17.47	<b>2</b> 3 <b>.3</b> 0 16.74	<b>22.</b> 40 15.98	22.15 15.73	22.15 15.73
t ₂ et1	3.3	5.05	5•7	5•75	5•9	6.90	7•3	7.02	6.83	6.56	6 <b>.42</b>	6.42	6.42
t _s et; tw(ave)⇔ti	<b>0.056</b> 6	0.0867	0 <b>•0979</b>	0.0987	0.1013	0.1184	0.1253	<b>0.12</b> 04	0 <b>.1</b> 17 <b>2</b>	0.1127	0.1102	2 0.1102	0.1102
Run T He28 Run T He29	$\begin{pmatrix} t_1 \\ t_2 \end{pmatrix}$		t _{w(a}	ave) =	71.46°C.	•	tw(a	ave) 🐡	t _i = 57	.34°C.			
t ₂ (°C)	25.7	22.4	22.25	22.18	22.1	22.0	21.86	<b>2</b> 1.75	21.27	20.0	19.3	18.92	18.43
t ₁ (°C)	25.0	20.4	19.8	19.4	18.9	18.5	17.3	16.56	16.0	15 <b>.2</b>	14.8	14.6	14.5
t _{setl}	0•7	<b>2.</b> 0	2.45	2.78	3.2	3•5	4.56	5.19	5•27	4.8	4•5	4.32	3•93
^t z⇒t: ^T w(ave)⇔ti	0.0122	0.0349	0.0427	0.0485	0.0558	0.061	0.0795	0.0906	0 <b>.092</b> 0	0.0837	0•07 <i>8</i> 5	0.0754	0.0685

Temperature Distribution in the Direction of Flow

r/R0.99 0.97 0.95 0.90 0.80 0.70 0.60 0.45 0.30 0 (t₁) Run T H-31 (t₂)  $t_{W(av)} = 77.21^{\circ}$  C.  $t_{W(av)} - t_1 = 72.21^{\circ}$  C. Run T H-30 t₂(°C.) 20.0 19.64 18.43 17.55 16.50 15.5 14.5 23.4 20.96 20.0 t₁(°C.) 20.5 15.4 13.9 12.2 10.85 9.60 8.06 6.67 6.05 5.4 t_z-t₁ 2.9 5.56 6.1 7.8 8.79 8.83 9.49 9.83 9.45 9.1 t₂−tๅ 0.0402 0.0771 0.0845 0.108 0.1218 0.1223 0.1315 0.1362 0.131 0.126  $t_{w(av)}-t_{1}$ Run T H=32 (t₁) Run T H-33 (t₂) t_{w(av)} = 74.47° C.  $t_{w(av)} - t_i = 70.72°$  C. t₂(°C.) 21.76 19.4 19.18 18.55 17.45 16.36 16.10 14.88 13.52 13.16 t₁ (°C.) 19.54 14.38 13.40 11.20 9.20 8.07 6.54 5.28 5.00 4.50  $t_z - t_1$ 2.22 5.02 5.78 7.35 8.25 8.29 9.56 9.60 8.52 8.66 te-tl 0.0314 0.0071 0.0818 0.104 0.1166 0.1172 0.1352 0.1358 0.1204 0.1224 tw(av)^{-t}i

C + C

Temperature	Distribution	in	the	Direction	of	Flow
<b>_</b>						

•

r/R	0.99	0.97	0.95	0.90	0.80	0.70	0.60	0.45	0.30	0
Run T H-34.	A (t _l )	Run T I	1-34 (t	e) t _{w(}	av)=76.8	36° C.	^t w(av	7)-t _i =	= 72.98'	° C.
t ₂ (°C.)	19.40	17.32	16.85	16.00	15.50	14.50	13.78	13.04	12.30	1.70
t ₁ (°C.)	1 <b>9.</b> 00	12.64	11.80	10.32	8.30	6.54	5.78	5.30	4.50	4.00
t ₂ -t ₁	1.40	4.68	5.05	5.68	7.2	7.96	8.00	7.74	7.8	7.7
t2-t] tw(av) ^{-t} i	0.0192	0.0642	0.0692	0.0779	0.0986	0.109	0.1097	0.106	0.1068	0.1055
Run T H-35	(t _l )	Run T	H-36 (t	z) [,] t _w	(av) = (	69.46°	C. t.	v(av)-t	; = 66	.10° C.
t _e (°C.)								· ( u v )		
	15.5	13.9	13.04	12.54	11.8	11.2	10.6	10.25	9.57	8.97
t _l (°C.)	15.5 14.5	13.9 11.2	13.04 10.35	12.54 8.82	11.8 7.05	11.2 5.67	10.6 5.0	10.25 4.12	9.57 3.74	8.97 3.60
t _l (°C.) t _e -t _l	15.5 14.5 1.0	13.9 11.2 2.7	13.04 10.35 2.69	12.54 8.82 3.72	11.8 7.05 4.75	11.2 5.67 5.53	10.6 5.0 5.6	10.25 4.12 6.13	9.57 3.74 5.83	8.97 3.60 5.37

اللہ 13 13

## APPENDIX H

TEMPERATURE DISTRIBUTION DATA DURING COUNTER CURRENT HEATING WITH CALCULATIONS AND PLOTS (WATER FLOWING UPWARD)

Station No. 4

(no corresponding Velocity Distribution Run)

r R	Rdg. in mv. (no.24 wire)	t (°C.)	$\frac{(t_w-t)}{(\circ C_{\bullet})}$	$\frac{t_{w}-t}{t_{w}-t_{a}}$	$\frac{t(\frac{T}{R})}{(\circ C_{\bullet})} (1 - \frac{T}{R})$	t-ti tw ^{-t} i
1.000 988 97 95 90 80 70 60 40 20 00	1.555 1.335 1.140 .985 .835 .820 .765 .710 .685 .685	39.6 34.2 29.3 25.4 21.63 21.26 19.85 18.46 17.82 17.82	47.64 53.04 57.94 65.94 65.98 65.98 67.38 67.38 69.42 69.42	0.687 .765 .835 .946 .951 .971 .991 1.000 1.000	(87.24) 39.10 0.012 33.15 .030 27.85 .050 22.85 .10 17.3 .20 14.9 .30 11.92 .40 7.39 .60 3.56 .80 0.00 1.00	1.000 0.390 .320 .257 .207 .159 .154 .136 .118 .110 .110

 $t_{o.w.} = \$\$.30°C.$   $t_{w} = \$7.24°C. (Temp. drop through Pipe wall allowed = 1.06°C.)$   $t_{w}-t_{a} = 69.42°C.$   $t_{ave.}(Graphical Integration) = 22.\$0°C.$   $t_{i} = 9.25°C.$   $t_{w}-t_{i} = 77.99°C.$   $V_{ave.}(Manometer) = 1.302 \text{ ft./sec.}$ 

(No Corresponding Velocity Distribution Run)

r R	Rdg. in mv. (No.24 wire)	t (°C.)	$\frac{(t_w-t)}{(\circ C_*)}$	$\frac{\mathbf{t_w} - \mathbf{t}}{\mathbf{t_w} - \mathbf{t_a}}$	$\frac{t(\frac{r}{R})}{(\circ C.)}$	$(1-\frac{r}{R})$	$\frac{t-t_1}{t_w-t_1}$
1.000	)				(86.64)		1.000
0.992	2 1.935	48.65	37•99	0.685	48.4	0.008	•509
•970	1.830	46.15	40.49	•731	44.8	•030	•477
•95	1.720	43.50	43.14	•779	41.3	.050	•443
•90	1.685	42.7	43.94	•793	38 <b>.</b> 45	.10	.432
.80	1.550	39.45	47.19	.852	31.55	•20	• 390
• 70	1.500	38.2	48.44	.874	26.75	• 30	• 375
.60	1.405	35•9	50.74	•915	21.55	•40	• 344
.40	1.295	33.2	53.44	•964	13.28	.60	• 310
.20	1.215	31.2	55•44	1.000	6.24	.80	.284
.00	1.215	31.2	55.44	1.000	0.00	1.00	.284

$$t_{o.w.} = \$7.70\circ$$
C.  
 $t_w = \$6.64\circ$ C. (Temp. drop through pipe wall allowed=1.06°C.)  
 $t_w-t_a = 55.44\circ$ C.  
 $t_{ave.}$  (Graphical Integration) = 3\\$.56°C.  
 $t_i = 9.25\circ$ C.  
 $t_w-t_i = 77.39$   
 $V_{ave.}$  (Manometer) = 1.302 ft./sec.

Run	т	H-39	(Counter Cu	rrent)	Station No.	4	
		(For	Corresponding	Velocity	Distribution,	see	

-	Run	V	H-27)	, <b>11.</b> 00 1 0 11,	900

r R	Rdg. in mv. (No.24 Wire)	t (°C.)	(t _w -t) (°C.)	tw-t tw-ta	$\frac{t(\frac{r}{R})}{(\circ C_{\bullet})}$	$\left(1-\frac{r}{R}\right)$	$\frac{\operatorname{tv}(\overline{R})}{(\circ C_{\bullet})(\operatorname{ft}_{\bullet})}$
1.00	0			<u>_</u>	(32.3)		
0.98	\$ 0.435	11.4	20.9	0.868	11.26	0.012	29.65
• 970	.380	10.05	22.25	0.923	9•75	.030	28.45
• 950	• 365	9.65	22.65	•940	9 <b>.</b> 17	.050	28.27
•90	• 360	9.50	22.8	• 946	8.55	.10	28.26
.80	• 330	8.73	23.57	•977	6.98	.20	25.08
•70	• 325	8.60	23.7	•983	6.02	• 30	23.40
•60	• 320	8.48	23.82	<b>.</b> 988	5.09	• 40	20,80
•40	.320	<b>8.</b> 48	23.82	•988	3•39	.60	14.67
•20	• 310	<b>క</b> .20	24.1	1.000	1.64	<b>.</b> 80	7•43
.00	•310	<b>8</b> •20	24.1	1.000	.00	1.00	0

 $t_{o.w.} = 33.3^{\circ}C.$   $t_{w} = 32.3^{\circ}C.(Temp. drop through pipe wall allowed = 1.0^{\circ}C.)$   $t_{w}-t_{a} = 24.1^{\circ}C.$   $t_{ave.}(Graphical Integration) = 8.96^{\circ}C.$   $V_{ave.}(Graphical Integration) = 3.76 \text{ ft./sec.}$  $t_{m} (Graphical Integration) = 8.93^{\circ}C.$
# Run T H-40 (Counter Current) Station No. 5 (No Corresponding Velocity Distribution Run)

<u>r</u> <u>R</u> (N	<u>dg. in mv.</u> o.24 Wire)	t (°C.)	$\frac{(t_w-t)}{(\circ C_{\bullet})}$	$\frac{t_w-t}{t_w-t_a}$	$\frac{t(\frac{r}{R})}{(\circ C_{\bullet})}$	(1 - <u>r</u> )
1.000					(73.2)	
0.992	0.950	24.6	48.6	0.850	24.45	0.008
•970	0.865	22.4	50.8	•890	21.72	•030
•950	.805	20.9	52.3	•915	19.9	•050
•90	•765	19.85	53•35	•934	17.87	.10
.80	•755	19.6	53.6	•938	15.68	.20
•70	•705	18.3	54.9	.961	12.81	• 30
•60	.680	17.7	55•5	•971	10.63	•40
•40	•635	16.56	56.64	• 990	6.63	.60
.20	.615	16.05	57.15	1.000	3.21	• 80
.00	.615	16.05	57.15	1.000	0.00	1.00

 $t_{o.w.} = 75.1^{\circ}C.$   $t_{w} = 73.2^{\circ}C.(Temp. drop through pipe wall allowed = 1.9^{\circ}C.)$   $t_{w}-t_{a} = 57.15^{\circ}C.$  $t_{ave.} (Graphical Integration) = 18.60^{\circ}C.$  Run T H-41 (Counter Current) Station No. 4

(For corresponding velocity distribution, See Run V H-28)

r - R	Rdg. in mv. (No.24 wire)	t (°C.)	(t _w -t) (°C.)	t _w -t t _w -t _a	t(r/R) (°C.)	(1-r/R)	tv(r/R) (°C.) (ft./sec.
1.000					(65.93)		
0.988	0.775	20.1	45.83	0.805	19.87	0.012	42.8
.970	.675	17.56	48.37	.850	17.03	.030	<b>40.4</b>
.950	.535	14.0	51.93	.912	13.3	.050	33.5
.900	.5025	13.2	52.73	.927	11.88	.100	31.6
.80	.440	11.56	54.37	.955	9.25	.20	27.2
.70	.405	10.66	55.27	.971	7.46	.30	23.15
.60	.380	10.04	55.89	.983	6.02	.40	19.26
.40	.365	<b>9.</b> 60	56.33	.990	3.84	.60	13.0
.20	.340	9.00	56.93	1.000	1.80	•80	6.38
.00	.340	9.00	56.93	1.000	0.00	1.00	0

 $t_{o.w.} = 67.30^{\circ} C.$   $t_{w} = 65.93^{\circ} C.$  (Temp. drop, thru pipe wall allowed = 1.37° C.)  $t_{w}-t_{a} = 56.93^{\circ} C.$ 

 $t_{ave}$  (Graphical Integration) = 12.12° C.

vave. (Graphical Integration) = 2.98 ft./sec.

 $t_m$  (Graphical Integration) = 11.33° C.

Run T H-42 (Counter Current)

Station No. 5

(For corresponding velocity distribution, See Run V H-29)

r	Dda	t	(t _w -t)	t _w -t	t(r/R)	tv(r/R)
R	ndg. in mv. (no.24 wire)	(°C.)	(°C.)	t _w -t _a	(°C.)	(°C.) (ft./sec.

1.000					(79.63)		
0.992	1.130	29.1	50.53	0.866	28.95	0.008	65.6
.970	1.045	26.9	52.73	.904	26.1	.030	63.2
.950	1.035	26.7	52.93	.907	25.4	.050	65.2
.90	1.015	26.2	53.43	.915	23.55	.10	64.3
.80	0.965	24.9	54.73	.937	19.9	.20	59.35
.70	0.950	23.6	56.03	.960	16.52	.30	51.2
.60	.885	22.9	56.73	.972	13.74	.40	44.3
.40	.825	21.4	58.23	.997	8.56	.60	28.95
.20	.820	21.26	<b>58.37</b>	1.000	4.25	.80	` 14.91
.00	.820	21.26	58.37	1.000	0	1.00	0

 $t_{o.w.} = 81.0^{\circ} C.$ 

 $t_{w} = 79.63^{\circ} \text{ C. (Temp. drop thru pipe wall allowed = 1.37^{\circ} \text{ C.)}$   $t_{w}-t_{a} = 538.37^{\circ} \text{ C.}$   $t_{ave.} (Graphical Integration) = 24.48^{\circ} \text{ C.}$   $v_{ave.} (Graphical Integration) = 3.03 \text{ ft./sec.}$  $t_{m} (Graphical Integration) = 23.9^{\circ} \text{ C.}$ 

## Run T H-43

(Counter Current)

(For corresponding velocity distribution, See Run V H-30)

r		t	(t _w -t)	t _w -t	t(r/R)		t <b>g(r/</b> R)	t-ti
R	Rødg. in mv. (No.24 wire)	(°C.)	(°C.)	t _w -t _a	(°C.)	(1-r/K)	(°C.) (ft./sec.)	t _w -t
1.000	1.335	34.2	49.07	0.735	(83 <b>.27</b> ) 33 <b>.</b> 8	0.012	34.3	0.341
.970 .950	1.235 0.982	31.7 25.4	51.57 57.87	.773 .866	30.75 24.12	.030	34.8 28.77	0.308
.900 .80	.885 .808 770	22.9 20.97 20.0	60.37 62.30 63.27	.904 .933 .947	20.6 16.76 14.0	.10	20.8 23.95 20.65	.189 .163 .150
.60 .40	.720 .685	18.7 17.82	64.57 65.45	.967 .980	11.22 7.13	.40 .60	17.20 11.64	.133 .121
.20 .00	.635 .630	16.56 16.45	66.71 66.82	.998 1.000	3.31 0.0	.80 1.00	5.61 0	.104
t _{o.w.}	= 84.3° C.	t _w = 83	3.27 (Temp.	drop thru	u film wall	allowed	= 1.03° C.)	
t _w -t _a	= 66.82° C.	t _{ave} (Gra	aphical Int	egration)	= 21.92° C	•		
v _{av} (G	raphical Integr	ration) =	1.442 ft./	/sec. t _i	$= 8.8^{\circ} C_{,}$			
tw-ti	$= 74.47^{\circ}$ C.	t _m (Grap)	hical integ	gratinn) =	20.6 0.			

Run T H-44 (Counter Current) Station No. 5

(No corresponding velocity distribution run)

r R	Rdg. in mv. (no.24 wir	t (°C.) re)	(t _w -t) (°C.)	t _w -t t _w -t _a	t(r/R) (°C.)	(1- <u>r</u> ) <u>R</u>	t-ti  t _w -t _i
1.000					(85.57)		1.000
.992	1.735	43.9	41.67	0.775	43.6	0.008	.4575
.970	1.568	39.9	45.67	.849	38.7	.030	.405
.950	1.565	39.8	45.77	.851	37.8	<b>,</b> 050	.404
.90	1.560	39 <b>.7</b>	45.87	.853	35.7	.10	.403
.80	1.475	37.7	47.87	.890	30.15	.20	.377
.70	1.385	35.4	50.17	.932	24.75	.30	.347
.60	1.350	34.6	50.97	.946	20.75	.40	.336
.40	1.270	32.6	52.97	.983	13.04	.60	.310
,20	1.235	31.7	53.87	1.000	6.34	.80	.298
.00	1.235	31.7	53.87	1.000	0.0	1.00	<b>.</b> 298

$$t_{o.w.} = 86.6^{\circ} C.$$
  
 $t_w = 85.57^{\circ} C.$  (Temp. drop thru pipe wall = 1.03° C.)  
 $t_w - t_a = 53.87^{\circ} C.$   
 $t_{av.}$  (Graphical Integration) = 36.56° C.  
 $t_1 = 8.8^{\circ} C.$   
 $t_w - t_1 = 76.77^{\circ} C.$ 

Run T

H-45 (Counter Current)

Station No. 4

(For corresponding velocity distribution, see Run V H-31)

r		t	(t _w -t)	t _w -t	t(r/R)	(2)	tv(r/R)
R	Rdg. in mv. (no.24 wire)	(°C.).	(°C.)	tw-ta	(°C.)	$\left(1-\frac{r}{R}\right)$	(°C.) (ft./sec.)
1.000					(62.95)		
0.988	0.770	20.0	42.95	0.785	19.76	0.012	49.3
.970	.503	13.2	49.75	.909	12.80	.030	33.75
.950	.470	12.3	50.65	.925	11.68	.050	32.4
<b>.9</b> 00	.420	11.06	51.89	.448	9.95	.10	29.45
.80	.385	10.2	52.75	.964	8.16	.20	26.45
.70	.370	9.8	53.15	.972	6.86	.30	23.45
.60	.350	9.27	53,68	.980	5.56	.40	19.68
.40	.320	8.50	54.45	•994	3.40	.60	12.82
.20	.315	8.35	54.60	.997	1.67	.80	6.55
•00	.310	8.20	54.75	1.000	0.00	1.00	0
	04 409 <del>0</del>						

$$t_{o.w.} = 64.40^{\circ} \text{ C.}$$
  

$$t_{w} = 62.95^{\circ} \text{ C.} \text{ (Temp. drop thru pipe wall allowed = 1.45^{\circ} \text{ C.})}$$
  

$$t_{w}-t_{a} = 54.75^{\circ} \text{ C.}$$
  

$$t_{av} \text{ (Graphical Integration) = 10.88^{\circ} \text{ C.}}$$
  

$$v_{av} \text{ (Graphical Integration) = 3.33 ft./sec.}$$
  

$$t_{m} \text{ (Graphical Integration) = 10.13^{\circ} \text{ C.}}$$

Run T H-46 (Counter Current)

## Station No. 5

(For corresponding velocity distribution, see Run v H-32)

r	Rdg.	t	(t _w -t)	tw-t	t(r/R)	(1 m/R)	tV(r/R)
R (	in mv. (#24 wire)	(°C.)	(°C.)	t _w -t _a	(°C.)	(1-1) (1)	(°C.) (ft./sec.
1.000	1.250				(78.95)		
.992	G .	32.1	46.85	0.784	31.9	0.008	81.5
.970	.990	25.6	53.35	.893	24.83	.030	67.1
.950	.950	24.6	54.35	.910	23.35	.050	64.25
.90	.910	23.6	55.35	.926	21.25	.10	63.1
.80	.870	22.5	56.45	.945	18.0	.20	57.0
.70	.820	21.26	57.69	.965	14.9	.30	50.0
.60	.795	20.62	58.33	.976	12.37	.40	43.5
.40	•745	19.34	59.61	.997	7.74	.60	28.94
.20	.740	19.20	59.75	1.000	3.84	.80	14.98
,00	.740	19.20	59.75	1.000	0.00	1.00	0

 $t_{0.W_{\bullet}} = 80.40$ 

 $t_w = 78.95$  (Temp. drop thru pipe wall allowed = 1.45° C.)

 $t_{w}-t_{a} = 59.75^{\circ} C_{\bullet}$ 

 $t_{av}$  (Graphical Integration) = 22.08° C.

 $v_{av}$  (Graphical Integration) = 3.30 ft./sec.

 $t_m$  (Graphical Integration) = 21.68° C.

# Station No. 4

(No corresponding velocity distribution Run)

Run T H-47 (Counter Current)

r R	Rdg. in mv. (No. 24 Wire)	t (°C.)	(t _w -t) (°C.)	t _w -t t _w -t _a	t(r/R) (°C.)	(1-r/R)	t-t _i t _w -t _i
1.000					(94.33)	0.012	1.000
0.988	1.45	37.06	57.27	0.725	36.65		0.330
.970		31.20	67 53	0.799	00.20 25 45	.050	.201
.950	0.960	20.0	72 05	•000 019	20.05	10	157
.90	0.710	18.47	75.86	.960	14.78	.20	.112
.70	.690	17.96	76.37	.966	12.58	.30	.106
60	.670	17.46	76.87	.972	10.48	.40	.100
.40	.635	16.57	77.76	.983	6.63	.60	.090
.20	.605	15.80	78.53	.992	3.16	.80	.081
.00	.585	15.30	79.03	1.000	0.0	1.00	.075

 $t_{o.w.} = 95.5^{\circ} C.$   $t_w = 94.33^{\circ} C.$  (Temp. drop thru pipe wall allowed = 1.17° C.)  $t_{w} = t_{i} = 79.03^{\circ} C.$   $w_{u} = t_{i}$   $t_{w} = 0.32^{\circ} C.$   $t_{u} = 8.90^{\circ} C.$  $t_{u} = 1.102 \text{ ft./sec.}$  Run T

H-48 (Counter Current)

Station No. 5

(No corresponding velocity distribution run)

r		t	(t _w -t)	$t_w - t$	t(r/R)	(1 - / )	$t-t_i$
R (	Rdg. in mv. (No.24 Wire)	(°C.)	(°C.)	t _w -t _a	(°C.)	(1 <b>-r</b> / <b>R</b> )	t _w -ti
1.000	•				(93.18)		1.000
0.992	1.79	45.2	47.98	0.809	44.90	0.008	1.431
.970	1.61	40.9	52.28	.881	39.65	•030	.380
.95	1.60	40.65	52,53	.886	38.60	.050	.377
.90	1.435	36.7	56.48	.935	33.0	.10	.330
.80	1.385	3 <b>5.4</b>	57.78	.975	28.3	.20	.315
.70	1.365	34.95	58.23	.982	24.45	.30	.309
.60	1.340	34.35	58.83	.991	20.6	.40	.302
.40	1,335	34.2	58 <b>, 98</b>	.994	13.68	<b>.6</b> 0	.300
.20	1.330	34,05	59.13	.996	6.81	.80	.298
.00	1.32	33.85	59.33	1.000	0.0	1.00	.296

 $t_{o.w.} = 93.80^{\circ}$  C.  $t_w = 93.18^{\circ}$  C. (Temp. drop through pipe wall = 0.62° C.)  $t_v - t_a = 59.33^{\circ}$  C.  $t_{avo.} = 35.44^{\circ}$  C. (Graphical Integration)  $t_i = 8.90^{\circ}$  C.  $t_v - t_i = 84.28^{\circ}$  C.  $V_{ave} = 1.102$  ft./sec. (Weighing)

#### Station No. 4

(For corresponding velocity distribution, see Run V H-33)

r		t	t _w -t	t _w -t	t(r/R)		tv(r/R)
R	Rdg. in mv. (No.24 wire)	v. (°C.) (°đ.) 4 wire)	t _w -t _a	(°C.)	(1- <b>r</b> /R)	(°C.) (ft./ sec.)	
1.000					(79.41)		
0.988	1,275	32.7	46.71	0.729	32/3	0.012	31.65
.970	1.005	25.9	53.51	.835	25.1	.030	27.1
.950	0.925	23.9	55.51	<b>.</b> 866	22.7	.050	27.1
.90	.840	21.76	57.65	.900	19.58	.10	26.9
.80	.770	19.35	60.06	.937	15.48	.20	22.95
.70	.720	18.70	60.71	.947	13 <b>.1</b>	.30	20.85
.60	.665	17.3	62.11	.969	10.38	.40	17.02
.40	.620	16.2	63.21	•986	6.48	.60	11.52
.20	.590	15.4	64.01	•998	3.08	<b>.</b> 80	5.70
.00	.585	15.3	64.11	1.000	0.0	1.00	0

 $t_{o.w.} = 80.80^{\circ}$  C.  $t_w = 79.41^{\circ}$  C. (Temp. drop through pipe wall allowed =1.39° C.)  $t_w-t_a = 64.11^{\circ}$  C/  $t_{ave.}$  (Graphical Integration) = 19.84° C.  $v_{ave.}$  (Graphical Integration) = 1.526 ft./sec.  $t_m$  (Graphical Integration) = 19.63° C.

Run T	H-50 (Coun	ter Curr	ent)		Station 1	No. 5	
	(For corr see Run	espondin V H-34)	g velocity	y distrib	ution,		
r	12 <b>-1</b> -1	t	(t _w -t)	tw-t	t(r/R)	(1-r/R)	tv(r/R)
- R (	nag. in mv. No.24 wire)	(°C.)	(°C.)	t _w -t _a	(°C.)	(1-1/11)	(°C.)(ft. per sec.)
1 000					(86.37)		·
0.992	1.610	40.9	45.47	0.818	40.7	0.008	40.3
.970	1.520	38.75	47.62	.857	37.55	.030	40.4
950	1.470	37.5	48.87	.880	35.6	.050	42.2
.90	1.425	36.4	49.97	.899	32.75	.10	41.95
.80	1.355	34.7	51.67	.930	27.75	.20	38.7
.70	1.310	33.6	52.77	.949	23.5	.30	35.75
.60	1.265	32.4	53.97	.970	19.44	.40	32.6
.40	1.220	31.3	55.07	.991	12.52	.60	22.53
.20	1.200	30.8	55.57	1.000	6.16	.80	11.58
00	1 200	30.8	55.57	1.000	0.00	1.00	0

$$t_{o.w.} = 87.20^{\circ} \text{ C.}$$
  

$$t_w = 86.37^{\circ} \text{ C.} \text{ (Temp. drop thru pipe wall allowed = 0.83^{\circ} \text{ C.})}$$
  

$$t_w - t_a = 55.57^{\circ} \text{ C.}$$
  

$$t_{ave.} = 34.48^{\circ} \text{ C.} \text{ (Graphical Integration)}$$
  

$$V_{ave.} \text{ (Graphical Integration) = 1.510 ft./sec.}$$
  

$$t_m \text{ (Graphical Integration) = 33.76^{\circ} \text{ G.}}$$

Run T H-51 (Counter Current)

(For corresponding velocity distribution, see Run V H-35)

r	-	t	(t _w -t)	t _w -t	t(r/R)	(1 - 10)	tv(r/R)
R in (N	g. mv. o.24 wire)	(°C.)	(°C.)	t _w -t _a	(°C.)	( <b>1-P</b> /R)	(°C.) (ft.Zsec.)
1.000 0.988 .970 .950 .90 .80 .70 .60 .40 .20 .00	1.07 0.885 0.770 .705 .640 .600 .580 .535 .502 .502	27.6 22.9 20.0 1 <b>8.</b> 34 16.70 15.68 15.17 14.00 13.15 13.15	97.06 51.76 54.66 56.32 57.96 58.98 59.49 60.66 61.51 61.51	0.765 .842 .890 .915 .941 .959 .966 .986 1.000 1.000	(74.66) 27.3 22.2 19.0 16.5 13.36 10.98 9.11 5.60 2.63 0.00	$\begin{array}{c} 0.012 \\ .030 \\ .050 \\ .10 \\ .20 \\ .30 \\ .40 \\ .60 \\ .80 \\ 1.00 \end{array}$	39.2 35.45 31.85 29.4 26.4 23.0 19.63 12.68 6.15 0
$t_{o.w.}$ $t_{w} = 7$ $t_{w}$ - $t_{a}$	= 75.90° C. 4.66° C. (T = 61.51° C.	emperati	ure drop t	chru pipe v	wall allow	ed = 1.24	° C.)
t _{ave} (	Graphical I	ntegrat	lon) = 17.	64° C.			

 $v_{ave}$  (Graphical Integration) = 2.02 ft./sec.

t_m (Graphical Integration) =  $16.28^{\circ}$  C.

(For corresponding velocity distribution, see Run V H-36)

r	D <b>a</b>	t	(t _w -t)	t _w -t	t(r/R)	(1-n/R)	tv(r/R)
R	nag. in m <b>v</b> . (No.24 wire)	(°C.)	(°C.)	t _w -t _a	(°C.)	(1-1/11)	(°C.) ft./sec,)
1.000					(83.56)		
0.992	1.405	35.9	47.66	0.846	35.70	0.008	52.85
.970	1.305	33.4	50.16	.890	32.4	.030	50.6
950	1.270	32.6	50.96	.904	30.95	.050	50.75
.90	1.230	31.6	51.96	.921	28.45	.10	49.7
.80	1.160	29.8	53.76	.955	23.85	.20	46.4
.70	1.130	29.1	54.46	.965	20.40	.30	42.75
.60	1.100	28.3	55.26	.980	17.0	.40	37.1
.40	1.080	27.8	55.76	.990	11 12	.60	25.46
.20	1.055	27.2	56.36	1.000	5.44	.80	12.90
.00	1.055	27.2	56.36	1.000	0.00	1.00	0

 $t_{o.w.} = 84.80^{\circ} \text{ C.}$   $t_w = 83.56^{\circ} \text{ C.} \text{ (Temperature difference thru pipe wall = 1.24^{\circ} \text{ C.})}$   $t_{w}-t_a = 56.36^{\circ} \text{ C.}$   $t_{ave} \text{ (Graphical Integration)} = 29.92^{\circ} \text{ C.}$   $V_{ave} \text{ (Graphical Integration)} = 2.02 \text{ ft./sec.}$  $t_m \text{ (Graphical Integration)} = 29.55^{\circ} \text{ C.}$ 





-





























Temperature Distribution in the Direction of Flow										
Run T H-37 Run T H-38	(t ₁ ) (t ₂ )	^t w (a	ve.) =	86 <b>.</b> 94°	С.	^t w(av	e.) ^{-t} i =	• 77 <b>.</b> 69°	°C.	
r/R t ₂ t ₁ (t ₂ -t ₁ )	0.99 48.65 39.6 9.05	.97 46.15 34.2 11.95	.95 43.50 29.3 14.2	.90 42.7 25.4 17.3	.80 39.45 21.63 17.82	.70 38.2 21.26 16.94	.60 35.9 18.85 16.05	.40 33.2 18.46 14.74	.20 31.2 17.82 13.38	0 31.2 17.82 13.38
$(\frac{tz-ti}{tw(av)}, \frac{tz-ti}{t})$	0.117	0.154	0.183	0.223	0.229	0.218	0.2065	0.190	0.172	0.172
Run T H-41 ( Run T H-42 (	t _l ) t _z )	t _{w(a}	ave.) =	72 <b>.</b> 78°	C. 1	^t w(ave.)	)-t <u>i</u> = 64	4.18° C.	•	
r/R t ₂ (°C.) t ₁ (°C.) (t ₂ -t ₁ ) t ₂ -t ₁ t _w (av) ^{-t} i	0.99 29.1 20.1 9.0 0.140	0.97 26.9 17.56 9.34 0.145	0.95 26.7 14.0 12.7 5 0.198	0.90 26.2 13.2 13.0 0.202	0.80 24.9 11.56 13.34 7 0. <b>208</b>	0.70 23.6 10.66 12.94 0.202	0.60 22.9 10.04 12.86 0.2005	0.40 21.4 9.6 11.8 0.184	0.20 21.26 9.0 12.26 0.191	0 21.26 9.0 12.26 0.191

emperature Distribution in the Direction of Flow

. .

Temperature Distribution in the Direction of Flow R**un T** R**un T** H-43 (t) H-44 (t)  $t_{w(ave.)} = 84.42^{\circ} C.$   $t_{w(ave.)} - t_{i} = 75.62^{\circ} C.$ r/R t₂(°C.) t₁(°C.) (1t₂-t₁) 0.99 0.97 0.95 0.90 0.80 0.70 0.60 0.40 0.20 0 43.9 34.2 9.7 39.9 39.8 39.7 37.7 35.4 34.6 32.6 31.7 31.7 31.7 22.9 25.4 20.0 20.97 18.7 17.82 16.56 16.45 8.2 14.4 16.73 16.8 15.4 15.9 14.78 15.14 15.25 te-t 0.128 0.222 0.221 0.204 0.210 0.1955 0.200 0.202 0.1085 0.191 tw(ave.)-ti  $t_{w(ave.)} = 70.95^{\circ} C.$   $t_{w(ave.)} - t_{i} = 62.79^{\circ} C.$ Run T H-45( $t_1$ ) Run T H-46 ( $t_2$ ) r/R t₂(°C.) 0.99 0.97 0.95 0.90 0.80 0.70 0.60 0.40 0.20 0 32.1 20.0 12.1 25.6 13.2 12.4 24.6 23.6 22.5 21.26 20.62 19.34 19.20 19.20  $t_1(°C.) \\ (t_z-t_1)$ 12.3 11.06 10.8 9.87 9,27 8.50 8.35 8.20 12.3 12.54 12.3 11.46 11.35 10.84 10.85 11.00 -) 0.193 0.198 0.196 0.200 0.196 0.1825 0.181 0.173 0.173 0.175

tw(av)-t;

54 (1) (1) Temperature Distribution in the Direction of Flow

Run T H-47 (t₁) Run T H-48 (t₂)  $t_{w(ave.)} = 93.76^{\circ} C_{\bullet} t_{w(ave.)} - t_{i} = 84.86^{\circ} C_{\bullet}$ r/k 0.99 0.97 0.95 0.90 0.80 0.70 0.60 0.40 0.20 0 t₂(°C.) 35.4 18.47 45.2 40.9 40.65 36.7 34.95 34.35 34.2 34.05 33.85 t₁(°C.) 37.06 31.2 26.8 22.28 17.96 16.57 17.46 15.80 15.30 8.14 9.7 13.85 14.42 16.93 16.99 16.89 17.63 18.25 18.35  $\begin{pmatrix} t_{z}-t_{1} \\ t_{w}(av) - t_{1} \end{pmatrix}$ 0.096 0.1043 0.163 0.170 0.1994 0.200 0.199 0.208 0.215 ⁰.216 Run T H-49 (t₁) Run T H-50 (t₂)  $t_{w(ave.)} = 82.89^{\circ} C. t_{w(ave.)} - t_{i} = 74.01^{\circ} C.$ r/R 0.99 0.97 0.95 0.80 0.90 0.70 0.60 0.40 0.20 0 t₂(°C.) t₁(°C.) t₂-t₁ 40.9 38.75 37.5 36.4 34.7 33.6 32.4 31.3 30.8 30.8 32.7 25.9 23.9 21.76 19.35 18.70 17.3 16.2 15.4 15.3 8.2 12.85 13.6 14.64 15.35 14.9 15.1 15.1 15.4 15.5 (------) 0.111 0.1736 0.184 0.198 0.207 0.201 0.204 0.204 0.208 0.209 tw(av)-t; Run T H-51 (t₁) Run T H-52(t₂)  $t_{w(ave.)}=79.11^{\circ}$  C,  $t_{w(ave.)}-t_{i}=71.01^{\circ}$  C. r/R0.97 0.95 0.90 0.80 0.99 0.70 0.60 0.40 0.20 0 t_(°C.) 33.4 35.9 32.6 31.6 29.8 29.1 27.8 28.3 27.2 27.2 t₁(°C.) 27.6 22.9 20.0 18.34 16.7 15.68 15.17 14.0 13.15 13.15  $(\overline{t}_2 - t_1)$ 8.3 10.5 12.6 13.26 13.1 13.13 13.8 14.05 14.05 13.42  $(\frac{t_2-t_1}{t_w})^{-t_1}$ 0.117 0.148 0.177 0.1865 0.1844 0.189 0.185 0.194 0.198 0.198

> 144 275 145

# APPENDIX I

# TEMPERATURE DISTRIBUTION DATA DURING COUNTER CURRENT COOLING

(With Calculations and Plots)

Run T C-1 — Run T C-6

## Temperature Distribution Data During Cooling

Data of Koo and Sung

Run T C-1 (Counter Current) Station No. 4

$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	r R	Rdg. in mv.	t (°C.)	$\frac{t_w - t}{t_w - t_a}$	$\left(1-\frac{r}{R}\right)$
	1.000 0.980 .975 .95 .94 .92 .80 .70 .60 .45 .30 .15	1.48 1.55 1.625 1.630 1.630 1.665 1.685 1.700 1.700 1.700 1.700 1.700 1.700	(22.84) 36.2 37.85 39.55 39.65 39.65 40.50 40.95 41.3 " "	0 0.722 .811 .901 .910 .910 .955 .976 1.000 " "	0 0.02 05 05 06 20 30 40 55 70 \$5 1.00

 $t_{o.w.} = 22.16 \circ C.$   $t_{w} = 22.84 \circ C. \text{ (Temp. rise through pipe wall allowed = 0.68 \circ C.)}$   $V_{ave.} \text{ (Manometer)} = 3.69 \text{ ft./sed.}$   $t_{a}-t_{w} = 18.46 \circ C.$   $t_{ave.} \text{ (Graphical Integration)} = 40.06 \circ C.$ 

## Data of Koo and Sung

Run T C-2 (Counter Current) Station No. 4 (Taken Simultaneously with Run T C-3)

r	Rdg.	t	tw-t	$(1 - \frac{r}{R})$
R	in mv.	(°C.)	tw-ta	
0.99 98 97 94 94 92 94 92 90 850 700 450 6450 15 0	1.16 1.21 1.22 1.23 1.23 1.23 1.235 1.235 1.237 1.240 " "	28.6 29.8 30.0 30.2 30.2 30.2 30.2 30.2 30.5 " " "	0.768 914 934 954 954 954 954 954 993 1.000 " " "	0.01 .02 .03 .04 .06 .08 .10 .15 .20 .30 .40 .55 .70 .85 1.00

 $V_{ave.} = 3.67 \text{ ft./sec.}$  (Manometer)  $t_{0.W.} = 21.9^{\circ}C.$   $t_{W} = 22.17^{\circ}C.$  (Temp. rise through pipe wall allowed  $= 0.27^{\circ}C.$ )  $t_{a}-t_{W} = 8.33^{\circ}C.$  $t_{ave.}$  (Graphical Integration) = 30.22^{\circ}C.

169

Data of Koo and Sung

Run T C-3 (Counter Current) Station No. 5

(Taken Simultaneously with Run T C-2)

Ē	in mv.	(°Č.)	tw-ta	(1 - 京)
0.980 972 962 94 92 90 85 80 70 60 45 30 15	1.120 1.135 1.150 1.150 1.150 1.155 1.155 1.155 1.160 1.160 1.160	27.65 27.95 28.3 28.3 28.3 28.45 28.45 28.45 28.60 28.60 28.60	0.901 .930 .971 .971 .971 .971 .982 .982 1.000 1.000 " "	0.02 .028 .038 .06 .08 .10 .15 .20 .30 .40 .55 .70 .85 1.00

 $V_{ave.} = 3.67 \text{ ft./sec. (Manometer)}$   $t_{o.w.} = 18.7^{\circ}C.$   $t_{w} = 19.0^{\circ}C. \text{ (Temp. rise through pipe wall allowed}$   $= 0.3^{\circ}C.)$   $t_{a}-t_{w} = 9.6^{\circ}C.$  $t_{ave.} \text{ (Graphical Integration)} = 28.33^{\circ}C.$
Data of Koo and Sung

Run T C-4 (Counter Current) Station No. 4

(Taken Simultaneously with Run T C-5)

r	Rdg.	t	tw-t	$(1 - \frac{r}{R})$
R	in mv.	(°C.)	tw-te	
0.990 980 970 96 94 90 85 80 45 .30 .15 0	1.312 1.348 1.365 1.383 1.385 1.385 1.390 1.390 1.390 1.390 1.400 1.400 1.400	32.2 33.45 33.45 33.995 33.995 33.995 34.05 34.05 34.30 "	0.748 .850 .898 .952 .960 .960 .973 .973 .973 1.000 1.000	0.01 .02 .03 .04 .06 .10 .15 .20 .55 .70 .85 1.00

 $V_{ave.} = 0.855 \text{ ft./sec. (Manometer)}$   $t_{o.w.} = 26.0^{\circ}\text{C.}$   $t_w = 26.16^{\circ}\text{C. (Temp. rise through pipe wall allowed = 0.16^{\circ}\text{C.)}$   $t_a - t_w = 8.14^{\circ}\text{C.}$  $t_{ave.}$  (Graphical integration) = 34.0°C.

Data of Koo and Sung

Run T C-5 (Counter Current) Station No. 5 (Taken Simultaneously with Run T C-4)

r R	Rdg. in mv.	t (°C.)	tw-t tw-ta	$(1 - \frac{r}{R})$
0.980 972 962 940 92 90 \$5 .80 .70 .60 .45 .30 .15 0	1.025 1.038 1.040 1.042 " " " 1.045 " " " "	25.4 25.7 25.75 <b>2</b> 5.8 "" " 25.85 "" " " "	0.928 976 984 992 992 992 992 992 992 1.000 "	0.02 .028 .038 .06 .08 .10 .15 .20 .30 .40 .55 .70 .85 1.00

 $V_{ave.}$  (Manometer) = 0.855 ft./sec.  $t_{o.w.} = 18.84 \circ C.$   $t_{w} = 18.89 \circ C.$  (Temp. rise through pipe wall allowed  $= 0.05 \circ C.$ )  $t_{a}-t_{w} = 6.96 \circ C.$  $t_{ave.}$  (Graphical Integration) = 25.76 \circ C.

## Data of Koo and Sung

Run T C-6 (Counter Current) Station No. 4

$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	r R	Rdg. in mv.	t (°C.)	tw-t tw-ta	$(1 - \frac{r}{R})$	
	0.990 982 97 96 94 90 85 .80 .70 .60 .45 .30 .15 0	1.315 1.410 1.422 1.432 1.440 1.448 1.448 1.468 1.468 1.482 1.482 1.485 "	32.26 34.58 35.25 35.5 35.7 35.7 35.25 35.25 35.25 35.25 36.22 36.22 36.22 37 36.22 37 36.22 37 36.22 37 37 36.22 37 37 37 37 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5	0.673 .857 .880 .898 .915 .928 .951 .970 .987 .9955 " 1.000 "	0.01 .018 .03 .04 .06 .10 .15 .20 .30 .40 .55 .70 .855 1.00	

 $V_{ave.} (Manometer) = 0.769 \text{ ft./sec.}$   $t_{0.w.} = 23.8\circ \text{C.}$   $t_{w} = 23.89 (Temp. \text{ rise through pipe wall allowed}$   $= 0.09^{\circ}\text{C.})$   $t_{a-t_{w}} = 12.41\circ \text{C.}$  $t_{ave.} (Graphical Integration) = 35.73^{\circ}\text{C.}$ 





### APPENDIX J

- A. Calibration of Water Orifice.
- B. Calibration of Thermocouples (Charts).
- C. Measurements on Thermocouples and Pitot Tubes.
- D. Determination of Specific Gravity of CCl4.
- E. Measurements on Copper Pipe.
- F. Kinematic Viscosity of Water (Table and Chart).
- G. Prandtl's Number of Water (Table and Chart)
- H. Conversion of Cm. CCl₄ to Velocity in Feet per Second (Table and Chart).

#### APPENDIX J

A. Calibration of Water Orifice

The manometer used was a mercury manometer inclined with a slope of 0.228 so that the reading was magnified  $\frac{1}{0.228}$  or 4.385 times. Inside diameter of nominal 3" pipe = 3.07" Diameter of orifice = 1  $\frac{11}{16}$ " = 1.6875" Area of orifice opening = 0.01554 sq.ft.  $\therefore V_2^2 - V_1^2 = C^2 (2g\Delta h)$ where  $\Delta h$  in ft. of water or  $V_2^2$  1 -  $(\frac{1.6875}{3.07})^4$  =  $C^2 (2g\Delta h)$   $\therefore V_2 = 8.41 C$  ( $\Delta h$  ft./sec. and Q = 0.01554 V_2 = 0.1308 C ( $\Delta h$  cu.ft./sec. or  $C = \frac{7.659}{\sqrt{\Delta h}}$ 

Let h' be the change of mercury levels before and when running in cm. of one column of the inclined manometer, then

 $\Delta h \text{ (ft.of water)} = \frac{h! \times 2 \times 13.6}{4.385 \times 2.54 \times 12} = 0.203 \text{ h}^{1}$  $C = \frac{7.65 \text{ Q}}{0.2037h!} = \frac{17.28 \text{ Q}}{\sqrt{h!}}$ 

11. 15-

176

		Q.(ft ³ /sec.)		
h!	1/h'	measured	<u>C</u>	Ave
7.00 5.95 8.55 6.88	2.646 2.440 2.925 2.623	0.0952 0.0949 0.0978 0.0948	0.621 0.672 0.578 <u>0.623</u> (2.494)	<b>0.</b> 6235
12.75 12.35 11.75 12.90	3.570 3.513 3.425 3.590	0.1210 0.1213 0.1224 0.1217	0.586 0.598 0.617 <u>0.585</u> (2.386)	0.5965
15.00 14.60 16.60 16.40	3.875 3.820 4.070 4.050	0.1366 0.1368 0.1358 0.1352	0.609 0.619 0.576 <u>0.577</u> (2.381)	0.5952
17.20 18.90 16.70 19.00	4.150 4.345 4.080 4.350	0.1472 0.1550 0.1508 0.1493	0.614 0.616 0.638 <u>0.593</u> (2.461)	<u>0.6152</u>
		C _{ave}	=	0.6076
			=	0.608
·• Q	$=\frac{0.608 \text{ h!}}{17.28}$	= 0.0352 Vh:	cu.ft./sec.	
and V _{av}	e = 2.263 V	h' ft./sec.		

## B. Calibration of Thermocouples

Both No. 24 and No. 26 constantan-copper thermocouples were calibrated against ice and boiling water. The intermediate points were interpretated from the standard values given in International Critical Tables. The results are shown in Figure

Thermocouple Calibration Curve

+ Standard from I C.T. 0 No 26 Wire 0 No 24 Wire

Koo

Temperature in °C

No. 26 Wire

No 24 Wire

Millivolts

Reading





C. <u>Measure</u>	ments on Thermo	couples and 1	<u>Pitot Tubes</u>
Thermocoup	les:		
No.	Diameter of P	ipe in mm.	Outer edge to center line of tip in mm.
1 2 3 4	0.595 0.627 0.595 0.735		1.185 0.485 0.870 0.579
Pitot Tube	s:		
	Inside diamet	er in mm.	Outer edge to center line of tip in mm.
12345678	0.280 0.396 0.414 0.424 0.380 0.388 0.369 0.417		0.361 0.278 0.320 0.305 0.312 0.300 0.309 0.307
D. Determin	nation of Speci:	fic Gravity	of CCl ₄
No. Determ	inations		Wt. of CCl₄ 3.1643 3.1685 3.1510
2 4 5			3.1542 3.1545
Average			3.1585
Calibrated	capacity of 2 of	cc. pipette	= 2.0038 cc.
. Specin	fic gravity of (	$201_4 = \frac{3.158}{2.003}$	$\frac{55}{38} = 1.5762$
E. Measuren	ments on Copper	Pipe	
Test cross (or State	section No. ion No.)	Inside Dia cm.	meter Wall Thicknes cm.
1 2 3 4 5		4.9585 4.9597 4.9535 4.9570 4.9570	0.3784 0.3778 0.3846 0.3830 0.3818

•

## Table <u>Kinematic Viscosity of Water</u>

(Calculated from Smithsonian Tables by C.Y. Hsiao)

				Kinematic	Viscosity
<u>Tempe</u> °C.	°F.	<u>Viscosity</u> (centipoise)	Density (gm./cc.)	(cm. ³ /sec.) X 10 ²	(ft. /sec.) X 10 ⁵
0123456789012345678901234567	0864208642086420864208642086420864208642	1.7921 1.7313 1.6728 1.6191 1.5674 1.5188 1.4728 1.4284 1.3860 1.3462 1.3077 1.2713 1.2363 1.2028 1.1709 1.1404 1.1111 1.0828 1.0559 1.0299 1.0299 1.0050 .9810 .9579 .9358 .9142 .8937 .8737 .8545	0.99987 99993 99997 99999 1.00000 99999 99997 99993 99988 99988 99988 99963 99963 99952 999940 999927 999913 999913 99880 99882 998862 998862 998862 998823 998802 99780 99757 997733 99708 999708 999655	1.79233 1.73142 1.67285 1.61912 1.56740 1.51882 1.47284 1.42850 1.38617 1.34646 1.30805 1.27177 1.23689 1.20352 1.17176 1.14139 1.11225 1.08410 1.05736 1.03152 1.00678 0.98295 .96001 .93808 .91665 .89632 .87649 .85746	1.92924 1.86368 1.80063 1.74280 1.68713 1.63484 1.58535 1.53762 1.49205 1.44931 1.40797 1.36892 1.377 1.29545 1.26127 1.22858 1.19721 1.16691 1.13813 1.11031 1.08368 1.05803 1.05803 1.03334 1.00974 .98667 .96479 .94344 .92296

Kinematic Viscosity

<u>Temper</u>	rature	Viscosity	<u>Density</u>	(cm. ² /sec.)	(ft. ² /sec.)
°C.	°F.	(centipose)	(gm./cc.)	X 10 ²	X 10 ⁵
22333333333344444444445566677889990 22333333333344444444445566677889990 1	82.4 84.2 86.0 87.8 89.6 91.4 93.2	.8360 .8180 .8007 .7840 .7679 .7523 .77371 .7225 .70947 .6814 .66850 .6439 .63207 .6097 .59883 .56884 .56884 .599883 .554964 .59883 .554964 .4061 .3799 .3555 .3165 .2994 .2838	99627 99598 99558 99568 99537 9954406 999406 999376 999300 9992287 999107 999107 9990655 9989940 9988577 9988577 9988577 9885573 9885573 9885573 9885573 988557 9885573 9885573 9885573 997489 97489 971883 96534 96538 96538		90323 88404 86560 84782 83066 81406 79787 78234 767234 7528690 71162 6862413 66762895 66742895 66742855 608857 555297 513804 4477455 372852 372852 372852 372903 31874



# Table Prandtl's Number of Water

(I.C.T. Vol. 5, p. 10)

t(°C.)	t(°F.)	(Millipoises)	C _p (Joules per Gram)	$k_t (10^{-5} \frac{watt}{(cm)(\circ C)})$	$P_r = \frac{C \mu}{k}$
0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100 120 120 130 150	32 50 68 104 122 140 158 176 194 212	17.938 13.097 10.087 8.004 6.536 5.492 4.699 4.071 3.570 3.166 2.839 2.56 2.32 2.12 1.96 1.84	4.220 4.199 4.184 4.1805 4.180 4.1825 4.186 4.1887 4.192 4.1948 4.198 4.198 4.202 4.2065 4.2115 4.2166 4.222	554.0 570.0 587.0 603.5 620 636 653.5 670 685 702 719 736 752 769 785 801	13.68 9.65 7.19 5.55 4.41 3.61 3.01 2.55 2.18 1.891 1.657 1.462 1.298 1.162 1.054 0.972

Prandtl's Number = Pr. = (millipoises) $(\frac{\text{Joules}}{\text{Gram}})(\frac{1}{k_t})100$ 



Conversion of Pressure Drop in Cm. CCl₄ to Velocity of Water in feet per Second. Table )

(Values plotted in Fig.

E

27.0

28.0

1.218∆h

quation	:	∆h =
---------	---	------

$\Delta h$ (Cm.CCl ₄ )	V (ft./sec.)	$\frac{\Delta h}{(Cm \cdot CCl_{4})}$	V (ft./sec.)
0.05 .10 .20 .3 .4	0.247 .349 .494 .605 .698	29.0 30.0	5.94 6.045
•5 •7 1.0 1.5 2.0 2.5 3.0	• 780 • 923 1.101 1.35 1.56 1.745 1.91 2.065		
50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 5	2.005 2.21 2.34 2.47 2.59 2.70 2.81 2.92		
7.5 8.0 9.5 9.5 10.0	3.02 3.12 3.22 3.31 3.40 3.40 3.49		
12.0 12.0 13.0 14.0 15.0 16.0 17.0 18.0 19.0 20.0 21.0	3.82 3.98 4.13 4.275 4.415 4.55 4.68 4.81 4.936 5.06		
22.0 23.0 24.0 25.0 26.0	5.18 5.29 5.41 5.52 5.63		

5•73 5•84 735



## APPENDIX K

## Table of Nomenclature

Absolute Pressure in 1bs. per square feet. P Differential Pressure and Pressure Drop.  $\Delta P =$ Quantity of heat transferred in B.t.u. Q = Rate of flow of Fluid in ft. 3/sec. Q = variable radius or distance from axis of Pipe. r Inside pipe radius. R = Fraction of radius of Pipe. r/R=Specific gravity of fluid at temperature in question. S = Variable temperature at distance r from pipe axis in ° C. t = Axial temperature in ° C.  $t_a =$ Average downstream exit temperature in ° C. t_ = Average film temperature or effective film t_r = temperature in ° C. Average upstream inlet temperature in ° C. t, 🕊 Mixing cup temperature in ° C. (obtained through  $t_m =$ graphical integration). Inside wall temperature of pipe in ° C. (Calculated).  $t_w =$  $t_{0,w} = 0$  outside wall temperature of pipe in ° C, (Measured). = Average cross-sectional temperature in ° C. ave. (obtained through graphical integration.) Δt tw-t - = Fraction of temperature drop, variable with r. ^{∆t}max. tw-ta U = Average velocity in feet per second. v or V Variable velocity at distance r from pipe axis. Vay Average velocity in feet per second.  $V_{max} = Maximum \text{ or axial velocity.}$  $V_{ave}$ . /V = Ratio of average to maximum velocity, max. or velocity ratio or velocity ratio. X = Calming Section Length in Feet.

Z = viscosity, centipoises, taken at arithmetic mean of average cross-sectional temperature between two sections.

Z = viscosity, Centipoises.

 $\mu(\mathbf{M}\mathbf{u}) = \mathbf{A}$ bsolute viscosity of fluids.

p(Rho)=Fluid density as lbs. per ft.³

 $\mathcal{N}(Nu) = Kinematic Viscosity of fluid = \mu/\rho$ 

 $\lambda$ (Lambda)=4f

O(Theta)=Time in any convenient unit.

 $Re_{max_{\bullet}} = \frac{D V_{max_{\bullet}}\rho}{\mu} = Maximum Reynolds number.$ 

Pr, = --- = Prandtl's number in consistent units k (Dimensionless)

Pe!, =

Peclet Number = (Re)(Pr)